IMMUNE MODULATION OF ALLERGIC RESPONSES

INVESTIGATING MECHANISMS OF PEPTIDE INDUCED IMMUNE MODULATION OF MURINE MODELS OF ALLERGIC AIRWAYS DISEASE

By DANIEL MOLDAVER, B.Sc.

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy

McMaster University © Copyright by Daniel Moldaver, August 2017

McMaster University DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY (2017) Hamilton, Ontario (Medical Sciences)

TITLE	Investigating mechanisms of immune modulation in murine models of allergic airways disease		
AUTHOR:	Daniel Moldaver, B.Sc. (McMaster University)		
SUPERVISOR:	Dr. Mark Larche		
SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE:			
	Dr. Mark Inman		
	Dr. Manel Jordana		
	Dr. Helen Neighbour		

NUMBER OF PAGES:

XIV; 312

Lay Abstract

Asthma is a disease of the airways that can cause difficulties in breathing. In some people, asthma develops because their immune system reacts in an uncontrolled manner to common environmental proteins, called allergens. Whole allergen immunotherapy is a treatment for asthma, where asthmatic people are injected with doses of allergen until their immune system no longer responds to (or 'tolerates') the allergen. In some people, injection of allergen can lead to a life-threatening immune response known as 'anaphylaxis'. Peptide-immunotherapy is a form of whole allergen immunotherapy where people are given small fragments of the allergen (a 'peptide') rather than the whole allergen. The benefit of peptide immunotherapy is that the treatment peptides are too small to cause anaphylaxis, but remain large enough to teach the immune system. In this thesis, we examined how treatment with small peptides teaches the immune system to tolerate the larger and more complex whole allergen.

Abstract

Asthma is defined as reversible airflow obstruction and an estimated 1-in-3 Canadians will be diagnosed over their lifetime. Many clinical phenotypes of asthma exist, but allergic asthma is the most common presentation. Despite effective therapies, approximately 65% of Canadian asthmatics have poorly controlled disease. Thus, there remains pressing need to develop disease modifying therapies.

Allergen-specific immunotherapy (SIT) is a disease-modifying therapy for allergic disease that consists of repeatedly administering doses of allergen, to an allergic individual; over 100 years of clinical use, SIT has been demonstrated to reduce symptoms of disease both during and after cessation of therapy. Widespread clinical uptake of SIT has been limited by the risk of developing anaphylaxis as a response to therapy. Peptide immunotherapy is a derivation of SIT, that attempts to retain the disease-modifying benefits, while lessening the risk of anaphylaxis, by treating subjects with allergen-derived T-cell peptide epitopes. Peptide immunotherapy has been demonstrated to reduce symptoms of allergic disease in treated subjects; however, it remains unknown how administration of a single (or several) T-cell epitopes can modulate immune responses to entire complex allergens. Additionally, how genetic diversity in peptide epitope presentation effects the development of immune tolerance is unknown. In this thesis, we sought to characterize these mechanisms of peptide immunotherapy; the hypothesis was, "The induction of immunosuppression by peptide immunotherapy involves the infectious spread of tolerance beyond the treatment epitope, and is dependent upon treatment peptide dose and affinity to *MHC*".

Through the definition of these mechanistic traits we hoped to expedite and inform the design of future peptide based therapeutics. The studies presented within this thesis examine the

topic of immune modulation of allergic disease in mouse models, and have focused upon broadly pertinent characteristics of immune modulation, such as the number, dose and affinity of immunomodulatory epitopes.

Acknowledgements

This PhD thesis is a culmination of what seems like a life-time of events. I'm thrilled to be able to say that I was a part of Dr. Mark Larché's lab in McMaster University throughout many of my life's most momentous events, such as my marriage to Emily Husul and the birth of my son, Max. It speaks volumes that I was thrilled to spend these major events in Dr. Mark Larché's company. He's one of the most genuine and generous people I've had the privilege to know, and I consider myself lucky to have learned under his tutelage. As a supervisor, Mark always provided exactly what I needed – advice, and trust. It was Mark's trust in me to design and perform experiments as an independent researcher early in my career that has given me the confidence required to excel in this field, while Mark's advice is what shaped me into the scientist I am today. On top of all that, Mark has always practiced what he preached: family first, a skill that can often be lost in the professional world, and a skill I'm thankful to have learned.

Throughout my PhD thesis, Dr. Mark Inman was the voice of reason and well of knowledge that I could always rely on. From my earliest days in the lab, Mark ensured his door was open to chat and he was always willing to take time from his day to discuss experiments, lab and anything else.

I've always believed that you learn and grow the most when you're pulled out of your comfort zone. As such, it is natural that some of the clearest lessons that I learned during my PhD have come during interaction with Dr. Manel Jordana. I greatly appreciate his honesty and the effort he invested in driving myself and my work to the appropriate level. Likewise, Dr. Helen Neighbour could always be relied on to provide the valuable, grounding insights that drive a thesis forward.

vi

Beyond my committee, I was lucky enough to learn beside many fantastic, inspirational people; more than I could list here. Dr. Chris Rudulier and Elisabeth Simms deserve special mention though, as I'll forever remember the great times and late nights at local (and distant) pubs spent chatting about life, the lab, and everything in between.

Table of Contents

Half-Titl	le Page	•••••	
Title Pag	ge	i	
Descriptive Note		ii	
Lay Abstract		iii	
Abstract		iv	
Acknowledgements		vi	
Fable of Contents		viii	
List of F	ist of Figures and Tables		
Abbreviationsxi		xii	
Declarat	Declaration of Academic Achievement xiv		
Chapter	1: Introduction		
1.1.	Opening Statement		
1.2.	The socioeconomic burden of asthma		
1.3.	What is asthma		
1.4.	The immunology of allergic asthma, a historical perspective	5	
1.5.	ILC2s, a new cell implicated in Th2 disease		
1.6.	Early and late responses to allergen provocation		
1.7.	Onset of allergic asthma		
I.	Normal responses to allergen		
II.	Sensitization: Environment and genetics		
III.	Sensitization: Allergenicity & Th2 differentiation		
1.8.	Allergen specific immunotherapy		
I.	History		
II.	Potency		
III.	Mechanism of AIT		
IV.	Safety		
1.9.	Regulatory T-cells		
1.10.	Peptide immunotherapy		
I.	Origins of peptide immunotherapy		
II.	Trials of peptide immunotherapy		
III.	Mechanism of action of peptide immunotherapy		
IV.	pMHC:TCR		
1.11.	The spread of tolerance		

1.12.	Animal models	
1.13.	Objective and hypothesis of the thesis	50
Chapter Peptide	2: Amelioration of Ovalbumin-Induced Allergic Airway Disease Following De Immunotherapy is not Associated with Induction of IL-35	er P 1 53
2. D	Declaration of Academic Achievement	
2.1.	Abstract	55
2.2.	Introduction	
2.3.	Results	
2.4.	Discussion	67
2.5.	Methods	71
2.6.	References	75
Chapter	3: Induction of Inter-Molecular Tolerance Following Fel D 1 Peptide Immunot	herapy 78
3. D	Declaration of Academic Achievement	
3.1.	Abstract	
3.2.	Introduction	
3.3.	Methods and Materials	
3.4.	Results	85
3.5.	Discussion	
3.6.	References	102
3.7.	Figures	107
Chapter Humani	4: Dose-Dependent Changes in Lung Inflammation and Response to Therapy in zed Model of Allergic Airways Disease.	n a 117
4. D	Declaration of Academic Achievement	118
4.1.	Abstract	120
4.2.	Introduction	121
4.3.	Methods and Materials	122
4.4.	Results	127
4.5.	Discussion	135
4.6.	Figures	145
Chapter	5: Epicutaneous Sensitization to Cat Dander	152
5. D	Declaration of Academic Achievement	153
5.1.	Introduction	155
5.2.	Methods	157
5.3.	Results	160
5.4.	Discussion	185

5.5.	Reflection & Relation to the Remainder of the Thesis	193
5.6.	References	195
Chapter	6: Inhibition of Allergic Inflammation by Peptide Immunotherapy is not Solely	
Depend	lent upon a Peptide's Affinity to the Presentation Molecule	200
6. I	Declaration of Academic Achievement	201
6.1.	Abstract	203
6.2.	Introduction	204
6.3.	Methods	208
6.4.	Results	213
6.5.	Discussion	221
6.6.	References	227
6.7.	Figures	231
Chapter	7: Discussion	244
7. 1	Thesis rationale & synopsis	245
7.1.	Infectious bystander tolerance	247
7.2.	Development of an adjuvant based model of cat allergic airways disease in HLA	A-DR4
transg	genic mice	252
7.3.	Epicutaneous CDE exposure	253
7.4.	The role of peptide affinity and dose during the establishment of immune toleran	nce. 257
7.5.	Limitations	263
7.6.	Reflection	266
7.7.	Conclusion	267
8. F	References	269
Append Cytokin	lix 1: Treatment with anti-Cytokine Monoclonal Antibodies can Potentiate the ne Rather Than Neutralize its Activity	Target 296
9. I	Declaration of Academic Achievement	297
Append	lix 2:Immunotherapy with Peptides	301
10.	Declaration of Academic Achievement	302

List of Figures and Tables

Chapters 2, 3, and 4 & 6 have been prepared as manuscripts, and thus each have their figures that have been numbered for submission, and placed at the end of the text. As such, figures from these chapters are not presented in the table below. This list only presents figures from Chapter 5, which is representative of a classical thesis chapter, with figures interspersed throughout the text.

Figure 1. Schematic representation of the allergen exposure timelines
Figure 2. IN CDE challenge induces a Th2 skewed inflammatory infiltrate into the BAL of mice primed with intermediate, but not high-or low-doses of CDE
Figure 4. Cutaneous exposure with both intermediary and high doses of CDE induces aspects of AHR
Figure 3. Cutaneous exposure with intermediate, but not high or low doses of CDE induces a Th2 polarization of the immune response
Figure 5. A bell-shaped dose response curve exists between cutaneous CDE application and Th2 cytokine production
Figure 6. HLA-DR4 and C57BL/6 mice exposed to a cat dander epicutaneously do not develop humoral immune responses
Figure 7. Kinetic examination of polyclonal and cat-specific T-cells in the inguinal lymph nodes of mice cutaneously exposed to CDE
Figure 8. Kinetic examination of airway inflammation induced by CDE challenge, following exposure too intermediate or high-dose CDE
Figure 9. MyD88 is required for epicutaneous sensitization to cat dander
Figure 10. Addition of LPS does not prevent a Th2 polarized response
Figure 11. Addition of LPS to cutaneously applied CDE modestly lessens Th2 cytokine expression in T-cells
Figure 12. Schematic representation of the adoptive transfer experiment. HLA-DR4 transgenic mice were utilized
Figure 13. Transfer of CD4+ enriched lung lymphocytes from high-dose CDE exposed mice does not protect against the development of a Th2 polarized response
Figure 14. Mice exposed to high-dose house dust mite do not possess impaired airway inflammation upon allergen rechallenge

Abbreviations

Airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) Airway inflammation (AI) Allergen-specific immunotherapy (SIT) Aluminum hydroxide (Alum) Antigen presenting cell (APC) Bronchial-alveolar lavage fluid (BAL) Bursa derived lymphocytes (B-cells) Cat dander extract (CDE) Cluster of differentiation (CD) Complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) Cyclosporin A (CsA) Cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) Dendritic cell (DC) Draining lymph nodes (DLN) Early asthmatic reaction (EAR) Endotracheal (ET) Epithelial-derived cytokines (EDCs) Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs) Eosinophil chemotactic factor-A (ECF-A) Eosinophil derived neurotoxin (EDN) Eosinophil peroxidise (EPO) Eosinophillic cationic protein (ECP) Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) Forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV1) Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA) Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) House dust mite (HDM), House dust-mite[HDM] Human leucocyte antigens (HLA) IL-10 producing iTregs (Tr1) Immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX) Immunoglobulin (Ig) Immunoregulatory T-cells (Tregs) Inducible Tregs (iTregs) Inducible costimulatory [ICOS] Inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) Intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM) Interferon-gamma (IFN-γ) Interleukin (IL) Late-phase reaction (LAR) Leukocyte function associated antigen (LFA) Lympocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) Myelin basic protein (MBP)

Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) Methacholine (MCh) Natural tregs (ntregs) Non-B-non-T cell (NBNT) ORM1-like 3 (ORMDL3) Ovalbumin (OVA) Pathogen response receptor (PRR) Peptide based-allergen specific immunotherapy (PIT) Peptide-MHC (pMHC) Periodic acid-schiff (PAS) Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) Platelet-activating factor (PAF) Provocative concentration of a stimulus needed to cause a decrease by 20% in the FEV1 (PC20). Provocative concentration of methacholine causing a doubling in baseline respiratory system Quality adjusted life year (QALY) Radioallergosorbent test (RAST), Resistance (PC200). Regulatory T-cells (Tregs) Rhinovirus (RV) Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) Respiratory system resistance (RRS) Signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) Single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) Sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) Standard error of the mean (SEM) Stimulation index (SI) T-box transcription factor (T-bet) T-box transcription factor (T-bet) T-cell helper (Th) T-cell receptor (TCR) Thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) Thymus derived lymphocyte (T-cell) Toll-like receptor (TLR) Transforming growth factor (TGF)- β) Transforming growth factor (TGF)-β- producing iTregs (TH3) Tritiated(3[H]) Type 2 differentiated T-cells (Th2) Tumour necrosis factor (TNF) Venom immunotherapy (VIT) Very late antigen (VLA) World Health Organization (WHO)

Declaration of Academic Achievement

This thesis consists of 7 chapters and two appendices. Chapters 1 and 7 (introduction and conclusion) were conceived, written and edited by me, in their entirety. Dr. Mark Larché reviewed these chapters. Chapters 2-6 are original research that have been generated in conjunction with co-authors. Appendix 1 is a commentary piece, while Appendix 2 is a review articles. The contribution of each coauthor will be addressed at the start of each chapter.

Beyond the work presented in this thesis, I've also conceived, wrote (7 of 9 sections), developed and edited a second review article ("An Update on Lymphocyte Subtypes in Asthma and Airways Disease") that was published in the journal CHEST (2017) **151:** 1122-1130. M. Larché provided guidance to the development of this article while C. Rudulier contributed 2 (of 9) sections and edited. This article has not been included in the thesis as rights could not be retained.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1. Opening Statement

The research presented in this thesis examines two salient features of peptide immunotherapy; specifically, how peptide-major histocompatibility complex (MHC) binding characteristics influence the development of tolerance (a.k.a. tolerogenesis) and how treatment with a select few peptide epitopes can create immunological tolerance to a complex protein allergen. The generation of immunotherapeutics requires an understanding of the underlying disease, the immunological underpinnings of disease and the principles of tolerance induction. The introduction will summarize these, and related, fields of research to establish context and rationale for the work presented.

This thesis has been prepared as a 'Sandwich' document. This format entails the use of a global introduction and conclusory section that serve as the 'bread' that sandwiches published, or submitted, peer-reviewed articles that constitute the contents or 'meat' of the thesis.

The ensuing introduction will first review research describing the exaggerated, aberrant type 2 immune response that typifies allergic disease. The role of thymus derived lymphocytes (T-cells), and specifically type 2 differentiated T-cells (Th2) during exaggerated Th2 responses towards allergen will be examined, and linked to important landmarks associated with disease. The research in my thesis was performed to examine and establish novel mechanisms by which peptide immunotherapy subverts ongoing Th2 immune responses. The rationale for this procedure will be illustrated through a review of the history of allergen-specific immunotherapy, existing mechanisms of tolerogenesis and the merit of peptide-immunotherapy as a safer, efficacious alternative. Finally, the requirement to examine these phenomena in murine models will be discussed. The introduction will conclude by summarizing the findings of the presented research, and demonstrating the evolution of this work, and ultimately, myself.

1.2. The socioeconomic burden of asthma

The Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA) and Global Asthma Network has estimated that over 300-million people worldwide have asthma^{1, 2}, a disease that causes approximately 250,000 premature deaths yearly³. Asthma is predominantly a disease of industrialized countries, with clinically diagnosed asthma rates the highest in Australia (21.5%), Sweden (20.2%), the United Kingdom (18.2%), Netherlands (15.3%) and Brazil (13%)⁴. In comparison, less industrialized areas, like Africa had a combined asthma prevalence of 3.94%. The Public Health Agency of Canada indicate that, as of 2009-2010, 8.4% (2.4 million) of all Canadians over the age of 12 live with asthma⁵. These estimates demonstrate the commonality of asthma within the adult population. The prevalence of asthma spawned a study that sought to establish the lifetime risk of asthma. Study of over 9 million individuals in Ontario, Canada between 1996 and 2007 revealed that approximately 1 in 3 people will be diagnosed with asthma at one-point in their lives⁶. Taken together, these studies indicate that a large proportion of the global population, and more specifically, Canadians suffer from asthma as a chronic illness.

The Center for Disease Control (CDC) last estimated that each year asthma accounts for 500, 000 patient hospitalizations in the USA⁷. Canadian statistics are largely in-line with these numbers, as there were approximately 267,000 emergency room visits and 67,000 hospitalizations in 2011. These data suggest that current therapies are not effectively controlling disease. Indeed, in Canada, 65.6% of asthmatics report being "poorly controlled"⁵, with 47% of Canadian asthmatics experience asthma symptoms 1 night per week. These figures illustrate how asthma impacts the quality of life of Canadians, despite a robust national medical care program. Treatments for asthma have existed for decades, but we lack the ability to rigorously control disease and thereby limit the associated financial burden. Novel, highly efficacious therapies,

like Omalizumab, may be able to better control disease, but they are expensive. Omalizumab therapy has an estimated cost of \$63,895-71,309 (CDN) per quality adjusted life year (QALY)^{8, 9}, a value notably more than the unofficially 'acceptable' value of \$50,000/QALY¹⁰. In contrast, the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) of immunotherapy varies between 1,500 - 29,000 (CDN)/QALY^{11, 12}. Furthermore, these analyses tend to ignore the long-term benefits associated with immunotherapy, a feature that would further enhance cost-effectiveness. Taken together, asthma-care remains problematic, making emerging, cost-effective strategies like immunotherapy attractive.

1.3. What is asthma

When discussing the burden of asthma, the issue of a universal, agreed upon definition arises. Asthma lacks a clear phenotype, as it presents as a heterogeneous, fluid disease, with many underlying immune mechanisms. The Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA) has attempted to unify the definition of asthma, citing the predominant clinical feature of asthma to be a history of episodic shortness of breath, commonly accompanied by a cough or wheeze¹³. This definition also refers to asthma as a chronic inflammatory disease, associated with airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR), atopy and other measures of sensitization. We are now entering an era where we seek to define asthma 'endotypes', wherein precise mechanisms responsible for disease pathology and symptoms are identified¹⁴. The recent success in phenotyping numerous forms of asthma has reinforced the notion that asthma is a heterogeneous disease, perhaps more aptly described as a 'syndrome', but importantly, allergic asthma remains the most common form of the disease¹⁵.

AHR is a concept that will be visited throughout this introduction and the research presented, as such it deserves a brief explanation. AHR in allergic asthmatics can be induced by

both allergen and non-specific agents (acetylcholine, histamine etc.). AHR comprises airway narrowing and bronchospasm¹⁶, features that indicate the airway to be more 'twitchy' and prone to exaggerated responses. Measurement of airway narrowing, in patients, is typically performed by assessment of a patients' forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV₁). AHR can be identified in patients through determining the "provocative concentration" of a stimulus (typically methacholine/histamine) producing a 20% reduction in baseline FEV₁ (PC₂₀)¹⁷. As in humans, AHR is a readily measurable diagnostic in mice, although the method of quantification varies markedly. In mice, rodent ventilators and plethysmographs directly quantify airway resistance, from which AHR can be identified.

1.4. The immunology of allergic asthma, a historical perspective

The development of therapies for allergic asthma has benefited from a long history of exceptional research examining the mechanisms of allergic disease onset and exacerbation. Some of the earliest studies performed in the field of allergy effectively established key mechanisms of disease that continue to shape how we think of disease, and remain targets of therapeutics under development to this day. Here, the immunology underpinning allergic asthma will be introduced through a historical review; this strategy will introduce the conception of immunotherapy and highlight the long-acknowledged relevance of this treatment strategy.

The term "allergy" was used by von Pirquet, in 1906, to describe all biological effects that are the results of 'changed reactivity' to a molecule; however, this term has evolved (or to some, been corrupted) to describe IgE-mediated diseases^{18, 19}. Asthma has long been associated with the term "allergy"²⁰, a term now used to describe an exaggerated immune responses to proteins that, in most people, are relatively harmless. Indeed, since Hippocrates' definition of asthma citing a seasonal relationship between disease and autumn, asthma and allergies have been

linked²¹. While von Pirquet is commonly perceived as the 'father' of allergy, Charles Blackley was the first to define hay fever as a hypersensitivity to pollen. In his 1873 *tour-de-force*, Blackley captured and identified pollen allergens in the air, replicated symptoms of hay-fever in patients, demonstrated skin reactivity to allergen and finally, observed that sneezing after allergen exposure typically lasted 6-8 hours post-exposure²². Therefore, it is largely Blackley's vision of allergy that has persisted, a view described 30 years prior to von Pirquet.

Dunbar was a researcher and clinician in the early 1900s who revisited the work of Blackley and pioneered many findings that remain relevant today. Dunbar purified allergens from wheat, rye, rye-grass and cat dander, then demonstrated that applying trace amounts of these allergens to the conjunctiva and mucus membrane of sensitive subjects induced the near instantaneous development of hay-fever symptoms²³. This work critically reinforced the pollen hypothesis of hay-fever, which, at the time had fallen out of favour.

In 1921, Prausnitz and Küstner²⁴ demonstrated that a serum factor was sufficient to passively transfer allergic disease, in humans²⁵. This experiment capped off a decade of work in animal models by Dunbar and others, wherein they demonstrated that the transfer of serum from pollen-sensitized Guinea Pigs or Humans into naïve Guinea Pigs passively sensitized these normal animals to pollen allergens²⁶. Together, these observations formed the foundation for the hypothesis that asthma was more than a disease of the airway muscle. Shortly after the work of Prausnitz and Küstner, Coca and Cooke defined the term $atopy^{20}$, using it to describe the immediate wheal and flare reactions associated with allergen challenge²⁷ and described this process to be dependent upon heat-labile serum "bodies" or "reagins".

Knowledge pertaining to the Th2 response associated with asthma and allergies can largely be attributed to experiments attempting to define what "reagins" were. In 1966, reagins were

identified as immunoglobulin (Ig) E²⁸²⁹. The term atopy evolved with our understanding of IgE. In 1971 and 1973, Dr. Pepys published a pair of reviews redefining the term atopy to describe patients that have detectable serum levels of IgE specific for common environmental allergens, with or without overt allergic disease^{30, 31}. Today, atopy implies a hereditary predisposition to enhanced IgE production^{32, 33} and the presence of atopic-spectrum clinical symptoms³⁴. Much of our current understanding of asthma can be attributed to these initial observations made in the early 1900s. Furthermore, our more than a century-old focus on IgE and skin-prick testing illustrates why these factors remain at the forefront of clinical care.

In parallel to research identifying IgE/reagin, a distinct body of work began to formally link asthma to allergy. In 1922, Huber and Koessler³⁵ stated that: "in most cases of bronchial asthma the causative factor lies in the allergic reactibility of the individual". In addition to this concept, Huber and Koessler reviewed human lung samples, taken following death by asthma exacerbation. This seminal work established a series of observations that continue to shape our understanding of the pathology of asthma. Amongst their most important conclusions were: a) the primary cellular symptom of bronchial asthma is the influx of eosinophils into the blood, sputum and airway tissue and b) the asthmatic lung undergoes extensive remodeling, including: i) thickening of the airway wall, ii) increased size of airway mucus glands, iii) bronchospasm likely occurs due to irritation of lung nerves and iv) hypertrophy of airway smooth muscle³⁵.

Despite early acknowledgement of eosinophil accumulation in the lungs of asthmatics, attention was not paid to eosinophils until the advent of corticosteroids. In 1958, Dr. H. Morrow Brown performed a trial of prednisolone in 90 asthmatic individuals. He observed that those possessing sputum eosinophilia prior to the beginning of therapy were those most likely to receive clinical benefit from corticosteroid therapy; benefit that included cessation of

bronchospasm and reductions in blood eosinophils³⁶. In the early 1970s, Drs. Kay and Frank Austen established a link between allergies and eosinophil recruitment, observing that antigenic challenge following passive sensitization induced eosinophil recruitment by a penta-peptide, eosinophil chemotactic factor-A (ECF-A)³⁷. While ECF-A was subsequently demonstrated to be an inefficient eosinophil recruitment factor *in vivo*, this early study linked eosinophil recruitment to IgE and atopy. Once allergic disease was linked to eosinophilia, interest in eosinophils blossomed. In 1975, blood eosinophilia was found to inversely correlate with lung function in asthmatics, and resolve with corticosteroid therapy³⁸. In 1979, Vieira and Prolla examined the sputum of 384 subjects with various lung diseases, finding that high sputum eosinophil counts was a predictive factor of allergic asthma³⁹. Subsequent studies confirmed that recruitment of eosinophils to both the airway lumen^{40, 41} and tissue⁴² is a cardinal marker of allergic asthma. Thus, eosinophilic lung infiltration is a well-established mechanism of allergic asthma.

A link between eosinophilic inflammation and the development of AHR had been theorized in the 1920s. The boom in research examining eosinophils as biomarkers of disease prompted research into this putative link. In 1985, lung function decline 6-7 hours post allergen challenge was found to only occur in subjects with significant bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) eosinophilia⁴¹. Moreover, examination of BAL from asthmatic and non-asthmatics at baseline, revealed that asthmatics with AHR had significantly more eosinophils and eosinophil granule products in their airways⁴³. Similarly, severe asthma exacerbations were found to be accompanied by elevated levels of eosinophils and free eosinophil granules in the sputum, that did not wane until 48-hours post exacerbation⁴⁴. Corroborating evidence, supporting the role of eosinophils as drivers of AHR came from a study of antigen avoidance. Following a 3-month period of allergen avoidance, house dust mite allergic children possessed increased airway

function and reduced sputum eosinophilia⁴⁵. Thus, numerous studies have linked the presence of eosinophils to ongoing airway dysfunction.

The role of eosinophils in asthma has been debated. In mice, depletion of eosinophils has not yielded a consistent effect. Eosinophils have been deemed critical for airway tissue remodeling, but not airway dysfunction⁴⁶, critical for AHR induction, but not airway remodeling⁴⁷ and sometimes, entirely dispensable⁴⁸. In humans, not all asthmatics have high levels of eosinophils in the blood⁴⁹ or bronchoalveolar lavage⁵⁰, nor can eosinophils always be found the lungs of asthmatics^{35, 51, 52}. Consequently, eosinophils may not be solely responsible for driving airway dysfunction in asthma, but sufficient evidence exists to acknowledge eosinophils as a contributor to allergic asthma and a hallmark of Th2 lung inflammation.

In parallel with research linking IgE and eosinophils to allergic asthma, the role of T-cells as orchestrators of Th2 immune processes began to accumulate. IgE production was linked to T-cell activation in the 1980s through the discovery of IL-4 (originally named B-cell Growth Factor), as a molecule capable of inducing proliferation of activated B-cells⁵³, low-level secretion of IgG⁵⁴, and robust secretion of IgE, *in vitro*⁵⁵. Subsequently, IL-4, in combination with IL-6, was confirmed to up-regulate IgE synthesis in human B-cells⁵⁶. In 1985, Warren & Sanderson created a T-cell clone that induced eosinophil differentiation from bone marrow cultures, via a soluble mediator⁵⁷. The responsible molecule was later cloned⁵⁸, and named IL-5⁵⁹. IL-5 united cellular with humoral mechanisms in allergy, as IL-5 had first been recognized as T-cell Replacing Factor, as it induced Ig secretion in activated and proliferated murine B-cells⁶⁰. Therefore, the discovery of both IL-4 and IL-5 emanated from their ability to induce immunoglobulin secretion and eosinophilic infiltration, critical features of allergy.

The biological properties of IL-4 and IL-5 suggested that T-cells secreting these cytokines (Th2 T-cells) were complicit in the elaboration of allergic lung inflammation. Indeed, observations of active Th2 T-cells in asthmatics quickly emerged to support this hypothesis. T-cells obtained from atopic individuals secreted large amounts of IL-4, when cultured with allergen⁶¹. *In vivo* evidence arose shortly thereafter, with observations that T-cells obtained from the BAL of atopic asthmatics were predominantly positive for IL-3, -4 and -5 mRNA⁶² as were biopsies from late-phase reactions to allergen-skin prick tests. Similarly, bronchial biopsies taken from atopic asthmatics after allergen challenge revealed that eosinophil recruitment correlated with T-cell expression of IL-4 &-5 mRNA⁶³, and activated T-cells^{64, 65}. These studies were corroborated by previous investigations that demonstrated the importance of T-cells during eosinophil accumulation. In mice, T-cell depleted animals were unable to clear helminth worm infection, nor mount an eosinophilic response, but adoptively transferring T-cells into deficient animals restored worm expulsion and eosinophil accumulation⁶⁶. These studies indicated that T-cells were responsible for the eosinophilia and Ig responses that characterized allergic asthma.

The third archetypal Th2 cytokine IL-13 was cloned in 1993⁶⁷, and identified in the BAL of allergen challenged atopic asthmatics two years later⁶⁸. In mice, administration of IL-13 was found to induce AHR, mucus production and goblet cell hyperplasia⁶⁹. Mouse models have provided direct evidence for the role of IL-4, -5 and -13 in asthma, as selective cytokine upregulation gave rise to disease while ablation protected from allergic airways disease^{70, 71}.

The early success of targeted cytokine depletion in mice, combined with the identification of T-cells producing T_H2 cytokines in asthmatics, gave rise to the notion that antagonizing Th2 cytokines should protect asthmatics from symptoms and disease progression. This strategy led to the creation of numerous monoclonal antibodies and small-molecule

antagonists. In mice, blockade of IL-5 function via monoclonal antibody application (TRFK-5), lead to the complete abrogation of eosinophils. Early reports demonstrated that TRFK-5 abolished eosinophil accumulation in the lungs of *Nippostronglylus brasiliensis* infected mice⁷², while subsequent studies demonstrated that IL-5 blockade (or deficiency) prevented allergen induced eosinophilia and AHR in mice^{71, 73, 74} and guinea pigs^{75, 76}. These preclinical results led to the testing of an IL-5 monoclonal antibody in mild asthmatics, with the expectation that antagonizing IL-5 would reduce eosinophilia and thereby ameliorate symptoms of asthma. Surprisingly, IL-5 blockade, despite significantly reducing eosinophilia, had no effect on symptoms or AHR⁷⁷. Numerous other anti-Th2 cytokine therapies have demonstrated less than anticipated efficacy. We recently reviewed this topic (Appendix 1⁷⁸) as the failure of these strategies highlights the complexity of disease progression, and potential pitfalls associated with anti-cytokine antibody therapy.

In the context of these failed strategies, interesting lessons can be taken from murine studies of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13. For instance, IL-4 deficient mice can mount airway inflammation, remodeling and AHR after a series of allergen challenges⁷⁹, using a mechanism that is likely IL-5 dependent⁷⁴. In contrast, others have observed that IL-4 and IL-13 are required for development of airway dysfunction in mice, but not IL-5⁸⁰. Finally, while some models of helminth infection have demonstrated that IL-13 is required to facilitate robust T-cell differentiation, in the combined absence of IL-4 and -13, upregulated IL-5 can mediate worm expulsion^{81, 82}. These studies reveal a high degree of redundancy amongst the Th2 cytokines. Such complexity and overlapping function supports the use of therapies that can induce immunosuppression, like immunotherapy, rather than a therapy targeting a single molecule.

Thus far, landmark studies that established the biological relevance of eosinophils, Tcells and IgE to asthma have been reviewed. The ensuing sections will discuss new mechanisms of asthma and the establishment and subversion of peripheral tolerance to allergens; through this discussion, the disruption of ongoing inflammation and restoration of immune tolerance by immunotherapy will be introduced.

1.5. ILC2s, a new cell implicated in Th2 disease

The discussion to this point has focused on historically relevant well established mediators of allergic disease. A potentially critical component of the allergic cascade that has not yet been introduced is the type 2 innate lymphocyte cell (ILC2). The role of ILC2s in the Th2 immune response and their relevance to emerging therapies will be discussed.

Together, thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), IL-25 and IL-33 are considered epithelial-derived cytokines (EDCs), as they are robustly expressed at mucosal surfaces by epithelial cells (and perhaps macrophages⁸³ and keratinocytes⁸⁴) and enable barriers to respond to danger⁸⁵. EDCs contributed to the discovery of ILC2s. T1ST2 was identified in the 1980s as an orphan receptor⁸⁶, predominantly expressed on Th2 polarized T-cells⁸⁷. In 2005, intranasal administration of IL-33, the T1ST2 endogenous ligand⁸⁸, was found to induce AHR, eosinophilia and goblet cell hyperplasia, in the presence or absence of T, B or NK cells⁸⁹ and function independently of IL-4⁹⁰. In 2001, IL-25 was identified as a cytokine, and its administration to mice was found to induce IL-4, -5 and -13 production by a non-B-non-T cell (NBNT) cell, that in-turn drove IgE, IgG1secretion, eosinophil accumulation⁹¹, and could mediate worm expulsion⁹². TSLP initially drew interest in the field of Th2 disease, due to its ability to potently activate human dendritic cells (DCs)⁹³ and facilitate Th2 differentiation^{84, 94}. Upregulation of TSLP in the lungs of naïve mice potently induced airway inflammation, AHR and IgE secretion⁹⁵, demonstrating a mechanism of TSLP-dependent inflammation not reliant on T-cells. Later, it was found that TSLP potently activates ILC2s⁹⁶.

Thus, the administration of these cytokines and study of mouse models with deficient or impaired T- cells, enabled the discovery of ILC2s⁹⁷⁻⁹⁹. Phenotypically, ILC2s are defined as lineage negative, sca-1^{-/+}, c-Kit⁺, IL-7R⁺, T1/ST2⁺, CD25⁺, Thy-1⁺, MHC Class II^{+/-} and ICOS^{+/-}¹⁰⁰ and have been identified in mouse and human lungs¹⁰¹, nasal polyps, blood¹⁰², lymph nodes, intestines¹⁰³ and skin⁹⁶. These, and other studies, demonstrated that ILC2s can execute a complete Type 2 response, in the absence of T-cells. Indeed, ILC2s are now acknowledged as critical mediators of worm expulsion^{99, 104} and inducers of lung inflammation following exposure to allergens¹⁰⁵, proteases¹⁰⁶ and viruses¹⁰⁷. Moreover, in immune competent animals, sensitized and challenged with OVA, ILC2s produce similar amounts of IL-5 and IL-13 as T-cells¹⁰⁸, and more IL-13 than T-cells in response to direct lung challenge with IL-25 and IL-33¹⁰⁵. Importantly, ILC2 lack antigen specific receptors, and cannot form a memory response¹⁰⁹. Taken together, ILC2s are potent mediators of type 2 responses, with or without T- or B-cells.

ILC2s and T-cells share many responsibilities and may synergize during disease pathogenesis. Through the expression of MHC Class II on their surface⁹⁷, ILC2s *in vitro* and *in vivo* have been demonstrated to take up, process and present antigens to T-cells^{110, 111}. MHC class II dependent dialogue between ILC2s and T-cells potentiates T-cell responses, while increasing ILC2 proliferation and cytokine release^{111, 112}. This mechanism, and others¹⁰⁹, indicate that ILC2s aid T-cell differentiation and potentiate T-cell responses. Taken together, ILC2 appear to play a role in each phase of the type 2 immune response. The identification of ILC2s in the blood¹¹³ and lungs of asthmatic patients^{102, 114}, supports their role in human disease as well.

ILC2s represent a new cell type that mimics the function of Th2 T-cells in their ability to induce tissue remodeling, mucus production and eosinophil accumulation. ILC2s can also perform roles classically attributed to the eosinophil (ie: worm clearance), synergize with T-cells and may be the dominant source of type 2 cytokines in the airways of severe asthmatics¹¹⁵. These findings indicate that new therapeutics developed to target Th2 pathologies will need to be cognizant of their impact upon ILC2s.

1.6. Early and late responses to allergen provocation

Understanding the kinetics of an immune response can reveal much about the mechanisms underlying the response. Study of the early and late response to allergen provocation has been critical to our understanding of allergic asthma. Intriguingly, evidence supporting the potency of peptide immunotherapy has been derived from an understanding of the disease kinetics.

McMaster University, through the work of Drs. Hargreave and Dolovich has played a prominent role in research into the kinetics of an allergic immune response. Measured by reductions in forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV₁), allergen challenge of an asthmatic individual can induce airflow obstruction over a prolonged period of time. Early phase asthmatic responses tend to begin approximately 10 minutes after allergen inhalation, peaking between 20-30 minutes post and waning 1-3 hours post while late phase responses begin approximately 4 hours post inhalation, peak between 6-8 hours¹¹⁶. The late response, especially in severe disease, can take days to completely resolve¹¹⁷. These two distinct reactions, termed early asthmatic response (EAR) and late asthmatic response (LAR), indicate there to be disparate immune mechanisms involved in the generation of an allergic reaction. Early research into the EAR and LAR identified the ease of triggering a LAR to be a biomarker of more severe disease, however, an important caveat to this finding was that a LAR could be induced in nearly any patient, when

McMaster University - Medical Sciences

a high-enough dose of antigen was administered¹¹⁸. This work not only described patient reactions to allergen, but also exemplified the immunological roots of allergic asthma.

The EAR is an IgE-mediated phenomenon¹¹⁹. Briefly, following allergen sensitization, the surface of mast cells becomes coated in allergen-specific IgE, through binding to the high affinity IgE receptor (FccRI); allergen cross-linking of FccRI induces the degranulation of mast cells¹²⁰. The preformed granules of mast cells contain a variety of enzymes and mediators, including histamine, tryptase, chymase, arachidonic acid metabolites, cytokines and platelet-activating factor (PAF)¹²¹. These mediators efficiently stimulate smooth muscle cell contraction, increase mucus production, recruit lymphocytes and dilate the nearby blood vessels, facilitating edema¹²¹. Therefore, through these mediators, mast cells, once primed with IgE, can induce many of the hallmark symptoms of asthma. Importantly, these early events prime the airways for a subsequent LAR, upregulating adhesion molecules in the airways that facilitate the selective recruitment of eosinophils, basophils and Th2 T-cells¹²². The lack of a role for T-cells during the EAR could indicate that therapies targeting the T-cell, could ineffectively control the EAR.

LARs typically develop in ~50% of patients that demonstrate an EAR¹²³, however, most asthmatics can be forced to develop a LAR with sufficiently high doses of allergen. A LAR is typically defined as a 20% decrease in FEV_1^{124} and has been associated with the recruitment of eosinophils, and evidence of eosinophil degranulation⁴¹. The robust effector cell recruitment and degranulation observed during the LAR has led to the suggestion that the profound, and repetitive inflammation observed during this response may be the root cause of lung remodeling and associated airway dysfunction¹²⁵. Early research into the LAR suggested that it was an IgE mediated event¹¹⁶, but subsequent research has implicated T-cells^{126 127}.

Identification of the immune mechanisms involved in the LAR has proven difficult. In mice and guinea pigs, the LAR is dependent upon IL-5 and eosinophils^{128, 129}. However, when an allergen challenge was administered to asthmatic subjects receiving anti-IL-5 antibody therapy, LAR responses and histamine induced AHR were unchanged, despite reduced eosinophil numbers⁷⁷. Similarly, mild asthmatic subjects treated with IL-12, an archetypal Th1 cytokine that antagonizes Th2 responses, had reduced sputum eosinophils but an unchanged LAR¹³⁰. The involvement of adaptive responses was supported by the work of Don Cockcroft, when he examined the ability of a bronchodilator (salbutamol), mast cell inhibitor (sodium cromoglycate) and corticosteroid (beclomethasone dipropionate) to inhibit both the EAR and LAR in asthmatic patients. Sodium cromoglycate treatment abolished both EAR and LAR responses, but corticosteroid treatment only ameliorated the LAR¹³¹. Similar results have been found using Cyclosporin A (CsA), a drug believed to work primarily by inhibiting transcription in T-cells¹³². The ability of corticosteroid, and T-cell targeted therapies to affect the LAR, but not EAR supports the notion that the EAR is a process mediated by IgE sensitized mast-cells, but that the manifestation of a LAR involves other mechanisms.

The most direct evidence that the LAR may be mediated by T-cells comes from studies using synthetic peptides representing T-cell epitopes. In 1999, Haselden, Kay and Larché intradermally administered short Fel d 1 derived peptides that were unable to cross-link IgE, to cat allergic subjects. They observed that approximately 25% of cat-allergic asthmatic subjects developed an isolated LAR¹²⁷. Similar results were obtained when subjects inhaled the T-cell epitopes¹³³, further supporting a role for T-cells during the elicitation of the LAR.

The LAR is of particular relevance to peptide immunotherapy. These studies indicated that peptide administration can induce airway dysfunction through the triggering of a LAR.

Importantly, the therapeutic potential of peptide administration was demonstrated through study of the LAR, as subjects were refractory to secondary peptide challenges¹³⁴.

1.7. Onset of allergic asthma

The majority of the population is not asthmatic. This begs the questions, what predisposes individuals towards atopy and asthma, and what are the mechanisms of disease onset? While a complete review of the risk factors and mechanisms of asthma onset are beyond the scope of this introduction, understanding precipitating events causing Th2 immune polarization will enable discussion of how immunotherapy can counteract these factors.

A common belief historically associated with the study of allergies was that allergens were innocuous proteins, therefore a healthy, appropriate response was to simply ignore the allergens presence. In the late 80s, strong evidence to the contrary was established as non-allergics were found to mount a low-grade IgG1 and IgG4 response to allergen, thereby implicating both Bcells and T-cells and ruling out immunological ignorance¹³⁵. Subsequent reports confirmed that non-atopics possessed allergen-specific IgG, but possessed below-detectable levels of IgE¹³⁶. As B-cells require T-cell help to antibody class-switch and produce IgG antibodies, a T-cell response to allergens in atopics was predicted. Indeed, purification of T-cells from non-atopic individuals after allergen challenge revealed that T-cells mounted a low grade IFN- γ response¹³⁶; in contrast, atopics mounted a vigorous IL-4¹³⁶, IL-5 and IL-13, response, with little in the way of IFN- γ^{137} .

I. Normal responses to allergen

Animal models have been critical to our understanding of the establishment of a 'normal' response to an antigen. While many allergens contain adjuvant like properties, the use of ovalbumin (OVA), an innocuous protein allows the visualization of what the development of a

non-responsive immune phenotype to inhaled antigens consists of. A series of studies by Holt and colleagues in the mid-1990s examined the normal response of animals to repeated OVA administrations, establishing that animals undergo a biphasic response to inhaled allergen exposure that consists of: i) early generation of Ag-specific IgE, ii) a silencing of Th2 immunity, and iii) superimposition of a dominant Th1 response¹³⁸. Later reexamination by Umetsu and colleagues revealed this process to be dependent upon IL-10-mediated CD4 T-cell hyporesponsiveness^{139, 140}. These results were corroborated in humans, as T-cells derived from the PBMCs of non-allergic individuals were hyporesponsive to house-dust mite (HDM) and birch pollen provocation, in an IL-10 and TGF- β dependent manner¹⁴¹. The importance of IL-10 and TGF- β to the maintenance of peripheral tolerance and prevention of allergy has been demonstrated elsewhere as well. In an examination of atopic versus non-atopic individuals, the frequency of IL-10 producing CD4+CD25+ T-cells in the peripheral blood of non-atopics, was found to be enhanced, compared to atopic subjects¹⁴². These studies demonstrate that normal immunity to common aeroallergens comprises the overlapping of numerous, allergen-specific mechanisms of immune tolerance.

II. Sensitization: Environment and genetics

Three major factors contribute to the development of allergies: the environment, genetics and the allergen itself. The hygiene hypothesis, proposed in 1989 by David Strachan suggested that the increasing rates of allergy may be the result of increased levels of hygiene and reductions in early childhood infections¹⁴³. Extensive research arose from this proposition associating many environmental factors with protection from allergic diseases. Data contradicting the hygiene hypothesis has arisen, such as raising rates of Th1 diseases¹⁴⁴ and the allergy-protective nature of parasitic worm infection¹⁴⁵. Although the hygiene hypothesis is now known not to be entirely

accurate, the core tenants continue to guide our current understanding. Early life exposure to microbes likely educates the immune system, facilitating the development of robust antiinflammatory networks capable of suppressing both Th1 and Th2 aberrant immunity¹⁴⁶. Importantly, not all early-life exposures are protective by nature. Infection with respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) and rhinovirus (RV) prior to the age of 6 has been strongly related to the development of wheeze¹⁴⁷, and predicts the likelihood of asthma development later in life¹⁴⁸.

Much like early life exposures, genetic differences are a well-established predictor of allergies and asthma. It is easy to consider a wide range of genes that could be associated with allergic disease, as rationally, any gene alteration that induces Th2 cytokines/function, reduces regulation/Th1 responses or impairs barrier function, would plausibly induce asthma. For instance, guided genotyping of the IL-4, IL-13 and IL-4/13 signal transduction pathways in 1120 asthmatic children, revealed a robust association between altered Th2 cytokine genetics and the risk of asthma¹⁴⁹. A review of the genetic polymorphisms that are associated with asthma is beyond the scope of this thesis, but it is important to acknowledge the importance of these factors.

III. Sensitization: Allergenicity & Th2 differentiation

Thus far, host factors conferring asthma susceptibility have been briefly discussed. Next, I will review what makes some antigens intrinsically allergenic. Some allergens, like papain are sufficiently potent to sensitize individuals in the absence of any notable genetic or environmental susceptibility. Papain is a proteolytic enzyme, used as a meat tenderizer, well known to induce sensitization following exposure to the respiratory tract, epithelium and digestive system¹⁵⁰. In a study of workplace asthma, papain sensitization developed in 23% of individuals that lacked any

McMaster University - Medical Sciences

history of atopy¹⁵¹, thereby demonstrating the ability of a potent allergen to override a healthy response. For other allergens, the root cause of intrinsic allergenicity isn't as obvious¹⁵².

Sensitization to an allergen is critically dependent upon the uptake, processing and presentation of allergens by antigen presenting cells (APCs). Indeed, CD11c⁺ DCs that extend dendrites into the airway epithelium have been tracked, using fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)conjugated macromolecules and identified as the critical cell responsible for antigen uptake, transport to, and presentation within, the local thoracic lymph node T-cell area¹⁵³. DCs antigen presentation is a complex process consisting of i) antigen uptake, via receptor-mediated endocytosis and phago-/pino-cytosis, ii) antigen degradation and processing for presentation by enzymes within the endoplasmic reticulum and lysosome, iii) loading of the peptide onto the MHC complex in lysosomes, and iv) shuttling of the peptide-MHC (pMHC) complex to the cell's surface for presentation¹⁵⁴. Concurrently with antigen uptake and presentation, DCs integrate local signals through a series of pathogen-recognition receptors (PRRs), that collectively inform the DC to mature, migrate, or both¹⁵⁴. DC maturation refers to the upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules and enhancement of MHC-dependent antigen presentation. How the DC, and other cells implicated in sensitization, sense the local environment is critical to what makes a protein allergenic.

The discovery of toll-like receptors (TLRs) was a critical step in establishing the ability of DCs to assess their local environment. In 1998, having identified the human homologue of the *Drosophila* TLR, Medzhitov demonstrated that TLRs conferred the ability to instruct the development of adaptive immunity to APCs¹⁵⁵. Since this discovery, 10 TLRs in humans (13 in mice)¹⁵⁶ and numerous other receptor subfamilies¹⁵⁷⁻¹⁵⁹ have been identified as mediators of

pathogen surveillance. The allergenicity of proteins is, in many cases, related to their ability to trigger these PRR receptors and induce DC maturation.

Since the demonstration that Toll-like receptor 4 detects LPS¹⁶⁰, this receptor has been intimately linked to allergenicity. In 2009, Germain and Lambrecht collaborated to demonstrate that HDM sensitization in mice is dependent upon TLR4. Interestingly, HDM sensitization was not dependent upon TLR4 on the surface of DCs, but rather, TLR4 activation on epithelial cells led to the secretion of DC activating cytokines¹⁶¹. TLR4 also regulates sensitization to nonproteolytic allergens. TLR4 ligation by LPS is capable of subverting ovalbumin tolerance¹⁶². Likewise, sequestration of LPS by ragweed may imbue the pollen with the ability to activate DCs in a TLR4 dependent manner¹⁶³. These studies suggest that allergens can be intrinsically allergenic, or can acquire adjuvants to become allergenic.

A plethora of other molecular signals have been associated with allergenicity. For instance, molecular mimicry, solubility, size, complexity, stability and glycosylation are all determinants of allergenicity¹⁶⁴. The major cat allergen, Fel d 1, is a potent allergen; however, the underlying mechanism is not known. The resolved crystal structure of Fel d 1 demonstrated a notable internal cavity, capable of transporting a ligand¹⁶⁵, that others¹⁶⁴ have termed a 'lipid pocket', capable of sequestering LPS. Alternatively, Fel d 1 may derive allergenicity from being notoriously 'sticky', as antigen complexity/heteromeric structure can confer the ability to potently induce Th2 differentiation¹⁶⁶. Finally, uric acid may facilitate sensitization. In mice and humans, allergen challenge leads to accumulation of uric acid in the airways¹⁶⁷. In mice, aluminum hydroxide (alum) is a commonly used Th2 polarizing adjuvant, a process found to depend upon uric acid¹⁶⁸.
The ability of an allergen to trigger PRRs, in combination with the dose of allergen, time of exposure, degree of foreignness, and other previously mentioned factors, are all important determinants of Th2 differentiation¹⁶⁹⁻¹⁷¹. These signals are integrated by DCs and instruct maturation and presentation of allergen-derived epitopes to T-cells. It was established almost 50 years ago, that T-cell activation requires two signals¹⁷², 1) T-cell receptor (TCR) recognition of its cognate ligand in the context of an MHC molecule (i.e.: pMHC), and 2) recognition of costimulatory molecules expressed by the APC; a third signal (APC produced cytokines) is known to assist T-cell activation, but is not required¹⁷³. Co-stimulatory molecules, as the name implies, are activating cell-surface markers that stimulate T- and B-cells. Many costimulatory molecules have been identified in mice and humans, including, B7-1, B7-2, ICOS ligand, OX40 ligand, CD40, 4-IBBL and notch ligands¹⁷³. Many of these molecules have been implicated as *the* costimulatory molecule critical to Th2 differentiation; however, others have described differentiation to be dependent upon the cumulative degree of stimulation induced by the collaboration of all-expressed co-stimulatory molecules¹⁷⁴. Importantly, DCs do not hold exclusive sway over Th2 differentiation, as T-cells can integrate both DC and environmental signals and influence their own differentiation via cooperation.

To summarize, T-cell differentiation occurs when the TCR is ligated by a pMHC complex in the context of costimulatory molecules and cytokines. This concept was reviewed in detail, as it is important in two-regards, 1) Th2 T-cell polarization is a fundamental component of the development of allergic responses, and 2) immunotherapy induces immune deviation away from Th2, an occurrence limited by, and adhering to, the same principles as initial T-cell polarization.

1.8. Allergen specific immunotherapy

Thus far, the introduction has been shaped to invoke an inverted pyramid, with the heterogeneity of asthma and allergic pathologies being whittled down to a dependency upon a single event, the pMHC ligation of the TCR. This reductionist approach is simplistic, but it conveys how a therapeutic intervention, targeting this relationship, could topple the entire Th2 cascade, in a manner similar to knocking over a precariously balanced pyramid.

I. History

A criteria of atopy, established during the original definition, was that patients should benefit from allergic desensitization. Today, the process that Coca was referring to is known as allergen-specific immunotherapy (AIT)²⁰. For over 100 years, AIT has consisted of administering increasing doses of allergen until a pre-determined, or symptom eliminating maintenance dose is achieved¹⁷⁵. The establishment of AIT is commonly attributed to Leonard Noon, in 1911¹⁷⁶, however, many allergists (such as Dunbar, Besredka¹⁷⁷, and Curtis¹⁷⁸) dabbled in the field prior to this demonstration. The work of Dunbar, in collaboration with Prausnitz, demonstrated that 'anti-toxin', generated by repeated allergen administrations to a horse, could protect from ocular symptoms of hay-fever, when co-administered with the allergen to a subject²³. This is, to my knowledge, the first demonstration that allergen immunotherapy can exert allergen-specific tolerance through the generation of blocking antibodies.

These, and other studies inspired Leonard Noon to assess whether injection of low doses of purified allergens could protect patients from future allergen encounters. In 1911, hay-fever subjects were injected, subcutaneously, with increasing doses of grass-pollen derived allergen over periods of 3-14 days. Noon, through ocular allergen challenges, observed that this strategy led to subjects tolerating challenge doses 100 times larger than prior to treatment, thereby

demonstrating the induction of antigen-specific tolerance¹⁷⁶. Noon's work also demonstrated the restrictive therapeutic window of immunotherapy, as use of doses too high for the individual *increased* the allergic responses. John Freeman expanded upon these results, demonstrating that 16/20 treated hay-fever subjects had markedly increased tolerance to subsequent ocular allergen challenges¹⁷⁹. Interestingly, while not officially demonstrated, Dunbar refers to personal communications with Freeman, citing that therapy provided long term (>1year) protection to subjects²³. Thus, the disease-modifying nature of allergen immunotherapy can be traced back to the very earliest clinical experiments.

Mechanisms of AIT were largely established in the 1960s and 1970s. The radioallergosorbent test (RAST), developed by Wide and Johansson¹⁸⁰, enabled quantification of serum IgE, a method leading to the demonstration that patients with hay fever, allergic asthma and atopic dermatitis had increased IgE levels¹⁸¹. These efforts rapidly led to the understanding that cell-bound, not free serum IgE was responsible for symptoms, and furthermore that increased IgE levels where predicative, but not direct evidence of the presence of allergies. To address these issue, Lichtenstein and Norman developed the in vitro histamine release assay to test leucocyte sensitivity. These assays facilitated early investigations into the mechanism of AIT, and are still commonly used today. Lichtenstein utilized these techniques to establish several key landmarks of AIT therapy, first that initiation of AIT enhances IgE production, second that years of AIT is required to reduce allergen-specific IgE and third, that the clinical benefit associated with AIT correlates with the magnitude of serum blocking antibodies, that outcompete IgE for allergen binding sites^{182, 183}. Finally, Lichtenstein drove the field of AIT towards the use of purified allergens, rather than crude extracts. This is perhaps best illustrated by his trial of insect venom hypersensitivity, wherein subjects were treated with placebo, whole-insect-body

extract or insect venom. Patients treated with insect venom, but not placebo or whole-insectbody extract tolerated subsequent sting challenges¹⁸⁴.

These studies established many fundamental aspects of AIT, such as the requirement for high-dose therapy and the requirement for long-term therapy to change allergen-specific immunoglobulin titers. The following sections will briefly describe other important features of AIT, like the long-term protective effect, mechanism and safety. Through examination of these characteristics, the rational for peptide immunotherapy will become apparent.

II. Potency

The allure of AIT resides in the modification of underlying immunological processes that reduces patient sensitivity to allergens. Three major streams of evidence support the ability of AIT to modify disease, 1) AIT induces long-term efficacy that can persist years beyond the termination of treatment¹⁸⁵⁻¹⁸⁷, 2) AIT can halt the development of asthma in those with rhinoconjunctivitis^{188, 189}, an effect that persists two¹⁹⁰ to seven¹⁹¹ years post-therapy, and 3) AIT prevents *de novo* sensitizations during therapy¹⁹²⁻¹⁹⁴, and for many years (12+) after the cessation of therapy^{195, 196}. Thus, AIT provides long-term clinical benefit and slows disease progression.

The efficacy of AIT has been verified in over 12 meta-analyses, determining AIT to potently reduce symptoms of asthma and allergic rhinitis, when given subcutaneously or sublingually¹⁹⁷. These analyses have confirmed that AIT enhances patient quality of life, reduces medication usage and typically offers potency at least on par with conventional pharmaceutical intervention. However, how does AIT compare to corticosteroid therapy, the current recommended therapy for GINA step 2+ asthma? Here, the relative value of AIT vs. pharmacotherapy becomes slightly more subjective. In fairly short trials (less than 1-year) inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) tends to outperform AIT^{198, 199}. However, studies examining the

long-term effects of AIT vs ICS differ. A study of ICS vs 1 year of AIT, demonstrated that ICS therapy was more effective in the short term, but that with continued therapy AIT effectiveness caught up, and provided persistent benefit that ICS did not²⁰⁰. Elsewhere, the long-term (5 year) efficacy of ICS vs AIT was assessed. After 3 years, AIT was as effective as ICS at controlling airway symptoms and rescue medication use, while offering superior protection from AHR and rhinitis symptoms²⁰¹. Thus, not only does AIT alter disease progression, but with persistent adherence, it rivals the potency of steroids. Problematically, the efficacy of AIT requires high-doses of allergen; doses known to be capable of inducing both local and systemic adverse events.

III. Mechanism of AIT

The clinical studies detailed above, and many others, have contributed many observations detailing changed immunological reactivity following AIT. While these observations do not provide a rigorous assessment of the mechanism of action through which AIT is functioning, they do provide many clues and common immunological shifts that are associated with antigen tolerance. While the mechanisms of peptide immunotherapy differ from the mechanisms of AIT, many similarities can be drawn; therefore a brief examination of the mechanisms of AIT is warranted.

AIT induces allergen specific tolerance. Many examinations of PBMCs post-therapy have revealed the induction of regulatory T-cell populations²⁰²⁻²⁰⁵. AIT also affects humoral immunity; indeed, the induction of IgG4 blocking antibodies may be required to modulate IgEdependent events, and may represent a predictive factor that denotes efficacious AIT therapy^{206,} ²⁰⁷. IL-10 secreted by regulatory T-cells, in the context of IL-4²⁰⁸ facilitates B-cell isotype class switching, markedly enhancing the production of the protective IgG4 antibody²⁰⁹. Thus, regulatory T-cells may be critical to both the effector T-cell and B-cell responses. The role of regulatory T-cells during AIT has been contested by some. Indeed, some studies have found no induction of regulatory cell number or regulatory function after AIT²¹⁰, instead noting deletion of allergen-specific Th2 cells^{211, 212}. Others have noted no alteration in PBMC responsiveness after AIT²¹³. In many of these studies citing a lack of a role for Treg cells, antibody isotypes shift towards IgG4 with therapy, implying a role for Tregs at some point during the tolerogenic cascade.

Several kinetic studies have tracked the development of tolerance during AIT. In a study of grass pollen SLIT, a series of sequential shifts in the predominant immune response to allergen were observed. At the onset of therapy, Th2 immunity became exaggerated, with increased specific IgE; by four months, a marked immune deviation away from Th2, towards Th1 and IgG4 was noted, and correlated with the induction of a regulatory T-cell population²¹⁴. Similar results were found in a study that utilized HLA-peptide tetramers (HLA DRB1) to track antigen-specific T-cells during venom immunotherapy (VIT)²¹⁵. The commencement of VIT induced an exacerbation of IL-4 production by antigen-specific T-cells that resolved by week six, and fell below baseline by week 12. In contrast, IL-10 production continuously increased until week 12, at which point IL-10+ antigen-specific T-cells were three times more common than baseline, and outnumbered IL-4 producing cells $3:1^{215}$. No change in antigen-specific IFN- γ was noted, although FoxP3+ T-cells increased with time. In a trial of birch pollen SLIT, opposite kinetics were noted as, 4 weeks of therapy increased the frequency of CD4+CD25+ T-cells, significantly enhanced expression of FoxP3 and IL-10 mRNA, and down regulated IL-4 and IFN- γ mRNA were reduced²¹⁶. Re-examination of these subjects at week 52 revealed that neither IL-10 nor FoxP3 expression remained enhanced, but rather, IFN- γ was.

Collectively, these studies demonstrate the heterogeneity between treatment regimens and the phenotype of antigen-specific hyporesponsiveness that develops following AIT. Given the lack of consensus, it is possible that AIT works through both immune regulation and deviation. Intriguingly, evidence of contemporaneous production of IL-10 and IFN- γ has been noted previously, as VIT is known to induce IFN- γ +, IL-10+ and dual IFN- γ +IL-10+ T-cells²¹⁷.

To summarize, AIT utilizes numerous mechanisms to evoke tolerance. In general, the commencement of therapy exacerbates Th2 responses, which resolve by enhanced IgG4 production and immune deviation or regulation. Together, the altered T-cell response blunts granulocyte recruitment to the airways, limiting associated pathology. The event that triggers the development of regulatory T-cells is poorly understood. The leading hypothesis suggests that allergen administration in non-inflamed areas loads immature APCs with allergen-derived epitopes that fail to activate effector T-cells. In support of this hypothesis, a study evaluating the proteome of dendritic cells during a 4-month period of grass SLIT observed the induction of 'regulatory' dendritic cells in subjects that benefited from AIT²¹⁸.

IV. Safety

The uptake of immunotherapy is limited by both the length of treatment, and the demonstrated risk to patients. During AIT, increasing doses of allergen are administered to sensitized individuals. Injecting an allergen into a sensitized patient possess the risk of cross-linking IgE bound to FceRI receptors on the surface of mast cells and causing degranulation. Moreover, injecting allergen bypasses protective barrier surfaces and provides direct entrance into the bloodstream. Thus, immunotherapy can induce systemic allergic reaction that can culminate in anaphylaxis. An estimated 5-35% of allergen injections induce an adverse event²¹⁹. A retrospective analysis examining immunotherapy has indicated that the presence of poorly

controlled asthma is a risk for AIT related death²²⁰. As a result of this, severe asthma is almost viewed as a contraindication for AIT, thereby precluding the most in-need population.

Further compounding safety issues is the requirement for high-dose therapy. Frequently, AIT is only effective when administered at high-doses, yet these doses are often associated with notably more adverse events²²¹. Thus, the development of adverse events can directly constrain the therapeutic dose-window, preventing efficacious treatment. In addition to the safety and dosing concerns, are issues associated with adherence. Efficacious AIT seems to develop following at least 3-years of therapy^{222, 223}, a time frame the leads to high patient drop-out rates²²⁴. Thus, the widespread uptake of AIT is impaired by dose requirements, a long duration of therapy and potentially life-threatening adverse events. The notable efficacy, and safety concerns of AIT, have given rise to many derivative therapies, that attempt to modify the allergen in a manner to maintain the immunogenicity of treatment, while removing the allergenicity. We have employed the use of synthetic, allergen-derived T-cell epitopes to replace traditional AIT, as this strategy retains T-cell immunogenicity, while circumventing IgE-related safety risks.

1.9. Regulatory T-cells

Tolerance induction by AIT & peptide immunotherapy depends upon many immune processes typically mediated by regulatory T-cells. Thus, understanding Treg function can facilitate understanding of AIT and peptide immunotherapy. Antigen-specific tolerance was first observed in 1953 by Medawar and colleagues, who demonstrated that *in utero* exposure to allogenic antigens protected mice exposed later in life to those same antigens²²⁵. Gershon and Kondo were the first to describe regulatory thymocytes, as they noted that adoptively transferred thymus-derived cells could suppress antibody production²²⁶. Today, numerous regulatory T-cells have been identified, and are broadly classified as either natural (nTreg) or inducible (iTreg)

cells. The most commonly discussed populations of iTreg are the IL-10 (FoxP3-), IL-35 and TGF- β producing subsets, known as Tr1, iTr35 and Th3 cells, respectively.

Natural Tregs were identified by Sakaguchi and colleagues as CD4+ T-cells that constitutively express CD25+, and possess enhanced immunosuppressive function²²⁷. Today, nTregs are now characterized by the transcription factor FoxP3. The role of FoxP3 in T-cell tolerance was established in the early 2000s, following observation of autoimmunity, severe allergy and fatal infection that accompanies the immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX) in mice with mutated FoxP3 (scurfy mice)²²⁸. Rudensky and colleagues demonstrated that the transfer of FoxP3 positive cells rescued scurfy mice from disease development, and that FoxP3 expression, not CD25, facilitated immune regulation²²⁹ Shimon Sakaguchi's lab demonstrated that FoxP3 is specifically expressed in nTregs, and that retroviral gene transfer of FoxP3 into naïve T-cells confers a regulatory phenotype²³⁰. In humans, but not mice, FoxP3 can be transiently expressed upon activation of Teff cells²³¹, limiting its usefulness as a marker of human nTregs. Natural Tregs exert immunosuppression through a plethora of cell-contact dependent mechanisms²³²⁻²³⁸, but tend to be unable to mediate regulation in a cell-contact independent manner^{230, 231}.

Inducible Tregs, specifically, Tr1 cells have been demonstrated as critical mediators of allergen-specific tolerance, in both normal individuals and following immunotherapy. In non-atopic individuals, provocation with common aeroallergens induced a population of regulatory T-cells that suppressed the function of Th1 and Th2 T-cells, through the secretion of IL-10 and TGF- β^{141} . These cells were missing in allergic subjects, but were restored by immunotherapy¹⁴¹. Tr1 cell expansion may be the dominant response of non-allergic subjects to allergen. Direct evidence that Tr1 secreted IL-10 can ameliorate lung inflammation comes from a mouse model.

CD4+CD25+ OVA specific nTregs from IL-10 deficient animals were transferred into OVAallergic mice. Transfer of Tregs ameliorated allergen induced inflammation and AHR, in an IL-10 dependent manner, indicating that nTregs facilitated the induction of disease modifying IL-10 producing Tr1 cells from recipient CD4+ cells²³⁹.

Inducible regulatory T-cells develop *de novo*, in the periphery from mature CD4+ T-cells. While nTregs develop in the thymus and are exposed to ectopic expression of self-antigens in the thymus, via the AIRE gene²⁴⁰, iTregs are not similarly targeted towards self-antigens. Thus, iTregs may primarily control tolerance to non-self-antigens. Expansion of iTregs occurs following exposure to tolerogenic stimuli, in a manner much like the decision to differentiate into Th1 or Th2 cells. Tr1 cells were first identified through the repeated exposure of C57BL/6 mice to a lympocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) derived peptide, which resulted in antigenspecific tolerance towards LCMV that manifested as an inability to clear the virus²⁴¹. These CD4+IL-10+ cells, expanded *de novo*, were sufficient to suppress Teffector (Teff) proliferation in response to antigen provocation and protect SCID mice from the development of colitis induced by the transfer of autoimmune, pathogenic memory T-cells²⁴². These experiments established that iTregs could rapidly be expanded to self and non-self-antigens, and potently mediate immunosuppression.

Early studies of iTregs utilized experimental conditions to force expansion. Natural development of iTregs *in vivo* may rely on modified antigen presentation by APCs. In mice, airway challenged with ovalbumin induced IL-10 expression within mature pulmonary DCs, that in turn stimulated the development of Tr1 cells capable of responding to subsequent allergen challenges¹⁴⁰. Similarly, *in vitro* examination of human DCs revealed that only immature DCs, as determined by a reduced costimulatory surface phenotype, could stimulate the development of

Tr1 cells²⁴³. Cumulatively, these and other studies²⁴⁴⁻²⁴⁶, demonstrate that antigen-presentation by immature DCs leads to the development of iTregs capable of exerting antigen-specific tolerance. Natural Tregs may be the factor that limits DC maturation. Numerous studies have suggested that nTregs, following *in vivo* pMHC:TCR ligation, primarily target and regulate the APC²⁴⁷⁻²⁵⁰.

The mechanism of tolerance effected by AIT is important to the resolution of disease symptoms. For instance, the paracrine release of suppressive cytokine by iTregs can regulate all nearby CD4+ T-cells, even CD4+ T-cells specific to other epitopes, a phenomenon known as bystander suppression. Similarly, the tolerogenic events occurring during AIT could affect the long-term efficacy of therapy. For instance, AIT that induces deletion of Th2 T-cells could provide short-term clinical benefit that would wane as Th2 polarized T-cells began to accumulate with subsequent allergen exposures. In comparison, the generation of a stable Treg population could lead to long-term clinical benefit, wherein each subsequent allergen exposure served to boost the efficacy and frequency of these cells. Taken together, these studies demonstrate the importance of both natural and inducible regulatory T-cells to the establishment of allergen-specific tolerance.

1.10. Peptide immunotherapy

The theme of the research to be presented is the examination of mechanisms of peptide immunotherapy, for treatment of allergic disease. This work is multidisciplinary, as it melds together asthma, allergy, AIT and peptide immunotherapy. The origins, clinical success and mechanism of peptide immunotherapy will be discussed to form the rationale for future studies, as well as highlight gaps in current knowledge. In 2011, we reviewed the field of peptide immunotherapy (Appendix 2^{251}), here, relevant studies will be discussed.

I. Origins of peptide immunotherapy

The therapeutic benefit of peptide injection was first revealed by administering peptides to neonate mice, as this rendered peptide-specific T-cells unresponsive into adulthood²⁵². The fact that peptide administration induced epitope-specific unresponsiveness encouraged study of peptide administration in diseases with well-defined pathogenic epitopes. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) is a murine model of multiple sclerosis, characterized by autoimmunity targeting myelin basic protein (MBP) that causes a chronic, relapsing disease & paralysis. In B10.PL mice, EAE pathology is driven by T-cell recognition of the amino-terminal MBP epitope (peptide: 1-9NAc). B10.PL mice injected with 1-9NAc or rat MBP, in complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA), develop a robust form of EAE; however, administration of 1-9NAc to neonatal and adult mice protected them from the development of EAE^{253, 254}. Peptide therapy has been demonstrated to effectively regulate numerous murine autoimmunities²⁵⁵⁻²⁵⁷. Taken together, these studies demonstrate that administration of peptides can induce a form of T-cell mediated tolerance that prevents responses to entire proteins and protects from disease.

Autoimmune diseases are an excellent target for peptide immunotherapy because the genetic polymorphisms that predispose individuals to disease, tend to do so by altering antigenpresentation in a manner that breaks self-tolerance. Most frequently these genetic risk factors reside within human leucocyte antigens (HLA) such that many autoimmune diseases have HLA susceptibilities that map to particular HLA gene products. Thus, the very nature of disease progression specifies the epitopes that need to be silenced by therapy. Peptide therapy for allergic disease is not as straightforward. While immunodominant epitopes exist in allergens, the profound genetic diversity of antigen-presenting molecules precludes the possibility of a single, dominant allergen-derived T-cell epitope. Yet, this strategy has proven to be quite efficacious. In 1993, peptide therapy was utilized to ameliorate mouse allergy to HDM and Fel d 1. In mice sensitized to HDM, intranasal administration of a peptide derived from the major HDM allergen (Der p 1⁽¹¹¹⁻¹³⁹⁾) inhibited the production of antibodies, lymphocyte proliferation during *in vitro* culture with HDM, and IL-2 production by T-cells²⁵⁸. This study established that peptide administration could ameliorate allergen-specific responses, while also demonstrating that intranasal peptide administration was effective in mice. In a similar set of experiments, treatment of mice with two Fel d 1 derived peptides protected Fel d 1 immunized mice from T-cell activation, immunoglobulin production, and conferred T-cell hyporesponsiveness to the entire Fel d 1 molecule²⁵⁹. Similar results were demonstrated in a murine model of Bet v 1 allergy²⁶⁰. Intriguingly, peptide immunotherapy was first demonstrated to ameliorate allergic airways disease in Bet v 1 allergic mice, inhibiting the recruitment of eosinophils to the lungs following birch allergen challenge²⁶¹. Collectively, these murine experiments confirmed that peptide immunotherapy to the clinic.

These early studies raised some questions that remain unanswered. How does treatment with a single T-cell epitope induce tolerance to the entire allergen? Early studies suggested that T-cell tolerance could spread between epitopes within an allergen, however, no study demonstrated efficacy in regulating responses to other allergens. Thus, how does therapy with Fel d 1 derived peptides affect Fel d 2 responses? These questions will be returned to later.

II. Trials of peptide immunotherapy

The first-in-man assessment of peptide immunotherapy for treatment of allergic disease utilized two Fel d 1 derived, 27-amino acid long peptides that spanned several dominant Fel d 1 epitopes. Ninety-five cat-allergic subjects were treated with four subcutaneous (SC)

administrations of peptides, or placebo. Patients treated with high doses of peptides (750µg) developed significantly fewer nasal and lung symptoms upon exposure to a live cat, compared to placebo treated individuals²⁶². Treatment with 7.5 µg of Fel d 1 derived peptides elicited no clinical benefit, while treatment with 75 µg elicited moderate protection. Another trial of the same peptides confirmed the inability of low-dose peptides to confer clinical benefit²⁶³. The efficacy of high-dose (750µg) peptide therapy was later linked to reduced IL-4 production by peptide specific T-cells²⁶⁴. Two other trials of the same peptides were performed. In a trial of 7.5, 75 and 750 µg of peptide or placebo, mixed clinical results were observed as high dose therapy failed to reduce bronchial sensitivity compared to placebo, but significant within subject changes pre-/post- therapy were noted²⁶⁵. The fourth, and largest, trial of these peptides examined 133 cat allergic subjects in a DBPC trial. Here, subjects that received 750 µg of the Fel d 1-derived peptides possessed significantly reduced symptom scores during cat-exposure²⁶⁶. Furthermore, in subjects with pre-existing airflow dysfunction, high-dose peptides significantly enhanced FEV₁ (increase of 0.28 L/6.27% predicted) compared to placebo, three weeks after the termination of therapy. All of these trials documented high levels of adverse events, with frequent induction of LAR symptoms. Early adverse events were also noted after therapy, indicating that these peptides were of sufficient length to engage circulating IgE.

In light of the high frequency of adverse events caused by peptide therapy with 27-amino long T-cell epitopes, a strategy to utilize shortened peptides was proposed, on the basis that shorter peptides should be less able to cross-link IgE. Indeed, analysis of shortened Fel d 1 derived peptides in a histamine release assay, using basophil-enriched PBMCs from allergic donors, confirmed that these peptides were unable to induce histamine release¹²⁷. Injection of high doses (80µg) of these short, Fel d 1 derived peptides induced isolated late phase asthmatic

responses in some asthmatic subjects (9 of 40); the lack of early asthmatic response further supports the hypothesis that these peptides lack the ability to cross-link IgE^{127} . Intriguingly, individuals receiving a second injection two-weeks after the first displayed no discernible LAR, demonstrating the rapid establishment of epitope-specific unresponsiveness¹³⁴. These short Fel d 1 derived peptides were assessed in a DBPC-RCT of 24 cat allergic and asthmatic subjects. Significant immune modulation was observed following therapy, as PBMC secretion of IL-10 was significantly upregulated, while IL-4 and IFN- γ , were down regulated²⁶⁷. Furthermore, Fel d 1 skin prick testing revealed a reduced early and late phase skin responses, in treated subjects compared to placebo, although early skin responses to whole cat allergen persisted. Quality of life was improved, but AHR was not affected by therapy. Notably, the peptide selection criteria may have limited efficacy. Therapeutic peptides were generated without regard to TCR registers, as the Fel d 1 molecule was simply broken into 16 linear epitopes, and subjects were treated with 12 of them. As such, peptides may have inefficiently targeted key T-cell epitopes.

A recent double blind, placebo-controlled phase II study addressed the concern of peptide register, and safety. PBMCs from 100 cat-allergic subjects were used to screen the immunogenicity of 16 T-cell epitopes, derived from Fel d 1, and seven immunodominant peptides were identified by proliferative and cytokine responses. MHC binding analysis of these peptides, revealed that these 7 peptides were promiscuously recognized by 10 of the most common human HLA antigen presenting molecules, and failed to cross-link IgE from sensitized individuals, indicating that these peptides should be recognized by a large proportion of the population²⁶⁸. Indeed, the safety of these peptides was confirmed, as adverse events did not differ between the placebo and treatment groups.

The efficacy of this 7-peptide vaccine (known as Cat protein allergen desensitization; Cat-PAD) is currently being evaluated in a Phase III trial. Other studies using Cat-PAD have provided encouraging results. In a 1-year follow-up study, 89 cat-allergic subjects were examined to evaluate the long-term efficacy of peptide immunotherapy. In this DBPC trial, 4 injections of 6nmol (4x6) of Cat-PAD significantly reduced the development of nasal and ocular symptoms, as assessed by the total rhinoconjunctivitis symptom score, during exposure to cat allergen in an environmental exposure challenge²⁶⁹. This cohort was reassessed for rhinitic symptoms 2-years after the commencement of therapy. Efficacy, defined as reductions in the total rhinoconjunctivitis symptoms score, was maintained in the high-dose treatment group $(4x6)^{270}$. These studies indicate the long-lasting therapeutic effect of peptide immunotherapy, as 4 injections over the course of 3 months resulted in disease-modification for at least 1.66 years post termination of therapy. In contrast, studies examining the long-term efficacy of subcutaneous and sublingual AIT have indicated that therapy for less-than two years was unable to confer long-term efficacy^{222, 271} or persistently alter allergen-specific IgE, IgG1 or IgG4 levels²²³.

Peptide immunotherapy for other allergens (and antigens) is also under development. Three contiguous overlapping peptides derived from the major birch allergen (Bet v 1) were assessed for their ability to treat birch-allergic subjects. In subjects receiving low dose peptide immunotherapy, the combined symptom and medication score improved, compared to placebo²⁷². Some efficacy was also noted in high-dose treated subjects, although this was associated with an increased frequency of adverse events. Peptides derived from the honeybee venom Api m 1, administered to 5 bee-allergic subjects with documented systemic reactivity protected 3/5 patients from local wheal and flair development following PLA 2 challenge²⁷³;

peptide therapy also inhibited the development of systemic symptoms following live bee sting in 3/5 patients. In a study with similar peptides, treatment of 12 bee-allergic patients lead to a significant reduction in late-phase skin response, compared to untreated controls²⁷⁴. In contrast, treatment of bee-allergic patients with long Api M 1 derived peptides failed to alter skin responses to PLA2 challenge²⁷⁵. Peptide immunotherapy for autoimmune diseases has also been investigated. A recent first-in-man trial of MBP derived peptides in patients with MS has provided encouraging results²⁷⁶. This follows demonstrations in the mid-1990s that treatment with MBP derived peptide could alter MBP-specific T-cell responses, lower autoantibody production and slow clinical progression, in some patients^{277, 278}. Peptide immunotherapy for the treatment of type-1 diabetes has also been attempted. In a trial of 48 subjects, low-dose therapy with an HLA-DR4 restricted epitope derived from proinsulin, enhanced peptide specific IL-10 production²⁷⁹. Cumulatively, these studies demonstrate that peptide immunotherapy may become a safe, effective treatment strategy for difficult-to-treat immunological disorders.

III. Mechanism of action of peptide immunotherapy

The specific mechanisms that allow peptide therapy to control disease are not fully understood. Like AIT, the first step towards the induction of tolerance is believed to be the presentation of peptide by immature DCs.

Evidence from a study examining peptide immunotherapy in EAE elegantly indicated the importance of tolerogenic DCs during elicitation of epitope-specific tolerance. Following the elicitation of EAE, disease can be abrogated through a single injection of the MBP^(1-9NAc) peptide. McPherson and colleagues examined epitope presentation post 1-9NAc administration and observed that splenic DCs, but not B-cells nor macrophages, maintained stable MHC restricted presentation of the tolerogenic peptide; immunofluorescence staining of spleens

revealed the predominant co-localization of tolerized pathogenic T-cells with CD11c+ cells²⁸⁰. The T-cell:DC relationship during peptide immunotherapy has also been examined in an allergic milieu. In OVA sensitized mice, OVA peptide administration was shown to induce tolerance, likely through the inability to induce co-stimulatory molecules expression on DCs, although peptide administration was linked to T-cell upregulation of PD-1, CD154, OX40 and RANKL²⁸¹. In contrast, administration of OVA peptide with LPS to OVA sensitized mice led to robust costimulatory molecule up-regulation by DCs, and the development of enhanced immunity, rather than tolerance. Taken together, these studies indicate that the presentation of peptides by immature DCs may be critical to the initiation of epitope-specific tolerance by peptide immunotherapy.

Despite the involvement of immature DCs, peptide administration is known to induce Tcell mediated adverse events in human subjects. Intriguingly, the induction of adverse events and T-cell stimulation by peptide administration in both mice²⁸², and humans¹³⁴ does not impact the generation of tolerance. Therefore, it appears that TCR ligation in sensitized animals and human subjects is enough to stimulate T-cell activity²⁸³, but that the lack of co-stimulatory molecules expressed by DCs²⁸¹ may limit this reaction, and give rise to tolerance.

DCs play a key role facilitating the development of tolerance, but it is the induction of regulatory T-cells that provides persistent, dominant tolerance following immunotherapy. Some evidence supporting the expansion of regulatory T-cells in humans after the administration of peptides exists. It is important to note that the expansion of these cells and their effectiveness during *in vitro* suppression does not directly support their role *in vivo*. Direct evidence of Treg involvement comes from murine models.

A series of mechanistic studies examining the T-cell repertoire of Fel d 1 peptide treated cat-allergic subjects has suggested distinct roles for nTregs and iTregs during the establishment, and persistence of tolerance. Cat allergic subjects treated with Fel d 1 derived peptides developed CD4+ T-cell unresponsiveness to *in vitro* culture with allergen, marked by reductions in proliferation and IL-13 production. However, the regulatory capacity of CD4+CD25+ T-cells did not change before and after therapy²⁸⁴, suggesting that persistent tolerance is not associated with a modified nTreg population. In contrast, skin biopsies taken 24-hours after the injection of Fel d 1 derived peptides revealed the accumulation of CD4+CD25+ T-cells and CD4+IFN- γ + T-cells, but not T-cells producing IL-10²⁸⁵. These phenotypes, while not conclusive for nTreg versus iTreg, suggest that nTreg function, or perhaps Th1 mediated immune deviation at the site of injection allows for the development of tolerance. Lending plausibility to this hypothesis, are the previously introduced studies the demonstrated that nTreg regulation of DCs can facilitate the induction of iTregs.

Peptide immunotherapy is believed to function through the induction of iTregs. Indeed, PBMCs donated by cat allergic subjects before and after Fel d 1 derived peptide immunotherapy tend to produce increased levels of IL-10 upon *in vitro* allergen stimulation, but possess unaltered CD4+CD25+ T-cell populations²⁸⁶²⁶⁷. Direct evidence supporting the expansion of iTregs following peptide immunotherapy comes from a mouse model of cat allergy. In catsensitized mice, treatment with a single Fel d 1-derived peptide protected mice from the development of AHR and airway inflammation upon intranasal challenge with CDE. In this model, effective peptide immunotherapy was accompanied by the induction of IL-10 expression in polyclonal T-cells recognizing Fel d 1, and also in treatment specific cells, but no changes in FoxP3 or TGF-β expression were noted²⁸⁷. Moreover, peptide immunotherapy was dependent

upon IL-10, as blockade of the IL-10 receptor abrogated peptide induced tolerance. In agreement with these results, prevention of EAE by peptide therapy has also been demonstrated to be IL-10dependent^{288, 289}. Similar evidence of enhanced antigen-specific IL-10 secretion by T-cells has been observed in mice following treatment of bee allergic individuals with peptides derived from PLA2^{274, 275}. In these trials, and a previous trial of PLA2 derived peptides²⁷³, treatment with peptides epitopes induced moderate amounts of IgG4, an antibody isotype produced by B-cells after exposure to IL-10. These studies indicate that successful peptide immunotherapy modulates immune responsiveness to whole allergen provocation through the induction of iTregs that regulate allergen specific T and B cells.

IV. pMHC:TCR

The immunogenicity of peptide immunotherapy resides in the ability of an injected peptide to be presented by the MHC class II complex of an APC, a process discussed in section <u>1.7 Onset of allergic asthma</u>. The endocytosis, processing and presentation of an allergen is a fairly slow process (~2-6 hours²⁹⁰) as is the migration of a DC from the skin to the skin draining lymph nodes (>6 hours²⁹¹). Therefore, the kinetics of adverse events following peptide administration is suggestive of an alternative pathway of peptide presentation.

An interesting set of experiments may explain this time discrepancy and emphasize the importance of immature DCs. In 1999, Santambrogio and colleagues demonstrated that empty MHC Class II molecules are abundant on the surface of immature DCs²⁹². Moreover, these empty MHC Class II molecules could acquire peptide ligands from the extracellular space, and present them to T-cells. Indeed, further investigation revealed there to be MHC Class II antigen-processing machinery present on the surface of APCs, such as HLA-DM, an MHC Class II molecule with enzymatic activity that facilitates peptide exchange within the binding cleft of

presentation molecules²⁹³. These data suggest that, on the surface of cells, MHC Class II acts like a typical receptor. As such, peptide binding to surface MHC molecules should adhere to typical receptor binding properties, implying that the number of pMHC molecules should be dependent upon the affinity of the peptides to the MHC complex, and the dose of the peptide. The importance of peptide dose and affinity are further accentuated by kinetic examinations. For a given peptide of moderate-to-low affinity, the half-life of binding can be quite short, less than 15 minutes²⁹⁴. In contrast, intranasal administration of a peptide that binds MHC class II with high affinity yields APCs in the spleen and lymph node capable of stimulating T-cells for 5 days after peptide administration²⁹⁵.

In 1993, Wraith examined the role of peptide affinity for the MHC molecule. Mice were treated with peptides with increasing affinity to the mouse MHC class II molecule (H-2 A^u), and only mice treated with the highest affinity peptides were completely protected from EAE²⁹⁶. Protection from EAE was later linked to the induction of co-IL-10 and IFN- γ producing T-cells²⁹⁷. These observations led to the conclusion that immune tolerance and the expansion of IL-10 regulatory T-cells were dependent upon a phenomenon termed, 'high signal strength'. In nearly all receptor mediated phenomenon, there are at least three defining characteristics, 1) affinity, 2) dose and 3) intrinsic efficacy. Given the work of Santomobrogio, these features should apply to the concept of high pMHC signal strength. Therefore, these experiments in the EAE model provide clear evidence that increased affinity *can* play a pivotal role during induction of tolerance, however, they fail to consider a role of antigen dose.

In a subsequent study, Wraith and colleagues investigated the role of dose in the context of a high-affinity peptide. In peptide therapy of EAE, higher doses of a peptide that bind MHC with high affinity, better protected mice from the development of disease²⁹⁸. Extensive

proteomics and transcriptomics throughout the treatment phase revealed that only low dose therapy with the high affinity peptide was able to induce FoxP3 expression. Interestingly, it is plausible that low-dose therapy was less efficacious than high-dose therapy due to the model used. In this study, a single pathogenic T-cell clone was responsible for ~90% of EAE. Therefore, ablating responses to this single epitope effectively treats disease. In contrast to this, responses to allergens are not dominated by a single epitope to this degree. Moreover, peptide immunotherapy for cat allergy has been shown to induce linked-epitope suppression²⁸⁷, a process dependent upon sustained FoxP3 expression in some models²⁹⁹. Therefore, it is intriguing to consider that low-dose peptide immunotherapy may outperform high-dose therapy, in a disease that is not reliant on a single epitope.

The essential role of antigen dose to the generation of tolerance has previously been demonstrated. Chronic, low-dose $(0.1\mu g)$ peptide administration is known to induce a Treg population capable of exerting antigen specific tolerance³⁰⁰. Similar observations have been made in a model of autoimmunity. Protection against the development of systemic lupus erythematosus in lupus-prone mice (SNF₁) was dependent upon the dose of synthetic histone-derived peptide that was administered, with 20µg outperforming treatment with $100\mu g^{301}$. These studies contrast the work of Wraith, emphasizing the importance of dose rather than affinity.

The role of peptide dose and affinity to the MHC molecule have been examined exclusively in mouse models of autoimmunity. Interpretation of these results must be considered in the context of disease etiology. While autoimmune disease is marked by the breakdown of tolerance to self-antigens, this is typically not caused by highly autoreactive T-cells, these being previously deleted in the thymus. In contrast, T-cell clones highly reactive to exogenous epitopes, such as allergens, do not undergo thymic regulation. Thus, the pathogenic T-cell

repertoire varies between autoimmune diseases and allergic disease. These variations in clonal behaviour are an important consideration for strategies trying to abrogate the function of pathogenic Teff. In light of these concerns and discordant results, a study examining the role of peptide dose and MHC affinity during the treatment of allergic responses is required. This question is clinically relevant, as the extensive genetic diversity in antigen presentation molecules, means that a high affinity peptide in one individual, is likely not a high affinity peptide in another.

1.11. The spread of tolerance

Thus far, it has been established that treatment with synthetic allergen-derived CD4 T cell epitopes can induce antigen-specific tolerance. How that epitope-specific tolerance leads to protection against challenge with complex allergens is poorly understood. Two distinct mechanisms are plausible: 1) iTregs specific for the treated epitope impair responsiveness to the whole allergen, or 2) peptide therapy induces iTregs specific for the treated epitope, and other epitopes within the allergen. If iTregs are induced only to the treated epitope, how does tolerance develop to the numerous untreated allergens contained within danders and pollens? Specifically, if peptides from Fel d 1 are used to treat allergic individuals, do Fel d 2 specific responses persist, unaffected? The second scenario suggests that tolerance to a single epitope within Fel d 1 could lead to the spread of tolerance, wherein treatment specific Tregs confer regulatory capacity onto T-cell clones specific to other epitopes. Early attempts to resolve how tolerance spreads after peptide immunotherapy were inconclusive. The treatment of EAE in rats with the 1-9NAc peptide, has been demonstrated to only induce epitope specific tolerance by some²⁵³, while others noted the spread of tolerance to T-cells specific for other MBP epitopes³⁰².

In the field of allergy, therapy with peptide epitopes facilitates the spread of tolerance to other, untreated epitopes within the same allergen. Treatment of HDM allergic mice with Der p1⁽¹¹¹⁻¹³⁹⁾ inhibited T-cell responsiveness to Der p 1⁽¹¹¹⁻¹³⁹⁾ and two additional epitopes (Der p 1^{(78-100) & (21-29)})²⁵⁸. Intriguingly, this tolerance could not be spread to OVA upon dual-allergen sensitization³⁰³. Fel d 1 peptide immunotherapy has been demonstrated to induce linked-epitope suppression in both mice and humans. Treatment of cat allergic subjects with a mixture of 12 peptides induced PBMC hyporesponsiveness to the treatment peptides and an additional 4 Fel d 1 peptides that were absent from the treatment cocktail²⁸⁷. In cat allergic mice, the use of tetramers to track antigen-specific cells revealed that therapy with Fel d 1⁽²⁹⁻⁴⁵⁾ suppressed proliferative responses in both treatment specific T-cells and T-cells specific for other epitopes²⁸⁷. These data demonstrate the development of linked-epitope suppression, as treatment with a single epitope impacted the response to another epitope in the same molecule (hence the 'linked' moniker), but the authors did not comment on whether tolerance can spread beyond the treated allergen.

Regulation likely spreads through bystander and infectious tolerance. Bystander tolerance is the ability of Tregs specific to one antigen to impair Teff responses to other antigens. Infectious tolerance is the ability of one Treg population to confer regulatory capacity to another T-cell population, typically this refers to T-cells specific for distinct epitopes on the same antigen. Finally, bystander suppression can be infectious, wherein bystander regulation gives rise to Tregs specific for distinct antigens. Thus, how peptide immunotherapy regulates responses to complex allergens is a question of whether bystander, infectious or infectious bystander tolerance is elicited.

Bystander tolerance was first demonstrated in EAE, as mice fed OVA prior to priming with MBP+OVA in CFA, failed to develop EAE or MBP delayed type hypersensitivity (DTH) responses, while sham-fed mice mounted robust disease³⁰⁴. Indeed, OVA pre-feeding regulated MBP specific responses as efficaciously as MBP pre-feeding. Thus, infectious bystander tolerance is an efficacious suppressive mechanism that instills lasting regulation. The ability of peptide immunotherapy to regulate responses to untreated antigens has been suggested in the past. Recently, the ability of bystander tolerance to regulate airway disease was investigated. Feeding mice OVA, after sensitization to β -lactoglobulin (BLG)-conjugated OVA (BOG), inhibited both OVA- and BLG-induced airway inflammation³⁰⁵. Thus, oral immunotherapy has been demonstrated to induce bystander suppression that inhibits allergic airways disease.

"Infectious transplantation tolerance", was coined to describe the "virulent" spread of tolerance between T-cell clones observed establishment of transplantation tolerance, by Cobbold and Waldmann. Indeed, the study of skin grafts from donors with minor (B10.D2, B10BR, etc) and major (BALB/c, C57BL/6) MHC mismatches onto recipient mice (CBA) has revealed many key mechanisms associated with infectious, and bystander tolerance. Indeed, in this model, a tolerogenic antibody depletion cocktail, prior to engraftment, facilitated the generation of CD4+CD25+ and CD4+CD25- cells, that combined to regulate ensuing grafts³⁰⁶⁻³⁰⁸. Following the cessation of therapy, graft acceptance was shown to depend upon the infectious expansion of Tregs (both nTreg and Tr1 cells) that modulate the behaviour of host and graft APCs³⁰⁹. In this model, FoxP3 was required to imbue subsequent generations of T-cells, and T-cells recognizing other epitopes, with the ability to become suppressive²⁹⁹. While not directly studied, the leading hypothesis describes bystander and infectious tolerance as a phenomenon of multiple epitope presentation by APCs. Specifically, the presentation of an epitope recognized by the TCR of a

Treg, leads to the regulation of the presenting DC and T-cells recognizing antigens on the surface of that APC, leading to the *de novo* induction of iTregs to untreated epitopes³¹⁰. Together, these experiments describe a process wherein the induction of tolerance to a single epitope can facilitate the spread of tolerance to the parent molecule (or allergen) and other antigens presented contemporaneously.

In a particularly relevant and complex experiment, Waldmann and colleagues demonstrated the importance of context and how it can facilitate bystander tolerance. A simplified rendition of their observations noted that, a mouse (strain "a"), tolerized to a second strain (stain "b") accepts grafts from strain "b", but not a distinct strain ("c"). However, following the manifestation of tolerance within strain "a" to "b", strain "a" can tolerate grafts from F1(b x c) mice³¹¹. Therefore, the act of providing antigens in the context of epitopes that are the target of potent immune regulation enables the spread of tolerance from the regulated epitopes to the new antigens.

Given the ability of bystander tolerance to regulate robust, Th1 mediated allogeneic immunity, the potential clinical benefit of such a strategy for treatment of allergic disease is profound. For instance, peptide immunotherapy for a single allergy could be harnessed to modulate responsiveness to all of an individual's allergies. Consequently, this strategy would make identifying all allergens that a person is hypersensitive towards, irrelevant, as a limited number of peptide immunotherapy therapeutics could provide clinical benefit to nearly all allergies.

1.12. Animal models

This review of peptide immunotherapy has highlighted two major questions, 1) how do dose and affinity of peptide for the MHC class II molecule affect the efficacy of peptide

immunotherapy? and 2) does peptide immunotherapy induce epitope-specific regulation, or through a bystander effect give rise to infectious tolerance wherein regulation spreads to other, untreated epitopes?

To date, the Larché lab has extensively used clinical samples, predominantly PBMCs, to study the mechanism and efficacy of peptide immunotherapy^{127, 267, 274, 286, 312}. More recently, a mouse model was employed to examine the spread of tolerance between epitopes, following treatment with peptides derived from Fel d 1²⁸⁷. The questions pertaining to peptide affinity and tolerance spread outlined above cannot be addressed using human samples because of the co-dominant expression of HLA haplotypes. Since the vast majority of people express two distinct antigen-presentation systems, it is impossible to dissect which pMHC molecule was responsible for therapeutic efficacy. By using inbred strains of mice, this problem is circumvented.

We chose to utilize humanized, transgenic mice that express human HLA molecules, while lacking endogenous murine MHC Class II³¹³. Indeed, commercially available HLA-DR4 transgenic mice express HLA-DRA-IE alpha and HLA-DRB1*001-IE beta chimeric genes and lack endogenous IA^b and IE^a. These antigen presentation molecules utilize the peptide binding domain of the human HLA-DR4 molecule (HLA-DRA and HLA-DRB1*0401) transgenically linked to the murine IE^d. In this manner, human peptide recognition has been conferred to mice, while maintaining proper MHC function. The HLA DR4 transgenic mouse is an attractive model to study peptide immunotherapy, as the DR4 binding affinity of numerous allergen derived peptides has been established elsewhere²⁶⁸, a feature enabling comparison between clinical and preclinical data.

The use of small animals to model peptide immunotherapy, asthma and major immune paradigms is well established. For instance, the use of guinea pig models of allergy date back to

the early 1900s²³. Using mouse T-cells clones, the Th1 vs Th2 paradigm was established³¹⁴. Mouse models led to the identification of ILC2s⁹⁸, nTregs²²⁷, and iTregs²³⁹. Moreover, peptide immunotherapy was first demonstrated in a mouse model²⁵², as was peptide immunotherapy for HDM²⁵⁸ and Fel d 1²⁵⁹ allergy. Therefore, small animal models can provide extensive insight into immune responses, particularly when considering cellular function and interactions. The criticism levied against the use of mouse models to study asthma, is the numerous 'falsepositives' generated, wherein a molecule successfully treated mouse allergic airways disease, but failed in clinical trials. This narrative is slightly simplistic, as molecules like anti-IL-5 and anti-IL-4 antibodies had failed to treat airway dysfunction in mice, long before their clinical failures^{74, 315}. Thus, mouse models, when used appropriately, can yield pertinent, valuable results that can inform patient care.

Bystander tolerance could be studied in humans by treating polysensitized patients for one allergy, then later assessing responsiveness to another. The development of bystander tolerance is believed to happen at the surface of an APC, while that APC is presenting both the tolerated and third-party antigen. To replicate this scenario, individuals would need to receive the tolerated and non-tolerated antigen, simultaneously. The presentation of a tolerated antigen in the context of a not-tolerated antigen could lead to bystander *inflammation*, capable of subverting the tolerance instilled by immunotherapy. Thus, preclinical studies examining the interaction between treated and untreated allergens is required to ensure patient safety.

Thus, it is important to carefully structure mouse studies. For example, if T-cell mediated tolerance is being examined, the primary outcome measure of the study needs to be a disease index that T-cells can regulate, preferably in both mice and humans. This concept entails tailoring the outcome measures to the intervention. As peptide immunotherapy is expected to

expand Tregs, examining the inflammatory infiltrate after therapy will reveal the establishment of regulation.

1.13. Objective and hypothesis of the thesis

The burden of allergic asthma in developed countries continues to increase and current therapeutics are failing to properly control disease. Peptide immunotherapy is an emerging therapeutic option with the ability to modify the course of allergic disease. Peptide immunotherapy is a fast, safe, efficacious alternative to conventional pharmacotherapy. Research into the mechanism of peptide immunotherapy will aid its ascension to the forefront of allergic asthma management.

Individual experiments were performed under the aegis of the common hypothesis: "Peptide immunotherapy is a disease modifying therapy that can protect mice from allergen induced inflammation". From this starting point, we set out to examine several mechanistic several aspects of peptide immunotherapy with the extended hypothesis of, "The induction of immunosuppression by peptide immunotherapy involves the infectious spread of tolerance beyond the treatment epitope, and is dependent upon treatment peptide dose and affinity to MHC" .The strategy employed to address these claims was to, a) utilize and develop murine models of allergen sensitization, challenge and treatment, b) study the spread of tolerance in dual allergen models of allergy, and c) identify key molecular determinants (affinity, dose) that confer immunosuppressive potency to treatment with a peptide.

The first two chapters will examine the spread of tolerance following peptide immunotherapy. In our first manuscript, Chapter 2 – AMELIORATION OF OVALBUMIN-INDUCED ALLERGIC AIRWAY DISEASE FOLLOWING DER P 1 PEPTIDE IMMUNOTHERAPY IS NOT ASSOCIATED WITH INDUCTION OF IL-35, we employed a

dual allergen murine model of sensitization, wherein mice allergic to HDM and OVA, received therapy with two Der p 1-derived peptides, then were challenged with OVA to assess whether tolerance could be spread from HDM to OVA. Here, we demonstrated that Der p 1 immunotherapy could be utilized to suppress OVA-specific lung inflammation.

The first manuscript demonstrated that peptide immunotherapy could induce bystander tolerance that was capable of suppressing allergen induced inflammation. In this study, mice were treated with peptides intranasally, a milieu known to facilitate the development of tolerance in mice²⁵⁸, but not in humans¹³³. Moreover, in this demonstration, peptides from HDM were used, whereas the most clinically advanced product uses peptides derived from the primary cat allergen, Fel d 1. In the second manuscript, Chapter 3 -- INDUCTION OF INTER-MOLECULAR TOLERANCE FOLLOWING FEL D 1 PEPTIDE IMMUNOTHERAPY, we utilized another model of dual allergen sensitization, wherein mice were primed to Fel d 1 and OVA, treated intradermally with Fel d 1 derived peptides, given a series of injections to colocalize the responses, then recalled with ovalbumin or cat dander extract. Here, we demonstrated that intradermal therapy with Fel d 1 derived peptides could suppress both cat and ovalbumin-specific responses. Indeed, our observations indicate that peptide immunotherapy gave rise to a Treg population that could facilitate the development of protective immune deviation to other allergens. Together, Chapter 2 and 3 demonstrate that peptide immunotherapy can enable bystander tolerance that protects mice from challenge with both the treated and an unrelated allergen.

To study the role of peptide affinity and dose during the establishment of tolerance we set out to develop a mouse model of allergic airways disease in HLA DR4 transgenic mice. In Chapter 4 -- TISSUE, BUT NOT BAL EOSINOPHILS, CORRELATE WITH AHR IN A

TRANSGENIC MOUSE MODEL OF CAT DANDER ALLERGIC AIRWAYS DISEASE, we developed a model of cat allergy in HLA-DR4 transgenic mice. In this model, through a titration of the allergen challenge dose, we demonstrated that challenge with increasing doses of allergen induced a switch from eosinophilic, towards neutrophilic inflammation in the lung. Examination of the high-dose allergen induced neutrophilic inflammation revealed it to be refractory to both peptide immunotherapy and corticosteroid therapy.

In Chapter 5 – EPICUTANEOUS EXPOSURE TO CAT DANDER EXTRACT SENSITIZES MICE IN A MYD88 DEPENDENT MANNER, we developed a protocol to sensitize mice to cat dander following epicutaneous exposure to allergen. Here, we demonstrated that 'intermediary' doses of CDE applied to disrupted patches of mouse skin induced robust allergen sensitization, but that mice exposed to 'high' doses of allergen did not respond to subsequent allergen challenge. Studies utilizing adoptive transfers and transgenic mice were used to probe whether high-dose allergen exposure induced cat-specific tolerance, or impaired sensitization. **Chapter 5 (and 6) have not yet been submitted for publication.**

In Chapter 6 -- THE ROLE OF PEPTIDE AFFINITY AND DOSE DURING PEPTIDE IMMUNOTHERAPY FOR TREATMENT OF CAT ALLERGY, we utilized the model developed in Chapter 3 to examine the role of peptide affinity and dose during peptide immunotherapy. Here, we demonstrated that peptide affinity alone did not predict the maximal tolerogenic capabilities of a peptide, rather the ability to induce allergen-specific tolerance was a result of peptide affinity, dose and intrinsic properties.

The link connecting these studies is the goal of establishing and utilizing murine models of allergic disease to examine features of the tolerance manifest by the administration of allergen derived peptide. Chapter 2: Amelioration of Ovalbumin-Induced Allergic Airway Disease Following Der P 1 Peptide Immunotherapy is not Associated with Induction of IL-35

2. Declaration of Academic Achievement

Chapter 2. Amelioration of ovalbumin-induced allergic airway disease following Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy is not associated with induction of IL-35

DM Moldaver^{1,3}, MS Bharhani^{1,3}, JN Wattie¹, R Ellis¹, H Neighbour¹, CM Lloyd², MD Inman¹ and M Larche⁻¹

- The following study has been published in Mucosal Immunology (2014) 7:379-90.
- Rights for publication in thesis were retained by the authors (2013).

Daniel Moldaver's contributions

As co-primary author, I was responsible for conceiving, planning, managing and contributing to all aspects of the study. I treated animals, performed mouse dissections, fixed tissues, performed histology, prepared cells for flow cytometry and proliferation assays, & performed ELISAs. M. Bharhani was responsible for flow cytometry. J. Wattie was responsible for mouse tracheostomies, and performing the nebulized methacholine challenge. M Larché, R. Ellis, H. Neighbour, and M. Inman provided guidance on study design. Analyses, statistics and figure generation were performed by myself for all outcomes, except flow cytometry, which was done by M. Bharhani. Manuscript preparation was performed by myself and M. Bharhani, with guidance from M Larché.

Amelioration of ovalbumin-induced allergic airway disease following Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy is not associated with induction of IL-35

DM Moldaver^{2,3}, MS Bharhani^{1,3}, JN Wattie¹, R Ellis¹, H Neighbour¹, CM Lloyd², MD Inman¹ and M Larche⁻¹

In the present study, we show therapeutic amelioration of established ovalbumin (OVA)-induced allergic airway disease following house dust mite (HDM) peptide therapy. Mice were sensitized and challenged with OVA and HDM protein extract (Dermatophagoides species) to induce dual allergen sensitization and allergic airway disease. Treatment of allergic mice with peptides derived from the major allergen Der p 1 suppressed OVA-induced airway hyperresponsiveness, tissue eosinophilia, and goblet cell hyperplasia upon rechallenge with allergen. Peptide treatment also suppressed OVA-specific T-cell proliferation. Resolution of airway pathophysiology was associated with a reduction in recruitment, proliferation, and effector function of T_H2 cells and decreased interleukin (IL)-17⁺ T cells. Furthermore, peptide immunotherapy induced the regulatory cytokine IL-10 and increased the proportion of Fox p3⁺ cells among those expressing IL-10. Tolerance to OVA was not associated with increased IL-35. In conclusion, our results provide in vivo evidence for the creation of a tolerogenic environment following HDM peptide immunotherapy, leading to the therapeutic amelioration of established OVA-induced allergic airway disease.

² Divisions of Respirology and Clinical Immunology and Allergy, Department of Medicine, McMaster Immunology Research Centre, Firestone Institute for Respiratory Health, St. Joseph's Healthcare, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada and ²Leukocyte Biology Section, National Heart and Lung Institute, Faculty of Medicine, Imperial College London and MRC/Asthma UK Centre in Allergic Mechanisms of Asthma, London, UK. Correspondence: M Larché (larche@mcmaster.ca) 3These authors contributed equally to this work.

Received 12 September 2012; accepted 1 July 2013; advanced online publication 14 August 2013. doi:10.1038/mi.2013.56

2.2. Introduction

Allergen-specific immunotherapy, which targets the underlying mechanisms of allergic inflammation, is disease-modifying and remains the only curative approach for allergic diseases.^{1,2} However, administration of wholeallergen molecules in current specific immunotherapy products carries the risk of IgE-mediated adverse events, which may be local or systemic and may include life-threatening anaphylaxis.^{3,4} Many novel approaches are being designed to reduce the allergenicity of immunotherapy preparations while maintaining immunogenicity. One approach is the use of short synthetic peptides that represent dominant T-cell epitopes of the allergen. Short peptides exhibit markedly reduced capacity to cross-link IgE and activate mast cells and basophils, owing to a lack of tertiary structure. Studies in mouse models have established the feasibility of this approach, and clinical studies are currently in progress in both allergic and autoimmune diseases.^{5,6} Peptide immunotherapy induces immunological tolerance mediated by regulatory T cells and interleukin (IL)10, which suppresses allergen-specific T-cell proliferation and production of T_H2 cytokines.^{5,7–10}

Allergen proteins contain multiple T-cell epitopes restricted by a wide range of human leukocyte antigen (HLA) molecules. Furthermore, many allergen sources contain multiple allergenic proteins. For peptide immunotherapy products, the diversity present in both allergen molecules and HLA molecules requires that multiple immunodominant T-cell epitopes be represented to achieve population coverage. Peptide solubility and, in some cases, regulatory requirements (such as the ability to resolve individual peptide components from a mixture) constrain the numbers of individual peptides that can be formulated for treatment. Therefore, ideally, an effective peptide therapy should be capable of generating a local environment (e.g., through the induction of regulatory T cells) that can facilitate the induction of tolerance to multiple allergen proteins encountered contemporaneously. The demonstration that such a "tolerogenic environment" can be achieved in vivo within the respiratory mucosa will inform development of future interventions in allergic diseases.

In a recent study in the context of allergic asthma, we provided evidence of an association of peptide immunotherapy-induced immunological tolerance with linked epitope suppression.⁵ In this case, tolerance was induced via intradermal, rather than airway, delivery of peptides. Others have shown that tolerance to an allergen (induced via the airways) can prevent sensitization (i.e., prophylaxis) to an unrelated antigen.¹¹ However, to be effective in the field, such an approach must be applicable to existing allergic airway sensitizations (i.e., therapeutic). This issue has yet to be addressed in the literature.

In the current study, we hypothesized that mice co-sensitized to house dust mite (HDM) and ovalbumin (OVA), treated by mucosal delivery of T-cell epitopes from the HDM allergen Der p 1 to create a tolerogenic environment and then concomitantly exposed (via the airways) to both allergens, would exhibit reduced allergic airway responses to OVA upon inhaled OVA challenge.

We provide evidence that peptide immunotherapy reduced airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR), OVAspecific T-cell proliferation, T_H2 -cell numbers, and pro-inflammatory cytokines. Modulation of the response to OVA was associated with induction of IL-10 production and Fox p3 expression, but not increased IL-35 production.

2.3. Results

Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy improves lung function and reduces inflammation in the lungs of OVA-exposed, dual allergen-sensitized mice

To investigate whether peptide immunotherapy decreased airway inflammation, mice were killed and airway inflammation was investigated in lung tissue and in the airway (bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) cell counts). Hematoxylin and eosin and periodic acid-Schiff stainings of fixed lung tissue sections were performed to identify eosinophils and mucous-secreting goblet cells. Histological observations of lung tissue showed that mice that were sham-sensitized, but challenged with allergen, did not exhibit any pulmonary inflammation (Figure 1a,d). Animals sensitized and treated with vehicle demonstrated extensive peribronchial eosinophilic inflammatory infiltrates (Figure 1b) with airway luminal hyperplasia of goblet cells (Figure 1e). Peptide immunotherapy significantly reduced both eosinophilia (Figure 1c) and goblet cell hyperplasia (Figure 1f).

Total lymphomononuclear cell numbers in lung tissue digests were modestly, but significantly, decreased with peptide immunotherapy (Figure 1g). OVA airway challenge was associated with a significant increase in peribronchial eosinophil numbers from vehicle-treated mice. Treatment with Der p 1 peptides significantly reduced eosinophilia (Figure 1h). Similarly, peptide treatment significantly reduced the number of goblet cells (Figure 1i). Total and differential inflammatory BAL-fluid cell counts were performed by Wright–Giemsa staining of cytospin slides. In the airways of vehicle-treated mice, total BAL inflammatory cells were increased compared with unsensitized mice (Figure 1j). Of these cells, eosinophils constituted $56.08\pm11.8\%$, with the remaining cells being neutrophils ($7.1\pm2.5\%$), lymphocytes ($5.9\pm1.1\%$), and macrophages ($41.3\pm9.3\%$). Peptide immunotherapy had no significant effect on BAL cell counts (total or differential).
To investigate whether peptide immunotherapy improved lung function in dual allergen- (HDM/OVA) sensitized mice, we measured airway responsiveness to MCh challenges using the FlexiVent system (Scireq, Montreal, QC, Canada) 48 h after the last OVA rechallenge. Allergen-sensitized mice treated with vehicle demonstrated MCh dose-dependent increases in total respiratory system resistance (R_{Rs}), which were significantly reduced in mice treated with the Der p 1 peptides (Figure 1k, lung resistance; Figure 1l, area under the curve).

Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy reduces lymphocyte IL-5 production and T_H2-lymphocyte recruitment to thelungs of OVA-exposed, dual allergen-sensitized mice

Although (like eosinophils) airway luminal lymphocyte numbers were not modified by peptide immunotherapy (Figure 1j), total CD4⁺ cell numbers in lung tissue digests were significantly reduced compared with vehicle-treated mice (Figure 2a). The numbers of tissue CD8⁺ cells and tissue B cells (CD19⁺) were also significantly reduced with peptide treatment compared with vehicle treatment (Figure 2b,c). Given the pivotal role T_{H2} cells are believed to have in allergic disease, we performed flow-cytometry analysis of lung tissue digest cells to quantify T_{H2} cells along with inflammatory cytokine-producing cells. CD4⁺ cells were gated and further analyzed for T1/ST2 expression to identify T_{H2} cells ($T1/ST2^+$ CD4⁺). Total $T1/ST2^+$ CD4⁺ cell numbers were significantly reduced in peptide-treated, compared with vehicle-treated, dual allergen-sensitized mice (Figure 2d,f). Furthermore, IL-5 producing T_{H2} cells (IL-5⁺ T1/ST2⁺ CD4⁺) were decreased by approximately 50% (Figure 2e,f). No decrease in both percent and total IL-4⁺ CD4⁺ cell numbers were observed in this study after peptide treatment. IL-13 levels were not measured.

Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy decreases IL-17⁺ cell recruitment to the lungs of OVAexposed, dual allergen sensitized mice

Previous studies have implicated the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-17 in the development of airway inflammation and AHR. Therefore, we investigated intracellular expression of IL17 in this model by flow cytometry and assessed the influence of peptide treatment. Peptide immunotherapy reduced the number of IL-17⁺ cells in lung tissue digests (Figure 3a). To examine IL-17-producing CD4⁺ cells, gated CD4⁺ cells were analyzed for IL-17 expression. Both the percentage of IL17⁺ CD4⁺ cells and the total number of IL-17⁺ CD4⁺ cells in lung tissue digests were decreased in peptide-treated mice, compared with vehicle-treated mice (Figure 3b,c). Peptide treatment also reduced total IL-17⁺ CD4⁺ cell numbers ($3.27 \pm 0.49 + 10^4$ vs. $2.04 \pm 0.23 + 10^4$, Po0.05) in draining lymph node (DLN) compared with vehicle treatment.

Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy reduces OVA-specific T-cell proliferation

To assess the effect of Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy on functional T-cell responses to allergen, OVAand HDM specific T-cell proliferation was measured using two independent methods: (a) [³H] thymidine assay and (b) flow cytometry following labeling with the cell division-tracking dye carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester (CFSE). DLN cells isolated from vehicle-treated and peptide-treated mice were cultured with different concentrations of OVA and HDM. In both sets of experiments, Der p 1 peptide treatment significantly reduced OVA-induced proliferation (Figure 4a,b). HDM induced less proliferation than OVA, and although peptide treatment was associated with smaller proliferative responses, the difference between peptide and vehicle was not significant using either method. Representative data plots of CFSE-labeled DLN cell cultures stained for CD4 demonstrate that both OVA and HDM induced substantial proliferation of CD4 cells isolated from vehicle-treated mice (Figure 4b). Peptide immunotherapy markedly reduced OVA-driven CD4 cell proliferation, while also resulting in a more modest reduction in HDM-driven CD4 cell proliferation.

Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy increases IL-10, but not IL-35, in the lungs of OVAexposed dual allergen-sensitized mice

IL-10 and IL-35 protein levels were examined in BAL fluids and supernatants of lung tissue digests (and serum; IL-35 only) using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Peptide immunotherapy was associated with a significant, although modest, increase in IL-10 protein in supernatants of lung tissue digest (SLD; Figure 5a). The concentration of IL-10 was significantly lower in BAL fluids than in lung tissue digest and did not change after peptide immunotherapy (Figure 5a). As IL-10 can be produced by many cell types, we performed intracellular IL-10 analysis in lung tissue digest cells to investigate which lung cells produced IL-10. Peptide immunotherapy was associated with a significant increase in both percentage (Figure 5b, representative plots) and total (Figure5c) IL-10⁺ lung tissue digest cells. To determine which cells produced IL-10, positive cells were gated and further analyzed for expression of CD4 (T-helper cells) and CD19 (B cells). In vehicle-treated mice, CD4⁺ and CD19⁺ cells constituted $26\pm 2.6\%$ and $39\pm 6.5\%$ of IL-10⁺ cell population, respectively. In peptide-treated mice, the percentage of IL-10⁺CD4⁺ cells, but not IL-10⁺CD19⁺ cells, increased significantly following peptide immunotherapy (Figure 5d).



Figure 1. Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy reduces cell recruitment to the lung and airway hyperresponsiveness in ovalbumin-challenged, dual allergen sensitized mice. Mice were sensitized and challenged as described in Methods. (a–f) Representative lung histology from control, vehicle-, and peptide treated mice showing inflammatory infiltrates and goblet cells. Lung sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E; a–c) or periodic acid-Schiff (PAS; d–f). (b) Single lobes of lung tissue were enzymatically digested to generate cell suspensions for the enumeration of total numbers of cells in lung tissue digest (g). Tissue eosinophils (h) and mucin⁺ cells (i) in the submucosa were enumerated using a standardized protocol. (j) Total and differential cell counts were performed on bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluids using Wright–Giemsa-stained cytospin preparations to obtain absolute numbers of eosinophils (Eos), neutrophils (Neu), lymphocytes (Lymph), and macrophages (Mac). Percentages were multiplied by the total number of cells obtained in the lavage fluid. On day 58, airway responsiveness was measured using the FlexiVent small animal ventilator system. (k) Total respiratory system resistance (cm H₂O/mL/s) in response to increasing doses of nebulized methacholine was assessed (n = 8). (l) The area under the methacholine dose–response curve (AUC) is shown. *P<0.05 vs. vehicle-treated mice.



Figure 2. Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy reduces recruitment of lymphoid effector cells to the lung following OVA challenge. Mice were killed 48 h after ovalbumin rechallenge (i.e., day 58), and cells were isolated from lung tissue digest as described in Methods. Cells were stained for surface markers and intracellular cytokines. For intracellular interleukin (IL)-5 staining, cells were stimulated with phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate and ionomycin in the presence of brefeldin A for 6 h. (a) Total CD4⁺ cells. (b) Percentage of T1ST2⁺ CD4⁺ cells (left panels) and percentage of IL-5⁺ cells in T1ST2⁺ CD4⁺ cells (center panels), total T1ST2⁺ CD4⁺ cells (top right panel), and total IL-5⁺ T1ST2⁺ CD4⁺ (bottom right panel) are shown. (c) Total IL-4⁺ CD4⁺ cells, (d) total CD8⁺ cells, and (e) total CD19⁺ cells are shown. (f) Flow-cytometry analysis showing percent T1ST2⁺ CD4⁺ cells (left panels) and percent IL-5⁺ cells (right panels). T1ST2⁺ CD4⁺ cells shown in left panels are after gating CD4⁺ cells. Data are expressed as mean cell numbers \pm s.e.m. of each population by multiplying the percentage expression on total live cells acquired by the total cell counts. Cells of lung tissue digest from 2– 3 mice were pooled; each bar shows the mean \pm s.e.m. of 3–4 data points from eight mice. ND: intracellular cytokines in saline group were not quantified due to insufficient cell numbers in lung tissue digests. *P<0.05 vs. vehicle-treated mice.

IL-10⁺ cells also increased significantly in the DLN of peptide treated mice $(3.4\pm0.84\% \text{ vs. } 1.3\pm0.15\%, \text{Po0.05})$. In DLN of vehicle-treated mice, CD4⁺ and CD19⁺ cells constituted 52.6±2.7% and 27.9±3.4%, respectively, of the IL-10⁺ cell population. Peptide treatment also significantly increased the CD4⁺ population within IL-10⁺ cells (63.2±4.1%, Po0.05, vs. vehicle-treated mice) without any significant change in CD19⁺ cell population (30.9±1.4%).

Peptide immunotherapy was not associated with an increase in IL-35 in BAL, lung tissue digest, or serum (Figure 5e).



Figure 3 Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy decreases interleukin (IL)- 17^+ cells in lung following ovalbumin challenge. Mice were killed 48 h after OVA rechallenge. Cells isolated from lung tissue digest as described in Methods were cultured with phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate and ionomycin in the presence of brefeldin A for 6 h. (a) Representative examples of IL- 17^+ staining in lung digest lymphocytes. (b) CD4 gating (left panels) and percentage IL- 17^+ cells within the CD4⁺ population (right panel). (c) Total numbers of IL- 17^+ CD4⁺ cells. Data are expressed as mean \pm s.e.m. by multiplying the percentage expression on CD4⁺ cells in total live cells acquired by the total CD4⁺ cell counts. *P<0.05 vs. vehicle-treated mice.

Increased expression of Fox p3 after Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy

Peptide therapy increased IL-10 expression in CD4⁺ cells in lung tissue digest (Figure 6a). As expression of IL-10 can be associated with Fox $p3^+$ CD4⁺ Treg cells and their function, we further investigated the Fox $p3^+$ subpopulation within IL-10⁺ CD4⁺ cells. IL-10⁺ CD4⁺ lung digest cells were gated and analyzed for Fox p3 expression. A significantly greater proportion of IL-10⁺ CD4⁺ cells were Fox $p3^+$ in peptide-treated mice, compared with vehicle-treated mice (Figure 6a,b). A similar effect was seen in the DLN where a significantly lower percentage

of Fox $p3^+$ CD4⁺ cells (12.4±1.8%) was present in the IL-10⁺ population from vehicle-treated mice compared with peptide-treated mice (28.45±6.67%, Po0.05). Fox p3 has been described as a marker of regulatory T cells, and approximately 15–20% of the CD4⁺ cells in lung tissue digest and DLN of vehicle-treated mice expressed Fox p3. Interestingly, examination of the CD4⁺ population irrespective of IL-10 expression yielded no difference in the percentage of Fox p3⁺ between the treatment groups (Figure 6c). As determined by quantification of mean fluorescence intensity, the intensity of Fox p3 expression within lung digest CD4⁺ cells was significantly increased in lung tissue digest cells from peptide treated mice compared with vehicle-treated mice, indicating that individual cells expressed more Fox p3 following peptide immunotherapy (Figure 6d). Similarly, peptide treatment enhanced mean fluorescence intensity of Fox p3 in DLN (485.5±19.6 vs. 804.7±63.2 in vehicle- and peptide-treated mice, respectively, P<0.05).



Figure 4. Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy decreases ovalbumin (OVA)-stimulated proliferation of draining lymph node (DLN) cells isolated from dual allergen-exposed mice. Mice were killed 48 h after OVA rechallenge. In vitro proliferation assays of DLN cells were performed by [³H] thymidine incorporation and carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester (CFSE). Cells were cultured in the presence of OVA, house dust mite (HDM), or medium alone for 6 days. (a) Proliferation of DLN cells was cultured with OVA or HDM extract, as correlated with [³H] thymidine incorporation; data are expressed as mean stimulation index \pm s.e.m. (n = 8). (b) Proliferation of DLN cells was cultured with OVA or HDM extract, as correlated with CFSE dilution in CD4+ cells. Plots show the proliferation of CD4+ cells. Numbers in the plots indicate percentage of CD4+ cells proliferated following treatment. Representative plots are from one of the eight mice with similar results. *P<0.05 vs. vehicle-treated mice.



Figure 5. Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy increases interleukin (IL)-10 production in lung. Mice were killed 48 h after ovalbumin rechallenge, and lung tissue was digested as described in Methods. IL-10 was quantified in supernatants of lung tissue digest (SLD) and bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. Intracellular expression of IL-10 in lung digest cells was evaluated by flow cytometry. (a) IL-10 protein levels in SLD and BALF. Data are expressed as mean \pm s.e.m. (n= 8). (b) Intracellular IL-10 expression in CD4⁺ T cells and CD19⁺ B cells. Cells were cultured with phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate and ionomycin in the presence of brefeldin A for 6 h. Left panels show percent IL-10⁺ cells and right panels show percentage of IL-10 contributed by CD4⁺ and CD19⁺ cells. Numbers in each quadrant indicate percent cells in that quadrant. (c) Total IL-10⁺ cells in lung issue digest. Data are expressed as mean total IL-10⁺ cell numbers \pm s.e.m. by multiplying the percentage expression on total live cells acquired by the total cell counts. (d) Percentage of CD4⁺ and CD19⁺ cells in IL-10⁺ population. Cells of lung tissue digest from 2–3 mice were pooled. Each bar shows the mean \pm s.e.m. of 3–4 data points from eight mice. (e) IL-35 protein levels in the BAL, supernatants of lung tissue digest and serum. Data are expressed as mean \pm s.e.m. (n=8). *P<0.05 vs. vehicle-treated mice.



Figure 6. Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy induces interleukin (IL)-10 expression in Fox p3⁺ CD4⁺ cells in the lung following ovalbumin (OVA) rechallenge. Mice were killed 48 h after OVA rechallenge, and cells were isolated from lung tissue digest as described in Methods. Cells were stimulated with phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate and ionomycin in the presence of brefeldin A for 6 h. (a) Representative plots of flow-cytometry analysis showing expression of Fox p3 in IL-10⁺ CD4⁺ cells. Gated CD4⁺ cells were analyzed for IL-10⁺ cells (left panels) that were further analyzed for Fox p3 expression (right panels). Numbers adjacent to outlined areas indicate percent cells in each gate. (b) Fox p3⁺ cell population in IL-10⁺ CD4⁺ cells in lung tissue digest. (c) Fox p3⁺ CD4⁺ cells in lung tissue digest. (d) Mean fluorescence intensity of Fox p3 expression in CD4 cells in lung tissue digest. Each bar in panels b–d shows mean \pm s.e.m. (n = 8). *P<0.05 vs. vehicle-treated mice.

2.4. Discussion

The ability to confer tolerance to a protein through creation of a local tolerogenic environment, after treating with one or more epitopes from another protein, has significant clinical potential, particularly in allergic and autoimmune diseases. To be effective in clinical practice, this approach must work in established disease. However, to date, published studies have only demonstrated prevention of de novo sensitization to unrelated antigens. For example, Van Hove et al.¹¹ induced enduring tolerance to OVA by chronic administration (8 weeks by aerosol). Re-immunization to OVA (with adjuvant) after this time was unable to elicit a recall response to OVA. Furthermore, immunization with an unrelated antigen (hen egg lysozyme) after the induction of tolerance with OVA was unable to elicit a primary T_H2 response to hen egg lysozyme. Thus, the induction of prophylactic tolerance (through the airways) with one protein can prevent subsequent T_H2 sensitization to another.

In a murine model of established, OVA-induced allergic airway disease, we show that peptide immunotherapy, with T-cell epitopes from the unrelated HDM allergen Der p 1, can reduce T_H2 inflammation and the consequences of such inflammation in vivo. Peptide immunotherapy reduced AHR, total lung cell numbers, tissue eosinophilia, goblet cell hyperplasia, T_H2 cells, pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-5 and IL-17, and OVA-specific T-cell proliferation. These decreases in inflammatory outcomes were associated with increased Fox p3 expression and increased IL-10 production by T cells, but not with increased levels of IL-35, suggesting that IL-35independent mechanisms of mucosal tolerance exist. Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy also reduced recruitment of B cells to the lung following OVA challenge. Although modulation of B-cell antibody production has been reported in some models of peptide immunotherapy,^{5,9,12,13} this is the first demonstration of modulation of B-cell recruitment to the airways.

Peptide immunotherapy with CD4 T-cell epitopes has been extensively evaluated in mouse models to prevent and treat a variety of antigen-specific inflammatory responses,^{14–20} and several clinical trials have been, or are currently being, performed in allergy and autoimmunity.^{21–36} Ideally, effective peptide therapies should generate a limited local network of tolerance that would allow expansion of T-cell tolerance beyond the treatment epitopes to other antigens encountered contemporaneously. Such a phenomenon is hypothesized to occur through the dominant action of regulatory T cells on effector T cells encountering cognate ligand at the surface of the same antigen-presenting cell (APC).^{37,38} Although expansion of tolerance to include antigens from pathogens present in the local environment at the time of treatment is a

Ph.D Thesis - D. M Moldaver

McMaster University - Medical Sciences

potential outcome of this phenomenon, our clinical studies to date indicate that systemic recall responses (to purified protein derivative from Mycobacterium tuberculosis in an European population and Candida albicans extract in a North American population) are not compromised through peptide therapy (ref. 5 and unpublished data).

In the present study, mice were sensitized with both OVA and HDM extract and challenged intranasally (i.n.) with OVA and HDM to create established allergic airway disease driven independently by both allergens. Sensitization with OVA generated OVA-specific cells and i.n. challenged OVA-induced localization of OVA-specific T cells to the lung. Similarly, HDM-specific cells were also generated and localized to the lung through repeated intranasal challenge. Conceptually, inhaled challenge with OVA immediately after treatment with inhaled Der p 1 peptides resulted in presentation of T-cell epitopes from both proteins on the same local APCs, leading to the recruitment of both tolerant HDM-specific T cells and OVA-specific effector cells, the latter coming under the influence of the former resulting in suppression of responses to OVA.

Peptide treatment reduced AHR, a cardinal feature of asthma. It also reduced total cell numbers, goblet cell hyperplasia, and eosinophilic inflammatory infiltrates in lung tissue. Despite the reduction in inflammatory cells in lung tissue, no change in cellularity was observed in the airway lumen. This dissociation between airway inflammatory cells and parameters of lung function has been observed previously. For example, in patients with allergic asthma, the number of inflammatory cells in BAL did not correlate with the degree of AHR.^{39,40} Furthermore, the failure of an anti-IL-5 intervention to improve clinical outcomes in human asthmatic subjects was associated with a failure to fully deplete parenchymal, rather than BAL, eosinophils.⁴¹ In contrast, Lemiere et al.⁴² demonstrated that high sputum eosinophil counts, rather than numbers of eosinophils in bronchial biopsies, were associated with higher rates of disease exacerbation.

OVA has been widely used in murine models of allergic airway disease, inducing AHR, T_{H2} responses, and inflammatory airway infiltrates.⁴³ Earlier studies in a dual HDM/OVA sensitization model demonstrated that responses to OVA in such a system are not dependent on responses to HDM and that the two responses are independent and additive in nature.⁴⁴ Thus, merely reducing responses to HDM would not account for reductions in the responses to OVA. Reduction in T_{H2} -cell responses and AHR in the present dual allergen-sensitization model shows that immunotherapy with HDM peptides can, under the appropriate conditions, suppress established OVA induced allergic responses. These results are indicative of active regulation. Peptide therapy with HDM peptides reduced T_H2 -cell (T1/ ST2⁺ CD4⁺) recruitment after OVA airway challenge. These cells are thought to contribute to AHR by release of proinflammatory cytokines and are critical effectors of allergic responses.^{45,46} A recent study also suggested that the T1/ST2⁺ pathway, rather than the eosinophil, is involved in the induction of AHR,⁴⁷ supporting earlier studies by Foster and colleagues.⁴⁸ Therefore, modulation of T_H2 -cell function could be of therapeutic benefit in allergic disease. We are currently investigating how peptide immunotherapy modulates allergen-specific T-cell function by using HLA-DR4 tetramers in two experimental models of allergic disease performed in HLA-DR4 transgenic mice. These studies will allow us to further define frequency, phenotype, gene expression, and epigenomic modification of the cells targeted during therapy.

Peptide treatment also reduced IL-5-producing T_{H2} cells in the lung. However, we could not detect any difference in the numbers of IL-4-producing CD4⁺ cells in the lung between peptide-treated and vehicle-treated mice. We did not measure IL-13 in this study. A previous study showed that treatment with anti-IL-4 and IL-13 antibody did not completely abrogate AHR, T_{H2} cells, and mucous production in OVA-sensitized challenge mice.⁴⁷ Thus, murine mechanisms of AHR independent of IL-4 and IL-13 exist (e.g., IL-5-dependent accumulation of eosinophils in the lung), which can be modulated by peptide therapy.

IL-17, another pro-inflammatory cytokine produced by $CD4^+$ effector cells, is thought to potentiate allergic inflammation. IL-17-producing cells (T_H17) are increased in patients with allergic asthma.⁴⁹ The absence of AHR in airway sensitized IL-17ra^{-/-} mice, and induction of AHR via airway delivery of exogenous IL-17 has demonstrated that IL-17 is required for AHR.⁵⁰ In the present study, we also detected IL-17-producing cells in lung tissues of dual allergen-sensitized mice, and these were significantly decreased with peptide immunotherapy.

Peptide immunotherapy reduced not only T_{H2} cells but also CD8⁺ T and B cells. Previous studies suggest that not only CD4⁺ cells but also CD8⁺ cells, particularly a subset of CD8⁺ cells that produce IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 (but not interferon-g), may be essential for the development of AHR and allergic inflammation.^{51–53} A recent study demonstrated increased numbers of CD8⁺ cells in the lung tissue of asthmatics.⁵⁴ Thus, reduction in CD8⁺ cells via peptide immunotherapy may contribute to efficacy and should be evaluated as a mechanism in human studies. In T_{H2} conditions such as asthma, IL-4 stimulates proliferation of B cells that can act as APC for the development of primary CD4 + T-cell responses.⁵⁵ Reduction in B cells through peptide immunotherapy may also have indirectly diminished T-cell-driven inflammation, thereby contributing to the amelioration of AHR and lung inflammation.

Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

It has been demonstrated previously that generation of allergen-specific Treg cells and increased production of IL-10 regulate allergic responses following specific immunotherapy.⁵⁶ Subjects with allergic asthma, rheumatoid arthritis, and insulin-dependent diabetes treated with allergen peptides, heat shock protein peptides, or pro-insulin peptides, respectively, demonstrated increased levels of IL-10 production in antigen stimulated PBMC in culture.^{26,33,34} In addition to increased IL10 production in PBMC culture,²⁶ our previous studies of peptide immunotherapy in cat-allergic mice have also demonstrated increased levels of IL-10 in BAL fluid and IL-10⁺ cells in lung tissue.⁵ In the present study, we also found a marked increase in IL-10 level in lung tissue digest supernatant, and IL-10⁺ cells in both lung tissue and lung-associated DLN. Further analysis of IL-10⁺ cells demonstrated an increased proportion of Fox p3⁺ CD4⁺ T cells in the IL-10⁺ population from peptide-treated mice. In addition, the mean fluorescence intensity of Fox p3 staining increased, indicating increased levels of Fox p3 within individual cells. However, there was no significant difference in Fox p3⁺ CD4⁺ cell numbers between vehicle- and peptide-treated mice, in agreement with our earlier studies.⁵ This may be due to transient induction in Fox p3 expression in activated effector cells in vehicle-treated mice.⁵⁷

IL-35 is a recently described member of the IL-12 family of cytokines that has a critical role in the development and suppressive function of Treg.^{58,59} The ability of IL-35 to convert conventional human T cells into IL-35-secreting iTr35 cells suggests that these cells may contribute to infectious tolerance.⁵⁹ Recently, in a murine model of OVA-induced allergic airway disease, Whitehead et al.⁶⁰ demonstrated that repeated oropharyngeal administration of OVA with lipopolysaccharide resulted in loss of AHR that was dependent on expansion of a population of Treg secreting IL-10, TGF β , and IL-35. Loss of AHR was shown to be dependent on IL-35 alone. To evaluate the contribution of IL-35 to the tolerance observed in our model, we measured the cytokine in BAL, lung tissue digests, and serum. In contrast to IL-10, IL-35 levels did not change after peptide treatment, suggesting that in this particular form of immunological tolerance, IL-35 does not have a major role in our model of allergic airway disease. Our model was primarily eosinophilic in nature, in contrast to that of Whitehead et al.,⁶⁰ which was neutrophilic. An additional important difference between the models may have been the aerosolization of allergen in the neutrophilic model, which may have resulted in oral exposure to the allergen after grooming.

Apart from CD4⁺ cells, other cells such as B cells, dendritic cells, and macrophages can also produce IL-10. B cells producing IL-10 have been shown to prevent allergic airway inflammation via inducing pulmonary infiltration of Fox p3⁺ CD25⁺ CD4⁺ regulatory T cells.^{61,62} We also detected IL-10 expression in B cells in allergic mice; however, at the time point selected for outcome measurements in this model, these cells did not demonstrate increased expression of IL-10 after peptide treatment. Similarly, we also detected very small percentages of IL-10-producing CD11b⁺ and CD11c⁺ cells in allergic mice, which did not change after peptide treatment. Interferon-g that is produced by T_H1 cells is generally considered to antagonize T_H2 responses and exerts inhibitory effects on T_H2 -cell differentiation. In our study, interferon-g-producing cell numbers in the lung did not increase after peptide treatment. This suggests that peptide therapy did not result in deviation from a T_H2 to a T_H1 response.

In conclusion, our data indicate that peptide immunotherapy can, under the appropriate conditions, modulate established allergic responses to a third-party immunogen. Treatment with two peptides containing CD4 T-cell epitopes from the HDM allergen Der p 1 reduced AHR and T_H2 immune responses induced by OVA airway challenge. Amelioration of allergic responses was associated with reduction in OVA specific T-cell proliferation, the induction of IL-10 and Fox p3, together with a reduction in T_H2 -cell numbers, IL-5-, and IL-17-producing cells. Levels of IL-35 remained unchanged. Exploiting immunological tolerance induced by treatment with a limited number of T-cell epitopes may be important in the potentiation of clinical responses to peptide (and other forms of) immunotherapy in allergic, autoimmune, and transplantation-related diseases. The results of this study will inform future clinical study design.

2.5. Methods

Animals. Female BALB/c mice (8–10 wk of age) were purchased from Charles River (Montreal, QC, Canada), housed in specific pathogen free conditions and allowed to acclimatize for 1 week before experimental use. All procedures were carried out in accordance with the Guide for the Humane Use and Care of Laboratory Animals and were approved by the Animal Research Ethics Board at McMaster

University.

Peptides. For in vitro and in vivo studies, Der p 1 peptides were synthesized by standard Fmoc chemistry, purified (495%) by HPLC, and presented as lyophilized solid (GL Biochem, Shanghai, China). Peptides sequences were Der p 1^{55-69} : RNQSLDLAEQELYDSASQH and Der p $1^{149-167}$: DEFKNRFLMSAEAFE (amino acid numbering including Der p 1 pro-peptide but exclusive of signal sequence). Lyophilized peptides (10 mg) were reconstituted in a small volume of 10^4 M HCl, dilution to 1 mg ml¹ in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and frozen storage (80 1C), before use.



Figure 7. Schematic protocol flow chart for allergen-induced airway disease and treatment with Der p 1 peptides. Airway inflammation was induced in BALB/c mice sensitized intraperitoneally (i.p.) with 10 mg ovalbumin (OVA) in alum (d 0 and 11) followed by inhalation of 1.5 mg house dust mite (HDM) (days 22–33 and 36–40) and 100 mg OVA (days 36 and 37). To induce tolerance, a mixture of HDM peptides Der p 1^{55-69} and Der p $1^{149-167}$ (1 mg each) was administered intranasally (i.n.) for 5 consecutive days (days 50–54). After rechallenge with 100 mg OVA (days 55 and 56), lung function was analyzed and the mice were killed (day 58) for tissue harvest.

Allergen sensitization and peptide treatment. Allergic airway disease was induced in mice by sensitization to OVA (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), followed by inhaled challenges with HDM extract from Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus (Greer Laboratories, Lenoir, NC) and OVA to localize inflammation to the lung tissues (Figure7). Mice were sensitized by intraperitoneal injections of 10mg OVA in 50ml PBS with 150 ml of alum (Au-Gel-S; Serva Electrophoresis, Heidelberg, Germany) on days 0 and 11. Mice were challenged i.n. with HDM (1.5mg protein weight in 25ml PBS) on days22–26, 29–33, and 36–40 and OVA (100mg in 25ml PBS) on days 11, 36, and 37, during light anesthesia (isoflurane). To induce tolerance in mice with established airway disease, a mixture of Der p 1^{55–69} and Der p 1^{149–167} peptides (1mg each in 25ml PBS) on days 55–56. Forty eight hours after the last challenge, AHR was measured, and BAL fluid, lung tissue, and DLNs were collected, and mice were euthanized via exsanguination.

Measurement of AHR. Airway responsiveness was measured using the FlexiVent small animal ventilator system. The single compartment model was used, and total respiratory system resistance (R_{RS}) in response to nebulized methacholine (MCh) was assessed. Mice were anaesthetized by an intraperitoneal injection of xylazine hydrochloride (Bayer, Toronto, ON; 10 mg kg¹) and sodium pentobarbital (Ceva Sante Animale, Leneka, KS; 30 mg kg¹). A tracheotomy was performed, into which a blunted 18-gauge needle was inserted and secured. The other end of the needle was inserted into the Y-adaptor of the FlexiVent apparatus. Mechanical ventilation was commenced at a rate of 150 breaths per minute with a volume of 10 ml kg¹. Pancuronium bromide (Santoz, Boucherville, QC; 20 mg kg¹) was administered intraperitoneally to achieve paralysis and prevent respiratory effort during measurement. Sequential increasing doses (0, 3.1, 6.3, 12.5, and 25 mg ml¹) of MCh were nebulized for inhalation by each mouse,

and the resultant R_{RS} was determined through 13 0.4-s perturbations over a 3-min period. Before each dose of MCh, an inflation to total lung capacity was initiated to normalize the data. A dose–response curve to MCh was generated. Heart rate and oxygen saturation were monitored throughout the procedure using a Biox 3700 infrared pulse oximeter (Ohmeda, Boulder, CO) with the probe placed on hind limb of the mouse.

Bronchoalveolar lavage. Immediately after measurement of AHR, mice were killed and the airways were lavaged twice with 0.25 ml PBS as previously described.¹⁵ BAL fluids were centrifuged at 150 g for 10 min, and the supernatants were stored at 20 1C for cytokine analysis in future. Cell pellets were suspended in PBS and total cells enumerated. BAL cell isolates were diluted to an approximate concentration of 5 x 10⁵ per ml and transferred to slides by cytocentrifugation. The cells were Wright–Giemsa stained and differentiated by morphological criteria as one of the following: eosinophil, neutrophil, macrophage, and lymphocytes. Two slides of 200 cells per slide were differentiated by a blinded investigator, and the relative proportions of each cell type were determined and multiplied by the total number of BAL cells obtained to determine absolute cell counts.

Lung cell isolation. After perfusion with PBS containing heparin (10 U ml⁻¹), the right lung was harvested, diced, and incubated on an orbital shaker for 90 min at 37 1C in digestion medium (Sigma Aldrich, RPMI-1640 medium containing 10% fetal bovine serum; Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada; 300 U ml¹ collagenase type 1; Worthington Biochemical Corporation (Lakewood, NJ), 50 U ml¹ DNase; Sigma-Aldrich, 100 U ml¹ penicillin; Invitrogen, and 100 mg ml¹ streptomycin; Invitrogen). After vortexing for 10–15 s, the product of digestion was passed through 70 mm cell strainer (BD Falcon, Franklin Lakes, NJ). Supernatant collected after centrifugation was stored at -80°C for later cytokine analysis, and the cell pellet was resuspended. Cells were further purified by histopaque density gradient (histopaque-1083; Sigma-Aldrich).

DLN cell isolation. Mediastinal and peribronchial lymph nodes were removed, and cells were dissociated by applying gentle pressure with a syringe plunger over a 40-mm cell strainer. After washing twice, the cells were suspended in complete culture medium (RPMI-1640 medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 2 mM L-glutamine, 50 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 100 U ml¹ penicillin, and 100 mg ml¹ streptomycin).

Histology. Left lungs were inflated with 10% buffered formalin to a pressure of 20 cm H_2O , fixed for at least 24 h, and following dehydration paraffin-embedded. Sections of 3 mm were stained with hematoxylin and eosin and

periodic acid-Schiff to quantify eosinophils and mucin-containing goblet cells, respectively. Sections were examined under light microscopy in a blinded fashion, as described previously.⁶³

Flow cytometry. Cells were pre-incubated with anti-CD16/32 monoclonal antibody (2.4G2; BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA) to block FcgR. For surface marker staining, FcgR-blocked cells were incubated with PE-anti-CD4 (RM4-5; BD Biosciences), PerCp-anti-CD8 (53-6.7; BD Biosciences), APC and PE-anti-CD19 (1D3; BD Biosciences), and FITC-anti-T1/ST2 (DJ8; MD Biosciences) monoclonal antibody for 30 min at 4 1C. After washing, cells were resuspended in 1% paraformaldehyde (Electron Microscopy Sciences, Hatfield, PA).

For intracellular cytokine staining, cells were stimulated in 24-well plates with phorbol 12-myristate 13acetate (20 ng ml¹; Sigma Aldrich), ionomycin (1 mM; Sigma-Aldrich), and brefeldin A (10 mg ml¹; Sigma-Aldrich) for 6 h at 37 1C. Cells were stained for surface markers as described above, fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde, and permeabilized in Perm/Wash buffer (BD Biosciences) before intracellular staining with anticytokine monoclonal antibody. Cells were stained for intracellular cytokines by incubating the cells in Perm/ Wash buffer containing a predetermined optimal concentration of APC-anti-IL-10 (JES5-16E3; BD Biosciences), APCanti-IL-17A (ebio17B7; eBiosciences, San Diego, CA), and APC-anti-IL-5 (TRFK5; BD Biosciences) monoclonal antibody for 30 min at 4 1C.

Intracellular Fox p3 staining was performed using mouse regulatory T-cell staining kit (88-8111; eBiosciences) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Flow-cytometry analysis was performed using FACSCanto II (BD Biosciences) and Flowjo software (TreeStar, Ashland, OR).

Measurement of IL-10 protein levels. Levels of IL-10 present in BAL fluids and lung tissue digest supernatants were measured using an ELISA kit (sensitivity, 15 pg ml¹; eBiosciences) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Measurement of IL-35 protein levels. Levels of IL-35 present in BAL fluids, lung tissue digest supernatants, and serum were measured using an ELISA kit (sensitivity, 5.7 pg ml¹; USCN Life Science, Wuhan, China) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Cell proliferation. Proliferation assays of cells isolated from lung associated DLN were performed with $[^{3}H]$ thymidine and CFSE. For the $[^{3}H]$ thymidine assay, cells were cultured in triplicate at 2 10⁴ cells per well, in U-bottom 96-well plates, in the presence of OVA, HDM, or complete medium alone at 37 1C in 5% CO₂ in air. After 6

days of culture, 0.5 mCi [³H] thymidine per well was added, and the cells were cultured foranother18 h. [³H] thymidine incorporation data in counts per minute (cpm) was converted into stimulation index by dividing cpm obtained from stimulated cells by cpm values from unstimulated wells. CFSE assay of proliferation was performed to identify the CD4 T-cell proliferation. Cells were stained with CFSE (CellTrace CFSE Cell Proliferation Kit; Invitrogen) at the final concentration of 1 mM as described previously¹⁷. CFSE-stained cells were cultured at4 10⁵ cells per well in flat-bottom 96-well plate in the presence of 20 mg ml¹ OVA, HDM, or medium alone at 37 1C in 5% CO₂ in air. After 6 days, cells were harvested and surface stained with PE-anti-CD4 antibody as described previously. Flow-cytometry analysis was performed using a FACSCanto II cytometer, and data were analyzed with Flowjo software.

Statistical analysis. Data were expressed as mean ± s.e.m. and analyzed for statistical significance using Student's t-

tests. Differences were considered statistically significant at a P-value p0.05.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by the Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR). M.L. is supported by the Canada Research Chairs Program, the Canada Foundation for Innovation, and the McMaster University/GSK Chair in Lung Immunology at St. Joseph's Healthcare. D.M.M. is supported by a Father Sean O'Sullivan Research Committee (FSORC) Post-graduate Studentship through St. Joseph's Healthcare, Hamilton. M.S.B. is supported through an award to M.L. from FSORC and the Department of Medicine, McMaster University. C.M.L. is a Wellcome Trust Senior Research Fellow.

Disclosure

M. Larché is a founder, stockholder, and consultant of Circassia Ltd. and a founding scientist of Adiga Life Sciences Inc. and has received research support from both of these companies. The remaining authors declared no conflict of interest.

 $@\ 2013$ Society for Mucosal Immunology

2.6. References

- 1. O'Mahony, L., Akdis, M., Crameri, R. & Akdis, C.A. Novel immunotherapeutic approaches for allergy and asthma. Autoimmunity 43, 493–503 (2010).
- 2. Crameri, R. Allergy vaccines: dreams and reality. Expert Rev. Vaccines 6, 991–999 (2007).
- Lockey, R.F., Nicoara-Kasti, G.L., Theodoropoulos, D.S. & Bukantz, S.C.Systemic reactions and fatalities associated with allergen immunotherapy. Ann. Allergy Asthma Immunol. 87 (1 Suppl 1), 47–55 (2001).
- 4. Nettis, E., Giordano, D., Pannofino, A., Ferrannini, A. & Tursi, A. Safety ofinhalant allergen immunotherapy with mass units-standardized extracts. Clin. Exp. Allergy 32, 1745–1749 (2002).
- Campbell, J.D. et al. Peptide immunotherapy in allergic asthma generates IL-10-dependent immunological tolerance associated with linked epitope suppression. J. Exp. Med. 206, 1535–1547 (2009).
- 6. Moldaver, D. & Larche, M. Immunotherapy with peptides. Allergy 66, 784–791 (2011).
- Oldfield, W.L., Kay, A.B. & Larche, M. Allergen-derived T cell peptideinduced late asthmatic reactions precede the induction of antigen-specific hyporesponsiveness in atopic allergic asthmatic subjects. J. Immunol. 167, 1734–1739 (2001).
- 8. Massey, E.J., Sundstedt, A., Day, M.J., Corfield, G., Anderton, S. & Wraith,D.C. Intranasal peptide-induced peripheral tolerance: the role of IL-10 in regulatory T cell function within the context of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 87, 357–372 (2002).
- Hoyne, G.F., O'Hehir, R.E., Wraith, D.C., Thomas, W.R. & Lamb, J.R.Inhibition of T cell and antibody responses to house dust mite allergen by inhalation of the dominant T cell epitope in naive and sensitized mice. J. Exp. Med. 178, 1783–1788 (1993).

Ph.D Thesis - D. M Moldaver

- Verhoef, A., Alexander, C., Kay, A.B. & Larche, M.T. Cell epitope immunotherapy induces a CD4(+) T cell population with regulatory activity. PLoS Med. 2, e78 (2005).
- Van Hove, C.L., Maes, T., Joos, G.F. & Tournoy, K.G. Prolonged inhaledallergen exposure can induce persistent tolerance. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 36, 573–584 (2007).
- 12. Astori, M., von Garnier, C., Kettner, A., Dufour, N., Corradin, G. & Spertini, F.Inducing tolerance by intranasal administration of long peptides in naive and primed CBA/J mice. J. Immunol. 165, 3497–3505 (2000).
- Briner, T.J., Kuo, M.C., Keating, K.M., Rogers, B.L. & Greenstein, J.L.Peripheral T-cell tolerance induced in naive and primed mice by subcutaneous injection of peptides from the major cat allergen Fel d I. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90, 7608–7612 (1993).
- 14. Gaur, A., Wiers, B., Liu, A., Rothbard, J. & Fathman, C.G. Amelioration of autoimmune encephalomyelitis by myelin basic protein synthetic peptideinduced anergy. Science 258, 1491–1494 (1992).
- Karin, N., Mitchell, D.J., Brocke, S., Ling, N. & Steinman, L. Reversal ofexperimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by a soluble peptide variant of a myelin basic protein epitope: Tcell receptor antagonism and reduction of interferon gamma and tumor necrosis factor alpha production. J. Exp. Med. 180, 2227–2237 (1994).
- van, E.W., van der Zee, R., Taams, L.S., Prakken, A.B., van, R.J. & Wauben, M.H. Heat-shock protein T-cell epitopes trigger a spreading regulatory control in a diversified arthritogenic T-cell response. Immunol. Rev. 164, 169–174 (1998).
- Wauben, M.H., Boog, C.J., van der Zee, R., Joosten, I., Schlief, A. &van, E.W. Disease inhibition by major histocompatibility complex binding peptide analogues of disease-associated epitopes: more than blocking alone. J. Exp. Med. 176, 667–677 (1992).
- Burkhart, C., Liu, G.Y., Anderton, S.M., Metzler, B. & Wraith, D.C. Peptideinduced Tcell regulation of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: a role for IL-10. Int. Immunol. 11, 1625–1634 (1999).
- Metzler, B. & Wraith, D.C. Inhibition of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by inhalation but not oral administration of the encephalitogenic peptide: influence of MHC binding affinity. Int. Immunol. 5, 1159–1165 (1993).
- 20. Prakken, B. et al. Nasal administration of arthritis-related Tcell epitopes of heat shock protein 60 as a promising way for immunotherapy in chronic arthritis. Biotherapy 10, 205–211 (1998).
- 21. Norman, P.S. et al. Treatment of cat allergy with T-cell reactive peptides. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 154 (6 Pt 1), 1623–1628 (1996).
- 22. Pene, J. et al. Immunotherapy with Fel d 1 peptides decreases IL-4 release by peripheral blood T cells of patients allergic to cats. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 102 (4 Pt 1), 571–578 (1998).
- 23. Maguire, P., Nicodemus, C., Robinson, D., Aaronson, D. & Umetsu, D.T.The safety and efficacy of ALLERVAX CAT in cat allergic patients. Clin. Immunol. 93, 222–231 (1999).
- 24. Simons, F.E., Imada, M., Li, Y., Watson, W.T. & HayGlass, K.T. Fel d 1 peptides: effect on skin tests and cytokine synthesis in cat-allergic human subjects. Int. Immunol. 8, 1937–1945 (1996).
- Muller, U. et al. Successful immunotherapy with T-cell epitope peptides of bee venom phospholipase A2 induces specific T-cell anergy in patients allergic to bee venom. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 101 (6 Pt 1), 747–754 (1998).
- 26. Oldfield, W.L., Larche, M. & Kay, A.B. Effect of T-cell peptides derived from Feld 1 on allergic reactions and cytokine production in patients sensitive to cats: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 360, 47–53 (2002).
- 27. Worm, M. et al. Development and preliminary clinical evaluation of a peptide immunotherapy vaccine for cat allergy. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 127, 89–97 (2011).
- Fellrath, J.M. et al. Allergen-specific T-cell tolerance induction with allergen-derived long synthetic peptides: results of a phase I trial. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 111, 854–861 (2003).
- Warren, K.G., Catz, I. & Wucherpfennig, K.W. Tolerance induction to myelinbasic protein by intravenous synthetic peptides containing epitope P85 VVHFFKNIVTP96 in chronic progressive multiple sclerosis. J. Neurol. Sci. 152, 31–38 (1997).
- Kappos, L. et al. Induction of a non-encephalitogenic type 2 T helper-cell autoimmune response in multiple sclerosis after administration of an altered peptide ligand in a placebo-controlled, randomized phase II trial. The Altered Peptide Ligand in relapsing MS Study Group. Nat. Med. 6, 1176–1182 (2000).
- Bielekova, B. et al. Encephalitogenic potential of the myelin basic protein peptide (amino acids 83-99) in multiple sclerosis: results of a phase II clinical trial with an altered peptide ligand. Nat. Med. 6, 1167–1175 (2000).
- Koffeman, E.C. et al. Epitope-specific immunotherapy of rheumatoid arthritis: clinical responsiveness occurs with immune deviation and relies on the expression of a cluster of molecules associated with Tcell tolerance in a double-blind, placebo-controlled, pilot phase II trial. Arthritis Rheum. 60, 3207–3216 (2009).
- Prakken, B.J. et al. Epitope-specific immunotherapy induces immune deviation of proinflammatory T cells in rheumatoid arthritis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101, 4228–4233 (2004).
- Thrower, S.L. et al. Proinsulin peptide immunotherapy in type 1 diabetes: report of a first-in-man Phase I safety study. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 155, 156– 165 (2009).
- 35. Larche, M. & Wraith, D.C. Peptide-based therapeutic vaccines for allergicand autoimmune diseases. Nat. Med. 11 (4 Suppl), S69–S76 (2005).
- Patel, D. et al. Fel d 1-derived peptide antigen desensitization shows a persistent treatment effect 1 year after the start of dosing: a randomized, placebo-controlled study. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 131, 103–109 (2013). 37. Walsh, P.T., Taylor, D.K. & Turka, L.A. Tregs and transplantation tolerance.

J. Clin. Invest. 114, 1398-1403 (2004).

- Graca, L., Chen, T.C., Le, M.A., Cobbold, S.P., Howie, D. & Waldmann, H.Dominant tolerance: activation thresholds for peripheral generation of regulatory T cells. Trends Immunol. 26, 130–135 (2005).
- Haley, K.J. & Drazen, J.M. Inflammation and airway function in asthma: what you see is not necessarily what you get. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 157, 1–3 (1998).

Ph.D Thesis - D. M Moldaver

- Crimi, E., Spanevello, A., Neri, M., Ind, P.W., Rossi, G.A. & Brusasco, V.Dissociation between airway inflammation and airway hyperresponsiveness in allergic asthma. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 157, 4–9 (1998). 41. Flood-Page, P.T., Menzies-Gow, A.N., Kay, A.B. & Robinson, D.S. Eosinophil's role remains uncertain as anti-interleukin-5 only partially depletes numbers in asthmatic airway. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 167, 199–204 (2003).
- 42. Lemiere, C. et al. Airway inflammation assessed by invasive and noninvasive means in severe asthma: eosinophilic and noneosinophilic phenotypes. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 118, 1033–1039 (2006).
- McMillan, S.J., Bishop, B., Townsend, M.J., McKenzie, A.N. & Lloyd, C.M.The absence of interleukin 9 does not affect the development of allergeninduced pulmonary inflammation nor airway hyperreactivity. J. Exp. Med. 195, 51–57 (2002).
- 44. DiGiovanni, F.A., Ellis, R., Wattie, J., Hirota, J.A., Southam, D.S. & Inman, M.D.Concurrent dual allergen exposure and its effects on airway hyperresponsiveness, inflammation and remodeling in mice. Dis. Model Mech. 2, 275–282 (2009).
- Coyle, A.J. et al. Crucial role of the interleukin 1 receptor family member T1/ ST2 in T helper cell type 2-mediated lung mucosal immune responses. J. Exp. Med. 190, 895–902 (1999).
- 46. Schmitz, J. et al. IL-33, an interleukin-1-like cytokine that signals via the IL1 receptor-related protein ST2 and induces T helper type 2-associated cytokines. Immunity 23, 479–490 (2005).
- Kearley, J., Buckland, K.F., Mathie, S.A. & Lloyd, C.M. Resolution of allergic inflammation and airway hyperreactivity is dependent upon disruption of the T1/ST2-IL-33 pathway. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 179, 772–781 (2009).
- Hogan, S.P., Koskinen, A., Matthaei, K.I., Young, I.G. & Foster, P.S.Interleukin-5-producing CD4 + T cells play a pivotal role in aeroallergeninduced eosinophilia, bronchial hyperreactivity, and lung damage in mice. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 157, 210–218 (1998).
- 49. Zhao, Y., Yang, J., Gao, Y.D. & Guo, W. Th17 immunity in patients withallergic asthma. Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol. 151, 297–307 (2010).
- Wilson, R.H., Whitehead, G.S., Nakano, H., Free, M.E., Kolls, J.K. & Cook, D.N. Allergic sensitization through the airway primes Th17-dependent neutrophilia and airway hyperresponsiveness. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 180, 720–730 (2009).
- Hamelmann, E. et al. Requirement for CD8 + Tcells in the development of airway hyperresponsiveness in a marine model of airway sensitization. J. Exp. Med. 183, 1719–1729 (1996).
- 52. Isogai, S., Taha, R., Tamaoka, M., Yoshizawa, Y., Hamid, Q. & Martin, J.G.CD8 + alphabeta T cells can mediate late airway responses and airway eosinophilia in rats. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 114, 1345–1352 (2004).
- Croft, M., Carter, L., Swain, S.L. & Dutton, R.W. Generation of polarizedantigen-specific CD8 effector populations: reciprocal action of interleukin (IL)-4 and IL-12 in promoting type 2 versus type 1 cytokine profiles. J. Exp. Med. 180, 1715–1728 (1994).
- 54. Azzawi, M. et al. Identification of activated T lymphocytes and eosinophils in bronchial biopsies in stable atopic asthma. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 142 (6 Pt 1), 1407–1413 (1990).
- Secrist, H., DeKruyff, R.H. & Umetsu, D.T. Interleukin 4 production by CD4 + T cells from allergic individuals is modulated by antigen concentration and antigen-presenting cell type. J. Exp. Med. 181, 1081–1089 (1995).
- 56. Akdis, C.A., Blesken, T., Akdis, M., Wuthrich, B. & Blaser, K. Role of interleukin 10 in specific immunotherapy. J. Clin. Invest. 102, 98–106 (1998).
- 57. Allan, S.E. et al. Activation-induced FOXP3 in human T effector cells does not suppress proliferation or cytokine production. Int. Immunol. 19, 345– 354 (2007).
- 58. Collison, L.W. et al. The inhibitory cytokine IL-35 contributes to regulatory T-cell function. Nature 450, 566–569 (2007).
- Chaturvedi, V., Collison, L.W., Guy, C.S., Workman, C.J. & Vignali, D.A.Cutting edge: Human regulatory T cells require IL-35 to mediate suppression and infectious tolerance. J. Immunol. 186, 6661–6666 (2011).
- Whitehead, G.S., Wilson, R.H., Nakano, K., Burch, L.H., Nakano, H. &Cook, D.N. IL-35 production by inducible costimulator (ICOS)-positive regulatory T cells reverses established IL-17-dependent allergic airways disease. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 129, 207–215 (2012).
- 61. Singh, A. et al. Regulatory role of B cells in a murine model of allergic airway disease. J. Immunol. 180, 7318–7326 (2008).
- Amu, S., Saunders, S.P., Kronenberg, M., Mangan, N.E., Atzberger, A. & Fallon, P.G. Regulatory B cells prevent and reverse allergic airway inflammation via FoxP3-positive T regulatory cells in a murine model. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 125, 1114–1124 (2010).
- 63. Hirota, J.A, Ellis, R & Inman, M.D. Regional differences in the pattern of airway remodeling following chronic allergen exposure in mice. Respir. Res. 21, 120 (2006).

Chapter 3: Induction of bystander tolerance and immune deviation following Fel d 1 Peptide

Immunotherapy

3. Declaration of Academic Achievement

Chapter 3. Induction of bystander tolerance and immune deviation following Fel d 1 Peptide Immunotherapy

D. M. Moldaver¹, M. S. Bharhani¹, C.D. Rudulier^{1,2}, J. Wattie¹, M. D. Inman¹ and M. Larché¹[†]

- Two rounds of review at the Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. Four of five reviewers have approved the study for publication while the fifth has not, and has returned a series of further comments. A rebuttal is being generated for this reviewer. The manuscript presented here is the most up-to-date, as of October 2017.
- Rights for publication in thesis were retained at submission (2017).

Daniel Moldaver's contributions

As primary author, I was responsible for conceiving, planning, managing and contributing to all aspects of the study. I treated animals, performed mouse dissections, fixed tissues, performed histology, prepared cells for flow cytometry and proliferation assays, performed flow cytometry and ELISAs. M. Bharhani assisted with analysis of flow cytometry. J. Wattie assisted with mouse treatments and was responsible for mouse tracheostomies, and performing the nebulized methacholine challenge. M. Larché & M. Inman provided guidance on study design. Analyses, statistics and figure generation were performed by myself. Manuscript preparation was performed by me, with guidance from C. Rudulier and M Larché.

Induction of inter-molecular tolerance following Fel d 1 Peptide Immunotherapy

D. M. Moldaver¹, M. S. Bharhani¹, C.D. Rudulier^{1,2}, J. Wattie¹, M. D. Inman¹ and M. Larché¹[†]

¹Firestone Institute for Respiratory Health, St. Joseph's Healthcare, Divisions of Respirology and Clinical Immunology & Allergy, Department of Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada.²Division of Respirology, Critical Care and Sleep Medicine, Department of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatcon, Saskatchewan, Canada.

Running title: Inter-molecular tolerance after peptide immunotherapy

Key words: allergy; asthma; peptide, immunotherapy; ovalbumin; cat dander; Th2; Treg; inter-molecular tolerance.

† Correspondence address:

Dr. Mark Larché, Firestone Institute for Respiratory Health, Divisions of Clinical Immunology & Allergy and Respirology, Department of Medicine, McMaster University, T2131-1, 2nd Floor, Juravinski Tower, St. Joseph's Hospital Healthcare, 50 Charlton Avenue East, Hamilton, ON, L8N 4A6 tel: +1-905-522-1155 x33357 fax: +1-905-521-6183 e-mail: <u>larche@mcmaster.ca</u>

Disclosure

M. Larché is a co-founder, and consultant of Circassia Ltd., a stockholder of Circassia Pharmceuticals PLC and a founding scientist of Adiga Life Sciences Inc. and has received research support from both of these companies. The rest of the authors declare no conflict of interest

3.1. Abstract

Treatment of cat allergic subjects with peptides derived from Fel d 1 (the major cat allergen) ameliorated symptoms of cat allergy in phase 2 clinical trials. Here, we demonstrate that the tolerance induced by Fel d 1 peptide immunotherapy can be exploited to reduce allergic responses to a second allergen, ovalbumin (OVA), in mice dually sensitized to OVA and Fel d 1. The induction of tolerance to OVA was achieved via a simultaneous exposure to both allergens following peptide treatment. Functional tolerance to each allergen was assessed in a model of allergic airways disease, wherein treated mice were protected from eosinophilia, goblet cell hyperplasia and Th2 cellular infiltration. Suppression of allergic responses to cat allergen challenge was associated with significant increases in CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ T cells, IL-10+ cells and CD19+IL-10+ B cells, whereas the response to OVA was associated with a marked reduction of Th2 cytokine-secreting T cells and less prominent changes in outcomes associated with immune regulation. These observations suggest that immune tolerance induced by peptide immunotherapy can be used experimentally to treat an allergic response to another allergen, and that the molecular mechanisms underlying the induction of tolerance to a treatment-specific allergen and a bystander allergen may be different.

3.2. Introduction

Sensitivity to cats is one of the most common forms of allergy and has been associated with severe asthma, wheezing in children and morbidity¹⁻³. Allergic disease is typified by the presence of allergen specific IgE in the sera of patients ⁴, the presence of elevated Th2 cytokines and Th2 cells^{5, 6}, as well as compromised immune regulation⁷⁻¹⁰. By modifying the underlying immunological cause of allergic disease, specific immunotherapy (SIT) is capable of preventing the development of asthma in children with seasonal allergic rhinoconjunctivitis¹¹, reducing sensitizations to other allergens^{12, 13}, and is known to exhibit therapeutic benefit extending beyond the treatment period¹⁴. Despite the clear benefits of SIT, an estimated 5-35% of patients receiving SIT experience systemic adverse events¹⁵ due to the ability of allergens to crosslink allergen-specific IgE on the surface of mast cells and basophils.

A recent double blind, placebo-controlled phase II study has shown that immunotherapy performed with Cat-SPIRE (Synthetic Peptide Immuno Regulatory Epitopes; peptides derived from Fel d 1 the major cat allergen), significantly improves symptoms in cat allergic subjects¹⁶ for two years after treatment¹⁷. Importantly, the incidence of treatment related adverse events was no different to placebo ¹⁸, which likely reflects that the peptides employed lack the size and requisite three dimensional structure to cross-link IgE bound to FceRI receptors^{19, 20}.

The mechanisms by which treatment with allergen-derived CD4 T cell epitopes can induce antigen specific tolerance to the entire allergen is poorly understood. It has been postulated that peptide treatment modifies allergen-specific T cell responses to generate cells with inhibitory or regulatory function that can then be exploited to confer tolerance on other cells in the same local environment; a so called "tolerogenic environment" ²¹. Indeed, peptide immunotherapy has been reported to induce linked-epitope suppression in this way. Treatment of cat allergic individuals with Fel d 1 derived peptide epitopes induced suppression of PBMC responses specific for not only the treatment peptides, but also other Fel d 1 epitopes that were not included in the treatment preparation ²². A period of simultaneous presentation of both treatment and non-treatment epitopes by the same antigen presenting cell is likely required to facilitate linked-epitope suppression, which may occur by default when the two epitopes are within the same allergen²³. We previously demonstrated that suppression/regulation can also occur between two different allergens if they are co-administered²⁴. Specifically, mice dually sensitized to OVA and house dust mite (HDM) were intranasally treated with synthetic peptides derived from Der p 1, the major house dust mite allergen. Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy reduced airway hyperresponsiveness, eosinophilia and goblet cell hyperplasia, during a subsequent OVA allergen challenge²⁴.

Individuals with cat allergy typically suffer from allergic sensitization to multiple allergens. Thus, it would be therapeutically advantageous if the suppression generated by Fel d 1 peptides in cat allergic subjects could be exploited to suppress responses to other allergens. Although our finding that Der p 1 peptide therapy could suppress the OVA response in dually sensitized mice lends support to this idea, HDM is a very different allergen from Fel d 1, as evidenced by its ability to sensitize mice in the absence of adjuvant. Another key difference between the clinical administration of Fel d 1 peptides and HDM peptides in the previous study is the route used to administer the peptides. Cat allergic subjects receive intradermal peptide therapy while the HDM and OVA allergic mice inhaled Der p 1 peptides. The route of peptide administration is important because mice tend to mount tolerogenic responses to inhaled peptides, while humans do not^{25, 26}. Thus, given the differences between clinical studies with Fel d 1 and the HDM/OVA model of therapy, it remains unclear if the tolerance to cat dander

83

induced by Fel d 1 peptide immunotherapy, given intradermally, can be used therapeutically to ameliorate sensitization to other allergens. We have addressed this outstanding question in the present study by treating with intradermal (ID) Fel d 1 peptides followed by subcutaneous (SC) co-administration of OVA and Fel d 1 proteins, to mice dually sensitized to cat and OVA, and assessing their impact on both the cat and OVA response. Importantly, the ID Fel d 1 peptides together with the SC OVA and Fel d 1 proteins constituted the treatment regimen in this study.

3.3. Methods and Materials

Animals

Female BALB/c mice, aged 6-8 weeks were purchased from Charles River Laboratories (Saint-Constant, QC, Canada) and housed in specific pathogen free conditions. Environmental control, a 12-hour light/dark schedule and *ad libitum* access to food and water were maintained throughout the study. Animals were acclimatized to the facility for one week prior to the beginning of studies. All procedures were approved by the Animal Research Ethics Board at McMaster University, and performed in accordance to the Guide for Humane Use and Care of Laboratory Animals.

Allergen materials and peptides

Lyophilized cat dander extract (CDE; Greer Laboratories, Lenoir, NC, USA) and Grade V Ovalbumin (OVA; Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA) as well as purified Fel d 1 protein (Indoor Biotechnologies; Charlottesville, VA, USA) were purchased, and diluted in Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline to the required concentrations. Allergens were stored, frozen, at -20°C. Treatment peptides were Fel d 1₂₃₋₃₈ (EQVAQYKALPVVLENA) and Fel d 1₂₉₋₄₅ (KALPVVLENARILKNCVDAK). These two peptides have been shown to elicit recall responses in BALB/c mice (unpublished data). These peptides do not have homology with the amino acid sequence of OVA. Peptides were synthetically produced (GL Biochem, Shanghai, China) by standard Fmoc chemistry and purified via HPLC (>95% purity). Lyophilized peptides were reconstituted in acidified water (10⁻⁴M HCl) and frozen (-80°C) prior to use.

Allergen sensitization, challenge and peptide therapy

BALB/c mice (n = 4-5/group, performed twice) received an intraperitoneal (IP) prime and boost dual allergen sensitization to ovalbumin and Fel d 1 on D0 & 14 (1µg Fel d 1 and 10µg OVA in alum, per IP). Mice were treated three times, once per week, with peptides derived from Fel d 1 (D28, 35 and 42). Control groups (positive and negative) received PBS (peptide vehicle), while treatment groups received either 1µg or 0.1µg of both peptides, ID. Following a one-week rest, mice were simultaneously exposed to Fel d 1 (0.5µg) and ovalbumin (0.01µg), at subimmunogenic doses (data not shown), over a series of three subcutaneous injections (D49, 56 and 63). Following the sensitization and treatment protocols, examination of lymphocyte proliferative responses and humoral responses were performed (Figure 1A), or the functional response to allergen was investigated through an intranasal allergen challenge (Figure 1B). Cat dander extract (25µg protein), or ovalbumin (100µg) airway challenge was performed via three intranasal (IN) instillations of 25µL. Negative control mice received PBS, rather than allergen throughout. Triple allergen sensitized mice received, in addition to 1µg Fel d 1 and 10µg OVA, 10µg Timothy grass allergen, in alum, on day 0 and 14. Twenty-four hours post final challenge, tissues and samples were collected to assess the inflammatory response.

Sample collection and Cell Isolation

A bronchoalveoloar lavage (BAL) was performed by injecting two aliquots (250μ L) of PBS into the lungs of tracheotomised mice. Aliquots steeped for 5 seconds then were removed and pooled. BAL was subsequently centrifuged (150x g), cells enumerated then prepared for cytology by cytocentrifugation (Cytospin 3 centrifuge; Shandon scientific, Sewickley, PA, USA). BAL cells were differentiated by morphological criteria and classified as one of: eosinophil, neutrophil, macrophage/monocyte or lymphocyte, by a blinded investigator following Wright-Giemsa staining. Blood was collected form a cardiac puncture, allowed to clot and

86

centrifuged (400x g) to collect serum. BAL supernatants and serum were stored at -20°C.

Draining lymph nodes (dLN; mediastinal & peribronchial lymph nodes) and lungs were collected following exsanguination. Cells were released from the tissues by physical disruption (dLN) or a 1.5-hour enzyme digestion at 37 °C (lung) utilising 300units/mL of Type 1 collagenase (purified from *C. histolyticum*; Worthington Biochemical Corp., NJ, USA) and 50 units/mL of DNase I (Sigma). Resultant cell suspensions were washed, red blood cells lysed (using ACK lysis buffer), washed twice and suspended in RPMI media (10% FBS, 1% Pen/Strep, 0.1% 2-mercaptoethanol) for enumeration.

Lung Histology

Lung histology and morphometry were performed and quantified as described previously^{27, 28}. Briefly, three-micron transverse sections of the paraffin embedded left lung lobe were taken, following dehydration, formalin fixation. Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) and periodic acid Schiff (PAS) stains were performed to determine tissue eosinophilia and goblet cell hyperplasia, respectively. Images of first generation airways were collected at 40x or 20x, and analyzed for eosinophils per mm² and goblet cells per mm, respectively, using a digital image analysis system (Northern Eclipse; Empix Imaging, Inc., Mississauga, ON, Canada).

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

An ELISA MAXTM Mouse IgE kit (Biolegend Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) was used to assay serum IgE levels. A BD OptEIATM Mouse IgG2a ELISA set (BD Biosciences, San Diego, CA, USA) was used to assay serum IgG2a concentrations. Kits were performed as per manufacturer's instructions. Allergen specific assays were created by coating assay wells with 10µg of allergen protein in coating buffer, rather than capture antibody.

Flow Cytometry

Cells were stained with antibody for 30 minutes, following washing in staining buffer and blockade of Fc receptors (FcyR). Following staining, cells were fixed in 1% paraformaldehyde prior to analysis. Cells to be stained for intracellular cytokines were stimulated for six hours in PMA (20ng/mL; Sigma-Aldrich), ionomycin (1mM/mL Sigma-Aldrich) and brefeldin A (10 µg/mL; Sigma-Aldrich), surface stained, permeabilized, then stained for intracellular cytokines for 30 minutes. Foxp3 intracellular staining was performed using eBiosciences' Treg staining kit, as per manufacturer's instructions. Antibodies used included: FITC-T1ST2 (CDJ8: MD Biosciences), PE and PerCP-CD4 (RM4-5; BD Biosciences), PerCp-CD8 (53-6.7; BD Biosciences), APC-CCr4 (2G12; BioLegend), PE-Cy7-CD69 (H1.2F3; eBiosciences), APC-Cy7-CD3 (17A2; BD Biosciences), APC and PE-CD25 (PC61.5; eBiosciences), PE-Cy7-CD19 (1D3; eBiosciences), PE-Siglec-F (E50-2440; BD Biosciences), APC-Gr1 (RB6-BC5; eBiosciences).APC-IL-10 (JES5-16E3; BD Biosciences), APC-IFN-γ (XMG1.2; BD Biosciences), A488-IL-13 (eBio13A; eBiosciences), PE-IL-4 (11B11; BD Biosciences), APC-IL-5 (TRFK5; BD Biosciences), PE-Cy7-IL-17A (eBio17B7; eBiosciences). Flow cytometric analysis was performed using FACSCanto II (Becton Dickinson) and Flowjo (TreeStar).

³H-Thymidine incorporation assay

Proliferation to pre-titrated allergen (cat dander extract, ovalbumin or timothy grass) concentrations was assessed in triplicate. Splenocytes (2.5 x 10⁵) and draining lymph node (2 x 10⁴) cells were cultured (37°C, 5% CO2, 95% relative humidity), in a flat bottom 96-well microtitre plate (BD Falcon) for five days. On day six, the supernatant was harvested and replaced with fresh culture media (RPMI supplemented with 10% Fetal bovine serum and 1% pen/strep; Invitrogen). On culture day seven, cells were pulsed with 0.05 µCi of tritiated ([m*ethyl*-³H])- thymidine (General Electric Healthcare, Bale d'Urfe, QC, Canada). Sixteen hours later, plates were frozen (-20°C), then harvested (FilterMate Universal Harvester; Perkin Elmer, Ontario, Canada) onto glass-fibre filtermats (Wallac; Turku, Finland). Scintilation fluid (BetaPlate Scint; Perkin Elmer) was added to the filter mats and resultant light emissions were counted, for one-minute, using a MicroBeta Trilux (Perkin Elmer).

Data Analysis

Data are presented as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). All comparisons were two-tailed and *P* values less than 0.05 were considered significant. ANOVAs and post-hoc Bonferroni corrected *t*-tests were used to determine significance.

3.4. Results

Co-administration of Fel d 1 and OVA are required for Fel d 1 peptide immunotherapy to suppress the OVA response.

Having previously demonstrated that peptide therapy can facilitate the induction of tolerance beyond the treated allergen²⁴, we sought to develop a systemic model of dual allergen sensitization to Fel d 1 and ovalbumin (OVA), to assess whether treatment with Fel d 1-derived peptides could suppress responses to OVA. Briefly, mice were sensitized to OVA and Fel d 1 in alum using a prime-boost IP injection series, and were treated with three subcutaneous administrations of two synthetic Fel d 1 derived peptides (at either 0.1 or 1µg) to induce tolerance to Fel d 1. After peptide therapy, mice were exposed to OVA and Fel d 1, subcutaneously, to induce tolerance to OVA. Sham sensitized and treated animals had low levels of IgE (Figure 2A) and IgG2a (Figure 2B, C). Dual allergen sensitized, sham treated mice exhibited significant Th2 immune polarization observed as elevated total serum IgE (Figure 2A).

Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

Treatment of dual sensitized animals with 1µg of Fel d 1 derived peptides significantly reduced serum IgE (Figure 2A), while also increasing cat specific IgG2a (Figure 2B). Importantly, the administration of both allergens (CDE and OVA) elicited bystander tolerance, as OVA-specific IgG2a was significantly increased (Figure 2C).

We next sought to assess whether the bystander tolerance was due to a specific immune response, or non-specific immune suppression arising from Fel d 1 peptide therapy. In animals that received subcutaneous OVA but not Fel d 1, after Fel d 1 peptide therapy IgE levels and OVA-specific IgG2a levels remained the same as untreated mice (Figure S1A and S1B). Additionally, dual allergen sensitized animals that received peptide therapy but a sham subcutaneous injection (diluent alone), possessed an unaltered proliferative response to OVA, *in vitro* (Figure S1C). The specificity of tolerance generated by therapy with synthetic Fel d 1 derived peptides and simultaneous allergen exposure was further assessed using triple sensitized animals. Splenocytes derived from animals sensitized to timothy grass, Fel d 1 and ovalbumin, retained a significant proliferative response to *in vitro* stimulation with timothy grass, following treatment with Fel d 1 derived peptides and simultaneous exposure to OVA/CDE (Figure S1D). Therefore, the induction of bystander tolerance was restrained to the allergens administered

Fel d 1 peptide immunotherapy followed by dual SC allergen administration ameliorates CDE induced lung inflammation, in dual allergen sensitized mice.

Following our finding that Fel d 1 therapy followed by dual SC allergen administration exposure reduces both cat and OVA specific humoral immunity, we investigated whether this was associated with functional tolerance to both allergens by performing an *in vivo* allergen challenge.

Mice were sensitized to both allergens, peptide treated followed by dual administration of allergen proteins and then intranasally challenged with CDE. The resultant cellular infiltrate in the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL), peri-bronchial tissue (histology), and whole lung (flow cytometry) were assessed (Figure 1B). Intranasal challenge with CDE, in dual allergen sensitized and sham treated animals, induced marked cellular infiltration into the BAL (Figure 3A), that was primarily composed of eosinophils and neutrophils (Figure 3B). Low-dose peptide therapy significantly reduced both total BAL cell infiltrate and eosinophilia by up to 50%. Following CDE IN challenge, lung tissue eosinophilia was assessed by flow cytometry (Siglec-F+CD11c+)²⁹, and histology (Haematoxylin and Eosin staining. Sensitized mice receiving a sham treatment possessed significantly elevated levels of eosinophils in the lung tissue (Figure 3C) and peribronchial space (Figure 3D-H). In contrast, low-dose Fel d 1 peptide treated mice were protected from peri-bronchial eosinophil accumulation (Figure 3D).

Previously, it has been demonstrated that peptide immunotherapy can reduce goblet cell hyperplasia, a common feature of allergic airways disease²². CDE challenge of sham treated, allergen sensitized mice demonstrated a greater than 100-fold increase in goblet cell density compared to saline mice (Figure 3I-M). High-dose peptide therapy reduced goblet cell hyperplasia by 30% (Figure 3I-M).

OVA induced allergic airways disease can be regulated by Fel d 1 peptide immunotherapy and dual allergen administration.

Having determined that Fel d 1 peptide immunotherapy could protect mice from challenge with CDE, we proceeded to investigate whether tolerance could be conferred to OVA induced responses. To address this question, dual allergen sensitized, Fel d 1 peptide treated mice were given three IN OVA challenges, after simultaneous subcutaneous exposure to OVA and CDE.

In dual allergen sensitized, sham-treated mice, three IN OVA challenges induced robust cellular infiltration into the lumen of the lungs (Figure 4A); the infiltrate consisting primarily of eosinophils (Figure 4B). Peptide immunotherapy with $1\mu g$ of Fel d 1 derived peptides significantly reduced total BAL cellular infiltration, and a trend towards a reduction in BAL eosinophils was observed (p=0.07; Figure 4A &B).

Analysis of whole lung eosinophilia after ovalbumin challenge confirmed that sham treated, allergen sensitized mice developed robust lung tissue eosinophilia. Peptide therapy induced a dose dependent reduction in lung tissue eosinophilia of up to 50% (Figure 4C). Further examination of the eosinophilic response demonstrated that peribronchial eosinophilia induced by OVA challenge was significantly reduced with 1 µg of peptides and dual allergen administration (Figure 4D-H). Thus, the dose of peptides that significantly improved responses to CDE (Figure 3D) differed from the dose required to suppress OVA responses (Figure 4D). Ovalbumin challenge in sensitized, sham treated mice, induced robust goblet cell hyperplasia, that was significantly inhibited in peptide/dual SC allergen treated mice (Figure 4I-M).

Fel d 1 peptide immunotherapy and dual allergen administration reduces OVA-induced inflammatory cytokine production.

Successful clinical studies of peptide immunotherapy in allergic subjects have routinely been associated with reduced inflammatory cytokine production by CD4+ T-cells³⁰⁻³⁶. We sought to assess whether Fel d 1 immunotherapy could similarly reduce Th2 polarization of CD4+ T-cells in OVA challenged mice, as assessed by flow cytometry.

Examination of the Th2 polarization of lung T-cells (assessed as T1/ST2⁺ T cells ^{37,39}) following therapy, revealed that OVA challenge of dually sensitized, sham treated mice induced a significant Th2 polarization of lung T-cells (Figure 5A). Immunotherapy with Fel d 1 peptides and dual allergen administration significantly reduced the number of T1/ST2⁺ T cells by approximately 50% (Figures 5A & 5B). Following assessment of Th2 polarized cells in the lungs of treated mice, the ability of T-cells to produce archetypal Th2 cytokines was assessed. CD4+ T-cells derived from the lungs of sham treated mice contained a significantly larger number of cells staining positive for IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13, by flow cytometry (Figures 5C-E). Peptide/dual allergen treatment significantly reduced the number of IL-4+ and IL-5+ T-cells, and resulted in a non-significant ~33% reduction in IL-13+ T-cells. Together, these data indicate that Fel d 1 immunotherapy and dual allergen exposure modulated the Th2 immune response to OVA. To corroborate these data, we examined the prototypical Th2 antibody IgE to assess if the reductions in Th2 polarity had affected the B-cell compartment. Sham treated mice possessed elevated levels of ovalbumin specific IgE that was significantly reduced by peptide therapy (Figure 5F).

Interestingly, in sensitized and treated mice that were rechallenged with CDE, rather than OVA, reductions in Th2 polarization were less notable. While CDE challenge of peptide treated, dual allergic mice reduced Th2 T-cell polarization (Figure S2A and S2B), modulation of cytokine production was less apparent, with no significant reduction in T-cells producing IL-4+ (Figure S2C), IL-5+ (Figure S2D) or IL-13+ T cells (Figure S2E).

Reduction of inflammatory responses to OVA, is associated with increased numbers of IL-10+ T cells and B cells
We have previously shown a dependency of peptide immunotherapy upon the presence of IL-10 in a murine model of cat allergy²², and an association between IL-10 production and induction of bystander tolerance. We investigated whether IL-10 production was increased following treatment. Lung and draining lymph node (dLN) cells were analyzed for IL-10 expression following ovalbumin allergen challenge. The total number of IL-10+ lung digest cells was modestly (although not significantly) reduced following therapy, compared to sham treated animals (Figure 6A). In contrast to lung derived cells, the number of IL-10 producing CD4+CD25+ cells in draining lymph nodes was significantly elevated after peptide/dual allergen immunotherapy (p>0.05; Figure 6B).

We further characterized the regulatory phenotype of treated mice by quantifying FoxP3, a transcription factor that controls the development of regulatory T-cells⁴⁰. Analysis of FoxP3 expression in T cells from digested lungs of OVA challenged mice revealed that both sensitized mice and treated mice had elevated numbers of FoxP3+ cells compared to unsensitized controls (Figure 6C& 6D). Finally, the intensity of FoxP3 staining within CD4+ T cells, as quantified by the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI), significantly increased with peptide therapy (Figure 6E).

In addition to assessing IL-10 and FoxP3 expression following OVA challenge, we assessed the regulatory phenotype of mice receiving a CDE challenge. In the lungs and draining lymph nodes of CDE challenged mice, peptide/dual allergen immunotherapy dose-dependently and significantly increased IL-10 expression (Figure S3A, S3B) compared to sham treated mice. Moreover, quantification of FoxP3 expression after peptide immunotherapy revealed that CDE challenged mice had significantly more FoxP3+ T-cells (Figure S3C, Figure S3D), and an increased abundance of FoxP3 in those cells (Figure S3E).

Regulatory B-cells (Bregs) have been identified in murine models as key mediators of peripheral tolerance⁴¹ and have recently been demonstrated to be capable of preventing and/or resolving allergic airway inflammation⁴². We investigated whether Fel d 1 peptide immunotherapy was capable of inducing Bregs. Treatment with 1 μ g of Fel d 1 derived peptides followed by dual SC allergen administration led to a significant increase in the CD19+IL-10+ cell population within the lungs of mice, compared to sham treated animals (Figure S3F). However, the accumulation of Bregs following OVA challenge was also assessed and found to be unchanged compared to sham treated animals (data not shown).

Fel d 1 peptide/dual allergen administration induces immune deviation.

In addition to our investigation of the induction of regulatory T cell and B cell responses, we assessed whether peptide immunotherapy had induced immune deviation towards Th1, by examining the production of IFN- γ . Sensitized, sham treated mice developed a modest increase in CD4+IFN- γ + cells following OVA challenge. In mice receiving low dose peptide therapy, CD4+ IFN- γ + cells were significantly elevated by nearly two-fold, while therapy with 1µg of peptides induced a non-significant (p=0.06), 33% increase in CD4+IFN- γ + cells (Figure 7A). Furthermore, both tested doses of peptides doubled the percentage of T-cells producing IFN- γ + (p < 0.05; Figure 7B). As these data support the expansion of a Th1 phenotype following peptide immunotherapy, we determined whether a similar effect could be observed in mice challenged with CDE. Indeed, treatment of cat allergen-sensitized mice with Fel d 1 peptides induced a Th1 phenotype as evidenced by a significantly increased abundance of IFN- γ + CD4+ T-cells (Figure S4A) and proportion of IFN- γ producing CD4 cells (Figure S4B).

IL-17 is a pro-inflammatory, non-Th2, cytokine commonly expressed by T-cells, that has been linked to the inflammatory cascade observed in allergic asthma⁴³, severe asthmatic responses⁴⁴ and Th1 immunity⁴⁵. We investigated the production of IL-17 after challenge with OVA. Challenge of sham treated mice with OVA induced a significant 8-fold increase in IL-17 production by activated lung derived T-cells; however, the absolute numbers of IL-17+ cells was small (Figure 7C). Treatment reduced numbers of IL-17+ T-cells by approximately 50%. In CDE challenged mice, numbers of IL-17+ T cells appeared to be reduced but this change did not achieve statistical significance (Figure S4C).

3.5. Discussion

In the present study, we have demonstrated that therapy with Fel d 1 derived peptides, followed by a period of dual allergen exposure (CDE and OVA), can facilitate the induction of bystander tolerance and inhibit OVA-induced inflammation. Treatment protected dual allergen sensitized mice from developing eosinophilia, goblet cell hyperplasia or Th2 cellular infiltration, upon airway challenge with either CDE or OVA. Interestingly, the immune responses to these two allergen sources were subtly different. Fel d 1 peptide-induced modulation of the response to cat allergen extract was associated with significant increases in CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ T cells, IL-10+ cells and CD19+IL-10+ B cells. In contrast, the response to OVA, which was achieved through the Fel d 1 peptide therapy combined with subcutaneous co-administration of OVA and cat allergen extract, resulted in a marked reduction of Th2 cytokine-secreting T cells (immune deviation) and less prominent changes to outcomes associated with immune regulation. An important implication of these observations is that the mechanisms that give rise to bystander tolerance may be self-limiting (down-regulation of Th2 responses in this case), whilst peptide modulation of the specific response (characterized by induction of regulatory pathways; IL-10,

IL-10+ B cells) may be capable of dominant suppression of non-specific responses. Thus, the immune response to antigen-specific therapy appears to have dominant regulatory capacity, whereas the immune response to the bystander protein is a terminal process. Taken together, these data indicate that different elements of immune regulation induced by peptide immunotherapy can be used, experimentally, to treat an allergic response to another allergen.

In on-going clinical studies, cat allergic subjects have been treated by intradermal injection with an equimolar mixture of seven Fel d 1 derived peptides. Phase 2 studies of this approach have demonstrated the ability of peptide immunotherapy to reduce responsiveness to provocation with complex mixtures of cat allergens contained in extracts ^{16, 17}. The ability of peptides derived from one allergen protein to reduce responses to mixtures of multiple allergens raises the question of whether treatment with peptides from one molecule is able to create a localized tolerogenic environment in which tolerance, or hyporesponsivessness, can be induced to proteins from other simultaneously administered allergen sources. The results of this study demonstrate that peptides of Fel d 1, containing dominant T cell epitopes, can be used to create a n environment that can be exploited to modulate responses to OVA.

Despite extensive investigation of the pathogenesis of allergic diseases and improved understanding of the mechanisms of action of allergen immunotherapy, novel, safe, rapid and effective therapeutics for allergic diseases have rarely reached the clinic⁴⁶. Clinical trials have demonstrated that peptide immunotherapy for the treatment of cat allergic rhinoconjunctivitis is well tolerated⁴⁷, effective¹⁶ and offers long-lasting protection [17]. We have previously demonstrated that linked-epitope suppression develops after peptide immunotherapy, as individuals treated with a mixture of twelve Fel d 1 peptides displayed reduced proliferative and cytokine responses, not only to the twelve treatment peptides, but also to an additional four Fel d

1 peptides not included in the treatment phase ²². Furthermore, in accompanying murine studies, this phenomena was determined to be dependent upon IL-10, in agreement with other models of peptide-induced, T-cell mediated regulation⁴⁸. We previously described an example of bystander tolerance in which treatment with peptides from one protein elicited tolerance, not only to the treatment protein, but to an unrelated protein. We observed a reduction in inflammatory responses to inhaled OVA challenge in OVA and house dust mite (HDM) dually sensitized mice that had been treated with intranasal HDM peptides ²⁴. To our knowledge, no clinical studies have directly and prospectively studied such phenomena. However, in a placebo-controlled study of twenty-nine multiple-allergen sensitized children, pollen immunotherapy significantly reduced responsiveness to allergen challenge with house dust mite or cat allergen⁴⁹.

The current studies were designed to specifically ask if treatment with peptides from a single allergen protein create a local tolerogenic environment that could be exploited to suppress inflammatory responses to a second, unrelated allergen. In addition, we wanted to see if this effect could be generated when treating animals intradermally, the same treatment route used in current clinical studies. The route of administration is relevant to clinical studies, as asthmatics treated with intradermal peptides³⁴, but not inhaled peptides²⁶, were protected from subsequent challenges. Furthermore, as allergic individuals are commonly poly-sensitized, we set out to use a model wherein sensitization to both allergens was fully established prior to therapy, rather than using a prophylactic treatment regimen that may misrepresent the clinical setting. This study focused on outcomes associated with allergic airways disease such as airway eosinophilia and inflammatory Th2 infiltration of the airways, since these have been historically linked to allergic asthma⁵⁰.

In our model of dual allergen sensitization, challenge with either allergen induced airway eosinophilia, goblet cell hyperplasia and other cardinal features of allergic airways disease. Treatment with Fel d 1 derived peptides and the SC administration of both allergen proteins significantly suppressed both cat dander extract-induced and ovalbumin-induced lung inflammation, as illustrated through reductions in total BAL cellularity, peribronchial eosinophilia, whole lung eosinophilia and goblet cell hyperplasia. Concomitant reductions in lung Th2 cell surface markers and numbers of cytokine expressing T cells were associated with the resolution of ovalbumin-specific (but not Fel d 1-specific) allergic responses, while increased expression of the prototypical T_H1 cytokine, IFN- γ , may implicate immune deviation as a means of regulation. Parameters related to regulatory responses such as numbers of CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ T cells, IL-10+ cells and CD19+IL-10+ B cells were all significantly increased following CDE challenge but not OVA challenge.

Our findings are in accordance with, and expand upon, two recent studies that examined both the antigen-specific and non-specific effects of immunotherapy. Bouchaud *et al* $(2015)^{51}$ prophylactically treated mice with large peptides (>50 amino acids) derived from the house dust mite allergen, Der p 2. Peptide treated mice were protected from challenge with HDM, thereby demonstrating the ability of a single peptide to block inflammation induced by challenge with a complex allergen, that contains multiple immunogenic epitopes. Furthermore, mice prophylactically treated with a Der p 2 derived peptide were moderately protected from Der f 2 induced airway hyperresponsiveness, as assessed by a methacholine challenge. This demonstrates that Der p 2 derived peptide therapy was able to impact the immune response to a distinct allergen, although whether this was via infectious tolerance or simply T-cell crossreactivity is unknown. Our data expand upon this study by demonstrating that short peptides, Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

administered after sensitization and coupled with co-administration of whole allergen proteins (OVA and Fel d 1) can prevent the development of airway inflammation induced by a distinct, non-cross-reactive allergen. Chien *et al.*, (2015) also investigated the non-antigen-specific effects of immunotherapy, by demonstrating that feeding mice OVA, after sensitization to β -lactoglobulin (BLG)-conjugated OVA (BOG), ameliorated airway inflammation induced by challenge with either OVA or BLG. Our data corroborate the notion that immunotherapy can modulate both specific and non-antigen-specific effects, while demonstrating that peptide immunotherapy, a clinically relevant therapy administered in a clinically relevant route can perform this function. Furthermore, our study provides novel insight into the different immunologic mechanisms that underlie tolerance induced directly in an antigen-specific fashion, versus indirectly through bystander tolerance.

Fel d 1 peptide therapy has been linked to the expansion of regulatory T-cell activity within human and mouse CD4+ T cell populations³⁶. However, the expression of FoxP3 by such populations has been an unreliable surrogate marker, although in those studies the intensity of FoxP3 expression per cell was not evaluated. In a previous study, we noted increased FoxP3 expression in T-cells following peptide treatment²⁴. In another model, sustained suppression by FoxP3+ T cells was required in order to observe the related phenomenon of infectious tolerance in which tolerant T cells direct other T cells to become regulators ^{22, 52}. Thus, induction of FoxP3 expressing populations, or increased expression of FoxP3 per cell, is often associated with the induction of tolerance, but is not a pre-requisite.

In addition to the expansion of T cell populations with regulatory phenotypes following CDE challenge, we observed a three-fold increase in IL-10 producing B-cells which have been described as regulatory B cells (Br1/B10/Bregs). This substantial population of B cells was not

Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

McMaster University - Medical Sciences

observed after OVA challenge and may be a key component of the dominant tolerance induced by peptide immunotherapy. Bregs have recently been acknowledged as potentially important modulators of peripheral tolerance, but have not previously been described in the context of peptide immunotherapy. Van der Veen and colleagues described the induction of IL-10 secreting B cells following whole allergen immunotherapy for bee venom allergy. These cells exhibited potent allergen-specific suppressive function and were particularly associated with the production of IgG4 antibodies which are believed to have "blocking" activity by virtue of their ability to sequester allergen and prevent contact with IgE-laden mast cells and basophils ⁵³.

Evidence suggests that the dose of allergen (and likely peptide as well) during therapy impacts the mechanism of suppression, as low dose immunotherapy induces a profile of active suppression, while high doses therapy relies upon clonal deletion and anergy⁵⁴⁻⁵⁶. Relative to other murine models of immunotherapy, the current study employed low doses of Fel d 1 peptides and was able to reduce the Th2 pathology associated with OVA challenge, perhaps via active immune suppression associated with FoxP3, IL-10 and immune deviation. The impact of peptide dose during treatment requires further study.

In summary, using a model of dual allergen sensitization and peptide immunotherapy, we have demonstrated that Fel d 1 peptides, when coupled with co-administration of both Fel d 1 protein and an unrelated protein (OVA) are capable of attenuating Th2 inflammation within the murine allergic lung following inhaled allergen challenge with the unrelated protein allergen. Furthermore, we have confirmed that the local tolerogenic environment generated by peptide therapy can be exploited to confer tolerance to unrelated molecules. We show that treatment allergen-specific tolerance is associated with a mixed phenotype of enhanced regulatory profiles (CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ T cells, IL-10+ cells and CD19+IL-10+ B cells), while tolerance to the

unrelated allergen is associated more closely with reduction in Th2 cytokine secreting cells. These results may enhance our understanding of how allergen-specific (peptide) immunotherapy appears to result in the down regulation of immune responses to allergens beyond those employed for treatment. The potential therapeutic advantages of such phenomena remain to be fully evaluated.

Acknowledgements

We thank Helen Neighbour for her contributions to study design. This study was supported by the Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR). ML is supported by the Canada Research Chairs Program, the Canada Foundation for Innovation and the McMaster University/GSK Chair in Lung Immunology at St. Joseph's Healthcare. DM is supported by a Father Sean O'Sullivan Research Committee (FSORC) Post-graduate Studentship through St. Joseph's Healthcare, Hamilton, the Ontario Graduate scholarship (OGS), and the Eva Euginia Lillian Cope scholarship.

3.6. References

- 1. Lau S, Illi S, Platts-Mills TAE, Riposo D, Nickel R, Grüber C, et al. Longitudinal study on the relationship between cat allergen and endotoxin exposure, sensitization, cat-specific IgG and development of asthma in childhood report of the German Multicentre Allergy Study (MAS 90). Allergy 2005; 60:766-73.
- 2. Lau S, Illi S, Sommerfeld C, Niggemann B, Bergmann R, von Mutius E, et al. Early exposure to house-dust mite and cat allergens and development of childhood asthma: a cohort study. The Lancet 2000; 356:1392-7.
- 3. Arbes SJ, Jr., Gergen PJ, Vaughn B, Zeldin DC. Asthma cases attributable to atopy: results from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007; 120:1139-45.
- 4. Burrows B, Martinez FD, Halonen M, Barbee RA, Cline MG. Association of Asthma with Serum IgE Levels and Skin-Test Reactivity to Allergens. New England Journal of Medicine 1989; 320:271-7.
- 5. Robinson DS, Hamid Q, Ying S, Tsicopoulos A, Barkans J, Bentley AM, et al. Predominant TH2-like bronchoalveolar T-lymphocyte population in atopic asthma. N Engl J Med 1992; 326:298-304.

- 6. Durham SR, Ying S, Varney VA, Jacobson MR, Sudderick RM, Mackay IS, et al. Cytokine messenger RNA expression for IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, and granulocyte/macrophagecolony-stimulating factor in the nasal mucosa after local allergen provocation: relationship to tissue eosinophilia. J Immunol 1992; 148:2390-4.
- 7. Akdis M, Verhagen J, Taylor A, Karamloo F, Karagiannidis C, Crameri R, et al. Immune responses in healthy and allergic individuals are characterized by a fine balance between allergen-specific T regulatory 1 and T helper 2 cells. J Exp Med 2004; 199:1567-75.
- 8. Hartl D, Koller B, Mehlhorn AT, Reinhardt D, Nicolai T, Schendel DJ, et al. Quantitative and functional impairment of pulmonary CD4+CD25hi regulatory T cells in pediatric asthma. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2007; 119:1258-66.
- 9. Ling EM, Smith T, Nguyen XD, Pridgeon C, Dallman M, Arbery J, et al. Relation of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T-cell suppression of allergen-driven T-cell activation to atopic status and expression of allergic disease. Lancet 2004; 363:608-15.
- Lin YL, Shieh CC, Wang JY. The functional insufficiency of human CD4+CD25high Tregulatory cells in allergic asthma is subjected to TNF-α modulation. Allergy 2008; 63:67-74.
- 11. Jacobsen L, Niggemann B, Dreborg S, Ferdousi HA, Halken S, Høst A, et al. Specific immunotherapy has long-term preventive effect of seasonal and perennial asthma: 10-year follow-up on the PAT study. Allergy 2007; 62:943-8.
- Des Roches A, Paradis L, Menardo JL, Bouges S, Daures JP, Bousquet J. Immunotherapy with a standardized Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus extract. VI. Specific immunotherapy prevents the onset of new sensitizations in children. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 99:450-3.
- 13. Pajno GB, Barberio G, De Luca F, Morabito L, Parmiani S. Prevention of new sensitizations in asthmatic children monosensitized to house dust mite by specific immunotherapy. A six-year follow-up study. Clin Exp Allergy 2001; 31:1392-7.
- Durham SR, Walker SM, Varga E-M, Jacobson MR, O'Brien F, Noble W, et al. Long-Term Clinical Efficacy of Grass-Pollen Immunotherapy. New England Journal of Medicine 1999; 341:468-75.
- 15. Frew AJ. Allergen immunotherapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010; 125:S306-13.
- 16. Patel D, Couroux P, Hickey P, Salapatek AM, Laidler P, Larche M, et al. Fel d 1-derived peptide antigen desensitization shows a persistent treatment effect 1 year after the start of dosing: a randomized, placebo-controlled study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2013; 131:103-9 e1-7.
- 17. Couroux P, Patel D, Armstrong K, Larché M, Hafner RP. Fel d 1-derived synthetic peptide immuno-regulatory epitopes show a long-term treatment effect in cat allergic subjects. Clinical & Experimental Allergy 2015:n/a-n/a.
- 18. Worm M, Lee HH, Kleine-Tebbe J, Hafner RP, Laidler P, Healey D, et al. Development and preliminary clinical evaluation of a peptide immunotherapy vaccine for cat allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2011; 127:89-97, e1-14.
- 19. Larche M, Wraith DC. Peptide-based therapeutic vaccines for allergic and autoimmune diseases. Nat Med 2005; 11:S69-76.
- 20. Moldaver D, Larché M. Immunotherapy with peptides. Allergy 2011; 66:784-91.
- 21. Holan V, Mitchison NA. Haplotype-specific suppressor T cells mediating linked suppression of immune responses elicited by third-party H-2 alloantigens. Eur J Immunol 1983; 13:652-7.

- 22. Campbell JD, Buckland KF, McMillan SJ, Kearley J, Oldfield WL, Stern LJ, et al. Peptide immunotherapy in allergic asthma generates IL-10-dependent immunological tolerance associated with linked epitope suppression. J Exp Med 2009; 206:1535-47.
- 23. Cobbold S, Waldmann H. Infectious tolerance. Current Opinion in Immunology 1998; 10:518-24.
- 24. Moldaver DM, Bharhani MS, Wattie JN, Ellis R, Neighbour H, Lloyd CM, et al. Amelioration of ovalbumin-induced allergic airway disease following Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy is not associated with induction of IL-35. Mucosal Immunol 2013; 7:379-90.
- 25. Metzler B, Wraith DC. Inhibition of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by inhalation but not oral administration of the encephalitogenic peptide: influence of MHC binding affinity. International immunology 1993; 5:1159-65.
- 26. Ali FR, Oldfield WLG, Higashi N, Larché M, Kay AB. Late Asthmatic Reactions Induced by Inhalation of Allergen-derived T Cell Peptides. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 2004; 169:20-6.
- 27. DiGiovanni FA, Ellis R, Wattie J, Hirota JA, Southam DS, Inman MD. Concurrent dual allergen exposure and its effects on airway hyperresponsiveness, inflammation and remodeling in mice. Dis Model Mech 2009; 2:275-82.
- 28. Hirota JA, Ellis R, Inman MD. Regional differences in the pattern of airway remodeling following chronic allergen exposure in mice. Respir Res 2006; 7:120.
- 29. Tateno H, Crocker PR, Paulson JC. Mouse Siglec-F and human Siglec-8 are functionally convergent paralogs that are selectively expressed on eosinophils and recognize 6'-sulfo-sialyl Lewis X as a preferred glycan ligand. Glycobiology 2005; 15:1125-35.
- 30. Smith TR, Alexander C, Kay AB, Larche M, Robinson DS. Cat allergen peptide immunotherapy reduces CD4(+) T cell responses to cat allergen but does not alter suppression by CD4(+) CD25(+) T cells: a double-blind placebo-controlled study. Allergy 2004; 59:1097-101.
- Pène J, Desroches A, Paradis L, Lebel B, Farcea M, Nicodemus CF, et al. Immunotherapy with Fel d 1 peptides decreases IL-4 release by peripheral blood T cells of patients allergic to cats. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1998; 102:571-8.
- 32. Müller U, Akdis CA, Fricker M, Akdis M, Blesken T, Bettens F, et al. Successful immunotherapy with T-cell epitope peptides of bee venom phospholipase A2 induces specific T-cell anergy in patients allergic to bee venom. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1998; 101:747-54.
- 33. Oldfield WL, Larche M, Kay AB. Effect of T-cell peptides derived from Fel d 1 on allergic reactions and cytokine production in patients sensitive to cats: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2002; 360:47-53.
- 34. Oldfield WLG, Kay AB, Larché M. Allergen-Derived T Cell Peptide-Induced Late Asthmatic Reactions Precede the Induction of Antigen-Specific Hyporesponsiveness in Atopic Allergic Asthmatic Subjects. The Journal of Immunology 2001; 167:1734-9.
- 35. Tarzi M, Klunker S, Texier C, Verhoef A, Stapel SO, Akdis CA, et al. Induction of interleukin-10 and suppressor of cytokine signalling-3 gene expression following peptide immunotherapy. Clin Exp Allergy 2006; 36:465-74.
- 36. Verhoef A, Alexander C, Kay AB, Larche M. T cell epitope immunotherapy induces a CD4+ T cell population with regulatory activity. PLoS Med 2005; 2:e78.

- 37. Löhning M, Stroehmann A, Coyle AJ, Grogan JL, Lin S, Gutierrez-Ramos J-C, et al. T1/ST2 is preferentially expressed on murine Th2 cells, independent of interleukin 4, interleukin 5, and interleukin 10, and important for Th2 effector function. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 1998; 95:6930-5.
- 38. Coyle AJ, Lloyd C, Tian J, Nguyen T, Erikkson C, Wang L, et al. Crucial Role of the Interleukin 1 Receptor Family Member T1/St2 in T Helper Cell Type 2–Mediated Lung Mucosal Immune Responses. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 1999; 190:895-902.
- Kearley J, Buckland KF, Mathie SA, Lloyd CM. Resolution of Allergic Inflammation and Airway Hyperreactivity Is Dependent upon Disruption of the T1/ST2–IL-33 Pathway. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 2009; 179:772-81.
- 40. Hori S, Nomura T, Sakaguchi S. Control of Regulatory T Cell Development by the Transcription Factor Foxp3. Science 2003; 299:1057-61.
- 41. Mauri C, Ehrenstein MR. The 'short' history of regulatory B cells. Trends Immunol 2008; 29:34-40.
- 42. Amu S, Saunders SP, Kronenberg M, Mangan NE, Atzberger A, Fallon PG. Regulatory B cells prevent and reverse allergic airway inflammation via FoxP3-positive T regulatory cells in a murine model. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010; 125:1114-24 e8.
- Wong CK, Ho CY, Ko FWS, Chan CHS, Ho ASS, Hui DSC, et al. Proinflammatory cytokines (IL-17, IL-6, IL-18 and IL-12) and Th cytokines (IFN-γ, IL-4, IL-10 and IL-13) in patients with allergic asthma. Clinical & Experimental Immunology 2001; 125:177-83.
- Chakir J, Shannon J, Molet S, Fukakusa M, Elias J, Laviolette M, et al. Airway remodeling-associated mediators in moderate to severe asthma: Effect of steroids on TGF-β, IL-11, IL-17, and type I and type III collagen expression. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2003; 111:1293-8.
- 45. Yao C, Sakata D, Esaki Y, Li Y, Matsuoka T, Kuroiwa K, et al. Prostaglandin E2-EP4 signaling promotes immune inflammation through TH1 cell differentiation and TH17 cell expansion. Nat Med 2009; 15:633-40.
- 46. Wahn U. Considering 25 years of research on allergy prevention have we let ourselves down? Pediatric Allergy and Immunology 2013; 24:308-10.
- 47. Worm M, Lee H-H, Kleine-Tebbe J, Hafner RP, Laidler P, Healey D, et al. Development and preliminary clinical evaluation of a peptide immunotherapy vaccine for cat allergy. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2011; 127:89-97.e14.
- 48. Sundstedt A, O'Neill EJ, Nicolson KS, Wraith DC. Role for IL-10 in Suppression Mediated by Peptide-Induced Regulatory T Cells In Vivo. The Journal of Immunology 2003; 170:1240-8.
- 49. Hedlin G, Wille S, Browaldh L, Hildebrand H, Holmgren D, Lindfors A, et al. Immunotherapy in children with allergic asthma: Effect on bronchial hyperreactivity and pharmacotherapy. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1999; 103:609-14.
- 50. Bousquet J, Chanez P, Lacoste JY, Barneon G, Ghavanian N, Enander I, et al. Eosinophilic inflammation in asthma. N Engl J Med 1990; 323:1033-9.
- 51. Bouchaud G, Braza F, Chesné J, Lair D, Chen K-W, Rolland-Debord C, et al. Prevention of allergic asthma through Der p 2 peptide vaccination. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2015; 136:197.

- 52. Kendal AR, Chen Y, Regateiro FS, Ma J, Adams E, Cobbold SP, et al. Sustained suppression by Foxp3+ regulatory T cells is vital for infectious transplantation tolerance. J Exp Med 2011; 208:2043-53.
- 53. van de Veen W, Stanic B, Yaman G, Wawrzyniak M, Sollner S, Akdis DG, et al. IgG4 production is confined to human IL-10-producing regulatory B cells that suppress antigen-specific immune responses. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2013; 131:1204-12.
- 54. Bohle B, Kinaciyan T, Gerstmayr M, Radakovics A, Jahn-Schmid B, Ebner C. Sublingual immunotherapy induces IL-10–producing T regulatory cells, allergen-specific T-cell tolerance, and immune deviation. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2007; 120:707-13.
- 55. Chen Y, Kuchroo VK, Inobe J, Hafler DA, Weiner HL. Regulatory T cell clones induced by oral tolerance: suppression of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Science 1994; 265:1237-40.
- 56. Chen Y, Inobe J, Marks R, Gonnella P, Kuchroo VK, Weiner HL. Peripheral deletion of antigen-reactive T cells in oral tolerance. Nature 1995; 376:177-80.





Figure 1. Allergen exposure and peptide therapy protocol. Mice were sensitized to ovalbumin (100 μ g) and Fel d 1 (1 μ g), via two intraperitoneal injection (Day 0 & 14). Three intradermal treatments of Fel d 1 derived peptides were administered (Day 28, 35, 42), which was followed by three subcutaneous exposure to both allergens (Fel d 1 & Ovalbumin, Day 49, 56, 63). Sham treated mice received peptide vehicle (PBS) ID. Mice were sacrificed, [A] one week later to assess the humoral and proliferative immune response, or [B] after a series of IN allergen (Day 70, 71, 72) challenges with either OVA or CDE to assess the functional response. Mice were sacrificed 24-hour post final challenge for measurement of airway responsiveness and cell procurement.



Figure 2. Fel d 1 derived peptide immunotherapy reduces antibody and lymphocyte proliferative responses. The concentration of serum [A] IgE, [B] Cat Dander Specific-IgG2a, and [C] Ovalbumin-specific IgG2a were assessed by ELISA, as described in *Methods*. Mice were sensitized to both Fel d 1 and Ovalbumin, and treated with Fel d 1 derived peptides prior to exposure to both allergens subcutaneously. Groups are as follows: sensitized & sham treated (Sham treatment); sensitized & treated with 1µg of each peptides (1µg Peptide); sensitized & treated with 0.1µg of each peptides (0.1µg Peptide); and sham sensitized and treated (Sal/Diluent). All data are presented as mean \pm SEM, of two independent experiments pooled together (n=10/group. * = P ≤ 0.05; ** = P ≤ 0.01; *** = P ≤ 0.001; **** = P ≤ 0.001 compared to 1µg Peptide via an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferronni corrected Student's *t*-test. \$ = P ≤ 0.05,0.1µg Peptide compared to sham treatment, and # = P ≤ 0.05,1µg Peptide compared to sham treatment via an ANOVA an individual, post-hoc Student's *t*-test.



Figure 3. Fel d 1 peptide immunotherapy ameliorates CDE-challenge induced cellular recruitment to the lung. Mice (n=8/group from two pooled experiments) were sensitized to Fel d 1 and ovalbumin then treated with $1\mu g$ (--/1 μg) or $0.1\mu g$ (--/ $0.1 \mu g$) of Fel d 1 derived peptides, or PBS (--/Diluent). Following the therapeutic protocol, mice were intranasally challenged with 25 μg cat dander extract (CDE/--) or saline(SAL/--). Total BAL cells were enumerated [A] and differentiated via Wright-Giemsa staining. BAL eosinophils and neutrophils are depicted [B]. [C] Lung cells were isolated, and eosinophilia was determined by flow cytometry (SIGLEC-F+Gr1-) after recall challenge. Peribronchial eosinophilia was determined by Hematoxlin and Eosin staining of formalin fixed lungs [D]; representative histological images of stained sections at 20x are shown: CDE/Diluent [E], CDE /1 μg [F], CDE/0.1 μg [G] and SAL/Diluent [H]. Goblet cell hyperplasia was determined by periodic acid Schiff (PAS) staining of formalin fixed lungs [I]; representative images of stained lung sections at 10x magnification are shown: CDE /Diluent [E], CDE /1 μg [F], CDE /1 μg [F], CDE /0.1 μg [G] and SAL/Diluent [E], CDE /1 μg [F], CDE /1 μg [F], CDE /0.1 μg



Figure 4. Fel d 1 peptide immunotherapy prevents OVA-induced lung inflammation. Mice (n=8/group from two pooled experiments) were sensitized to Fel d 1 and ovalbumin then treated with $1\mu g$ (--/ $1\mu g$) or $0.1\mu g$ (--/ $0.1\mu g$) of Fel d 1 derived peptides, or PBS (--/Diluent). Following the therapeutic protocol, mice were intranasally challenged with100 μg ovalbumin (OVA/--) or saline(SAL/--). Total BAL cells were enumerated [A] and differentiated via Wright-Giemsa staining. BAL eosinophils and neutrophils are depicted [B]. [C] Lung cells were isolated, and eosinophilia was determined by flow cytometry (SIGLEC-F+Gr1-) after recall challenge. Peribronchial eosinophilia was determined by Hematoxlin and Eosin staining of formalin fixed lungs [D]; representative histological images of stained sections at 20x are shown: OVA/Diluent [E], OVA/1 μg [F], OVA/0.1 μg [G] and SAL/Diluent [H]. Goblet cell hyperplasia was determined by periodic acid Schiff (PAS) staining of formalin fixed lungs[I]; representative images of stained lung sections at 10x magnification are shown: OVA/Diluent [J], OVA/1 μg [K], OVA/0.1 μg [L] and SAL/Diluent [M]. Data presented as mean \pm SEM, with or without individual points. * = P \leq 0.05 assessed by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferronni corrected Student's *t*-test.



Figure 5. Reduced T_H2 cell recruitment and cytokine expression, following ovalbumin rechallenge, in Fel d 1-derived peptide treated mice. Mice (n=8/group from two pooled experiments) were sensitized to Fel d 1 and ovalbumin then treated with $1\mu g$ (--/1 μg) or 0.1 μg (--/0.1 μg) of Fel d 1 derived peptides, or PBS (--/Diluent). Following the therapeutic protocol, mice were intranasally challenged with100 μg ovalbumin (OVA/--) or saline(SAL/--). The Th2 phenotype of cells derived from the lungs of allergen challenged mice was assessed. Expression of T1ST2 in lymphocytes [A]. The average percentage of CD4+ T1ST2+ cells is depicted within representative dot plot images, of a typical flow cytometric experiment [B], groups ordered as: OVA/Diluent, OVA/1 μg , OVA/0.1 μg , and SAL/Diluent. Lung cells were stimulated for 6 hours with PMA and ionomycin, in the presence of brefeldin A, at which point the expression of IL-4 [C], -5 [D], 13 [E] were examined within the T-cell (CD3+CD4+) population. The concentration of Ovalbumin-specific IgE was assessed by ELISA, as described in *Methods* [F]. Data presented as mean+SEM.* = P ≤ 0.05; ** = P ≤ 0.01, as assessed by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferronni corrected Student's *t*-test.



Figure 6. Mice challenged with OVA following Fel d 1 immunotherapy mount a moderate

regulatory response. 24 hours post intranasal ovalbumin challenge, mice were sacrificed and isolated dLN and lung cells were stained for surface markers and intracellular cytokines expression. Mice (n=8/group from two pooled experiments) were sensitized to Fel d 1 and ovalbumin then treated with 1µg (--/1 µg) or 0.1µg (--/0.1 µg) of Fel d 1 derived peptides, or PBS (--/Diluent). Following the therapeutic protocol, mice were intranasally challenged with100 µg ovalbumin (OVA/--) or saline(SAL/--). [A] Total IL-10+ lung cells. [B] total IL-10+CD25+CD4+ dLN cells. Total FoxP3+CD25+CD4+ cells within the lungs [C]. Lung lymphocytes, gated on CD4, were further analyzed for their FoxP3 and CD25 expression, average percentage of positive cells is depicted within representative dot plots, with the panels in descending order: OVA/Diluent, OVA/1µg, OVA/0.1µg, and SAL/Diluent[D]. Magnitude of FoxP3 expression within lung CD4+ cells, assessed by Mean Flourescent Intensity [E]. Number of

CD19+IL10+ cells present in the lungs of dual allergen sensitized, peptide treated mice challenged with CDE (CDE/--) [F]. Data presented as mean+/- SEM. $* = P \le 0.05$ assessed by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferronni corrected Student's t-test.



Figure 7. Fel d 1 immunotherapy induces immune deviation in OVA challenged mice. 24 hours post intranasal ovalbumin challenge, mice were sacrificed and isolated dLN and lung cells were stained for surface markers and intracellular cytokines expression. Mice (n=8/group from two pooled experiments) were sensitized to Fel d 1 and ovalbumin then treated with 1µg (--/1 µg) or 0.1µg (--/0.1 µg) of Fel d 1 derived peptides, or PBS (--/Diluent). Following the therapeutic protocol, mice were intranasally challenged with100 µg ovalbumin (OVA/--) or saline(SAL/--). [A] Total CD4+ T-cells producing IFN- γ , and the percentage of lung lymphocytes, gated on CD4, producing IFN- γ is depicted in representative dot plots, with the panels in descending order: OVA/Diluent, OVA/1µg, OVA/0.1µg, and SAL/Diluent[B]. Enumeration of lung T-cells producing IL-17 [C]. Data presented as mean ± SEM. * = P ≤ 0.05 assessed by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferronni corrected Student's *t*-test.



Figure S1. Fel d 1 derived peptide immunotherapy reduces antibody and lymphocyte

proliferative responses. The concentration of serum [A] IgE, and [B] Ovalbumin-specific IgG2a were assessed by ELISA, as described in Methods. [C] The proliferation of splenocytes to ovalbumin, in vitro from sham sensitized, sham treated and sham subcutaneous mice. [D] The proliferation of splenocytes from triple allergen sensitized animals (Timothy grass, Fel d 1 and ovalbumin) that received therapy with $0.1\mu g$ of Fel d 1 derived peptides and simultaneous ovalbumin and cat dander, subcutaneously. Proliferation was assessed by a 3H-thymidine incorporation assay. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM, of two independent experiments pooled together (n=10/group). * = P ≤ 0.05 ; ** = P ≤ 0.01 , by student's t-test.



Figure S2. Fel d 1 peptide therapy prevents the recruitment of Th2 effector cells, but not the expression of Th2 cytokines in the lungs of cat challenged mice. Mice (n=8/group from two pooled experiments) were sensitized to Fel d 1 and ovalbumin then treated with 1μ g (--/1 μ g) or 0.1 μ g (--/0.1 μ g) of Fel d 1 derived peptides, or PBS (--/Diluent). Following the therapeutic protocol, mice were intranasally challenged with 25 μ g cat dander extract (CDE/--) or saline(SAL/--). The Th2 phenotype of cells derived from the lungs of allergen challenged mice was assessed. Expression of T1ST2 in lymphocytes [A]. The average percentage of CD4+ T1ST2+ cells is depicted within representative dot plot images, of a typical flow cytometric experiment [B], groups ordered as: CDE/Diluent, CDE/1 μ g, CDE/0.1 μ g, and SAL/Diluent. Lung cells were stimulated for 6 hours with PMA and ionomycin, in the presence of brefeldin A, at which point the expression of IL-4 [C], -5 [D], 13 [E] were examined within the T-cell (CD3+CD4+) population. Data presented as mean + SEM. Data presented as mean \pm SEM. * = P \leq 0.05; ** = P \leq 0.01, as assessed by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferronni corrected Student's *t*-test.



Figure S3. Fel d 1 immunotherapy allows the manifestation of a regulatory response following CDE challenge. 24 hours post intranasal ovalbumin challenge, mice were sacrificed and isolated dLN and lung cells were stained for surface markers and intracellular cytokines expression. Mice (n=8/group from two pooled experiments) were sensitized to Fel d 1 and ovalbumin then treated with 1µg (--/1 µg) or 0.1µg (--/0.1µg) of Fel d 1 derived peptides, or PBS (--/Diluent). Following the therapeutic protocol, mice were intranasally challenged with 25 µg cat dander extract (CDE/--) or saline(SAL/--). [A] Total IL-10+ lung cells. [B] total IL-10+CD25+CD4+ dLN cells. Lung lymphocytes, gated on CD4, were further analyzed for their FoxP3 and CD25 expression, average percentage of positive cells is depicted within representative dot plots, with the panels in descending order: CDE/Diluent, CDE/1µg, CDE/0.1µg, and SAL/Diluent[C]. Total FoxP3+CD25+CD4+ cells within the lungs [D], the mean flourescent intensity FoxP3 expression within lung CD4+ cells [E] and the number of CD19+IL-10+ cells, in the lung [F]. Data presented as mean \pm SEM. * = P ≤ 0.05 assessed by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferronni corrected Student's *t*-test.



Figure S4. Fel d 1 immunotherapy allows the manifestation of a regulatory response following CDE challenge. 24 hours post intranasal ovalbumin challenge, mice were sacrificed and isolated dLN and lung cells were stained for surface markers and intracellular cytokines expression. Mice (n=8/group from two pooled experiments) were sensitized to Fel d 1 and ovalbumin then treated with 1µg (--/1 µg) or 0.1µg (--/0.1 µg) of Fel d 1 derived peptides, or PBS (--/Diluent). Following the therapeutic protocol, mice were intranasally challenged with 25 µg cat dander extract (CDE/--) or saline(SAL/--). The total CD4+ T-cells producing IFN- γ [A], and the percentage of lung lymphocytes, gated on CD4, producing IFN- γ is depicted in representative dot plots, with the panels in descending order: CDE/Diluent, CDE/1µg, CDE/0.1µg, and SAL/Diluent[B]. IL-17 expression within T-cells was probed, following PMA and ionomycin stimulation [C]. Data presented as mean ± SEM. * = P ≤ 0.05 assessed by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferronni corrected Student's t-test. Chapter 4: Dose-Dependent Changes in Lung Inflammation and Response to Therapy in a Humanized Model of Allergic Airways Disease.

Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

4. Declaration of Academic Achievement

Chapter 4. Dose-dependent changes in lung inflammation and response to therapy in a humanized model of allergic airways disease.

D. M. Moldaver¹, T. Singh¹, M. S. Bharhani¹, I. Nayve^{1,2}, M. Babra¹, C. Rudulier^{1,3}, J. Wattie¹, M. van Hage⁴, M. D. Inman¹ and M. Larché¹[†]

- The following study has been submitted to Disease Mechanisms and Models.
- Rights for publication in thesis were retained at submission (2017).

Daniel Moldaver's contributions

As primary author, I was responsible for conceiving, planning, managing and contributing to all aspects of the study. I treated animals, performed mouse dissections, fixed tissues, performed histology, prepared cells for flow cytometry and proliferation assays, performed flow cytometry and ELISAs. T. Singh, I. Nayve, and M. Babra assisted with mouse treatments and cell processing. M. Bharhani assisted with analysis of flow cytometry. C. Rudulier provided guidance on manuscript generation. J. Wattie assisted with mouse treatments and was responsible for mouse tracheostomies, and performing the nebulized methacholine challenge. M. van Hage provided the cat dander extract. M. Larché & M. Inman provided guidance on study design. Analyses, statistics and figure generation were performed by myself & M Larché.

Dose-dependent changes in lung inflammation and response to therapy in a humanized

model of allergic airways disease.

D. M. Moldaver¹, T. Singh¹, M. S. Bharhani¹, I. Nayve^{1,2}, M. Babra¹, C. Rudulier^{1,3}, J. Wattie¹, M. van Hage⁴, M. D. Inman¹ and M. Larché¹[†]

¹Firestone Institute for Respiratory Health, St. Joseph's Healthcare, Divisions of Respirology and Clinical Immunology & Allergy, Department of Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada.

²Current Address: Leslie Dan Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

³Current Address: Division of Respirology, Critical Care and Sleep Medicine, Department of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, Canada

⁴Clinical Immunology and Allergy, Department of Medicine, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden.

Running title: Allergen dose controls lung response

Key words: mouse model, allergic asthma, allergen dose, neutrophils, eosinophils, steroid refractory

† Correspondence address:

Dr. Mark Larché, Firestone Institute for Respiratory Health, Divisions of Clinical Immunology & Allergy and Respirology, Department of Medicine, McMaster University, T2131-1, 2nd Floor, Juravinski Tower, St. Joseph's Hospital Healthcare, 50 Charlton Avenue East, Hamilton, ON, L8N 4A6 tel: +1-905-522-1155 x33357 fax: +1-905-521-6183 e-mail: <u>larche@mcmaster.ca</u>

Summary statement: In a humanized mouse model of allergic airways disease, the dose of inhaled allergen challenge determines the degree of airway dysfunction, type of inflammation and responsiveness to therapeutic intervention.

Disclosure

ML is a co-founder, stockholder, and consultant of Circassia Ltd. and a founding scientist, consultant of Adiga Life Sciences Inc. and has received research support from both of these companies. ML was a consultant for Aravax Pty and UCB in the 12 months prior to the submission of this manuscript. The rest of the authors declare no conflict of interest.

4.1. Abstract

Allergic asthma is a common disease with a significant socio-economic impact. In allergic asthma, and mouse models of allergic asthma, it remains unclear how lung inflammation, dysfunction and responsiveness to therapy relates to the dose of allergen exposure. We set out to determine how the dose of inhaled allergen exposure determines disease phenotype and response pharmacological intervention. A model of cat allergy was developed in humanized transgenic mice that express the HLA-DR4 MHC class II complex and lack endogenous I-A^b. HLA-DR4 transgenic mice were sensitized to Fel d 1 via intraperitoneal injection of Fel d 1 in alum. Inflammatory responses were localized to the lung via nasal allergen challenge with cat dander extract (CDE). Patterns of lung inflammation, airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) and response to treatment (corticosteroids) were assessed following recall challenge with CDE at a range of doses. Intranasal recall challenge with CDE induced hallmark features of asthma, including AHR, eosinophilia and lung resident Th2-polarized T-cells. The dose of allergen recall challenge exquisitely controlled disease phenotype, as recall challenge with low-dose CDE (1 or $5\mu g$) induced AHR and airway lumenal eosinophilia, while high-dose CDE (20 or 30µg) challenge induced more severe airway dysfunction and airway lumenal neutrophilia. Corticosteroids failed to modulate airway dysfunction in high-dose rechallenged mice. Thus, in a murine model of allergic airways disease, the dose of inhaled allergen challenge determined the degree of airway dysfunction, inflammation and responsiveness to therapeutic intervention.

4.2. Introduction

Clinically, asthma is defined as the presence of reversible airflow obstruction that typically manifests with airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) and airway inflammation (Bateman et al., 2008). Allergic asthma has historically been viewed as a disease resulting from an aberrant T-helper type 2 (Th2) immune response directed towards common environmental proteins. Multiple cell types associated with Th2 immunity have been implicated in the pathogenesis of asthma, including: Th2 T-cells (Bentley et al., 1993; Robinson et al., 1992), B-cells (Burrows et al., 1989; Lundgren et al., 1989; Sears et al., 1991), eosinophils (Humbles et al., 2004; Lee et al., 2004; Nair et al., 2009), and more recently, type 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s) (Barlow et al., 2012; Chang et al., 2011; Mjosberg et al., 2011).

Stratification of therapeutic intervention based upon disease phenotype/endotype, at the time of clinical presentation, has proven to be a successful treatment strategy for allergic or Th2 asthma, as numerous biologic interventions targeting Th2 cytokines or IgE have shown efficacy. However, some individuals remain unresponsive to Th2-targeted biologic intervention despite fulfilling phenotypic and endotypic criteria of Th2-high asthma. Few treatment options are available for subjects that present with other phenotypes/endotypes, such as neutrophilic asthma which tends to be refractory to corticosteroids.

Understanding how clinical and laboratory parameters are modulated by environmental factors, such as the dose of allergen exposure, may provide insight into the interrelationship between asthma phenotypes/endotypes and their differing susceptibility to therapeutic intervention. Experimental in vivo models of asthma have been employed in numerous studies to evaluate the clinical efficacy of pharmacological interventions (e.g. glucocorticosteroids, leukotriene receptor antagonists), since many pharmacological agents are functionally active in

Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

pre-clinical models. Immunological interventions (e.g. biologics, allergen-specific immunotherapy), however, frequently cannot be effectively modelled in conventional mouse strains, due to lack of cross-species biological activity. To address our need to evaluate allergenspecific immunological interventions in the pre-clinical setting, we developed a murine model of cat allergen (Fel d 1)-induced allergic airways disease, in mice that express human MHC class II (HLA-DRA/DRB1*0401) in the absence of murine MHC class II(Ito et al., 1996). Expression of human MHC class II molecules allows binding and presentation of human, rather than murine, T cell epitopes and could, for example, be used to model T cell epitope peptide immunotherapy, as we have previously demonstrated (Campbell et al., 2009). During model development, we investigated the effect of cat allergen dose on the elicitation phase of the model. We found that the degree, location and quality of inflammatory responses, and airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR), were determined by intranasal allergen challenge dose. Furthermore, intranasal challenge with high doses of allergen elicited AHR that was refractory to intervention with corticosteroids.

4.3. Methods and Materials

Animals

Six-eight weeks old female HLA-DR4 transgenic mice (B6.129S2-*H2-Ab1*^{tm1Gru} Tg(HLA-DRA/H2-Ea, HLA-DRB1^{*}0401/H2-Eb)1Kito; C57BL/6 background) expressing the human MHC Class II molecule HLA-DR4 were purchased from Taconic (Hudson, NY,USA). These mice lack endogenous MHC presentation molecules but interactions with murine CD4 co-receptors are maintained (Ito et al., 1996). Mice were housed in specific pathogen free conditions and acclimatized for one week prior to experimental use. All experiments were approved by the McMaster University Animal Research Ethics Board, and performed according to the Guide for Humane Use and Care of Laboratory Animals.

Animal allergen and treatment exposures

HLA-DR4 transgenic mice were injected with $2\mu g$ (in 200µl) recombinant Fel d1 (rFel d 1) in alum (Au-Gel-S; Serva Electrophoresis), intraperitoneally on Days 0 and 14. Subsequently, mice received a series of intranasal (IN) challenges (25µl) with cat dander extract (CDE; 10µg) to initiate lung inflammation (day 22, 24, and 26). After a rest period of three weeks, the allergic response was recalled to the lungs of mice via IN CDE challenges on day 51 and 52 (Figure 1). Mice were rechallenged with 1, 5, 10, 20 or 30 µg CDE. Sham sensitized mice received saline in alum IP, and saline IN challenges. Sham sensitized/CDE rechallenged mice received saline in alum IP, and saline during the D22, 24 and 26 challenges but CDE (1µg) during the final recall challenges. IN challenges were performed while the animal was under light anesthesia (isoflurane). Mice were sacrificed forty-eight hours post final challenge.

Corticosteroid treatment consisted of administering 0.075 mg of budesonide in saline, intraperitoneally to sensitized mice on day 47, 48, 51, 52 and 53. On days where mice received both allergen challenge and budesonide injections (D51, 52), budesonide was given 2-hours prior to the allergen challenge.

Measurement of airway responsiveness

Airway responsiveness was measured via nebulizing doubling-doses (0, 3.125, 6.25, 12.5, 25, 50 mg/mL) of methacholine (MCh) to mice. Mice were anaesthetized with pentobarbital (Ceva Sante Animale, Leneka, KS; 30 mg/kg) and xylazine (Bayer inc., Toronto, ON; 10 mg/kg). Total respiratory system resistance (R_{RS}) was quantified in tracheotomized mice by the FlexiVent ventilator (SCIREQ, Montreal, Canada) as described previously (Hirota et al., 2006) with an adjusted measurement pattern of 7, 0.4 second perturbations over a 45 second period. Prior to each dose of MCh nebulisation, a six second TLC inflation was performed to

normalize lung function. Once automated breathing had commenced mice received 20mg/kg of the paralytic pancuronium (Santoz, Boucherville, QC, Canada) to prevent respiratory effort. The provocative concentration inducing a 200% increase in baseline resistance (PC_{200}) was calculated by doubling baseline resistance and interpolating the corresponding concentration of methacholine through a linear regression between the neighboring resistance values. In mice failing to double baseline resistance by 50mg/ml MCh, PC_{200} was extrapolated using a linear regression fit to the 25 & 50 mg/mL doses. If the extrapolation generated an implausible value (defined as >75mg/mL), to enable conservative analysis, the highest dose tested (50mg/mL) was assigned as the PC_{200} .

Bronchoalveolar lavage

Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) was obtained from tracheostomized mice through two instillations of PBS (250 μ L) into the lungs and allowing each too steep for five seconds. Aliquots were retrieved, pooled and centrifuged (150 x *g*, 10 min). BAL supernatants were stored for cytokine quantification and cell pellets resuspended in PBS, enumerated by trypan blue staining and transferred to microscope slides by cytocentrifugation (Cytospin 3 centrifuge; Shandon scientific, Sewickley, PA, USA). BAL cells were cytologically differentiated, following Wright-Geimsa staining by a blinded investigator, into eosinophils, neutrophils, macrophages or lymphocyte based upon staining and morphological criteria. Mice were sacrificed by exsanguination.

Lung histological preparation and cell isolation

Mouse lungs were perfused with PBS containing heparin (10U/ml) and the right lung was harvested, minced into 1x1x1mm pieces and incubated on an orbital shaker for 90 min at 37°C in RPMI-1640 media (Sigma-Aldrich), containing 10% FBS (Invitrogen), 300 units/ml type 1

collagenase (Worthington Biochemical Corporation), 50 units/ml DNase (Sigma-Aldrich) and 1% pen/strep (Invitrogen). The lung digestion was passed through a 70 μ m cell strainer (BD Falcon) and centrifuged (300 x g, 10 min, 4°C). Lung digest supernatant was stored (-80°C) and the cell pellet suspended in culture medium (RPMI-1640, 10% FBS, 1% Pen/strep, 0.1% 2-mercaptoethanol (Sigma)). Lung digest cells were washed twice using culture media and enumerated using the Countess automated cell counter (Invitrogen).

Following perfusion, the left lung was kept intact and prepared for histology as previously described(Moldaver et al., 2013). Briefly, the left lung was formalin fixed, dehydrated and embedded in paraffin. Three-micron transverse sections of the paraffin embedded left lung lobe were taken. Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) and periodic acid Schiff (PAS) stains were performed to determine tissue eosinophilia and goblet cell hyperplasia, respectively. Images of first generation airways were collected at 40*x* or 20*x*, and analyzed for eosinophils per mm² and goblet cells per mm, respectively, using a digital image analysis system (Northern Eclipse; Empix Imaging, Inc., Mississauga, ON, Canada) as described previously (DiGiovanni et al., 2009; Hirota et al., 2006).

Flow cytometry

To block Fc receptors, lung cells were incubated with anti-CD16/32 mAb (2.4G2; BD Biosciences, Mississauga, ON) in FACS staining buffer (PBS + 2% fetal calf serum + 0.05% sodium azide). Surface marker phenotyping consisted of incubating Fc blocked cells with pretitrated antibodies for 30 minutes at 4°C. Antibodies used include PerCp-anti-CD4 (RM4-5), APC-Cy7-anti-CD44 (IM7), APC-Cy7-anti-CD11b(M1/70), PE-anti-Siglec-F (E50-2440), PerCp-anti-CD11c (N418; BD Biosciences), FITC-anti-T1/ST2 (DJ8; MD Biosciences, St Paul, MN, USA), PE-anti-CD69 (H1 2F3), APC-anti-CD103 (2E7; all eBiosciences). Lineage assessment was performed with PE labelled antibodies for CD4, CD19, CD11b, CD11c, GR1 and NK1.1 (all BD Biosciences). Following surface staining, cells were washed twice with FACS staining buffer and fixed in 1% paraformaldehyde (Electron Microscopy Sciences, Hatfield, PA).

Cells to be stained for intracellular cytokines were stimulated for 6 hours in culture media supplemented with PMA (20 ng/ml; Sigma-Aldrich), ionomycin (1 mM; Sigma-Aldrich) and brefeldin A (10 µg/ml; Sigma-Aldrich) at 37°C. Cells were collected, washed in FACS buffer and surface stained then fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde and permeabilized in Perm/Wash buffer (BD biosciences). Permeabilized cells were intracellularly stained with pre-titrated anti-cytokines antibodies diluted in Perm/Wash buffer for 30 min (4°C). Antibodies used consisted of PerCp-cy5.5-anti-IL-4 (11B11; BD Biosciences), APC-anti-IL-5 (TRFK5; BD Biosciences), PE-Cy7-anti-IL-17A (ebio17B7, ebiosciences) and A486-anti-IL-13(eBio13A, ebiosciences). Stained cells were washed twice with Perm/Wash buffer then suspended in FACS staining buffer. Cells were quantified on using a FACSCanto II (Becton Dickinson) and analyzed using Flowjo (TreeStar).

Enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay (ELISA)

Ready-Set-Go! ELISAs (eBiosciences; San Diego, CA, USA) were used to quantify IL-4, -5 and -13 in the BAL. Kits were performed as per manufacturers' instructions.

Statistical analysis

Data presented as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical significance was determined through ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferroni corrected *t*-tests. Comparisons were two-tailed and a *p* value ≤ 0.05 was considered significant.

4.4. Results

<u>Airway challenge with increasing doses of CDE induces greater airway dysfunction in sensitized</u> <u>mice</u>

Measurement of airway dysfunction has long been a mainstay in asthma diagnosis. Since the 1970s, techniques have evolved to assess airway reactivity to enable diagnosis of airway hyperreactivity to allergens and chemical stimulants(Benson, 1975; Juniper et al., 1978). To assess the development of airway dysfunction induced by intranasal CDE challenge of Fel d 1 sensitized animals (Figure 1), a nebulized methacholine (MCh) challenge was performed. Moreover, to estimate airway sensitivity to MCh, the dose of MCh capable of inducing a doubling in baseline resistance (PC₂₀₀) was calculated, by linear regression. Unsensitized mice challenged with saline demonstrated minimal increase in R_{RS} upon MCh challenge (Figure 2A) and failed to double baseline airway resistance by the highest tested dose of MCh, 50 mg/mL (Figure 2B). In contrast, challenging Fel d 1 sensitized mice with increasing concentrations of CDE was associated with marked AHR and airway sensitivity. Mice responded to increasing challenge doses of CDE with a clear dose-response effect, as recall challenge with 1µg CDE generated modest AHR (above 25 mg/mL MCh) while a robust curve shift was noted at 5µg CDE recall and above (Figure 2A). This shift is supported by a significantly increased sensitivity to MCh in mice challenged with 5, 10, 20 or 30 μ g CDE. Through PC₂₀₀, a potency order of 30 > $20 > 10 > 5 >> 1 \ge$ SAL was observed, indicating that higher doses of CDE are capable of inducing greater degrees of airway dysfunction. To establish that the observed AHR was due to recalling an established adaptive immune response, unsensitized animals were challenged with CDE (recall challenge only) and found to be unresponsive to MCh, like unsensitized mice challenged with saline (Figure 2A and B).

Peripheral airway resistance has been demonstrated to be exquisitely sensitive to underlying disease activity, commonly revealing exacerbations that other methods fail to identify (Little et al., 1978). We sought to further examine the lung mechanics associated with the observed increase in R_{RS}, by analyzing tissue damping (G) and tissue elastance (H), which are measures of energy dissipation and conservation by lung tissue, respectively (Bates, 2009). Analysis of changes in G and H reveal that challenge with increasing doses of CDE is associated with increasingly dysfunctional lungs. Fel d 1 sensitized mice, challenged with CDE demonstrated increased tissue damping and elastance, with a potency order similar to that observed for R_{RS} (Figure 2C and E). Examination of the dose of MCh that doubles baseline G and H, revealed a similar potency order to PC_{200} , indicating that higher challenge doses significantly affected peripheral airways (Figure 2D and F). The observed differential increase in the degree of tissue damping and elastance is indicative of increased tissue hysteresivity, calculated as the ratio of G to H and is indicative of increased energy loss. The potency order established during examination of R_{RS}, G and H ($30 > 20 > 10 > 5 >> 1 \ge SAL$) was reaffirmed during examination of tissue hysteresivity (data not shown). Interestingly, the highest tested dose of MCh (50 mg/ml) was frequently incapable of doubling baseline tissue damping or elastance in control mice, whereas sensitized mice consistently doubled both G & H by 5-20 mg/mL MCh (Figure 2D & F).

Allergen challenge dose determines the nature and location of inflammation

The induction of AHR, by allergen challenge, has been associated with an influx of cells into the lumen of the lung (Wardlaw et al., 1988). Specifically, recruitment of eosinophils to both the airway lumen (de Monchy et al., 1985; Metzger et al., 1987) and lung tissue (Bousquet et al., 1990) is a cardinal feature of allergic asthma. To determine if our model mirrored clinical

Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

allergic asthma, we sought to characterize the allergen challenge induced inflammatory lung infiltrate. Forty-eight hours post final allergen challenge, mice were sacrificed and cells from BAL were enumerated. The intranasal challenge of sensitized animals with 5 μ g of CDE doubled the number of cells in the BAL, compared to unsensitized control animals (Figure 3A; p<0.05). Allergen doses above and below 5 μ g showed smaller elevations in total cell number creating a bell-shaped dose response curve. BAL cells were differentiated into eosinophils, neutrophils, lymphocytes and macrophages, by Wright Giemsa staining and morphological features. CDE challenge with 1, 5 or 10 μ g allergen induced robust airway eosinophilia in Fel d 1 sensitized animals compared to both saline challenged and unsensitized/CDE challenged mice (Figure 3A). The accumulation of lymphocytes and macrophages induced by challenge with increasing doses of CDE varied little. Interestingly, cat sensitized mice challenged with high doses of CDE (20 and 30 μ g) failed to develop BAL eosinophilia, but rather, developed BAL neutrophilia (p<0.05); these same doses of allergen were also associated with the most striking increases in measurements of AHR and related lung physiology outcomes (Figure 2).

Next, we assessed the accumulation of eosinophils in the airway tissues after allergen challenge. Examination of histologically identified tissue eosinophils revealed that challenge of cat sensitized mice with increasing doses of CDE (> $10\mu g$) induced significant accumulation of eosinophils (Figure 3B). Therefore, the magnitude of the allergen challenge dose appears to control how the Th2 response manifests, as evidenced by an inverse relationship between BAL and tissue eosinophilia.

In addition to airway eosinophilia, a common clinical symptom of allergic asthma is the induction of mucus production and expansion of goblet cells during exacerbations (Aikawa et al., 1992; OrdoÑEz et al., 2001). Cat sensitized animals challenged with CDE underwent significant
Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

goblet cell hyperplasia, as assessed by PAS staining of the major airways (Figure 3C). Goblet cells were rare in CDE challenged/unsensitized animals and saline challenged, unsensitized animals revealing that goblet cell hyperplasia was induced by a memory response to cat allergen. Although no significant differences in goblet cell numbers were detected between the rechallenge doses, the lower doses of 1µg and 5µg appeared to be associated with greater goblet cell numbers (Figure 3C). Muc5b and Muc4 are expressed by lung epithelial cells and have been implicated as regulators of eosinophil accumulation through their ability to induce eosinophil apoptosis by ligating Sialic acid-Binding, immunoglobulin-like F (Siglec-F) (Kiwamoto et al., 2015). Therefore, Muc4 and 5b levels in the BAL were quantified to determine whether allergen dose was differentially inducing eosinophil regulation mechanisms. We observed that the eosinophil regulating mucins, Muc4 and 5b were readily detectable by ELISA in the BAL of unsensitized/saline challenged mice (Figure 3D). Unsensitized mice exposed to CDE presented with significantly reduced levels of Muc4 and 5b, compared to challenge with saline. Surprisingly, this reduction was not present in cat sensitized mice, as challenge with CDE, regardless of dose, induced levels of Muc4/5B similar to levels observed in unsensitised, sham challenged animals. Therefore, it appears that Muc4/5b production appears to be relatively high at homeostasis as unsensitised mice, sham challenged mice had relatively high Muc4/5b in the BAL, despite low numbers of goblet cells. Allergen sensitized animals responding to allergen challenge with goblet cell hyperplasia readily produced Muc4/5b. It appears as though production of Muc4/5B was downregulated upon de novo exposure to CDE, in the sham sensitized animals.

AHR correlates with eosinophil accumulation in airway tissues, but not the lumen

In Fel d 1-sensitized animals, challenge with increasing doses of CDE led to increased AHR and tissue eosinophilia, but reduced BAL eosinophilia. Therefore, cursory analyses suggested that AHR may correlate with tissue eosinophils but not BAL eosinophil counts. This relationship was formally examined through mathematic modeling. A linear regression analysis between the severity of AHR, quantified using PC_{20} , and the number of eosinophils in the tissue (Figure 4A) revealed a strong, significant relationship ($r^2=0.7$) wherein increasing numbers of tissue eosinophils correlated with heightened airway dysfunction (i.e. a lower PC₂₀₀). A similar analysis seeking to define the relationship between BAL cellular infiltrate and degree of airway dysfunction revealed that BAL eosinophilia (Figure 4B, solid line) did not correlate with AHR, but that BAL neutrophilia did correlate with AHR (Figure 4C). In summary, tissue eosinophils and BAL neutrophils correlated with AHR, while BAL eosinophils did not. It should be noted that a weak trend towards a positive relationship between reduced airway dysfunction and increasing number of BAL eosinophils was noted, when control mice animals were removed from the analysis (Figure 4B, dashed line). Figure 4D depicts the effect of recall challenge dose on the inflammatory infiltrate. Increasing the CDE challenge caused a bellshaped dose-response induction of BAL eosinophilia that peaked at 5µg recall and waned by 20µg CDE. In contrast, BAL neutrophilia and tissue eosinophilia demonstrated linear doseresponse curves, increasing with increasing challenge dose. Indeed, analyzing the BAL cell differentials as a ratio of eosinophils to neutrophils (Figure 4E) revealed that low dose recall challenge with 1 or 5 µg CDE induced a primarily eosinophilic BAL, while higher challenge doses (10, 20, 30µg CDE) induce a progressively more mixed neutrophilic/eosinophilic infiltrate. Thus, in this model of cat allergy, AHR severity was approximated by tissue eosinophil counts and BAL neutrophilia, but not BAL eosinophilia.

<u>Sensitized HLA DR4 transgenic mice mount a robust Th2 polarized T-cell response to challenge</u> with cat dander

Challenging CDE sensitized mice with 10µg of CDE induced all salient features of allergic airways disease (lumenal, tissue eosinophilia and airway dysfunction), while lower doses failed to some of these features and higher doses induced neutrophilia. As we sought to develop a murine model of CDE induced allergic airways disease, that would enable study of allergen specific immunotherapies, we characterized the T cell response induced by allergen challenge with 10µg of CDE.

We performed flow cytometry on lung derived cells and examined the BAL for the presence of inflammatory cytokines. To verify histological assessment, lung tissue eosinophils were quantified by flow cytometric analysis of mouse lungs, after allergen challenge (eosinophils identified as Siglec-F⁺CD11c⁻) (Tateno et al., 2005). Challenging Fel d 1-sensitized mice with 10µg of CDE induced a significant, threefold increase in tissue eosinophilia, compared to unsensitized mice challenged with saline and unsensitized mice challenged with CDE (Figure 5A), thereby corroborating previous histological observations. Eosinophil recruitment is typically associated with an ongoing Th2 immune response. To confirm that Th2 polarized T cells were induced by challenge with 10µg of CDE, the surface expression of T1/ST2 (IL-33R) on T-cells was quantified, as T1/ST2 is preferentially expressed on Th2 T-cells (Löhning et al., 1998). Neither unsensitized and saline challenged animals nor unsensitized, CDE challenged animals had many CD4+T1ST2+ cells. In contrast, CDE challenge of Fel d 1 sensitized animals induced a significant fivefold expansion of Th2 polarized T cells (Figure 5B).

Analysis of CD4+ cells for markers of tissue resident memory T-cells (T_{RM}), by flow cytometry, revealed a marked increase in T_{RM} -like (CD4+CD63+CD103+) T-cells following

allergen challenge (Figure 5C; p<0.05), that was not present in sham challenged animals. Furthermore, combined analysis of CD69, CD103 and T1ST2 demonstrated accumulation of a Th2 polarized T_{RM} -like population of CD4+ T-cells in response to allergen challenge (Figure 5C; p<0.05).

Type 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s) are a population of tissue resident cells that respond to tissue injury by proliferating and secreting large quantities of IL -5 and -13 (Bonilla et al., 2012; Koyasu and Moro, 2011; Lambrecht and Hammad, 2013; Moro et al., 2010). To determine if cat dander challenge increased the frequency of ILC2s, lung derived cells were obtained from mice after challenge and enumerated as CD45+ Lin-Sca-1+c-kit+ T1/ST2+. Fel d 1 sensitized animals challenged with 10µg CDE had a fivefold induction in ILC2s compared to unsensitized mice challenged with saline (Figure 5D). Due to cell number limitations, ILC2 enumeration was not performed in unsensitized mice challenged with allergen.

The allergic response is characterized by the induction of Type 2 cytokines, such as IL-4, -5 and -13. Th2 cytokines were quantified in the BAL of animals by ELISA. Sensitized mice, challenged with 10µg CDE had significantly elevated levels of IL-4, -5 and -13 in BAL compared to both unsensitized mice challenged with saline and unsensitized mice challenged with allergen (Figure 5E). We sought to define the cells producing these cytokines through flow cytometric analysis of lung derived cells. IL-17 production by lung cells was also investigated, as neutrophil recruitment has been linked to an ongoing Th17 response. In sensitized mice, allergen challenge significantly increased the number of cells in the lungs producing IL-4, -13 and -17 (Figure 5F). A trend indicating increased IL-5 production was also observed, but failed to achieve significance (p=0.0567). Analysis of CD4+ T-cells and memory T-cells (CD44^{hi}) (Gerberick et al., 1997) revealed that allergen challenge preferentially induced T-cell expression

of IL-4, -5, -13 and -17 in sensitized animals, and that cytokine producing T-cells were predominantly memory T-cells (Figure 5G).

Systemic corticosteroid therapy fails to attenuate AHR induced by high-dose CDE challenge

Corticosteroids are currently the gold standard, first line therapy for the treatment of asthma(Barnes, 2006). Resistance to corticosteroids and severe asthma are often associated with neutrophilic sputum (Wenzel et al., 1999; Wenzel et al., 1997). As Fel d 1-sensitized mice challenged with high doses of CDE had severe airway dysfunction accompanied by neutrophilic BAL, we set out to examine whether these mice were also refractory to treatment with corticosteroids.

We administered high doses of budesonide, systemically, prior to and concurrently with high-dose CDE challenge (Figure 6A). Sham treated, Fel d 1-sensitized mice challenged with 20 or 30 μ g of CDE developed airway dysfunction, as demonstrated by increased sensitivity to MCh (Figure 6B; p<0.05). Corticosteroid therapy failed to attenuate the onset of airway dysfunction resulting from challenge with either 20 or 30 μ g CDE (Figure 6B). Budesonide therapy attenuated both BAL eosinophilia (Figure 6C) and neutrophilia (Figure 6D) in animals challenged with CDE. Histological analysis of the lungs of sham- and budesonide-treated animals revealed that budesonide treatment also significantly attenuated tissue eosinophilia (Figure 6E). Thus, systemic corticosteroid therapy failed to ameliorate airway dysfunction induced by high-dose allergen challenge, but did prevent the accumulation of inflammatory cells. As a positive control, Fel d 1-sensitized mice challenged were given high dose budesonide, systemically, prior to and concurrently with low-dose CDE challenge. Budesonide therapy significantly attenuated AHR in Fel d 1-sensitized mice challenged with 10 μ g CDE (Figure S1), when compared to a historical control group (group: 10 μ g recall).

4.5. Discussion

Asthma causes a significant healthcare burden globally, in part due its heterogeneity (Agache et al., 2012). As diagnostic tools develop and allow the evaluation of asthma endotypes, novel therapies will be required to treat the underlying disease mechanisms. In the present study we describe the generation of a model of cat dander induced allergic airways disease that can mimic the heterogeneity seen in clinical asthma, by adjusting the final allergen challenge dose.

In our model, allergen dose exquisitely controlled the induced disease phenotype. Challenging Fel d 1-sensitized HLA-DR4 transgenic mice with low dose CDE (1, 5, 10 µg) induced a Th2 polarized model of allergic airways disease typified by eosinophil accumulation in the BAL and lung tissues, IL-4, -5 and-13 expression by T-cells, accumulation of ILC2s, and onset of AHR. In contrast, high dose CDE challenge (20, 30 µg) induced a different disease profile, one that is reminiscent of severe, steroid resistant asthma due to the neutrophilic inflammation and severe airway dysfunction. Our data are in agreement with those of Corry and colleagues (Porter et al., 2011), who reported that low-dose exposures to fungi gave rise to eosinophilic, Th2 polarized lung inflammation, whereas repeated high dose exposure converted the response to a neutrophilic/Th1 predominant inflammation. Our data corroborate these findings and lend credence to the view that Th2 and Th1/17 mediated forms of asthma may not be mutually exclusive, but rather, representative of the extreme ends of a spectrum of inflammatory responses that are controlled by the allergen exposure dose (Lambrecht and Hammad, 2015). While the importance of IL-13 and Th2 immunity in asthma have long been acknowledged, the importance of Th1/Th17 immunity during asthma pathogenesis (Hansen et al., 1999; Lambrecht and Hammad, 2015; Li et al., 2013) is now being recognized. This

Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

phenomenon is highlighted clinically in asthmatic individuals who present with sputum neutrophilia and steroid resistant symptoms (Green et al., 2002).

Correlation of clinical phenotypes with improved mechanistic understanding of pathogenesis in different forms of asthma has led to the concept of asthma endotypes. Mechanistic insights have been gleaned through a variety of techniques including the examination of cells in sputum and blood, measures of airway dysfunction, genetic polymorphisms and circulating protein concentrations. Obtaining lung tissue samples from asthmatics, to assess tissue cellular infiltrate is too invasive to be routinely performed, thereby enforcing the reliance on surrogate measures of disease. Our data demonstrate the importance of understanding the immunological milieu within lung tissues, as BAL cell differentials were commonly not reflective of the degree of inflammation in the tissue. Moreover, tissue inflammation, but not BAL eosinophilia, correlated with the presence of airway dysfunction highlighting the importance of understanding both lung lumenal and tissue inflammation together. Interestingly, other experimental studies have also shown an association between tissue (but not lumenal) eosinophils and AHR. These studies identified IL-4(Cohn et al., 1998), ICAM-2 (Gerwin et al., 1999) and CD49b (Henderson et al., 1997) as regulators of eosinophil migration out of the tissues and into the airway lumen. Thus, it is conceivable that individuals with asthma could present without sputum eosinophilia (and thus be missed by laboratory sputum screening protocols) but have persistent lung tissue eosinophilia and AHR requiring clinical intervention. Furthermore, data generated by challenge with high dose CDE revealed the possibility that clinical presentation of 'neutrophilic' asthma may be accompanied by underlying tissue eosinophilia. Together, these observations may contribute to an improved understanding of the spectrum of disease in human subjects.

Corticosteroids are a major component of asthma management, making steroid resistant asthma difficult to manage. Research into therapies that can effectively reduce symptoms of disease in these patients are urgently needed. We examined whether the neutrophilic airway disease caused by challenge with high-doses of CDE was resistant to steroid therapy. Budesonide, like most corticosteroid therapies, can successfully prevent the onset of airway dysfunction and attenuate airway dysfunction when given concurrently with allergen (Green et al., 2002); however, delayed therapy cannot effectively treat airway dysfunction (Southam et al., 2008). Thus, we elected to commence treatment before the final allergen challenges to ensure that animals were systemically under the influence of the corticosteroid treatment prior to exposure to allergen. In contrast to previous research using budesonide to treat ovalbumin induced allergic airways disease in mice (Southam et al., 2008), we demonstrated that AHR induced by high doses of allergen was not reduced by prophylactic and concurrent corticosteroid therapy. Duechs et al., (Duechs et al., 2014), recently also developed a murine model of allergic airways disease that is resistant to corticosteroid therapy. In their model, mice were sensitized to ovalbumin, cockroach and house dust mite, and animals challenged with all three allergens together developed robust AHR, airway remodeling and inflammation that was resistant to therapeutic intervention with dexamethasone. The two models differ in two significant manners, (1) the relative abundance of airway neutrophils in our high dose challenges, and (2) a severeasthma-like phenotype after sensitization and challenge with a single allergen, compared to three allergens. Thus, different experimental protocols may model different aspects of steroidresistant, neutrophilic asthma.

Budesonide treatment reduced measures of inflammation (eosinophils, neutrophils) but was unable to completely resolve AHR associated with high dose allergen challenge. This

Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

observation calls into question the causal association between tissue eosinophils and the development of AHR identified in this and other studies. Thus, how budesonide was able to attenuate inflammatory cell infiltration but not AHR in a brief model of allergen exposure, is intriguing and highlights the need for further research.

Much of the data presented here details airway dysfunction through assessment of AHR. It has been suggested that resistance measures may be skewed in mice suffering from severe lung disease as it is possible that the tissue component measures may dominate airway components (Larcombe et al., 2013). The dose-response effect and agreement between our airway and peripheral tissue mechanics data reflect that, if any such skewing is occurring, the effects are limited and likely inconsequential to the study's conclusions. Clinically, the provocative dose inducing a 20% drop in forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁) (PC₂₀) is a very important diagnostic tool. PC₂₀₀ represents a surrogate diagnostic in mice, where the measurement of FEV₁ is impractical. In our model, PC₂₀₀ proved to be a sensitive measure of airway dysfunction, as 50 mg/ml nebulized MCh was largely incapable of doubling baseline R_{RS}, tissue damping or elastance in control mice, whereas 5-20 mg/mL MCh consistently doubled all three measures of airway function in allergic mice.

Together, our data indicate that the dose of allergen used to recall the asthmatic phenotype may control the type of disease that manifests. In addition to this, we defined a protocol that establishes a typical Th2 polarized model of allergic airways disease. Challenging cat sensitized mice with a low dose of CDE ($10\mu g$) induced AHR, eosinophilia, Th2 cytokine accumulation in the BAL and Th2 cytokine production by memory T-cells. Interestingly, investigation into the memory T-cell population in the lungs revealed a putative, T_{RM}-like subset of T-cells. Resident memory T cells are cells that typically reside in peripheral tissues and represent the first line of adaptive memory responses. While tissue resident memory T-cells (T_{RM}) are typically studied for their rapid anti-viral capacity, IL-4 and IL-13 producing T_{RM} have been identified in the lungs (Purwar et al., 2011). Therefore, it is plausible that T_{RM} may be involved allergic responses. As T_{RM} are best understood as rapid mediators of anti-viral immunity, markers for CD8 T cells are far better established than are markers for CD4+ T-cells. Extensive research has established the surface markers CD69 and CD103 as markers of T_{RM} CD8 T-cells (Masopust and Picker, 2012) as these molecules inhibit S1P dependent tissue egress (Shiow et al., 2006) and mediate interactions with the epithelial ligand E-cadherin (El-Asady et al., 2005), respectively. As we utilized surface markers known for CD8 T-cells (Masopust and Picker, 2012), and not markers defined for CD4 T-cells, the work presented does not rigorously demonstrate a role for CD4+T_{RM} cells in our model of allergic asthma. However, as the surface markers for CD4+ T_{RM} cells are unknown, we believe that the use of established CD8+T_{RM} cell markers is justifiable. These observations will encourage research into a potential role for Th2 polarized CD4+ T_{RM} cells as effectors of asthmatic responses.

To conclude, we have demonstrated that humanized transgenic mice expressing the human MHC Class II molecule HLA DR4 can respond to allergen challenge with a phenotype dependent upon the challenge dose. Through the use of a low allergen challenge dose we have described a model of asthma that readily replicates cardinal features of Th2 dominant allergic asthma. Through the use of a high-dose allergen challenge we report the development of a model of asthma characterized by neutrophilic BAL and steroid insensitive AHR. Expression of human MHC class II molecules makes this model suitable for evaluation of both pharmacological and immunological (T cell-targeted) interventions.

References:

Agache, I., Akdis, C., Jutel, M. and Virchow, J. C. (2012). Untangling asthma phenotypes and endotypes. *Allergy* **67**, 835-846.

Aikawa, T., Shimura, S., Sasaki, H., Ebina, M. and Takishima, T. (1992). MArked goblet cell hyperplasia with mucus accumulation in the airways of patients who died of severe acute asthma attack. *Chest* **101**, 916-921.

Barlow, J. L., Bellosi, A., Hardman, C. S., Drynan, L. F., Wong, S. H., Cruickshank, J. P. and McKenzie, A. N. J. (2012). Innate IL-13–producing nuocytes arise during allergic lung inflammation and contribute to airways hyperreactivity. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* **129**, 191-198.e4.

Barnes, P. J. (2006). Corticosteroids: the drugs to beat. Eur J Pharmacol 533, 2-14.

Bateman, E. D., Hurd, S. S., Barnes, P. J., Bousquet, J., Drazen, J. M., FitzGerald, M., Gibson, P., Ohta, K., O'Byrne, P., Pedersen, S. E. et al. (2008). Global strategy for asthma management and prevention: GINA executive summary. *European Respiratory Journal* **31**, 143-178.

Bates, J. H. T. (2009). Pulmonary mechanics: A system identification perspective. In *Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, 2009. EMBC 2009. Annual International Conference of the IEEE*, pp. 170-172.

Benson, M. K. (1975). Bronchial hyperreactivity. *British Journal of Diseases of the Chest* 69, 227-239.

Bentley, A. M., Meng, Q., Robinson, D. S., Hamid, Q., Kay, A. B. and Durham, S. R. (1993). Increases in Activated T Lymphocytes, Eosinophils, and Cytokine mRNA Expression for Interleukin-5 and Granulocyte/Macrophage Colony-stimulating Factor in Bronchial Biopsies after Allergen Inhalation Challenge in Atopic Asthmatics. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* **8**, 35-42.

Bonilla, W. V., Frohlich, A., Senn, K., Kallert, S., Fernandez, M., Johnson, S., Kreutzfeldt, M., Hegazy, A. N., Schrick, C., Fallon, P. G. et al. (2012). The alarmin interleukin-33 drives protective antiviral CD8(+) T cell responses. *Science* **335**, 984-9.

Bousquet, J., Chanez, P., Lacoste, J. Y., Barneon, G., Ghavanian, N., Enander, I., Venge, P., Ahlstedt, S., Simony-Lafontaine, J., Godard, P. et al. (1990). Eosinophilic inflammation in asthma. *N Engl J Med* **323**, 1033-9.

Burrows, B., Martinez, F. D., Halonen, M., Barbee, R. A. and Cline, M. G. (1989). Association of Asthma with Serum IgE Levels and Skin-Test Reactivity to Allergens. *New England Journal of Medicine* **320**, 271-277.

Campbell, J. D., Buckland, K. F., McMillan, S. J., Kearley, J., Oldfield, W. L., Stern, L. J., Gronlund, H., van Hage, M., Reynolds, C. J., Boyton, R. J. et al. (2009). Peptide immunotherapy in allergic asthma generates IL-10-dependent immunological tolerance associated with linked epitope suppression. *J Exp Med* **206**, 1535-47. Chang, Y. J., Kim, H. Y., Albacker, L. A., Baumgarth, N., McKenzie, A. N., Smith, D. E., Dekruyff, R. H. and Umetsu, D. T. (2011). Innate lymphoid cells mediate influenza-induced airway hyper-reactivity independently of adaptive immunity. *Nat Immunol* **12**, 631-8.

Cohn, L., Tepper, J. S. and Bottomly, K. (1998). IL-4-independent induction of airway hyperresponsiveness by Th2, but not Th1, cells. *J Immunol* **161**, 3813-6.

de Monchy, J. G. R., Kauffman, H. F., Venge, P., Koëter, G. H., Jansen, H. M., Sluiter, H. J. and de Vries, K. (1985). Bronchoalveolar Eosinophilia during Allergen-induced Late Asthmatic Reactions. *American Review of Respiratory Disease* **131**, 373-376.

DiGiovanni, F. A., Ellis, R., Wattie, J., Hirota, J. A., Southam, D. S. and Inman, M. D. (2009). Concurrent dual allergen exposure and its effects on airway hyperresponsiveness, inflammation and remodeling in mice. *Dis Model Mech* **2**, 275-82.

Duechs, M. J., Tilp, C., Tomsic, C., Gantner, F. and Erb, K. J. (2014). Development of a Novel Severe Triple Allergen Asthma Model in Mice Which Is Resistant to Dexamethasone and Partially Resistant to TLR7 and TLR9 Agonist Treatment. *PLoS ONE* **9**, e91223.

El-Asady, R., Yuan, R., Liu, K., Wang, D., Gress, R. E., Lucas, P. J., Drachenberg, C. B. and Hadley, G. A. (2005). TGF-{beta}-dependent CD103 expression by CD8(+) T cells promotes selective destruction of the host intestinal epithelium during graft-versus-host disease. *J Exp Med* **201**, 1647-57.

Gerberick, G. F., Cruse, L. W., Miller, C. M., Sikorski, E. E. and Ridder, G. M. (1997). Selective modulation of T cell memory markers CD62L and CD44 on murine draining lymph node cells following allergen and irritant treatment. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **146**, 1-10.

Gerwin, N., Gonzalo, J. A., Lloyd, C., Coyle, A. J., Reiss, Y., Banu, N., Wang, B., Xu, H., Avraham, H., Engelhardt, B. et al. (1999). Prolonged eosinophil accumulation in allergic lung interstitium of ICAM-2 deficient mice results in extended hyperresponsiveness. *Immunity* **10**, 9-19.

Green, R. H., Brightling, C. E., Woltmann, G., Parker, D., Wardlaw, A. J. and Pavord, I. D. (2002). Analysis of induced sputum in adults with asthma: identification of subgroup with isolated sputum neutrophilia and poor response to inhaled corticosteroids. *Thorax* 57, 875-879.

Hansen, G., Berry, G., DeKruyff, R. H. and Umetsu, D. T. (1999). Allergen-specific Th1 cells fail to counterbalance Th2 cell-induced airway hyperreactivity but cause severe airway inflammation. *J Clin Invest* **103**, 175-83.

Henderson, W. R., Chi, E. Y., Albert, R. K., Chu, S. J., Lamm, W. J., Rochon, Y., Jonas, M., Christie, P. E. and Harlan, J. M. (1997). Blockade of CD49d (alpha4 integrin) on intrapulmonary but not circulating leukocytes inhibits airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness in a mouse model of asthma. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* **100**, 3083-3092.

Hirota, J. A., Ellis, R. and Inman, M. D. (2006). Regional differences in the pattern of airway remodeling following chronic allergen exposure in mice. *Respir Res* **7**, 120.

Humbles, A. A., Lloyd, C. M., McMillan, S. J., Friend, D. S., Xanthou, G., McKenna, E. E., Ghiran, S., Gerard, N. P., Yu, C., Orkin, S. H. et al. (2004). A critical role for eosinophils in allergic airways remodeling. *Science* **305**, 1776-9.

Ito, K., Bian, H. J., Molina, M., Han, J., Magram, J., Saar, E., Belunis, C., Bolin, D. R., Arceo, R., Campbell, R. et al. (1996). HLA-DR4-IE chimeric class II transgenic, murine class IIdeficient mice are susceptible to experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *J Exp Med* **183**, 2635-2644.

Juniper, E. F., Frith, P. A., Dunnett, C., Cockcroft, D. W. and Hargreave, F. E. (1978). Reproducibility and comparison of responses to inhaled histamine and methacholine. *Thorax* **33**, 705-710.

Kiwamoto, T., Katoh, T., Evans, C. M., Janssen, W. J., Brummet, M. E., Hudson, S. A., Zhu, Z., Tiemeyer, M. and Bochner, B. S. (2015). Endogenous airway mucins carry glycans that bind Siglec-F and induce eosinophil apoptosis. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* **135**, 1329-1340.e9.

Koyasu, S. and Moro, K. (2011). Innate Th2-type immune responses and the natural helper cell, a newly identified lymphocyte population. *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol* **11**, 109-14.

Lambrecht, B. N. and Hammad, H. (2013). Asthma: the importance of dysregulated barrier immunity. *Eur J Immunol* **43**, 3125-37.

Lambrecht, B. N. and Hammad, H. (2015). The immunology of asthma. *Nat Immunol* 16, 45-56.

Larcombe, A. N., Zosky, G. R., Thamrin, C., Bozanich, E. M., Hantos, Z. and Sly, P. D. (2013). Factors influencing the assessment of lung function in mice with influenza-induced lung disease. *Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses* **7**, 889-894.

Lee, J. J., Dimina, D., Macias, M. P., Ochkur, S. I., McGarry, M. P., O'Neill, K. R., Protheroe, C., Pero, R., Nguyen, T., Cormier, S. A. et al. (2004). Defining a link with asthma in mice congenitally deficient in eosinophils. *Science* **305**, 1773-6.

Li, X., Hawkins, G. A., Ampleford, E. J., Moore, W. C., Li, H., Hastie, A. T., Howard, T. D., Boushey, H. A., Busse, W. W., Calhoun, W. J. et al. (2013). Genome-wide association study identifies TH1 pathway genes associated with lung function in asthmatic patients. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **132**, 313-320.e15.

Little, J. W., Hall, W. J., Douglas, R. G., Mudholkar, G. S., Speers, D. M. and Patel, K. (1978). Airway Hyperreactivity and Peripheral Airway Dysfunction in Influenza A Infection. *American Review of Respiratory Disease* **118**, 295-303.

Löhning, M., Stroehmann, A., Coyle, A. J., Grogan, J. L., Lin, S., Gutierrez-Ramos, J.-C., Levinson, D., Radbruch, A. and Kamradt, T. (1998). T1/ST2 is preferentially expressed on murine Th2 cells, independent of interleukin 4, interleukin 5, and interleukin 10, and important for Th2 effector function. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **95**, 6930-6935. Lundgren, M., Persson, U., Larsson, P., Magnusson, C., Smith, C. I. E., Hammarström, L. and Severinson, E. (1989). Interleukin 4 induces synthesis of IgE and IgG4 in human B cells. *European Journal of Immunology* **19**, 1311-1315.

Masopust, D. and Picker, L. J. (2012). Hidden Memories: Frontline Memory T Cells and Early Pathogen Interception. *The Journal of Immunology* **188**, 5811-5817.

Metzger, W. J., Zavala, D., Richerson, H. B., Moseley, P., Iwamota, P., Monick, M., Sjoerdsma, K. and Hunninghake, G. W. (1987). Local Allergen Challenge and Bronchoalveolar Lavage of Allergic Asthmatic Lungs. *American Review of Respiratory Disease* **135**, 433-440.

Mjosberg, J. M., Trifari, S., Crellin, N. K., Peters, C. P., van Drunen, C. M., Piet, B., Fokkens, W. J., Cupedo, T. and Spits, H. (2011). Human IL-25- and IL-33-responsive type 2 innate lymphoid cells are defined by expression of CRTH2 and CD161. *Nat Immunol* **12**, 1055-62.

Moldaver, D. M., Bharhani, M. S., Wattie, J. N., Ellis, R., Neighbour, H., Lloyd, C. M., Inman, M. D. and Larche, M. (2013). Amelioration of ovalbumin-induced allergic airway disease following Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy is not associated with induction of IL-35. *Mucosal Immunol* **7**, 379-390.

Moro, K., Yamada, T., Tanabe, M., Takeuchi, T., Ikawa, T., Kawamoto, H., Furusawa, J., Ohtani, M., Fujii, H. and Koyasu, S. (2010). Innate production of T(H)2 cytokines by adipose tissue-associated c-Kit(+)Sca-1(+) lymphoid cells. *Nature* **463**, 540-4.

Nair, P., Pizzichini, M. M. M., Kjarsgaard, M., Inman, M. D., Efthimiadis, A., Pizzichini, E., Hargreave, F. E. and O'Byrne, P. M. (2009). Mepolizumab for Prednisone-Dependent Asthma with Sputum Eosinophilia. *New England Journal of Medicine* **360**, 985-993.

OrdoÑEz, C. L., Khashayar, R., Wong, H. H., Ferrando, R. O. N., Wu, R., Hyde, D. M., Hotchkiss, J. A., Zhang, Y., Novikov, A., Dolganov, G. et al. (2001). Mild and Moderate Asthma Is Associated with Airway Goblet Cell Hyperplasia and Abnormalities in Mucin Gene Expression. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* **163**, 517-523.

Porter, P. C., Roberts, L., Fields, A., Knight, M., Qian, Y., Delclos, G. L., Han, S., Kheradmand, F. and Corry, D. B. (2011). Necessary and Sufficient Role for T Helper Cells To Prevent Fungal Dissemination in Allergic Lung Disease. *Infection and Immunity* **79**, 4459-4471.

Purwar, R., Campbell, J., Murphy, G., Richards, W. G., Clark, R. A. and Kupper, T. S. (2011). Resident Memory T Cells (T_{RM}) Are Abundant in Human Lung: Diversity, Function, and Antigen Specificity. *PLoS ONE* **6**, e16245.

Robinson, D. S., Hamid, Q., Ying, S., Tsicopoulos, A., Barkans, J., Bentley, A. M., Corrigan, C., Durham, S. R. and Kay, A. B. (1992). Predominant TH2-like bronchoalveolar Tlymphocyte population in atopic asthma. *N Engl J Med* **326**, 298-304.

Sears, M. R., Burrows, B., Flannery, E. M., Herbison, G. P., Hewitt, C. J. and Holdaway, M. D. (1991). Relation between airway responsiveness and serum IgE in children with asthma and in apparently normal children. *N Engl J Med* **325**, 1067-71.

Shiow, L. R., Rosen, D. B., Brdickova, N., Xu, Y., An, J., Lanier, L. L., Cyster, J. G. and Matloubian, M. (2006). CD69 acts downstream of interferon-[alpha]/[beta] to inhibit S1P1 and lymphocyte egress from lymphoid organs. *Nature* **440**, 540-544.

Southam, D. S., Ellis, R., Wattie, J., Young, S. and Inman, M. D. (2008). Budesonide prevents but does not reverse sustained airway hyperresponsiveness in mice. *Eur Respir J* **32**, 970-8.

Tateno, H., Crocker, P. R. and Paulson, J. C. (2005). Mouse Siglec-F and human Siglec-8 are functionally convergent paralogs that are selectively expressed on eosinophils and recognize 6'-sulfo-sialyl Lewis X as a preferred glycan ligand. *Glycobiology* **15**, 1125-35.

Wardlaw, A. J., Dunnette, S., Gleich, G. J., Collins, J. V. and Kay, A. B. (1988). Eosinophils and Mast Cells in Bronchoalveolar Lavage in Subjects with Mild Asthma: Relationship to Bronchial Hyperreactivity. *American Review of Respiratory Disease* **137**, 62-69.

Wenzel, S. E., Schwartz, L. B., Langmack, E. L., Halliday, J. L., Trudeau, J. B., Gibbs, R. L. and Chu, H. W. (1999). Evidence That Severe Asthma Can Be Divided Pathologically into Two Inflammatory Subtypes with Distinct Physiologic and Clinical Characteristics. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* **160**, 1001-1008.

Wenzel, S. E., Szefler, S. J., Leung, D. Y. M., Sloan, S. I., Rex, M. D. and Martin, R. J. (1997). Bronchoscopic Evaluation of Severe Asthma. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* **156**, 737-743.





Figure 1. Fel d 1 sensitization and cat dander extract challenge protocol. Mice were sensitized as indicated and rechallenged with CDE on day 51/52 with 0, 1, 5, 10, 20 or 30μ g CDE. IP, intraperitoneal; IN, intranasal.



Figure 2. Challenge with CDE induces airway hyperresponsiveness and airway

dysfunction. A) total respiratory resistance (R_{RS}), C) Tissue damping (G) and E) Tissue elastance (H) in response to increasing doses of methacholine (MCh). The provocative dose inducing a doubling in baseline airway: B) resistance, D) tissue damping or F) tissue elastance.

HLA DR4 transgenic mice sensitized to cat as previously described, and challenged intranasally with CDE (1, 5, 10, 20 or 30 μ g). Control animals were sham sensitized and challenged with saline (Saline), or cat dander (1 μ g; group: Recall only). Data presented as individual points & mean ± SEM (n=5-9; pooled from two independent experiments). *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; **** p < 0.001; **** p<0.0001 as determined by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferroni corrected t-tests.



Figure 3. The magnitude of Cat Dander challenge dose controls the resultant inflammatory phenotype. HLA DR4 transgenic mice sensitized to cat were challenged with CDE (1, 5, 10, 20 or 30 μ g) and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) cells were enumerated and differentiated as described in Methods (A). Lungs were collected and stained with Haematoxylin and Eosin or periodic acid Schiff for enumeration of eosinophils (B) and goblet cells (C), respectively. Muc5b and Muc4 BAL concentrations were determined by ELISA. Data presented as mean ± SEM (n=5-19/group; pooled data from three independent experiments). *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; **** p < 0.001; **** p<0.0001 as determined by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferroni corrected t-tests.





Tissue eosinophils (A), BAL eosinophils (B) and BAL neutrophils (C) graphed versus the observed airway hypersensitivity, as estimated by PC_{200} . A linear regression was performed across all groups (solid line), or just within sensitized animals (dashed line) and the resultant goodness-of-fit (R²) is displayed. p < 0.05 indicative of a significantly non-zero slope. Data presented as (X, Y) PC_{200} (n=5-19/group; pooled data from three independent experiments), cells \pm SEM. BAL inflammatory infiltrate (graphed on the left y-axis) and tissue eosinophil accumulation (graphed on the right y-axis) are overlaid, and graphed versus the challenge dose (D). The preferential induction of neutrophils into the BAL by increasing challenge dose is depicted through the BAL neutrophil:eosinophil ratio (E).



Figure 5. Challenge with 10µg CDE induces eosinophils, ILC2s and Th2 cytokines. The lungs of Fel d 1 sensitized, CDE challenged (10µg) HLA DR4 transgenic mice were examined for the presence of (A) eosinophils (Siglec-F+CD11c-), (B) Th2 T-cells (CD4+T1ST2+), (C) T_{RM}-like and Th2 polarized T_{RM}-like cells, (D) type 2 innate like lymphocytes (CD45+ Lin-Sca1+c-kit+ T1/ST2+). (E) BAL Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 quantified by ELISA. Production of IL-4, -5, -13 and -17 by lung derived cells was assessed by flow cytometry (F). Lung CD4+ cells were assessed for their inflammatory cytokine production (IL-4, -5, -13 and -17) and memory status (CD44 expression) following PMA and ionomycin stimulation (G). Data presented as mean ± SEM (n=5-10/group; pooled data from two independent experiments). Representative flow plots present contour plots and average cell numbers within the indicated gate. *, p < 0.05; *** p <0.001 as determined by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferroni corrected t-tests. ND = not determined due to insufficient cell numbers.



Figure 6. Budesonide therapy fails to attenuate high-dose CDE induced AHR. (A) Mice were sensitized to Fel d 1 & cat, then challenged with 20 or $30\mu g$ CDE in the presence of sham therapy (groups denoted as 20 or $30\mu g$ CDE) or with systemic budesonide therapy (treated groups denoted as challenge dose '+BUD'). (B) A nebulized MCh-challenge was performed, and the provocative dose inducing a doubling in baseline airway resistance determined. The BAL of challenged animals was assessed for eosinophils (C) and neutrophils (D). Tissue eosinophils (E) were assessed by Haematoxylin and Eosin staining of histologically prepared lungs. Data presented as individual points & mean ± SEM (n=9-10/group; pooled from two independent experiments). ns= p>0.05; **, p < 0.01; *** p <0.001 as determined by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferroni corrected t-tests



Supplementary Figure 1. Budesonide therapy fails attenuates low-dose CDE induced AHR. Mice were sensitized to Fel d 1 & cat, then challenged with 10µg CDE while receiving systemic budesonide therapy (group: BUD+10µg CDE). To enable comparison, historical data for Fel d 1 sensitized mice challenged with 10µg CDE is also shown (group: 10µg CDE). Data presented as mean \pm SEM (n=5-10/group; pooled from two independent experiments). *, p < 0.05; as determined by t-test.

Chapter 5: Epicutaneous Sensitization to Cat Dander

5. Declaration of Academic Achievement

Chapter 5. Epicutaneous sensitization to cat dander

D. M. Moldaver^{1,2}, T. Singh^{1,2}, I. Nayve^{1,2}, J. Wattie^{1,2}, M. van Hage³, Kwok, W⁴, M. Larché^{1,2}. C. Rudulier¹²

• The following study is to be submitted to Allergy or Clinical and Experimental Allergy,

upon completion of follow-up experiments.

• Rights will be retained at submission.

Daniel Moldaver's contributions

As primary author, I was responsible for conceiving, planning, managing and contributing to all aspects of the study. I treated animals, performed mouse dissections, tracheostomies and MCh challenges, fixed tissues, performed histology, prepared cells for flow cytometry and proliferation assays, performed flow cytometry and ELISAs. C. Rudulier contributed to study design, and assisted with cell processing & flow cytometry. T. Singh and I. Nayve assisted with the blinded quantification of histology. J. Wattie assisted with mouse tracheostomies, and methacholine challenges. M. van Hage provided the cat dander extract. W. Kwok provided tetramers. Analyses, statistics and figure generation were performed by myself. Manuscript preparation was performed by me, with guidance from C. Rudulier and M Larché.

Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

Epicutaneous sensitization to cat dander

D. M. Moldaver^{1,2}, T. Singh^{1,2}, I. Nayve^{1,2}, J. Wattie^{1,2}, M. van Hage³, Kwok, W⁴, M. Larché^{1,2}. C. Rudulier^{1 2}

¹ Department of Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON.

² Firestone Institute for Respiratory Health, St. Joseph's Healthcare, Hamilton, ON, Department of Medicine.

³ Department of Medicine, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden.

⁴ Benaroya Research Institute, Virginia Mason, Seattle, Washington, United States of America.

5.1. Introduction

Cutaneous exposure to an allergen can lead to allergic sensitization. In mice, epicutaneous exposure to ovalbumin (OVA) can induce atopic dermatitis, allergic airways disease¹ and anaphylaxis². Similarly, application of aeroallergens (house dust mite³, *Aspergillus fumigatus*⁴), or a food allergen (Peanut^{5, 6}) to a patch of disrupted skin on a mouse induces allergic sensitization. Epicutaneous sensitization to an allergen occurs as the result of encountering allergen at a site with impaired epidermal barrier integrity^{7,5}. In mice, barrier impairment is typically obtained through mechanical disruption with either tape stripping, or shaving. In humans, and in transgenic animals, genetic disorders giving rise to barrier impairment have been linked to epicutaneous sensitization⁸⁻¹¹.

Cat dander represents one of the most common indoor aeroallergens, with approximately 10-20% of atopic individuals being sensitive to cat^{12, 13}. Cat allergy can manifest symptoms ranging from mild rhinoconjunctivitis to severe asthma. Moreover, allergic sensitization to cats (the presence of cat specific IgE) is a major risk factor for the diagnosis of asthma^{14, 15}. While six cat allergens have been identified, Fel d 1 is the dominant allergen being recognized by IgE from 88% of cat allergic individuals¹⁶ and T-cells from nearly all cat allergics individuals¹⁷.

High prevalence of cat ownership has led to Fel d 1 being a nearly ubiquitous environmental allergen. For instance, high levels of Fel d 1 (1000ng/g dust) were found in 27-35% of dust samples taken from mattresses in houses that have never owned a cat¹⁸. High levels of Fel d 1 have been found on chairs in schools (953ng/g dust)¹⁹, and even in allergen-avoidance day-cares (640ng/g dust)²⁰. Thus, regardless of pet-ownership, children and adults encounter a large amount of Fel d 1 routinely. While some studies have linked cat-ownership with a risk for sensitization²¹, numerous studies have failed to associate childhood exposure to cats with an increased risk for sensitization^{12, 14, 22, 23}. These differential findings could, perhaps, be attributed to the identification of a 'modified-Th2 response' wherein exposure to high-levels of Fel d 1 protects against the development of cat allergy²³. The dominant route of allergen exposure, airways versus skin, however, has not been demonstrated. Given the preponderance of settled Fel d 1in the household and 'work' environment of children, the potential role of cutaneous exposure to cat is intriguing.

The atopic march is a theory describing the evolution of type 2 inflammatory diseases. Specifically, the atopic march refers to the natural history of atopic disease within children, suggesting that children that display symptoms of atopic dermatitis (AD) at a young age are at an increased risk to develop allergies later in life, and possibly asthma²⁴. While cat dander has classically been considered an aeroallergen, high levels of cat-specific IgE have been documented in patients that exclusively have atopic dermatitis²⁵. Indeed, cutaneous exposure to cat dander has been found to induce an eczematous reaction in approximately 15-30% of patients with atopic dermatitis²⁵. Thus, in patients with no airway symptoms, cat allergy can manifest as an atopic disease, suggesting that cutaneous exposure to Fel d 1 may be a critical step in the development of cat allergy.

We sought to investigate whether cutaneous exposure to cat dander could facilitate sensitization. Here, we describe a model of epicutaneous sensitization to cat dander. Furthermore, data are presented indicating that high-dose allergen exposure impairs the development of a robust immune response. Finally, through the use of transgenic mice lacking the key signal transduction molecule MyD88, we demonstrate that epicutaneous sensitization is dependent upon the IL-1 /Toll-like receptor axis.

5.2. Methods

Mice

Female (4-6 week old) C57BL/6, Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 locus deficient mice (MyD88^{-/-}) and HLA-DR4 Transgenic mice were purchased from Jackson laboratories, and Taconic, respectively. HLA-DR4 transgenic mice expressed human HLA-DR4, and lack their endogenous MHC Class II²⁶; both HLA-DR4 and MyD88^{-/-} transgenic mice were on a C57BL/6 background.

Allergen exposure models

Mice were cutaneously exposed to allergen by applying cat dander extract (CDE; 0 to $150 \mu g$; Greer, Lenoir, USA) to a small (1cm x 1cm) patch of shaved and tape-stripped skin. Cutaneous exposure lasted for 10 days total (Figure 1). Following cutaneous exposure, the development of a polarized immune response to CDE was probed with intranasal (IN) allergen challenges on D22, 24 and 26 and where appropriate, with a secondary round of recall challenges on D49 and 50. All CDE IN administrations were performed at a fixed dose, $10\mu g$ CDE. Mice were sacrificed 24 or 48 hours post final allergen administration (Figure 1). Where required, CDE for cutaneous application was suspended in PBS containing LPS (*Escherichia coli* 0111:B4; Sigma Aldrich).

Intranasal high-dose house dust mite (HDM) was assessed in female, 6-8 week old BALB/c mice (Charles River). Animals received 25, 75 or 225µg of HDM intranasally for 10 (day 0-4, 7-11). Sham sensitized animals received PBS for 10 days. Following early HDM exposure, animals were recall challenged on day 22, 24 and 26 with 15µg HDM. Mice were sacrificed on day 27 for assessment of lung inflammation.

Quantification of airway responsiveness

Mice were assessed for the development of airway inflammation and hyperreactivity (AHR) after allergen challenge. Airway responsiveness in mice was assessed via a nebulized methacholine (MCh) test, as described in Chapters 2 and 4. Airway responsiveness is shown alternatively as total respiratory system resistance (R_{RS}) or provocative concentration causing a 200% elevation in basal resistance (PC_{200}).

Primary cell acquisition and differentiation

Following the nebulized MCh test, bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) was obtained from animals by instilling two aliquots of 0.25mL of PBS into the lungs of mice, massaging the thoracic cavity and retrieving the PBS. BAL cells were enumerated by trypan blue staining and differentiated by Wright-Giemsa staining, following cytocentrifugation.

Lung processing for quantification of cells and histology was described in Chapter 2, 3 and 4. Briefly, the purification of a single cell suspension from the lung consisted of: dissecting out the right lung, liberating cells from the tissue by physical disruption followed by enzymatic digestion with collagenase and DNAase at 37°C for 1.5 hours, followed by washing the cells through a 40 μ m sieve to filter out debris. Histological assessment of the lung consisted of: dissecting out the left lobe of the lung, filling to 20cmH₂O, fixing in 10% buffered formalin, dehydrating a portion of the lung, paraffin embedding and finally sectioning (3 μ m thick) for assessment by hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) or periodic acid schiff (PAS) staining.

Flow cytometry was described in detail in Chapters 2, 3 and 4. Briefly, aliquots of one million cells were stained with titrated antibodies for 30 minutes (4°C) then fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA). Cells to undergo intracellular staining were first activated via a 6 hour

culture (37°C) with Leukocyte Activation Cocktail (BD Biosciences), then stained and fixed. Intracellular staining for cytokines and transcription factors was performed as per manufacturer's instructions. Stained cells were quantified using a FACSCanto II (Becton Dickinson) and analyzed using Flowjo (TreeStar).

Antigen-specific T-cells were assessed by staining with HLA-DR4 tetramer, loaded with a Fel d 1 peptide (Fel d 1⁽²³⁻³⁸⁾), labelled with Phycoerythrin (courtesy of Dr. Kwok, Benaroya Institute). Prior to tetramer staining, cells were incubated for 2 hours (at 37°C) with 50 nmolar dasatinib. Dasatinib inhibits a tyrosine kinase critical to T cell receptor (TCR) function (Lck), a feature beneficial to tetramer staining as it renders TCRs unresponsive to ligation thereby preventing receptor internalization upon binding by the tetramer; importantly, dasatinib does not induce apoptosis²⁷. Dasatinib-incubated cells were stained with tetramer (10µg/mL) for 30 minutes (at 37°C), at a volume of 20µL that contained 50nmolar dasatanib. Following tetramer staining, cells were surface stained or intracellularly stained as previously described. Due to the rarity of tetramer positive cells, a 'dump-gate' strategy to identify these cells was employed wherein cells expressing CD8, CD14 and CD19, were excluded from analysis.

Adoptive Transfer

Donor mice, following the completion of a 52-day CDE exposure period, were sacrificed and a purified lung-cell suspension was obtained, as previously described. CD4+ cells were enriched using a negative selection CD4+ T cell isolation kit, as per manufacturer's instructions (Milteny Biotec, Auburn, California, USA). CD4+ enrichment yielded an average purity of 60-70% CD4+ Cells. Enriched cells were stained with carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE), washed and suspended in sterile PBS. Cells were transferred via a 200uL, intraperitoneal injection. 3.8 million cells were transferred to recipient mice, as this was the maximum amount of cells obtainable from each donor mouse, following enrichment and CFSE staining. A transfer ratio of 1 donor lung into 1 recipient mouse was used as a guideline. CFSE staining enabled tracking of donor cells in recipient mice.

Data Analysis

Comparisons of data were made using one-way ANOVAs with a post-hoc bonferroni corrected student's t-test (Graphpad Prism). All comparisons were two-tailed and a p \leq 0.05 was considered statistically significant.



Figure 1. Schematic representation of the allergen exposure timelines. Cat dander extract (CDE) was applied to shaved, and tape stripped skin patches. Response to allergen provocation was assessed using intranasal (IN) CDE challenges, with 10µg of allergen. Animals were sacrificed on the indicated day.

5.3. Results

Cutaneous exposure to $15\mu g,$ but not higher doses, of CDE primes for allergic airways disease in mice

We set out to develop a model of epicutaneous sensitization using CDE. As we sought to

assess antigen-specific T-cells responses, HLA-DR4 transgenic mice were employed. Mice were

cutaneously exposed to a range of CDE doses between 1.5 to 150 µg, using the timeline

illustrated in Figure 1a. The ability of cutaneous CDE exposure to polarize CDE-specific

immune responses was assessed in the lungs of mice following challenge with 10µg CDE IN.

A defining feature of allergic asthma, that is replicated in mice, is the manifestation of an aberrant Th2 response typified by robust cellular, predominantly eosinophilic, infiltration²⁸. To investigate if cutaneous application of CDE to the skin of mice had primed a CDE-specific immune response, mice were sacrificed after IN allergen challenge and inflammation in the BAL and lung were examined. Despite all mice receiving the same degree of barrier disruption, the dose of CDE applied uniquely controlled the development of CDE immunity. Mice exposed to low dose (1.5 & 5 µg) and high dose (50, 150 µg) CDE, failed to mount an inflammatory response to CDE when challenged intranasally. In contrast, mice exposed to 15µg of CDE on the skin mounted significantly increased BAL cell infiltration (Figure 2A) that, upon cellular differentiation, was predominantly eosinophilic (Figure 2B). Priming with 15 µg of CDE on the skin of mice did not affect the number of neutrophils responding to allergen challenge (Figure 2B), however, a significantly increased macrophage and lymphocyte population was noted (Figure 2B). Sham sensitization consisted of applying saline to a patch of shaved and tapestripped skin. Challenging sham sensitized animals with CDE did not result in an enhanced cellular recruitment to the lung lumen.



Figure 2. IN CDE challenge induces a Th2 skewed inflammatory infiltrate into the BAL of mice primed with intermediate, but not high-or low-doses of CDE. CDE (1.5 - 150 μ g) or saline was applied to a patch of shaved, tape stripped skin of HLA-DR4 transgenic mice. Mice were challenged with 10 μ g CDE intranasally, and a BAL was performed 48 hours later. Total BAL cells were enumerated (A) by trypan blue staining, and differentiated into eosinophils, neutrophils, macrophages or lymphocytes (B) by Wright-Giemsa staining. Data from three independent experiments pooled, and presented as mean ± (SEM), n=8-24/group. *, p <0.05; **, p <0.01; ***p<0.0001, ****0.0001, as determined by a one-way ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferroni corrected *Student's* t-tests.

Eosinophilic inflammation in the lungs of allergen challenged animals, following

cutaneous exposure was assessed by histology and flow cytometry. Peribronchial eosinophils were quantified following H&E staining. Similar to BAL samples, cutaneous application of 15µg, but not 150µg, of CDE primed mice to mount an eosinophilic response to subsequent CDE-exposure, as only mice sensitized with 15µg of CDE developed significant peribronchial eosinophilia upon challenge (Figure 3A). Total lung eosinophilia was assessed by flow cytometry by staining cells liberated from the right lung. Eosinophils were categorized as sialic

Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

acid-binding immunolobulin-like lectin F (Siglec-F) positive²⁹, and CD11c negative cells³⁰. The effects of cutaneous CDE exposure were consistent with previous examinations; however, a dose-response effect was apparent when examining whole lung eosinophilia. Cutaneous exposure to intermediate doses of CDE (5 and 15µg) primed mice to develop significant eosinophilia throughout the lung upon IN CDE challenge, whereas cutaneous exposure to higher (50, or 150 µg) or lower (1.5µg) doses of CDE did not (Figure 3B). Asthma is defined a reversible airflow obstruction that is commonly accompanied by airway inflammation and airway hyperreactivity (AHR). As cutaneous exposure to 15µg primed mice for the development of airway inflammation, allergen challenged animals were examined for the development of AHR using a nebulized methacholine challenge. Mice exposed to 15µg CDE cutaneously responded to an intranasal CDE challenge with significantly increased R_{RS}, and a decreased PC₂₀₀ (Figure 4A and B); indicating that cutaneous allergen exposure both increased the maximum degree of airway narrowing in these mice, while also lowering the threshold to respond to bronchostimulatory agents. Surprisingly, IN challenge of mice cutaneously exposed to 150 μ g CDE significantly decreased PC₂₀₀, indicating the development of airway hypersensitivity, despite no observed increase in cellular infiltration to the lung.



Figure 4. Cutaneous exposure with intermediate, but not high or low doses of CDE induces a Th2 polarization of the immune response. CDE (1.5 - 150 µg) or saline was applied to a patch of shaved, tape stripped skin of HLA-DR4 transgenic mice. The left lung from mice challenged with 10µg CDE intranasally, was fixed, sectioned and stained with heamatoxylin and eosin(H&E). Eosinophils within 50µm of the bronchi, were enumerated (A). (B) Total eosinophils in the right lung were enumerated (SIGLEC-F+CD11c-) by flow cytometry. Data from two independent experiments pooled and presented as mean \pm (SEM), n=8-16/group. *, p <0.05; ***p<0.0001, as determined by a one-way ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferroni corrected Student's t-tests.



Figure 3. Cutaneous exposure with both intermediary and high doses of CDE induces aspects of AHR.HLA-DR4 transgenic mice cutaneously exposed to CDE (1.5 - 150 μ g) were challenged with CDE intranasally, and the airway responsiveness was assessed by a nebulized methacholine (MCh) dose-response test. (A) Maximum respiratory system resistance induced by each dose of MCh and (B) dose of MCh inducing a doubling of baseline resistance (PC₂₀₀) Data from three independent experiments pooled, and presented as mean ± (SEM), n=8-24/group. *, p <0.05; **p<0.001, compared to saline, as determined by a one-way ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferroni corrected *Student's* t-tests.

Cutaneous exposure to CDE induces antigen-specific T-cells producing Th2 cytokines

Increased expression of the archetypal Th2 cytokines IL-4, -5^{31, 32} and IL-13³³ have all been observed in the lungs of asthmatics. While these, and numerous other studies have demonstrated the role of IL-4, -5, and -13, in asthma, analyses have typically been limited to the examination of polyclonal T-cell responses. Efforts to examine antigen-specific T-cells during allergic responses have commonly been limited by reagent availability (lack of tetramers) and/or confounding factors (use of transgenic mice with a single T-cell receptor). Use of HLA-DR4 mice enabled us to analyze antigen-specific T-cells within a polyclonal T-cell response, through the use of PE-labeled HLA-DR4 tetramers loaded with a Fel d 1 peptide.

First, we sought to define the anatomical location of antigen specific T-cells after an allergen challenge. Following cutaneous CDE exposure and intranasal allergen challenge, lungs, lung draining lymph nodes, skin, skin draining lymph nodes, spleen, and bone marrow were dissected and assessed for the presence of antigen-specific T-cells. As antigen specific T-cells represent a rare population, a stringent gating strategy was used to reduce the risk of false positives; tetramer positive cells were identified as singlet CD4+, PE-tetramer+, CD8-CD14-CD19- cells. Intranasal allergen challenge preferentially induced the recruitment of antigen-specific T-cells to the lungs of mice (Figure 5A). Approximately 50% of all detected antigen-specific cells were in the lungs of allergen challenged mice, with 30% residing in the spleen, 15% in the bone marrow and the remainder in the skin and lung draining lymph. The dose of cat dander applied cutaneously, was a key determinant of the resulting immune response. A bell-shaped dose-response effect of CDE application was observed, with intermediate doses of CDE significantly, and robustly expanding antigen-specific T-cells, while both high and low doses of CDE were unable to induce expansion (Figure 5A).
As the majority of antigen-specific T-cells were found in the lung, these cells were probed for their ability to produce Th2 cytokines. The polyclonal T-cell response (singlet CD4+CD8-CD14-CD19-, tetramer- cells) was also investigated. All examined Th2 cytokines (IL-4, -5 and -13), revealed a similar bell-shaped dose response curve, with intermediate doses of CDE maximally enhancing Th2 cytokine production (Figure 5B, C, & D). Intermediate doses of CDE applied to the skin enhanced Th2 cytokine production by antigen-specific cells by 5-15 fold, in contrast, cutaneous exposure to high-dose CDE either failed to alter or induced comparatively minor changes (range: 0.7-2-fold change) in Th2 cytokine production. Intriguingly, this bell-shaped response was not resolved in polyclonal T-cell responses, with CDE application not having a consistent effect upon polyclonal IL-4, IL-5 or IL-13 expression.

Cutaneous application of both high and low dose CDE failed to induce a Th2 response in mice. We investigated if these doses had given rise to a Th1 or modified Th2 response (characterized by the production of IL-10 in addition to Th2 cytokines³⁴). IFN- γ , the prototypical T-cell Th1 cytokine and IL-10 were quantified in lung T-cells, after allergen challenge. Antigen-specific production of IFN- γ followed the same bell-shape dose-response curve as observed for Th2 cytokines, with peak IFN- γ production noted in mice cutaneously exposed to 15 µg of CDE (Figure 5E). While the fold-change increase in IFN- γ expression was of a greater magnitude than the change in Th2 cytokines (30-fold, compared to 5-fold for IL-4), the absolute number of antigen-specific cells producing Th2 cytokines remained higher. High-dose CDE did not preferentially enhance IFN- γ production in antigen-specific nor polyclonal T-cells. Allergen challenge revealed that high dose cutaneous CDE application did not enhance antigen-specific nor polyclonal IL-10 expression, compared to exposure with a sensitizing (15µg) dose of CDE cutaneously (Figure 5F).



Figure 5. A bell-shaped dose response curve exists between cutaneous CDE application and Th2 cytokine production.HLA-DR4 transgenic mice cutaneously exposed to CDE (1.5 - 150 μ g) were challenged with CDE intranasally, and lung derived T-cells were assessed for their antigen-specificity (A), and ability to produce cytokines, IL-4 (B), IL-5 (C), IL-13 (D), IFN- γ (E), and IL-10 (F). Antigen specific T-cells (red line and dot), and polyclonal T-cells (black line and dot) were defined as singlet CD4+PE-teramer+CD8-CD14-CD19- cells, CD4+PE-teramer-CD8-CD14-CD19- cells, respectively. Data from two independent experiments pooled, and presented as mean \pm (SEM), n=8-16/group. Fold change calculated as (x-y)/y, where x is individual data points and y is the average number of t-cells/tetramer+t-cells in sham sensitized animals. ****, p <0.00001; as determined by a one-way ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferroni corrected *Student's* t-tests.

Analysis of antigen-specific T-cells revealed that 15µg of CDE applied to a patch of disrupted skin primed a Th2-polarized response to cat. We next sought to assess whether this polarized response was accompanied by increased IgE, the prototypical Th2 antibody. To our surprise, HLA-DR4 mice exposed to 15µg of CDE epicutaneously failed to develop increased IgE titers (Figure 6A). Of note, baseline antibody levels in HLA-DR4 mice were nearly undetectable; thus, we elected to verify these results in wild-type C57BL/6 mice. C57BL/6 mice also develop a Th2-polarized response following epicutaneous exposure to CDE (Figure 7). C57BL/6 mice epicutaneously exposed to sensitizing doses of CDE also failed to develop enhanced IgE levels (Figure 6A). Cat-specific IgE was also not increased by epicutaneous exposure to the Th2 cytokine, IL-4³⁵. We quantified IgG1 in allergen exposed mice, to determine if this alternative pathway had been engaged. Like IgE, the epicutaneous exposure of C57BL/6 and HLA-DR4 mice to CDE (15µg or 150µg) failed to enhance production of IgG1 (Figure 6C).

As the modified Th2 response to cat, in humans, is associated with enhanced titers of IgG4, a blocking antibody, we sought to assess whether a similar mechanism of action was protecting high-dose CDE exposed mice. Mice lack IgG4, but IgG2a, a Th1-associated antibody, is considered to be a surrogate marker in mice. High-dose CDE exposure (150µg) did not enhance IgG2a levels in C57BL/6 or HLA-DR4 mice, compared to animals receiving a sensitizing dose of CDE or saline (Figure 6D). Importantly, C57BL/6 mice may lack the gene required to produce IgG2a, and instead may produce IgG2c³⁶. Investigation of total and CDE-specific IgG2C (Figure 6E and F) again revealed no difference between high-dose CDE exposed mice versus mice receiving a sensitizing dose of CDE of CDE

the induction of a Th2 polarized immune response by epicutaneous CDE exposure, no alterations in IgE, IgG1, IgG2a or IgG2c could be detected.



Figure 6. HLA-DR4 and C57BL/6 mice exposed to a cat dander epicutaneously do not develop humoral immune responses.C57BL/6 (black bars) and HLA-DR4 mice (red bars) were cutaneously exposed to saline or CDE (15 or 150 μ g). Following an intranasal CDE challenge, blood was collected, and total serum IgE (A), cat-specific IgE (B), IgG1 (C), IgG2a (D), IgG2c (E) and catspecific IgG2c (F) were quantified by ELISA. Antigen-specific antibodies were quantified by precoating ELISA plates with CDE. Data from two independent experiments pooled, and presented as mean \pm (SEM), n=8/group.

Kinetic examination of cutaneous exposure to CDE

Since our analysis of fully sensitized and challenged mice revealed a reduced number of Fel d 1-specific CD4 T cells, we next assessed whether CDE dose affected T cell activation during epicutaneous sensitization. To this end, cells from the inguinal lymph node (the draining lymph node) were isolated from mice sensitized with saline, 15µg or 150µg of CDE half-way through the allergen exposure protocol (Day 4), at the end of the protocol (Day 11) and 10 days post the protocol (Day 21; Figure 1B).

While all mice (Saline, 15 and 150µg) were devoid of antigen-specific cells at day 4 (Figure 7A), by day 11 antigen-specific T-cells were detected in the inguinal lymph nodes of mice exposed to both the 15 and 150µg dose. A trend indicating that mice exposed to high-dose CDE had more cat-specific T-cells was observed, but did not achieve significance. By day 21, antigen-specific T-cells were no longer detectable in the lymph nodes.

To assess whether high-dose CDE was impairing Th2 differentiation, inducing Th1 differentiation or regulatory T-cells, IL-4, IFN- γ , and IL-10 production by polyclonal and antigen-specific T-cells were quantified. IFN- γ production by polyclonal (Figure 7B) and antigen-specific T-cells (Figure 7C) peaked at day 11, the end of the cutaneous exposures. A trend towards increased IFN- γ production in the 15µg CDE exposed group was noted, but failed to attain significance. IFN- γ production by cat-specific T-cells was low in mice exposed to 15 or 150µg CDE. IL-4 production was undetectable at day 4. At the completion of the cutaneous exposures significantly elevated (Figure 7D). IL-4 production returned to baseline by day 21. A trend towards increased IL-4 production was noted in antigen-specific T-cells from high-dose CDE exposed mice was significantly elevated (Figure 7D). IL-4 production returned to baseline by day 21. A trend towards increased IL-4 production was noted in antigen-specific T-cells from high-dose CDE exposed mice was significantly elevated (Figure 7D). IL-10 production by polyclonal T-cells (Figure 7F) and

antigen-specific T-cells (Figure 7G) revealed there to be no discernible difference in production at any assessed time point. Thus, only IL-4 expression was altered by high-dose CDE exposure. The expansion of antigen-specific T-cells in the high-dose exposed group and significantly increased IL-4 production suggests that impaired priming may not be the mechanism protecting these mice from the development of allergic airways disease.

To better characterize the model, the kinetics of airway inflammation following epicutaneous allergen exposure and IN CDE challenge were assessed. Previously, it was established that mice epicutaneously sensitized to an intermediate dose of CDE, then intranasally challenged with CDE on days 22-26 were primed to develop eosinophilic lung inflammation upon subsequent rechallenge. Given the enhanced expression of IL-4 by polyclonal T-cells in the inguinal lymph nodes of mice exposed to 150ug, we sought to define whether the differential effects of intermediate versus high-dose cutaneous exposure to CDE were present after the initial CDE challenges, or whether this effect matured between the day 22-26 exposure and the subsequent rechallenge. Mice were cutaneously exposed to CDE (15 or $150\mu g$) or saline, then challenged with CDE between 22-26. Animals were sacrificed at day 27, to assess the polarity of the immune response after the initial IN exposures and again at day 48, to establish whether inflammation persisted or resolved during this time. Finally, a parallel group of mice were rechallenged with CDE on day 49/50 and sacrificed on day 52 to enable a direct comparison between the inflammatory infiltrate that develops on day 52 with each of the other time points.

Mice cutaneously exposed too saline or high-dose CDE, sacrificed on day 27 (24-hours post initial IN CDE exposure) did not possess increased cellular infiltration into the BAL (Figure 8A). In contrast, by day 27, mice cutaneously exposed to 15 µg CDE mounted a significant Th2 polarized immune response, marked by significantly elevated cellular infiltration into the BAL,

171

Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

that was predominantly comprised of eosinophils (Figure 8B) and lymphocytes (Figure 8C). Neutrophil recruitment to the lung lumen was enhanced in mice cutaneously exposed to 15 μ g CDE (Figure 8D). By day 48 (22 days post allergen challenge), the majority of inflammation had resolved; however, a minor increase in the total number of cells in the lung lumen persisted in mice cutaneously exposed to 15 μ g. Following a second round of IN allergen challenges, a more robust Th2 response was observed in mice cutaneously exposed to 15 μ g of CDE. Indeed, compared to day 27 inflammation, a 40% increase in the number of BAL eosinophils and a 50% reduction in BAL neutrophils was noted on day 52. In keeping with previous observations, mice exposed to high-dose CDE failed to mount an immune response that significantly differed from sham sensitized animals.

Data generated from the kinetic examination of CDE cutaneous sensitization failed to define a mechanism that could explain the differential effects of dose. However, the kinetic study established that, despite an early increase in IL-4 production in mice exposed to a high-dose of CDE, that by day 27 a diminished allergic response was present, compared to animals exposed to 15µg of CDE. Subsequent mechanistic studies attempting to delineate the effect of dose employed the 27-day model.



Figure 7. Kinetic examination of polyclonal and cat-specific T-cells in the inguinal lymph nodes of mice cutaneously exposed to CDE. Mice were exposed to saline (circle), 15µg CDE (square) or 150 µg CDE (triangle) for a 10-day period. Mice were sacrificed on the indicated day (Day 4, 11 or 21), and lymphocytes from the inguinal lymph nodes were assessed for the development of antigen specific cells (A), and cytokine expression by flow cytometry. Polyclonal T-cell expression of IFN- γ (B), IL-4 (D) and IL-10 (F) were assessed. Antigen-specific T-cell expression of IFN- γ (C), IL-4 (E) and IL-10 (G) were also assessed. Pooled samples from two independent experiments presented as mean ± (SEM), n=5/group. *, p <0.05 vs saline mice, as determined by a one-way ANOVA and post-hoc bonferronni corrected *Student's* t-tests.



Figure 8. Kinetic examination of airway inflammation induced by CDE challenge, following exposure too intermediate or highdose CDE. Mice were cutaneously exposed to saline (SAL, black line/dot) 15 (red line/dot) or 150 (blue line/dot) μ g of CDE, and challenged with IN CDE (D22, 24 and 26). BAL was taken on D27,48 and 52 from parallel groups of mice. Total BAL cells were enumerated (A) by trypan blue staining. BAL cells were differentiated into eosinophils (B), lymphocytes (C), neutrophils (D), and macrophages (data not shown) by Wright-Giemsa staining. Representative data from one of four independent experiments presented as mean \pm (SEM), n=5/group. *, p <0.05 vs saline mice, as determined by a one-way ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferroni corrected *Student's* ttests.

Role of LPS and T-cell mediated regulation during CDE epicutaneous sensitization

The kinetic examination of T-cells during exposure to CDE failed to identify a candidate mechanism of action that could explain the immune paralysis that high-dose CDE exposure invoked. Recently, a study by Bryant and colleagues indicated that cat dander may derive allergenicity from bound LPS, that can then ligate toll-like receptor (TLR) 4 and activate antigen presenting cells³⁷. High dose exposure to LPS can drive a Th1, rather than Th2 response³⁸; therefore, we hypothesized that high dose CDE application may be unable to induce a Th2 response due to high levels of LPS/TLR agonists that would contaminate cat dander.

To assess the role of TLR agonists and LPS during epicutaneous sensitization, we exposed wild-type (WT) mice and mice lacking a critical TLR signalling molecule (MyD88) to doses of CDE that alternatively sensitize (15µg) or impair sensitization (150µg). Mice were then challenged with CDE and lung inflammation assessed (Figure 1B). MyD88^{-/-} mice possess a severely impaired response to provocation through Toll-like receptors (TLRs)³⁹ and cytokines from the IL-1 family⁴⁰. While LPS signalling through TLR4 is commonly believed to be a requisite for the initiation of an immune response, studies using MyD88^{-/-} mice have consistently demonstrated a preserved ability to mount a Th2 response, citing retained MyD88 independent maturation of DCs as a putative mechanism.⁴¹⁻⁴⁵. While MyD88 is also a critical signal transducer for the IL-1 cytokine family⁴⁰, epicutaneous sensitization has been shown by some groups to be dependent upon thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) and not the IL-1/IL-33 family⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸. Finally, while LPS possesses MyD88-independent effects, the efficacy of LPS is severely diminished in the absence of MyD88³⁹.

To our surprise, despite a paucity of data citing a role for MyD88 and LPS during epicutaneous sensitization, MyD88 deficient mice completely failed to manifest AHR (Figure 9A), while WT (C57BL/6) mice developed significant, robust AHR as a result of cutaneous exposure to 15, but not 150 µg CDE (Figure 9B). Following exposure to 15, but not 150 µg CDE, WT, but not MyD88^{-/-} animals, were primed to develop airway inflammation, highlighted by significantly enhanced total BAL cells and BAL eosinophils after IN CDE challenge (Figure 9C and D). Furthermore, MyD88 deficient animals failed to develop eosinophilic lung inflammation, while WT mice cutaneously exposed to 15µg CDE mounted significant eosinophilic inflammation of the lungs (Figure 9E). Analysis of lung Th2 cytokine production corroborated these observations. T-cells from WT, but not MyD88^{-/-}, mice exposed to 15µg of

175

CDE cutaneously possessed significantly elevated production of IL-5 (Figure 9F), and IL-13 (Figure 9G); IL-4 production did not change (Figure 9H).

Therefore, MyD88 deficient mice demonstrate a critical role for TLR ligation during epicutaneous sensitization. As MyD88 deficient mice could not be primed, these experiments do not define the contribution of the TLR/IL-1 axis to the effects of high-dose cutaneous CDE application.

Addition of LPS to a sensitizing dose of CDE fails impair sensitization

The MyD88 knock-out approach revealed that TLR ligation is a critical component of epicutaneous sensitization, however, this method did not identify whether increased levels of LPS/TLR ligands were driving the immune hyporesponsiveness associated with high-dose cutaneous CDE application. If, as we hypothesized, high doses of LPS/TLR ligands are sabotaging the development of a robust immune response to high-dose cutaneously applied CDE, the addition of LPS/TLR ligands to a sensitizing dose of CDE should protect mice, and attenuate allergic responses. Thus, we set out to investigate whether high-dose CDE is unable to induce a robust immune response because of high TLR ligands/LPS concentrations, by adding LPS to sensitizing doses of CDE. To instruct LPS dosing requirements, LPS levels in the CDE solutions used to prime mice was assessed by a chromogenic LAL assay. Aliquots of 'High-dose' CDE (150µg) contained 0.57µg LPS, while 'sensitizing' doses of CDE (15µg) contained 0.1µg LPS, indicating that mice receiving 'high-dose' CDE received approximately 0.5µg more LPS than did mice exposed to sensitizing doses.

To investigate the effects of adding LPS to sensitizing doses of cat dander, C57BL/6 mice were cutaneously exposed to 15µg CDE + no LPS, 15µg CDE + 1µg LPS, 15µg CDE + 10µg LPS. CDE hyporesponsiveness was established in control mice

through exposure to 150 μ g CDE. The CDE specific immune response was probed by challenging mice with CDE intranasally three times and sacrificing animals 24 hours later (Figure 10A). The cutaneous application of 15 μ g, but not 150 μ g, of CDE to the skin of mice primed them to develop AHR upon subsequent allergen challenge (Figure 10B). The addition of LPS to the 15 μ g sensitizing CDE dose failed to confer a protective effect that could inhibit the development of AHR. In contrast, upon examination of airway hypersensitivity to methacholine, a dose-response effect became apparent, with the addition of 10 μ g of LPS significantly elevating PC₂₀₀, raising it to the level of mice that had received 150 μ g CDE cutaneously (Figure 10C). The addition of LPS failed to modify the number of cells (Figure 10D) or eosinophils (Figure 10E) infiltrating the BAL; however, eosinophil recruitment to the lung tissue was impaired by the addition of 1 μ g LPS (Figure 10F).

To assess whether the addition of LPS impaired Th2 differentiation, the production of archetypal Th2 cytokines by T-cells and ILC2s were quantified. LPS dose-dependently affected IL-4 production by T-cells, as addition of low-dose LPS (1 μ g) to 15 μ g CDE significantly reducing IL-4 production, to levels equivalent to that induced by exposure to 150 μ g CDE (Figure 11A). A trend was also observed for IL-5 and IL-13, as addition of low-dose LPS non-significantly reduced production of these cytokines by 60% and 46%, respectively (Figure 11B &C). Addition of higher doses of LPS (10 or 100 μ g) to a sensitizing dose of CDE (15 μ g) had no discernible effect.

Type 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s) are cells that rapidly respond to inflammatory stimuli by releasing large amounts of IL-5 and IL-13⁴⁹. During allergen provocation of sensitized animals, ILC2s can act as effector cells, secreting IL-5 and IL-13, at levels equivalent to that of primed T-cells^{50, 51}. Thus, the number of IL-5 and IL-13 producing ILC2s was assessed,

177

following antigen challenge. LPS addition failed to reduce the number of ILC2s producing IL-5 (Figure 11D), IL-13 (Figure 11E) or both IL-5 and IL-13 (Figure 11F). Of note, high-dose CDE also failed to reduce the number of Th2 cytokine producing ILC2s. Intriguingly, a trend was observed wherein lower doses of LPS were associated with reduced numbers of cytokine producing ILC2s.

Taken together, the addition of LPS may not be able to subvert a sensitizing dose of CDE, as observed differences in airway function were small and changes in inflammation were inconsistent. Our examinations of LPS yielded both unexpected, and inconclusive results. Examination of MyD88 deficient mice revealed LPS to be a critical mediator of epicutaneous sensitization; moreover, we demonstrated that high-dose LPS does not reduce the allergenicity of cat dander applied to the skin of mice. Intriguingly, a modest signal that low-dose LPS may subvert allergenicity did arise and warrants further study.

Assessment of T-cell mediated protection in high-dose CDE exposed mice

Both the epicutaneous CDE dose-response study and kinetic examination demonstrated that applying 15µg of CDE to barrier-disrupted skin induced epicutaneous sensitization, but that application of 150µg CDE did not. These studies failed to demonstrate a dose-dependent difference in T-cell behaviour that could account for the protection observed during high-dose exposure. However, the kinetic study demonstrated that cat-specific cells and IL-4 production are enhanced in the high-dose CDE group, suggesting that high-dose CDE does commence priming that is terminated shortly thereafter, leaving mice protected from subsequent challenge in a manner perhaps similar to the onset and development of OVA-tolerance⁵². We set out to directly test whether high-dose cutaneous exposure to cat dander induced protective immunity by

adoptively transferring CD4+ enriched cells from high-dose exposed animals into sensitized animals.



Figure 9. MyD88 is required for epicutaneous sensitization to cat dander.WT (white bars) and MyD88^{-/-} mice (gray bars) were cutaneously exposed to saline (open circle, black), 15 (Square, red) or 150 μ g (open triangle, blue) of CDE and challenged with IN CDE (10 μ g). Airway responsiveness was assessed in MyD88^{-/-} (A) and WT mice (B) mice. BAL was performed on both WT and MyD88^{-/-} mice and resultant cells were enumerated (C) and differentiated to determine eosinophils (D). Lungs from allergen challenged mice were analyzed by flow cytometry for the number of eosinophils (E), and CD4 cells producing IL-5 (F), IL-13 (G) and IL-4 (H). Pooled data from two independent experiments presented as mean ± (SEM), n=8-10/group. *, p <0.05; **, p <0.01; ***, p <0.001 compared to saline, or between indicated group, as determined by a *Student's* t-tests and ANOVA.



Figure 10. Addition of LPS does not prevent a Th2 polarized response.C57BL/6 mice were tape-stripped and cutaneously exposed to 15 μ g of CDE, with additions of 0, 1, 10 or 100 μ g LPS, or 150 μ g CDE, then challenged with CDE intranasally (A). Airway responsiveness was examined using a nebulized MCh challenge (B), and provocative concentration causing a 200 percent increase in baseline resistance (PC₂₀₀) was calculated (C). Lungs from allergen challenged mice were analyzed for the number of eosinophils (D), by flow cytometry. Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) cells were enumerated by trypan blue staining (E) and differentiated, following Wright-Giemsa staining (F). Pooled data from two-four independent experiments presented as mean \pm (SEM), n=10-20/group. *, p <0.05; compared to 15+0 μ g LPS mice, as determined by ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferroni corrected *Student's* t-tests.

Donor mice were prepared by applying saline, 15 or 150 µg of CDE to a patch of disrupted skin for 10 days. Following allergen challenge, lung cells were obtained by physical disruption and enzymatic digestion (Figure 10), and prepared for transfer. CD4+ cells were enriched using negative separation kit (Miltenyi Biotec) to between 60-70% of cells (data not shown), and CFSE labelled. CD4+ enriched lung cells were transferred into mice primed with a sensitizing dose of CDE on the skin (15µg; Figure 12). After transfer and intranasal CDE challenge, a distinct population of CFSE+ CD4 T-cells were identifiable in the lungs of recipient mice (Figure 13A) indicating successful engraftment.

All recipient mice were epicutaneously sensitized to cat dander, via application of 15µg CDE. Each recipient received an entire donor mouse's worth of CD4+ enriched lung donor cells. The transfer of cells from mice receiving 150 µg CDE did not exacerbate, nor protect recipient mice from AHR (Figure 13B). In contrast, mice receiving cells from donor mice previously exposed to 15 µg CDE, possessed significantly increased AHR following allergen challenge, demonstrating that the transfers had led to successful engraftment capable of manipulating recipient mouse immunity. Inflammation following CDE IN challenge of recipient mice was quantified by flow cytometry. Recipient mice receiving naive (i.e.: saline exposed) CD4+ cells mounted a robust eosinophilic response. In fact, the transfer of naive CD4+ cells enhanced lung eosinophilia by 25%, compared to eosinophilia observed in sensitized HLA-DR4 mice without additional transferred cells (Figure 13B). Recipient mice receiving cells from mice epicutaneously sensitized with 15µg did not mount a significantly enhanced eosinophilic response compared to recipient mice that received naive cells, although a trend towards a 50% increase was noted. The transfer of cells from mice that were exposed to high dose CDE (150 µg), did not prevent the development of eosinophilia after airway allergen challenge (Figure



13C). IL-4 production by lung derived T-cells was reduced by transfer of cells from 150 μ g CDE primed mice (Figure 13D).

Figure 11. Addition of LPS to cutaneously applied CDE modestly lessens Th2 cytokine expression in T-cells.C57BL/6 mice were cutaneously exposed to 15 μ g of CDE, with additions of 0, 1, 10 or 100 μ g LPS or 150 μ g CDE. Following intranasal CDE challenge, animals were sacrificed and a single cellsuspension was purified from the lungs. IL-4(A), IL-5(B) and IL-13(C) expression by lung CD4+ T-cells was assessed by flow cytometry. ILC2, identified as lineage negative, T1ST2 positive cells, were assessed for the production of IL-5(D), IL-13(E) and coexpression of IL-5 and IL-13(F) expression, by flow cytometry. Cytokines were assessed after a 6 hour stimulation with leukocyte activation cocktail (BD Biosciences. Pooled data from two independent experiments presented as mean \pm (SEM), n=10/group. *, p <0.05; between indicated groups, as determined by ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferroni corrected *Student's* t-tests.



Figure 12. Schematic representation of the adoptive transfer experiment. HLA-DR4 transgenic mice were utilized



Figure 13. Transfer of CD4+ enriched lung lymphocytes from high-dose CDE exposed mice does not protect against the development of a Th2 polarized response.Donor mice were cutaneously exposed to saline, 15 or 150µg of CDE, then challenged intranasally with CDE. Lungs were collected, CD4+ cells enriched by negative depletion and stained with CFSE prior to transfer into recipient mice. Recipient mice were sensitized with 15 µg of CDE and received a transfer of one donor mouse's worth of CD4+ enriched lung cells prior to a series of IN CDE challenges. CD4+ CFSE+ donor cells identified in the lungs of recipient mice (A). Airway responsiveness of recipient mice, post transfer and allergen challenge, as assessed by a nebulized MCh challenge (B). Resultant eosinophil recruitment (C) and IL-4+ production by CD4+ cells (D), in the lungs of recipient mice after challenge, assessed by flow cytometry. Data from a single experiment presented as mean \pm (SEM), n=5/group. *, p <0.05, between indicated groups; #, p <0.05 between 15+15 vs 15+Naïve; &, p <0.05 between 15+15 vs 15+Naïve; ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferroni corrected *Student's* t-tests.

High-dose house dust mite does not impair the development of Th2 responses

We sought to examine whether high-dose induced immune paralysis was a unique feature of CDE, or was a feature of high-dose exposure to any allergen. Thus, we exposed mice to a high dose of another common aeroallergen, house dust mite (HDM). We hypothesized that, if highdose exposure to an any allergen is sufficient to impair sensitization/induce antigen-specific tolerance, that high-dose HDM would not sensitize mice. In 2008, Llop-Guevara *et al.*, administered increasing intranasal doses of HDM to mice for 10 days, noting that allergic inflammation, as assessed by eosinophilic BAL, plateaued at exposure to 25μ g HDM, failing to increase with higher doses (50, 100μ g)⁵³. In contrast to eosinophilia, analysis of IgG1 revealed that increasing-doses of HDM increased greater sensitization, as mice receiving 50μ g HDM possessed greater levels of IgG1. Intriguingly, IgG1 titers also indicated the possibility that highdose IN HDM could be protective, as mice exposed to 100μ g HDM had a slight reduction in antibody titers.

To test our hypothesis, we administered high doses of HDM (0, 25, 75 and 225µg) to animals for 10 days, then recalled the allergic response two-weeks later with a normalized concentration of HDM (15µg; Figure 14A). Sham sensitized animals challenged with HDM failed to develop eosinophilic lung inflammation (Figure 14B). In contrast, all animals exposed to HDM intranasally were primed to develop airway eosinophilia upon subsequent recall challenge. Similarly, while sham sensitized animals develop minor goblet cell hyperplasia upon HDM airway challenge, all animals previously exposed to HDM developed markedly increased mucin production (Figure 14C). Thus, early exposure to high-doses of HDM (75, 225µg) did not protect mice from the development of profound allergic inflammation upon subsequent recall challenge.

184



Figure 14. Mice exposed to high-dose house dust mite do not possess impaired airway inflammation upon allergen rechallenge. BALB/c mice received 0, 25, 75 or 225µg of house dust mite (HDM) intranasally for 10 days, then were rechallenged with 15µg HDM intranasally on day 22, 24 and 26 (A). 24-hours post final challenge, animals were sacrificed and eosinophils in the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) were enumerated following Wright-Giemsa staining (B). Goblet cell hyperplasia was assessed by Periodic Acid Schiff staining of histologically prepared lungs (C). Data from a single experiment presented as mean \pm (SEM), n=5/group.

5.4. Discussion

We set out to determine whether application of CDE to barrier-disrupted skin could sensitize mice. We demonstrated that cutaneous exposure to an 'intermediate' dose (15µg) of CDE induced robust Th2 polarization in both HLA-DR4 and C57BL/6 mice. Intriguingly, we also observed that the dose of CDE was critical to sensitization, despite animals receiving the same degree of shaving and tape-stripping (i.e. 'danger' stimuli). Application of high-dose CDE to a patch of barrier impaired skin failed to induce an allergic response. The mechanism of high-dose CDE induced immune paralysis was probed using a kinetic study, removal of TLR ligand responsiveness, addition of LPS and transfer of CD4+ T-cells. These experiments were unable to

Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

define the precise mechanism through which high-dose CDE functions; however, several conclusions can be drawn from these experiments: i) Epicutaneous sensitization is dependent upon MyD88 signaling, ii) it is unlikely that high-dose CDE induces allergen specific tolerance and iii) allergic hyporesponsiveness following high-dose exposure may not develop during exposure to highly allergenic allergens such as house dust mite.

The application of allergen to a patch of skin disrupted by shaving and/or tape-stripping has been shown to cause epicutaneous sensitization for many allergens. For instance, application of the model allergen ovalbumin (OVA) to shaved patches of skin on BALB/c mice has been demonstrated to induce potent OVA-specific Th2 responses, comprised of allergen-specific IgE production and IL-4 and -5 production by T-cells⁵⁴. Upon intranasal challenge, animals epicutaneously sensitized to OVA mount eosinophilic inflammation in the BAL and lung parenchyma, as well as airway hyperresponsiveness to methacholine^{55, 56}. Epicutaneous sensitization has also been demonstrated following the application of HDM to the intact-skin of mice⁵⁷ and dogs⁵⁸ as well as peanut to a patch of skin lacking an intact stratum corneum^{5, 6}. Presumably the enzymatic activity of HDM, through degradation of tight junctions⁵⁹, sufficiently impairs stratum corneum function to facilitate sensitization. Consistently with this, we have, for the first time, demonstrated that application of cat dander to a patch of disrupted skin induces epicutaneous sensitization capable of priming mice to develop allergic airway inflammation and AHR upon nasal allergen challenge.

It has previously been suggested that high-dose exposure to an allergen may be protective. A cross-sectional study of 12-14 year old children demonstrated that children exposed to high doses of cat (defined as above $>23\mu$ g Fel d 1 at home) failed to become sensitized⁶⁰. Corroborating evidence was later provided by the German Multicentre Allergy Study (MAS

cohort), as the majority of children exposed to a high-dose of cat dander possessed cat specific IgG, but not IgE and had no history of wheeze or AHR²³. Clinical tolerance to cat, following high-dose exposure, is referred to as a 'modified-Th2 response' has been attributed to an exaggerated IL-10 response that is superimposed upon a typical Th2 cytokine response, together resulting in IgG1 and 4 production, rather than IgE³⁴. Evidence indicating that IL-10 mediates the modified-Th2 response is derived from a subset of patients, those with the HLA DR7 allele, as T-cells from these patients produced exaggerated amounts of IL-10 during in vitro stimulation with a Fel d 1 derived T-cell epitope (Peptide 2:1), compared to allergic controls³⁴. In the same study, however, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from cat allergics and modified allergics, with undefined HLA haplotypes, were compared and PBMCs from modified allergic patients were found to predominantly respond to Fel d 1 in vitro provocation with increased production of IFN- γ , decreased IL-5 and surprisingly, decreased IL-10 production. Thus, while the clinical presentation of a modified-Th2 response is consistent with a perceived role of IL-10 (increased IgG, reduced IgE production, reduced T-cell responsiveness), the direct evidence supporting a role for IL-10 is restricted to a single HLA haplotype. In light of the importance of HLA-DR7, it is unsurprising that our HLA-DR4 mice did not possess enhanced IL-10 production, following high-dose CDE exposure, despite developing CDE hyporesponsiveness. It is intriguing to consider that 'modified' type 2 responses may be heterogenous, with the dominant mechanism evolving as a result of MHC presentation of Fel d 1 derived epitopes.

While little work has been done investigating the effect of epicutaneous allergen dose on airway inflammation, some studies have examined the effect of allergen dose given directly to the airways. In 1999, Saxon and colleagues demonstrated that diesel exhaust particles (DEP), administered nasally, could act as an adjuvant and drive *de novo* sensitization to nasally

administered keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH)⁶¹. The provision of DEP with KLH induced KLH-specific IgE and increased IL-4 in the nasal lavage. In contrast, when the dose of KLH was titrated upwards, in the presence of DEP, sensitization was inhibited. Indeed, administration of 0.1, 10, 1000 or 100,000µg of KLH in the presence of DEP, led to allergic sensitization in 0, 100, 57 and 11% of subjects, respectively⁶². Taken together, our results align with the previous literature as we have demonstrated that an allergen applied at high-enough doses to the skin can inhibit the development of sensitization, furthering our understanding of high-dose allergen exposure. Importantly, high-dose allergen trumped the presence of inflammatory 'danger' stimuli evoked by tape-stripping.

Not all allergens appear to function in this manner. For instance, it has been demonstrated that increasing the dose of HDM administered intranasally by 100-fold (two log units) induces more robust Th2 polarization^{63, 64}. Similar results have been found by others^{53, 65}. Our preliminary work agrees with this, as high-dose HDM did not inhibit type 2 polarization, despite employing doses 2.25 times as high as those previously reported. Furthermore, unlike high-dose exposure to CDE, high dose exposure to dust mites does not correlate with the development of a modified-Th2 response⁶⁶, rather it correlates with increased mite specific IgE, asthma and wheeze⁶⁷. Similarly to HDM, increasing the amount of cockroach allergen administered to guinea-pigs directly correlates with the degree of sensitivity⁶⁸. The possible presence of high-dose 'tolerance' or impairment is less-clear for other, less potent, allergens. The administration of OVA precipitated with alum to C57BL/6 mice revealed that low-dose OVA induced marked Th2 polarization, while administration of >1mg OVA induced Th1 polarization⁶⁹. In contrast, titrating the dose of OVA in alum above 1mg, in BALB/c mice, yielded only exaggerated type 2 responses⁶⁹. Similarly, cutaneous application of OVA to a patch of disrupted skin on BALB/c

mice has demonstrated a dose-dependency of the magnitude of the Th2 responses. Titration of cutaneously applied OVA from 1μ g to 10mg revealed that higher doses of OVA induced significantly greater amounts of IgE, T-cell derived IL-4 and T-cell proliferation, with low-doses (below 10µg) of OVA failing to discernibly sensitize mice⁷⁰. Together, these studies indicate the inability of high-dose OVA to mimic the effects of high-dose CDE. Titration of fungal allergens in mice revealed that low-dose exposure induced Th2, eosinophilic lung inflammation but that high-doses of fungal allergen deviated the response towards Th1/neutrophilic inflammation⁷¹. Interestingly, while this conversion of the immune-response through upwards dose-titration does mimic our findings, we found that high-dose exposure yielded allergen hyporesponsiveness, not Th1-skeweing. Taken together, it appears as though cat dander may be unique amongst common allergens in its ability to impair sensitization at high-doses, although further studies are needed to investigate other aeroallergens, such as birch, grass, ragweed, etc. and routes of exposure.

In our efforts to identify the mechanism of high-dose Th2 impairment, the role of MyD88 was investigated. MyD88 is a signal transduction molecule of the toll/IL-1 receptor (TIR) adaptor family that is critical to the induction of innate immune responses following exposure to microbial components, such as LPS³⁹. To date, the role of MyD88 during epicutaneous sensitization has not been thoroughly investigated. In 2007, Geha and colleagues proposed that TLR ligation may play a role in epicutaneous sensitization to OVA, as MyD88^{-/-} mice had reduced skin IL-17 expression compared to wild type mice; however, inflammation in allergen exposed MyD88^{-/-} mice was significantly higher than in saline challenged animals⁵⁵. Recently, preliminary data were presented by Ziegler and colleagues suggesting that MyD88 is responsible for ~70% of epicutaneous sensitization following cockroach allergen application to the skin of mice (American Academy of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology 2016 annual meeting, session 2803). Here, we corroborate and

extend these findings, through the demonstrating that MyD88 is required for epicutaneous sensitization to cat dander extract.

We hypothesized that contamination of CDE with bacterial components, such as LPS, may be the critical factor that impaired immune polarization at high-dose exposure. Previously, it has been demonstrated that low-dose LPS exposure facilitates Th2 responses, whereas high-dose LPS predisposes towards Th1 immunity³⁸. LPS, and other TLR ligands, are known to induce TSLP release by dendritic cells and keratinocytes, a cytokine required for epicutaneous sensitization⁷²⁻⁷⁵. In our experiment, doses of LPS demonstrated by others^{76, 77} to induce skin inflammation, were we applied to the skin of mice. The doses chosen were also in-line with the measured amount of LPS in the CDE extract. While skin inflammation due to LPS was not assessed, a notable reddening and increased number of lesions on the skin of mice receiving high-dose LPS was noted at the site of application. In contrast to studies of intranasal administration of allergen plus LPS³⁸, the addition of high-dose LPS to cutaneous allergen exposure did not abrogate the development of type 2 polarized, allergen specific responses. Whether other TLR ligands implicated in skin inflammation (TLR3, TLR5, etc.) are important to the observed high-dose hyporesponsiveness warrants further investigation.

The ability of high-dose CDE to induce immune hyporesponsiveness was investigated by adoptively transferring T-cells, from donor mice cutaneously exposed to 150µg CDE into CDE allergic recipients. We confirmed successful engraftment by labelling donor cells, and identifying them in the lungs of recipient mice following allergen challenge. Moreover, cells from donor mice exposed to a sensitizing dose of CDE (15µg) exacerbated allergic responses in recipient mice, demonstrating that the engraftment seeded sufficient donor cells in the lungs of recipient mice to alter the immune response to CDE. If high-dose CDE induced regulatory T-

cells, the transfer of these CD4+ CDE-specific regulatory cells should suppress subsequent type-2 responses in recipient mice. In our study, CDE induced eosinophilia in recipient mice was not ameliorated by transfer, suggesting that regulatory T-cells may not evolve following high-dose CDE exposure. A limitation of our approach was that the number of transferred cells was not titrated, thus we may have simply transferred insufficient cells to observe the development of tolerance. With this limitation in mind, our approach was to transfer as many cells into recipient mice as possible, so as not to lose cells during a titration, this approach led to the transfer of a relatively high number of cells that, in other studies, has been sufficient to establish tolerance in the recipient mouse. For instance, in 2005, the transfer of 5×10^5 OVA-specific Tregs was found to ameliorate OVA-specific allergic airway responses⁷⁸. Elsewhere, the transfer of 10⁶ Treg enriched CD4 cells abrogated OVA-induced T-cell activation and IgE upregulation, following OVA challenge of recipient mice⁷⁹. While our study did not transfer exclusively CDE-specific Tcells, we transferred nearly 4-8 times as many T-cells. Regarding the transfer of non-antigen specific T-cells, the transfer of $2x10^6$ CD4 cells derived from donor mice that received killed Mycobacterium vaccae, a treatment that induced IL-10 producing Tregs, protected sensitized recipient mice from the development of OVA-induced allergic airway inflammation⁸⁰. Taken together, we are confident that the methods employed yielded a successful engraftment of sufficient T-cells to have seen a protective response, had one been present as i) donor cells were found in the lungs of recipient mice, ii) the number of CD4+ cells transferred was capable of exacerbating existing CDE immunity and, iii) the number of cells transferred was in line with previous adoptive transfer experiments that successfully demonstrated a protective effect.

Interestingly, the results from our kinetic analysis reveal that high-dose CDE exposure is not ignored by the immune system, as CDE-specific T-cells and IL-4 production were enhanced.

Thus, high-dose CDE may be inducing an immune response that is self-terminating, perhaps in a mechanism like OVA-tolerance. IL-10 expression by DCs has been demonstrated to be critical to the evolution of OVA inhalation tolerance⁸¹. Thus, future attempts to examine the mechanism of high-dose CDE immune hyporesponsiveness should investigate the production of IL-10 by structural cells and DCs in the area of allergen exposure.

The atopic march is a theory that has evolved recently to explain the evolution of type 2 inflammatory diseases in children and the general population. Specifically, the atopic march refers to the natural history of atopic disease within children, suggesting that children that display symptoms of atopic dermatitis (AD) at a young age are at an increased risk to develop allergies later in life, and possibly asthma²⁴. Clinical, epidemiological and basic research have coalesced to substantiate the validity of the atopic march. A longitudinal prospective birth cohort followed 1,314 infants and observed that 50% of children with AD by 2 years of age, would go on to develop asthma or rhinitis⁸². Elsewhere, a progression rate from AD to asthma/rhinitis of 35.8% has been determined, translating to an odds ratio of 2.14⁸³. A direct link between AD and asthma was demonstrated by Flavell and colleagues. Mice over expressing Th2 cytokines spontaneously developed AD and airway inflammation comprised of eosinophilic infiltration and goblet cell hyperplasia⁸⁴, thereby highlighting the shared aetiology of these diseases.

The aetiology of the atopic march is poorly defined. A common hypothesis suggests that early barrier impairment in children (by soap, inherent skin deficiencies, etc) facilitates allergen entry through the skin, epicutaneous sensitization and eventually atopic dermatitis. As previously discussed, patients with atopic dermatitis, but not asthma, commonly have IgE-specific to cat²⁵. Cat, while commonly considered an aeroallergen, is found at high-concentrations within dust

Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

samples from beds, day-cares and schools¹⁸⁻²⁰, thus, people likely encounter CDE through the skin in addition to through the airways. Here, we show that CDE exposure at a sight of impaired barrier function can lead to allergic sensitization. Given that CDE is measured in dust samples, and HDM can degrade barrier function, it is intriguing to consider a series of events wherein house dust degrades barrier function, perhaps enhanced by the frequent use of detergents on the skin, allowing CDE entry through the skin that causes sensitization, atopic dermatitis and eventually, asthma. Moreover, our observations provide a putative mechanism of allergen-exposure that could explain why high-dose exposure to cat, in people, is linked to a 'modified' Th2 response and not the development of allergies.

To conclude, the application of CDE to barrier impaired skin was observed to cause epicutaneous sensitization. In contrast, high-dose CDE exposure leads to a form of immune hyporesponsiveness, that develops after early immune activation. Finally, MyD88 is required for epicutaneous sensitization.

5.5. Reflection & Relation to the Remainder of the Thesis

Chapters 4 and 5 describe models of cat allergy in HLA DR4 transgenic mice. These models were developed to be utilized to investigate the role of peptide affinity to the HLA DR4 MHC Class II molecule. Intriguingly, neither prophylactic nor therapeutic administration of peptides could ameliorate allergic lung inflammation in epicutaneously sensitized animals (data not shown). As a result of this, the peptide affinity research (Chapter 6) was performed using the model developed in Chapter 4. The work presented in this chapter ties into the theme of the thesis, because it was a model designed to enable study of peptide immunotherapy.

During the development of the model, we observed that mice exposed to

193

high-dose CDE developed markedly less allergic airway inflammation compared to animals exposed to intermediate doses. We set out to assess whether this observation modeled the modified-Th2 response, as set forth by Thomas Platts-Mills. We hypothesized that, like the modified-Th2 response, high-dose CDE was inducing IL-10 production by regulatory T-cells. Early experiments supported this hypothesis, demonstrating increased IL-10 production by CD4 cells, following exposure to high levels of CDE, however, following several repeats, this signal dissipated (Figure 5F). Subsequent studies were designed to investigate whether high-dose exposure was instilling allergen specific tolerance. The kinetic study, adoptive transfer experiment, and original model development collectively provide evidence that exposure to highdose CDE is not instilling a tolerogenic signal. During these investigations, the potential for contamination of CDE extracts with TLR ligands was considered, and experiments were designed to both 'knock-out' TLR responsiveness (via MyD88 deficient animals) and 'knock-in' additional TLR signaling, through the supplementation of additional LPS. Collectively, while these experiments demonstrated that TLR ligands contamination is likely not the root cause of the high-dose hyporesponsivness that has been demonstrated, while also demonstrating that epicutaneous sensitization, to CDE, is dependent upon MyD88. Thus, the studies described here evolved from addressing a core component of the thesis, to attempting to define the mechanism of high-dose hyporesponsiveness. While this mechanism remains unclear, several plausible mechanisms have been investigate and the experiments performed form a foundation for future studies.

5.6. References

- 1. Spergel JM, Mizoguchi E, Brewer JP, Martin TR, Bhan AK, Geha RS. Epicutaneous sensitization with protein antigen induces localized allergic dermatitis and hyperresponsiveness to methacholine after single exposure to aerosolized antigen in mice. The Journal of Clinical Investigation 1998; 101:1614-22.
- Bartnikas LM, Gurish MF, Burton OT, Leisten S, Janssen E, Oettgen HC, et al. Epicutaneous sensitization results in IgE-dependent intestinal mast cell expansion and food-induced anaphylaxis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2013; 131:451-60 e1-6.
- 3. Coquet JM, Schuijs MJ, Smyth MJ, Deswarte K, Beyaert R, Braun H, et al. Interleukin-21-Producing CD4(+) T Cells Promote Type 2 Immunity to House Dust Mites. Immunity 2015; 43:318-30.
- 4. Akei HS, Brandt EB, Mishra A, Strait RT, Finkelman FD, Warrier MR, et al. Epicutaneous aeroallergen exposure induces systemic TH2 immunity that predisposes to allergic nasal responses. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2006; 118:62-9.
- 5. Strid J, Hourihane J, Kimber I, Callard R, Strobel S. Disruption of the stratum corneum allows potent epicutaneous immunization with protein antigens resulting in a dominant systemic Th2 response. European Journal of Immunology 2004; 34:2100-9.
- 6. Strid J, Hourihane J, Kimber I, Callard R, Strobel S. Epicutaneous exposure to peanut protein prevents oral tolerance and enhances allergic sensitization. Clinical & Experimental Allergy 2005; 35:757-66.
- Seidenari S, Giusti G. Objective assessment of the skin of children affected by atopic dermatitis: a study of pH, capacitance and TEWL in eczematous and clinically uninvolved skin. Acta dermato-venereologica 1995; 75:429-33.
- 8. Barker JN, Palmer CN, Zhao Y, Liao H, Hull PR, Lee SP, et al. Null mutations in the filaggrin gene (FLG) determine major susceptibility to early-onset atopic dermatitis that persists into adulthood. J Invest Dermatol 2007; 127:564-7.
- 9. Weidinger S, O'Sullivan M, Illig T, Baurecht H, Depner M, Rodriguez E, et al. Filaggrin mutations, atopic eczema, hay fever, and asthma in children. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2008; 121:1203-9 e1.
- 10. McLean WH, Palmer CN, Henderson J, Kabesch M, Weidinger S, Irvine AD. Filaggrin variants confer susceptibility to asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2008; 121:1294-5; author reply 5-6.
- 11. Oyoshi MK, Murphy GF, Geha RS. Filaggrin deficient mice exhibit Th17-dominated skin inflammation and permissiveness to epicutaneous sensitization with protein antigen. The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology 2009; 124:485-93.e1.
- 12. Roost HP, Kunzli N, Schindler C, Jarvis D, Chinn S, Perruchoud AP, et al. Role of current and childhood exposure to cat and atopic sensitization. European Community Respiratory Health Survey. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 104:941-7.
- Heinzerling LM, Burbach GJ, Edenharter G, Bachert C, Bindslev-Jensen C, Bonini S, et al. GA2LEN skin test study I: GA²LEN harmonization of skin prick testing: novel sensitization patterns for inhalant allergens in Europe. Allergy 2009; 64:1498-506.
- 14. Perzanowski MS, Rönmark E, Platts-Mills TAE, Lundbäck B. Effect of Cat and Dog Ownership on Sensitization and Development of Asthma among Preteenage Children. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 2002; 166:696-702.
- 15. Lau S, Illi S, Platts-Mills TAE, Riposo D, Nickel R, Grüber C, et al. Longitudinal study on the relationship between cat allergen and endotoxin exposure, sensitization, cat-specific IgG and development of asthma in childhood report of the German Multicentre Allergy Study (MAS 90). Allergy 2005; 60:766-73.
- 16. van Ree R, van Leeuwen WA, Bulder I, Bond J, Aalberse RC. Purified natural and recombinant Fel d 1 and cat albumin in in vitro diagnostics for cat allergy. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1999; 104:1223-30.

- Counsell CM, Bond JF, Ohman Jr JL, Greenstein JL, Garman RD. Definition of the human T-cell epitopes of Fel d 1, the major allergen of the domestic cat. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1996; 98:884-94.
- 18. Giovannangelo M, Gehring U, Nordling E, Oldenwening M, de Wind S, Bellander T, et al. Childhood cat allergen exposure in three European countries: The AIRALLERG study. Science of The Total Environment 2006; 369:82-90.
- 19. Munir AKM, Einarsson R, Schou C, Dreborg SKG. Allergens in school dust. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1993; 91:1067-74.
- 20. Wickman, Egmar, Emenius, Almqvist, Berglind, Larsson, et al. Fel d 1 and Can f 1 in settled dust and airborne Fel d 1 in allergen avoidance day-care centres for atopic children in relation to number of petowners, ventilation and general cleaning. Clinical & Experimental Allergy 1999; 29:626-32.
- 21. Almqvist C, Egmar AC, Hedlin G, Lundqvist M, Nordvall SL, Pershagen G, et al. Direct and indirect exposure to pets risk of sensitization and asthma at 4 years in a birth cohort. Clinical & Experimental Allergy 2003; 33:1190-7.
- 22. Lau S, Illi S, Sommerfeld C, Niggemann B, Bergmann R, von Mutius E, et al. Early exposure to house-dust mite and cat allergens and development of childhood asthma: a cohort study. The Lancet 2000; 356:1392-7.
- 23. Lau S, Illi S, Platts-Mills TA, Riposo D, Nickel R, Gruber C, et al. Longitudinal study on the relationship between cat allergen and endotoxin exposure, sensitization, cat-specific IgG and development of asthma in childhood--report of the German Multicentre Allergy Study (MAS 90). Allergy 2005; 60:766-73.
- 24. Dharmage SC, Lowe AJ, Matheson MC, Burgess JA, Allen KJ, Abramson MJ. Atopic dermatitis and the atopic march revisited. Allergy 2014; 69:17-27.
- 25. Darsow U, Vieluf D, Ring J. Evaluating the relevance of aeroallergen sensitization in atopic eczema with the atopy patch test: A randomized, double-blind multicenter study. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology 1999; 40:187-93.
- 26. Ito K, Bian HJ, Molina M, Han J, Magram J, Saar E, et al. HLA-DR4-IE chimeric class II transgenic, murine class II-deficient mice are susceptible to experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. J Exp Med 1996; 183:2635-44.
- 27. Schade AE, Schieven GL, Townsend R, Jankowska AM, Susulic V, Zhang R, et al. Dasatinib, a smallmolecule protein tyrosine kinase inhibitor, inhibits T-cell activation and proliferation. Blood 2008; 111:1366-77.
- 28. Bousquet J, Chanez P, Lacoste JY, Barneon G, Ghavanian N, Enander I, et al. Eosinophilic inflammation in asthma. N Engl J Med 1990; 323:1033-9.
- 29. Tateno H, Crocker PR, Paulson JC. Mouse Siglec-F and human Siglec-8 are functionally convergent paralogs that are selectively expressed on eosinophils and recognize 6'-sulfo-sialyl Lewis X as a preferred glycan ligand. Glycobiology 2005; 15:1125-35.
- 30. Stevens WW, Kim TS, Pujanauski LM, Hao X, Braciale TJ. Detection and quantitation of eosinophils in the murine respiratory tract by flow cytometry. Journal of Immunological Methods 2007; 327:63-74.
- 31. Bentley AM, Meng Q, Robinson DS, Hamid Q, Kay AB, Durham SR. Increases in Activated T Lymphocytes, Eosinophils, and Cytokine mRNA Expression for Interleukin-5 and Granulocyte/Macrophage Colony-stimulating Factor in Bronchial Biopsies after Allergen Inhalation Challenge in Atopic Asthmatics. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology 1993; 8:35-42.
- 32. Durham SR, Ying S, Varney VA, Jacobson MR, Sudderick RM, Mackay IS, et al. Cytokine messenger RNA expression for IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, and granulocyte/macrophage-colony-stimulating factor in the nasal mucosa after local allergen provocation: relationship to tissue eosinophilia. J Immunol 1992; 148:2390-4.
- 33. Wills-Karp M, Luyimbazi J, Xu X, Schofield B, Neben TY, Karp CL, et al. Interleukin-13: central mediator of allergic asthma. Science 1998; 282:2258-61.

- 34. Reefer AJ, Carneiro RM, Custis NJ, Platts-Mills TAE, Sung S-SJ, Hammer J, et al. A Role for IL-10-Mediated HLA-DR7-Restricted T Cell-Dependent Events in Development of the Modified Th2 Response to Cat Allergen. The Journal of Immunology 2004; 172:2763-72.
- 35. Kuhn R, Rajewsky K, Muller W. Generation and analysis of interleukin-4 deficient mice. Science 1991; 254:707-10.
- 36. Martin RM, Brady JL, Lew AM. The need for IgG2c specific antiserum when isotyping antibodies from C57BL/6 and NOD mice. Journal of immunological methods 1998; 212:187-92.
- Herre J, Grönlund H, Brooks H, Hopkins L, Waggoner L, Murton B, et al. Allergens as Immunomodulatory Proteins: The Cat Dander Protein Fel d 1 Enhances TLR Activation by Lipid Ligands. The Journal of Immunology 2013; 191:1529-35.
- Eisenbarth SC, Piggott DA, Huleatt JW, Visintin I, Herrick CA, Bottomly K. Lipopolysaccharideenhanced, Toll-like Receptor 4–dependent T Helper Cell Type 2 Responses to Inhaled Antigen. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 2002; 196:1645-51.
- 39. Yamamoto M, Sato S, Hemmi H, Hoshino K, Kaisho T, Sanjo H, et al. Role of Adaptor TRIF in the MyD88-Independent Toll-Like Receptor Signaling Pathway. Science 2003; 301:640-3.
- 40. Adachi O, Kawai T, Takeda K, Matsumoto M, Tsutsui H, Sakagami M, et al. Targeted Disruption of the MyD88 Gene Results in Loss of IL-1- and IL-18-Mediated Function. Immunity 1998; 9:143-50.
- 41. Kaisho T, Hoshino K, Iwabe T, Takeuchi O, Yasui T, Akira S. Endotoxin can induce MyD88-deficient dendritic cells to support Th2 cell differentiation. International Immunology 2002; 14:695-700.
- 42. Kaisho T, Takeuchi O, Kawai T, Hoshino K, Akira S. Endotoxin-Induced Maturation of MyD88-Deficient Dendritic Cells. The Journal of Immunology 2001; 166:5688-94.
- 43. Schnare M, Barton GM, Holt AC, Takeda K, Akira S, Medzhitov R. Toll-like receptors control activation of adaptive immune responses. Nat Immunol 2001; 2:947-50.
- 44. Barton GM, Medzhitov R. Toll-Like Receptor Signaling Pathways. Science 2003; 300:1524-5.
- Piggott DA, Eisenbarth SC, Xu L, Constant SL, Huleatt JW, Herrick CA, et al. MyD88-dependent induction of allergic Th2 responses to intranasal antigen. Journal of Clinical Investigation 2005; 115:459-67.
- 46. Zhang Z, Hener P, Frossard N, Kato S, Metzger D, Li M, et al. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin overproduced by keratinocytes in mouse skin aggravates experimental asthma. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2009; 106:1536-41.
- 47. He R, Oyoshi MK, Garibyan L, Kumar L, Ziegler SF, Geha RS. TSLP acts on infiltrating effector T cells to drive allergic skin inflammation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2008; 105:11875-80.
- 48. Kim BS, Siracusa MC, Saenz SA, Noti M, Monticelli LA, Sonnenberg GF, et al. TSLP elicits IL-33independent innate lymphoid cell responses to promote skin inflammation. Sci Transl Med 2013; 5:170ra16.
- 49. Moro K, Yamada T, Tanabe M, Takeuchi T, Ikawa T, Kawamoto H, et al. Innate production of T(H)2 cytokines by adipose tissue-associated c-Kit(+)Sca-1(+) lymphoid cells. Nature 2010; 463:540-4.
- 50. Barlow JL, Peel S, Fox J, Panova V, Hardman CS, Camelo A, et al. IL-33 is more potent than IL-25 in provoking IL-13–producing nuocytes (type 2 innate lymphoid cells) and airway contraction. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2013; 132:933-41.
- 51. Barlow JL, Bellosi A, Hardman CS, Drynan LF, Wong SH, Cruickshank JP, et al. Innate IL-13–producing nuocytes arise during allergic lung inflammation and contribute to airways hyperreactivity. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2012; 129:191-8.e4.
- 52. McMenamin C, Holt PG. The natural immune response to inhaled soluble protein antigens involves major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I-restricted CD8+ T cell-mediated but MHC class II-restricted

CD4+ T cell-dependent immune deviation resulting in selective suppression of immunoglobulin E production. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 1993; 178:889-99.

- 53. Llop-Guevara A, Colangelo M, Chu DK, Moore CL, Stieber NA, Walker TD, et al. In vivo-to-in silico iterations to investigate aeroallergen-host interactions. PloS one 2008; 3:e2426.
- 54. Spergel JM, Mizoguchi E, Brewer JP, Martin TR, Bhan AK, Geha RS. Epicutaneous sensitization with protein antigen induces localized allergic dermatitis and hyperresponsiveness to methacholine after single exposure to aerosolized antigen in mice. J Clin Invest 1998; 101:1614-22.
- 55. He R, Oyoshi MK, Jin H, Geha RS. Epicutaneous antigen exposure induces a Th17 response that drives airway inflammation after inhalation challenge. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2007; 104:15817-22.
- 56. Ma W, Bryce PJ, Humbles AA, Laouini D, Yalcindag A, Alenius H, et al. CCR3 is essential for skin eosinophilia and airway hyperresponsiveness in a murine model of allergic skin inflammation. The Journal of Clinical Investigation 2002; 109:621-8.
- 57. Huang CH, Chun Kuo I, Xu H, Chua KY, Lee YS. Mite Allergen Induces Allergic Dermatitis with Concomitant Neurogenic Inflammation in Mouse. Journal of Investigative Dermatology 2003; 121:289-93.
- 58. Pucheu-Haston CM, Jackson HA, Olivry T, Dunston SM, Hammerberg B. Epicutaneous sensitization with Dermatophagoides farinae induces generalized allergic dermatitis and elevated mite-specific immunoglobulin E levels in a canine model of atopic dermatitis. Clinical & Experimental Allergy 2008; 38:667-79.
- 59. Wan H, Winton HL, Soeller C, Tovey ER, Gruenert DC, Thompson PJ, et al. Der p 1 facilitates transepithelial allergen delivery by disruption of tight junctions. The Journal of Clinical Investigation 1999; 104:123-33.
- 60. Platts-Mills T, Vaughan J, Squillace S, Woodfolk J, Sporik R. Sensitisation, asthma, and a modified Th2 response in children exposed to cat allergen: a population-based cross-sectional study. The Lancet 2001; 357:752-6.
- 61. Diaz-Sanchez D, Garcia MP, Wang M, Jyrala M, Saxon A. Nasal challenge with diesel exhaust particles can induce sensitization to a neoallergen in the human mucosa. Journal of allergy and clinical immunology 1999; 104:1183-8.
- 62. Riedl MA, Landaw EM, Saxon A, Diaz-Sanchez D. Initial High-Dose Nasal Allergen Exposure Prevents Allergic Sensitization to a Neoantigen. The Journal of Immunology 2005; 174:7440-5.
- 63. Plantinga M, Guilliams M, Vanheerswynghels M, Deswarte K, Branco-Madeira F, Toussaint W, et al. Conventional and Monocyte-Derived CD11b+ Dendritic Cells Initiate and Maintain T Helper 2 Cell-Mediated Immunity to House Dust Mite Allergen. Immunity 2013; 38:322-35.
- 64. Willart MAM, Deswarte K, Pouliot P, Braun H, Beyaert R, Lambrecht BN, et al. Interleukin-1α controls allergic sensitization to inhaled house dust mite via the epithelial release of GM-CSF and IL-33. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 2012; 209:1505-17.
- 65. Botelho FM, Llop-Guevara A, Trimble NJ, Nikota JK, Bauer CMT, Lambert KN, et al. Cigarette Smoke Differentially Affects Eosinophilia and Remodeling in a Model of House Dust Mite Asthma. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology 2011; 45:753-60.
- 66. Platts-Mills TAE, Woodfolk JA, Erwin EA, Aalberse R. Mechanisms of tolerance to inhalant allergens: the relevance of a modified Th2 response to allergens from domestic animals. Springer Seminars in Immunopathology 2004; 25:271-9.
- 67. Erwin EA, Wickens K, Custis NJ, Siebers R, Woodfolk J, Barry D, et al. Cat and dust mite sensitivity and tolerance in relation to wheezing among children raised with high exposure to both allergens. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2005; 115:74-9.

- 68. Zhou D, Chen G, Kim J-T, Lee L-Y, Kang BC. A dose-response relationship between exposure to cockroach allergens and induction of sensitization in an experimental asthma in Hartley guinea pigs. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1998; 101:653-9.
- 69. Morokata T, Ishikawa J, Yamada T. Antigen dose defines T helper 1 and T helper 2 responses in the lungs of C57BL/6 and BALB/c mice independently of splenic responses. Immunology Letters 2000; 72:119-26.
- 70. Wang LF, Lin JY, Hsieh KH, Lin RH. Epicutaneous exposure of protein antigen induces a predominant Th2-like response with high IgE production in mice. The Journal of Immunology 1996; 156:4079-82.
- Porter PC, Roberts L, Fields A, Knight M, Qian Y, Delclos GL, et al. Necessary and Sufficient Role for T Helper Cells To Prevent Fungal Dissemination in Allergic Lung Disease. Infection and Immunity 2011; 79:4459-71.
- 72. Zhang Y, Zhou X, Zhou B. DC-derived TSLP promotes Th2 polarization in LPS-primed allergic airway inflammation. European Journal of Immunology 2012; 42:1735-43.
- 73. Spadoni I, Iliev ID, Rossi G, Rescigno M. Dendritic cells produce TSLP that limits the differentiation of Th17 cells, fosters Treg development, and protects against colitis. Mucosal Immunol 2012; 5:184-93.
- 74. Leyva-Castillo JM, Hener P, Jiang H, Li M. TSLP Produced by Keratinocytes Promotes Allergen Sensitization through Skin and Thereby Triggers Atopic March in Mice. Journal of Investigative Dermatology 2013; 133:154-63.
- 75. Nakajima S, Igyártó BZ, Honda T, Egawa G, Otsuka A, Hara-Chikuma M, et al. Langerhans cells are critical in epicutaneous sensitization with protein antigen via thymic stromal lymphopoietin receptor signaling. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2012; 129:1048-55.e6.
- 76. Nakai K, Kadiiska MB, Jiang J-J, Stadler K, Mason RP. Free radical production requires both inducible nitric oxide synthase and xanthine oxidase in LPS-treated skin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2006; 103:4616-21.
- 77. Iuvone T, Van Den Bossche R, D'Acquisto F, Carnuccio R, Herman AG. Evidence that mast cell degranulation, histamine and tumour necrosis factor α release occur in LPS-induced plasma leakage in rat skin. British Journal of Pharmacology 1999; 128:700-4.
- 78. Kearley J, Barker JE, Robinson DS, Lloyd CM. Resolution of airway inflammation and hyperreactivity after in vivo transfer of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells is interleukin 10 dependent. J Exp Med 2005; 202:1539-47.
- 79. Cottrez F, Hurst SD, Coffman RL, Groux H. T Regulatory Cells 1 Inhibit a Th2-Specific Response In Vivo. The Journal of Immunology 2000; 165:4848-53.
- 80. Zuany-Amorim C, Sawicka E, Manlius C, Le Moine A, Brunet LR, Kemeny DM, et al. Suppression of airway eosinophilia by killed Mycobacterium vaccae-induced allergen-specific regulatory T-cells. Nat Med 2002; 8:625-9.
- 81. Akbari O, DeKruyff RH, Umetsu DT. Pulmonary dendritic cells producing IL-10 mediate tolerance induced by respiratory exposure to antigen. Nat Immunol 2001; 2:725-31.
- Kulig M, Bergmann R, Klettke U, Wahn V, Tacke U, Wahn U. Natural course of sensitization to food and inhalant allergens during the first 6 years of life. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1999; 103:1173-9.
- 83. van der Hulst AE, Klip H, Brand PLP. Risk of developing asthma in young children with atopic eczema: A systematic review. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2007; 120:565-9.
- 84. Lee GR, Flavell RA. Transgenic mice which overproduce Th2 cytokines develop spontaneous atopic dermatitis and asthma. Int Immunol 2004; 16:1155-60.

Chapter 6: Inhibition of Allergic Inflammation by Peptide Immunotherapy is not Solely Dependent upon a Peptide's Affinity to the Presentation Molecule

Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

6. Declaration of Academic Achievement

Chapter 6. Inhibition of allergic inflammation by peptide immunotherapy is not solely dependent upon a peptide's affinity to the presentation molecule

D. M. Moldaver^{1,2}, T. Singh^{1,2}, I. Nayve^{1,2}, C Rudulier^{1,2}, M. Babra¹², M. Bharhani¹², J. Wattie^{1,2}, M. van Hage³, M. Inman^{1,2}, M. Larché^{1,2}.

- The following study will be submitted to Allergy, once Chapter 3 is accepted.
- Rights will be retained at submission.

Daniel Moldaver's contributions

As primary author, I was responsible for conceiving, planning, managing and contributing to all aspects of the study. I treated animals, performed mouse dissections, tracheostomies and MCh challenges, fixed tissues, performed histology, prepared cells for flow cytometry and proliferation assays, performed flow cytometry and ELISAs. M. Inman & M. Larche contributed to study design. T. Singh and I. Nayve assisted with the blinded quantification of histology & processing of tissues for flow cytometry. C. Rudulier & M. Bharhani assisted with flow cytometry. J. Wattie was responsible for mouse tracheostomies, and methacholine challenges. M. van Hage provided the cat dander extract. Analyses, statistics and figure generation were performed by myself. Manuscript preparation was performed by me, with guidance from M Larché.
Chapter 6: Inhibition of allergic inflammation by peptide immunotherapy is not solely dependent upon a peptide's affinity to the presentation molecule

D. M. Moldaver^{1,2}, T. Singh^{1,2}, I. Nayve^{1,2}, C Rudulier^{1,2}, M. Babra¹², M. Bharhani¹², J. Wattie^{1,2}, M. van Hage³, M. Inman^{1,2}, M. Larché^{1,2}.

¹ Department of Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON.

² Firestone Institute for Respiratory Health, St. Joseph's Healthcare, Hamilton, ON, Department of Medicine.

³ Department of Medicine, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden.

6.1. Abstract

Peptide immunotherapy is an effective, disease modifying treatment option for allergic diseases that consists of administering synthetic allergen derived peptides to induce T-cell hyporesponsiveness. Peptide recognition by T-cells is dependent upon peptide presentation within major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II molecules. To maximize the population coverage of clinical peptide based therapeutic strategies, peptides are chosen to promiscuously bind many MHC Class II molecules. This strategy has limited the ability to assess the role of a peptide's affinity to any given MHC Class II molecule. Studies of autoimmune disorders have demonstrated that peptides with a high-affinity to the MHC Class II molecule possess markedly greater suppressive capacity. Here, we have utilized a mouse model of cat allergy in mice transgenic for the human MHC Class II molecule, HLA-DR4 and a series of peptides with defined affinity to the HLA-DR4 molecule to investigate the role of peptide affinity during the treatment of allergic airways disease. We demonstrate that high and moderate affinity peptides significantly ameliorate airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR), and eosinophilic lung infiltration. In general, high-affinity peptides were efficacious at low doses, while moderate affinity peptides required higher dosing ($\geq 1 \mu g$) to evoke similar degrees of efficacy. Moreover, while low affinity peptides could not resolve AHR, they could attenuate eosinophilic inflammation. Finally, we demonstrate that the suppressive mechanism engaged by a peptide is not dependent upon peptide affinity, while defining a role for PD-1 and CTLA-4 during the establishment of tolerance following peptide immunotherapy. Taken together, our findings alleviate concerns that lowaffinity peptides may subvert clinical efficacy of peptide based strategies and support the selection of peptides to maximize population coverage.

6.2. Introduction

Allergic responses are driven by polarized T-cells that respond to common environmental allergens by producing exaggerated amounts of Th2 cytokines^{1, 2}. Th2 cytokines are central to the progression of allergic diseases, such as asthma. IL-4 production from polarized T-cells can induce B-cell class-switching, leading to the production of allergen-specific IgE^{3, 4} that primes granulocytes in the lungs. IL-5 and -13 are known to induce lung inflammation, airway remodeling and, perhaps as a result of these functions, airway dysfunction⁵⁻⁹. Pharmacotherapy of allergic disease attempts to alleviate the end result of the presence of these cytokines, ie.: the symptoms. In contrast, immunotherapies modulate the allergen-specific T-cell response in a manner that can modify underlying disease pathology and progression^{10, 11}. Immunotherapy with synthetic, allergen derived T-cell epitope peptides induces T-cell hyporesponsiveness comprised of epitope specific regulation^{12, 13} and reduced Th2 polarization^{14, 15}.

Recently, this approach has been employed for the treatment of patients with cat allergy. Intradermal administration of seven synthetic peptides derived from the primary cat allergen, Fel d 1 was found to be well tolerated¹⁶ and induce a persistent¹⁷, significant, reduction in patient symptoms¹⁸. The seven peptides employed in these trials were chosen for their ability to promiscuously bind many human major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II, in an attempt to circumvent issues that arise from the profound genetic diversity found in antigen presentation molecules.

To date, the role of peptide dose and affinity to the MHC class II molecule during immunotherapy have been predominantly researched in models of models of autoimmunity. Indeed, peptide therapy using analogs of the encephalitogenic amino-terminal myelin basic

protein (MBP) peptide Ac1-9, revealed that analogs with increasing affinity to the mouse antigen presentation molecule (H-2^u) were better able to prevent the onset of and treat existing experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)¹⁹. In a later study revisiting treatment of EAE with peptides, high-affinity peptides given to animals at high-doses were best able to protect mice from disease progression²⁰. Treatment of another autoimmune disease has revealed similar results. Nonobsese diabetic (NOD) mice are prone to the development of autoimmune type 1 diabetes. In these mice, disease progression is driven by a loss of T-cell tolerance towards the islet cell antigen p69 (ICA69) caused by the expansion of pathogenic T-cells recognizing the Tep69 T-cell epitope (peptide ICA69⁽³⁶⁻⁴⁷⁾)²¹. Treatment of NOD mice with a the Tep69 epitope does not slow disease progression, rather exacerbating autoimmunity²². ABBOS is a T-cell epitope peptide, recognized by Tep69 specific T-cells that possess markedly higher efficacy to the NOD mouse MHC Class II complex (I-A^{g7}). Treatment of NOD mice with a high-dose of ABBOS peptide protects mice from the development of diabetes²². Therefore, examination of autoimmune diseases has suggested that peptide immunotherapy using peptides at a high-dose that possess high-affinity to the presentation molecule is critical to efficacy. Problematically, in these models, treatment with low-affinity peptides or high-affinity peptides at a low-dose has been linked to disease exacerbation or, at least, a paucity of efficacy^{20, 22}. Clinically, the degree of genetic variation in human MHC molecules and co-dominant allelic expression precludes the ability to know whether a peptide administered to a person will have 'high' or 'low' affinity to the relevant MHC complex.

Interpretation of the relevance of using high-affinity peptides to treat autoimmune diseases, to the treatment of allergic diseases is clouded by important differences in disease etiology. In the aforementioned models of autoimmunity, upwards of 90% of disease progression

can be due to a single T-cell clone. Thus, deleting this T-cells with this idiotope, through highdose peptide administration is an attractive, effective therapy. In contrast to this, T-cell recognition of allergen is rarely driven by a single T-cell clone. Indeed, in a study using T-cells from the peripheral blood of 53 cat-allergic patients, T-cell epitopes were found to span the entire Fel d 1 molecule²³. Thus, nominating a single T-cell idiotope for deletion, that could provide protection to the entire population is likely impossible.

Efficacious peptide immunotherapy for the treatment of allergies has been linked to the evolution of regulatory T-cells, that can actively suppress allergen-specific responses^{12, 13}. Moreoever, we have demonstrated that peptide immunotherapy induces active immune suppression mediated by regulatory T-cells, not deletional tolerance, that effect tolerance through the spread of regulation to both linked²⁴ and related antigens²⁵. The spread of tolerance following peptide administration is likely the dominant mechanism that affords treatment with T-cell epitopes the ability to suppress responses to complex mixtures of allergens.

In light of the difference between allergic and autoimmune disease pathogenesis, lessons from autoimmunity advocating the use of high-dose, high-affinity peptides to delete specific Tcell clones may not apply to the treatment of allergies. Here, we sought to investigate the relationship between peptide affinity and dose with efficacious peptide immunotherapy for allergic airways disease. Using a humanized mouse model of cat allergy, we demonstrate that peptide affinity is not the critical determinant of efficacy, rather a combination of dose and affinity predicts efficacy. Evidence supporting low-dose therapy with high-affinity peptides is presented. 6.3. Methods

Mice

Female (4-5 weeks old, C57BL/6 background) transgenic mice ((B6.129S2-*H*2-*Ab1^{tm1Gru}* Tg(HLA-DRA/H2-Ea,HLA-DRB1^{*}0401/H2-Eb)1Kito) expressing the human HLA-DR4 MHC class II molecule were purchased from Taconic (Hudson, NY, USA). These animals lack endogenous (murine) MHC Class II molecules²⁶. Upon arrival, mice were allowed to acclimatize for one week prior to experimental use. Mouse were maintained in an ultraclean, specific pathogen free environment throughout experiments, and had *ad libitum* access to food and water. The McMaster University Animal Research Ethics Board approved all experiments. Procedures adhered to the Guide for Humane Use and Care of Laboratory Animals.

Cat allergen exposure and peptide therapy

HLA DR4 transgenic mice were sensitized to Fel d 1 via two intraperitoneal (IP) injections of recombinant Fel d 1 (2µg per 200µl) in alum (Au-Gel-S; Serva Electrophoresis), on days 0 and 14. Allergic airways disease was initiated through intranasal (IN) administration of cat dander extract (CDE; 10µg in 25µl PBS) on days 21-25. A single peptide of high affinity (Fel d 1²³⁻³⁸; Fel d 1³⁹⁻⁵⁵; Fel d 1^{Chain 2:56-71}), moderate affinity (Fel d 1¹⁻¹⁷, Fel d 1²⁹⁻⁴⁵; Fel d 1^{Chain 2:40-⁵⁵) or low affinity (Fel d 1⁵⁴⁻⁶⁹) to the HLA DR4 molecule was administered to mice on day 34, 41 and 48. Each peptides was titrated (administered at 100, 10, 1, 0.1 or 0.01 µg). Control mice received either 100µg of a control peptide derived from influenza virus hemagglutinin (HA^{306-³¹⁸) or sham (diluent, PBS). After the final peptide administration, animals were challenged intranasally on day 51 and 52 with 10µg CDE and resultant airway dysfunction and inflammation were assessed 48 hours post-challenge, upon animal sacrifice (Figure 1).}}

Measurement of airway responsiveness

Airway responsiveness was measured through the quantification of total respiratory system resistance (R_{RS}) by the FlexiVent ventilator (SCIREQ, Montreal, Canada), following a nebulized methacholine (MCh) challenge. Animals were anaesthetized via IP injection of Xylazine (10mg/kg; Bayer inc., Toronto, ON, Canada) and sodium pentobarbital (30 mg/kg; Ceva Sante Animale, Leneka KS, USA). A blunted 18G needle was inserted into the trachea of anaesthetized mice, following a tracheostomy, that was then connected to the FlexiVent small animal ventilator. Mice were maintained with a respiration rate of 150 breaths/min. 10 mL/kg (pressure limit 30 cmH₂O) and a positive end expiratory pressure of 2 cmH₂O. Upon mechanical ventilation, respiratory effort was halted to prevent uncontrolled interference, by pharmacological paralysis (20 mg/kg pancuronium; Santoz, Boucherville, QC, Canada) administration IP. Nebulized MCh doses (Saline, 3.125, 6.25, 12.5, 25 and 50 mg/mL) were administered to mice. Data was normalized by an inflation to total lung capacity prior to the commencement of the nebulized challenge and between each dose. The Flexivent ventilator collected airway resistance data via using "QuickSnap-150" perturbations. At the completion of the nebulized challenge, mice were sacrificed by exsanguination and tissues were collected.

Bronchoalveolar Lavage

Two aliquots of 250 μ L of phosphate-buffered saline were injected into the lungs, with the thoracic cavity intact. Each aliquot was injected and retrieved through the 18G tracheal cannula and allowed to steep for ~5 seconds, while the chest was massaged. Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid aliquots were pooled and centrifuged (150*g* for 10 minutes). BAL supernatant was stored (-20°C). BAL cells were enumerated by trypan blue staining and spread onto a microscope slide for differentiation, by cytocentrifugation (Cytospin 3 centrifuge; Shandon scientific, Sewickley, PA, USA). BAL cells were differentiated by Wright-Giemsa (Sigma Aldrich) staining and morphological characteristics by a blinded investigator, into: macrophages, eosinophils, neutrophils or lymphocyte. A total of 400 cells were counted per mouse.

Lung and Lymph node sample preparation

Mouse lungs were resected, following perfusion with PBS containing heparin (10 units/ml). The right lung was minced, and enzymatically digested for 90 minutes at 37°C on an orbital shaker. Enzymatic digestion was performed using 50 units/ml DNase (Sigma-Aldrich) and 300 units/ml type 1 collagenase (Worthington Biochemical Corporation) in RPMI-1640 media (Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 10% FBS (Invitrogen) and 1% pen/strep (Invitrogen). Lung debris was removed by passing the digestion product through a 70 μ m cell strainer (BD Falcon). The sample was centrifuged (300 x *g*, 10 min, 4°C), and the supernatant stored (-80°C) for later analysis. Lung cells were washed in buffered RPMI 1640 (10% FBS, 1% Pen/strep, 0.1% 2-mercaptoethanol (Sigma)), and enumerated using an automated cell-counter (Countess; Invitrogen). Lung draining lymph nodes (DLN), mediastinal and intrathoracic, were resected, pooled together, mechanically disrupted by mashing through a 40 μ m sieve (BD Falcon), washed and stored in supplemented RPMI-1640 media. DLN were enumerated using the cell-counter.

The resected left lung inflated (20 cmH₂O) and fixed using 10% buffered formalin, and histologically prepared by dehydration and paraffin embedding as previously described²⁵. Transverse sections (3μ m thick) were cut and stained with haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) and periodic acid Schiff (PAS) stains. First generation airways were examined using a digital image

analysis system (Northern Eclipse; Empix Imaging, Inc., Mississauga, ON, Canada) as described previously^{27, 28}.

Flow Cytometry

Fc receptors on prepared lung and DLN cells were blocked via a 30minute incubation with Fc receptor blocking antibodies (anti-mouse CD16/32; BD Biosciences). FC-blocked cells were washed with staining buffer (PBS supplemented with 2% FBS 0.1% sodium azide). Cells were stained with pre-titrated antibodies specific for cell-surface antigens for 30 minutes (4°C). Antibodies used included: PE and PerCP-CD4 (RM4-5; BD Biosciences), PerCp-CD8 (53-6.7; BD Biosciences), PE-Cy7-CD19 (1D3; eBiosciences), FITC-T1ST2 (CDJ8; MD Biosciences), PE-Cy7-CD69 (H1.2F3; eBiosciences), APC and PE-CD25 (PC61.5; eBiosciences), PE-Siglec-F (E50-2440; BD Biosciences), APC-Gr1 (RB6-BC5; eBiosciences), FITC-CD11c (HL3; BD Biosciences), PerCP-cy5.5-CD11b (M1/70; BD Biosciences), PE labelled lineage markers (CD3, CD19, CD11c, Gr1, MAR-1, Ter-119, Dx5 and CD11b; BD Biosciences), PerCP-CD45(30-F11; BD Biosciences), PE-Cy7-CD117(c-Kit; ACK2; eBiosciences) and APC-cy7 labelled Ly6A/E (Sca-1; D7; Biolegend). Surface stained cells were fixed in paraformaldehyde (1% PFA, 20 minutes) and stored in cell staining buffer till acquisition.

Cytokine and transcription factor analysis was performed following a non-specific, 6hour activation using PMA (20ng/mL), ionomycin (1mM/mL) and brefeldin A (10 µg/mL). Stimulated cells, following surface staining, were assessed for intracellular cytokine and Foxp3 expression were determined following manufacturer's instruction (BD Biosciences & eBiosciences respectively). Briefly, cells were fix in 4% PFA, permeabilized, washed twice, stained with pre-titrated antibodies for 30 minutes, washed twice and stored in cell-staining buffer till acquisition. Antibodies utilized include: PE-IL-4 (11B11; BD Biosciences), APC-IFNγ (XMG1.2; BD Biosciences), APC-IL-10 (JES5-16E3; BD Biosciences), APC-IL-5 (TRFK5; BD Biosciences), A488-IL-13 (eBio13A; eBiosciences), PE-Cy7-IL-17A (eBio17B7; eBiosciences) and PE-FoxP3 (NRRF-30; eBiosciences). Data was analyzed using Flowjo (Treestar) following acquisition using a FACSCanto II (Becton Dickinson).

Data Analysis

Data from two identical experiments has been pooled and are shown as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Data was analyzed through one-way ANOVAs and post-hoc, Bonferroni corrected t-tests. A $p \leq 0.05$ value was considered statistically significant. 6.4. Results

High affinity peptides, administered at low doses ameliorate airway hyperreactivity

Airway dysfunction due to allergic lung responses is commonly characterized by the establishment of airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) to non-specific stimuli, such as methacholine or histamine. This has long been a diagnostic feature of clinical allergic asthma²⁹, and is a conserved feature that reproducible in mice³⁰. To determine the functional impact of peptide immunotherapy with peptides of varying affinity to the HLA DR4 molecule, airway function was quantified. Specifically, following allergen challenge mice received a nebulized methacholine challenge, the respiratory system resistance was determined and the provocative dose causing a doubling in baseline resistance (PC₂₀₀) was calculated. A lower PC₂₀₀ indicates increased sensitivity to MCh and the presence of airway dysfunction.

Cat sensitized, sham treated animals challenged with CDE intranasally developed significant, robust AHR compared to sham sensitized/challenged animals (Figure 2A). Naive mice (sham sensitized/challenged) tended not to respond to nebulized MCh, as 7 of 10 mice failed to double baseline resistance. Treatment of cat sensitized animals with an irrelevant peptide (HA³⁰⁶⁻³¹⁸) failed to ameliorate CDE-induced AHR (Figure S1).

Cat sensitized mice received peptide immunotherapy with a series of high, moderate and low peptides. Intradermal administration of each high affinity peptide (Fel d 1 ^{39-55; 23-38; C2: 56-71}) significantly ameliorated AHR at a single dose. High affinity peptides attenuated AHR at low doses ($\leq 1\mu g$), with significant attenuation noted at a dose of 1 µg for Fel d 1^{C2:56-71}, 0.01 µg for Fel d 1²³⁻³⁸ and 0.1 µg for Fel d 1²³⁻³⁸ (Figure 2A). Intriguingly, dose-responsiveness was abnormal, adhering to a sigmoidal curve, rather than a more-typical hyperbolic model. R² values for the fit of a sigmoidal curve to Fel d $1^{(C2: 56-71)}$, Fel d $1^{(23-38)}$, Fel d $1^{(39-55)}$, are 0.14, 0.06, and 0.23, respectively.

In contrast to high affinity peptides, moderate affinity peptides (Fel d 1¹⁻¹⁷, Fel d 1²⁹⁻⁴⁵, Fel d 1^{Chain 2:40-55}) and a low affinity peptide (Fel d 1⁵⁴⁻⁶⁹) were markedly less capable of protecting sensitized mice from the development of AHR following intranasal CDE challenge. Indeed, only the moderated affinity peptide Fel d 1²⁹⁻⁴⁵ significant attenuated AHR. A notably higher dose of the moderate affinity peptide (10µg) was required to significantly reduce AHR. The remaining two moderate affinity peptide capable of suppressing AHR was also best fit by a sigmoidal curve (R^2 =0.22; data not shown). Therefore, of the seven tested peptides, all high affinity and one moderate affinity were capable of suppressing AHR. Treatment with high affinity peptides demonstrated a therapeutic effect at low doses (0.01 to 1µg) while the single efficacious moderate affinity required a much higher dose (10µg). Treatment with a low-affinity peptide, even at a high-dose of 100µg, failed to affect allergen-induced AHR. Interestingly, with titration, the maximal degree of AHR suppression does not appear to vary significantly by peptide affinity.

Peptide immunotherapy is hypothesized to effect tolerogenesis by recognition of an allergen fragment in a 'quiescent' immunological environment that favours subsequent epitope presentation by immature antigen presenting cells. To ensure that moderate and low-affinity peptides had not been sabotaged by a persistent inflammatory response arising from the day 21-25 intranasal CDE challenges, animals were sacrificed 7, 14 and 21 days after this period. These sacrifice dates correspond closely to the dates of peptide administration (Figure S2A). Compared to sensitized mice that are rechallenged with IN CDE, mice sacrificed 7, 14 and 21 days after

CDE exposure possessed no demonstrable AHR (Figure S2A) nor lung inflammation, as assessed by bronchoalveolar lavage eosinophilia (Figure S2C). Intriguingly, in addition to a lack of inflammation 7, 14 and 21 days after CDE challenge, serum IgE was not increased at these time points nor after sensitization (Figure S2D).

High, moderate and low peptides can equivalently suppress lung tissue inflammation

In addition to airway dysfunction, allergic asthma is typified by exacerbated Th2 cytokine secretion leading to eosinophilic inflammation of the airways³¹. Similarly, eosinophilic recruitment is a common feature of mouse models of allergic airways disease that, like human disease is mediated by enhanced production of IL-5³². The inflammatory status of mouse lung following peptide therapy and allergen challenge was investigated by examining peribronchial eosinophilia, by hematoxylin and eosin staining of histologically prepared lungs and eosinophils within the lumen of the lung, by examination of BAL eosinophilia. Sham treated animals and challenged animals were nearly devoid of peribronchial eosinophils (Figure 3). In contrast, sham treated, cat sensitized and challenged animals possessed a significant 25-fold increase in peribronchial eosinophils. All seven peptides (high, moderate and low) could, in a dose-dependent manner, significantly ameliorate peribronchial eosinophilia. While the maximally efficacious dose varied between each peptide, each peptide possessed a similar protective capacity.

Upon examination of the BAL, sham treated/sensitized animals possessed few eosinophils. In contrast, sham treated animals that received either an irrelevant peptide or peptide diluent developed 6 fold greater BAL eosinophilia (Figure S3). While both sham treated groups had a similar magnitude of eosinophilic infiltration, animals receiving peptide diluent were marked by a high-degree of variability within the BAL data. To account for the unpredicted

variation in BAL cell counts, comparisons were performed against mice treated with the irrelevant peptide. Similar to examination of peribronchial eosinophilia, each of the seven tested peptides significantly ameliorated BAL eosinophilia, compared to mice receiving the sham peptide (HA³⁰⁶⁻³¹⁸⁾. Taken together, mouse lung and lumen eosinophilia indicates that all peptides, regardless of affinity, possess a similar maximal protective capacity. Intriguingly, the dose of peptide that elicits maximal protection seem to depend on both peptide affinity and other, peptide intrinsic characteristics.

High affinity peptides provide reliable, consistent attenuation of eosinophilia at lower doses.

The titration of high-affinity peptides revealed that they did not inherently possess a greater suppressive capacity than peptides with a lower affinity. Intriguingly though, titration of high affinity peptides revealed a dose-response curve wherein therapy suppressive capacity increased with lower-doses of peptide. Titration of the high affinity peptide Fel d 1⁽²³⁻³⁸⁾ demonstrated variable protection at high doses (>10µg) as suppression of eosinophilia only occurred in one compartment at each dose. Treatment with 1µg, no therapeutic effect was noted. In contrast, low dose therapy with this high affinity peptide (0.1 and 0.01µg) demonstrated consistent effects, suppressing the accumulation of eosinophils in both the lung and BAL (Figure 4A and D). Similarly, titration of the high-affinity peptide Fel d 1^(C2:56-71) possessed variable effects at high doses (>10µg), but suppressed eosinophilic accumulation consistently at 1µg (Figure 4B and E). The last high-affinity peptide examined, Fel d 1(39-55) revealed robust attenuation of eosinophil accumulation at both high (100 and $10\mu g$) and low (0.1 and $0.01\mu g$) doses (Figure 4C and F). Thus, while high-affinity peptides tend to offer a more uniform, consistent suppressive effect at low doses, there does seem to be a degree of intrinsic peptide activity that influences the dose-response curve. Intriguingly, all high-affinity peptides possessed a bi-phasic activity profile. For instance, the high-affinity peptide Fel d $1^{(39-55)}$ significantly reduced eosinophilia when administered at 100, 10, 0.1 and 0.01, but not 1µg. The other high-affinity peptides performed similarly, although with less efficacy at higher doses.

Peptide function depends on an intrinsic factor in addition to affinity and dose

The mechanism of peptide immunotherapy is poorly defined. Some have suggested a preferential downregulation of Th2 antigen-specific responses, without evoking a concomitant rise in antigen specific regulation³³. Alternatively, we²⁴ and others³⁴ have demonstrated peptide immunotherapy to expand a population of T-cells that possess potent suppressive activity. Finally, models of autoimmunity have indicated the accumulation of co-inhibitory molecules, such as PD-1, may limit immune responses^{35, 36}. We hypothesized that peptide dose and affinity may critically determine which mechanism of tolerance arises.

The Th2 response, following peptide therapy, was assessed by quantification of T1ST2 expression on CD4+ cells. T1ST2 is a marker of murine Th2 T-cells³⁷. Approximately 1% of lung derived T-cells from sham-treated, cat sensitized and challenged mice were T1ST2 positive. Therapy with the high affinity peptides Fel d 1⁽²³⁻³⁸⁾ and Fel d 1⁽³⁹⁻⁵⁵⁾ failed to suppress the number of T1ST2 positive T-cells (Figure 5A), compared to sham treated animals. In contrast, the high-affinity peptide Fel d 1^(C2:56-71) significantly suppressed the number of Th2 polarized T-cells in the lungs of allergen challenged mice, in a dose-dependent manner. In keeping with previous observations that high-affinity peptides were generally more efficacious when administered at lower doses, suppression of T1ST2 expression waned when Fel d 1^(C2:56-71) was administered at a high dose. Similar results were observed upon the expression of T1ST2 in the draining lymph node of peptide treated and sham treated animals. Thus, despite being of a similar affinity, these peptides did not possess a similar ability to suppress the accumulation of

Th2 T-cells, indicating that peptide may employ a unique mechanism of action. Some peptides with lower affinities (Fel d 1 $^{(C2:40-55)}$ & Fel d 1 $^{(54-69)}$) were able to similarly suppress T1ST2 expression in a dose-dependent manner (Figure S4), while others (Fel d 1 $^{(1-17)}$ & Fel d 1 $^{(39-55)}$) were not.

Programmed cell death protein-1 (PD-1) is a co-inhibitory receptor expressed on CD4+ cells that, upon ligation by PD-L1 or PD-L2, limits CD4+ cell accumulation and activation³⁸. The expression of PD-1 on CD4+ cells following peptide immunotherapy was quantified in the lungs and draining lymph nodes. Approximately 0.5% of T-cells in the lungs of sham-treated, CDE challenged mice expressed PD-1. Peptide therapy failed to affect PD-1 expression in the lungs of mice. Intriguingly, expression of PD-1 was significantly and robustly upregulated in the draining lymph nodes of mice treated with the peptides Fel d 1⁽²³⁻³⁸⁾ and Fel d 1⁽³⁹⁻⁵⁵⁾, compared to sham treated animals (Figure 5B). A dose-dependent upregulation of PD-1 was noted. Intriguingly, the magnitude of PD-1 upregulation by Fel d 1⁽²³⁻³⁸⁾ therapy was greater than treatment with Fel d 1⁽³⁹⁻⁵⁵⁾. In contrast, Fel d 1^(C2:56-71), the peptide that suppressed T1ST2 expression, was unable to impact PD-1 expression. Of the moderate and low-affinity peptides, only therapy with Fel d 1⁽¹⁻¹⁷⁾ was similarly capable of enhancing PD-1 expression (Figure S5).

Expansion of regulatory T-cells has been theorized to contribute to the efficacy of peptide immunotherapy. FoxP3 expression, a marker of natural Tregs³⁹, and expression of the suppressive cytokine IL-10, a marker of inducible regulatory T-cells (Tr1)⁴⁰ were quantified. In the lungs of peptide treated mice, neither IL-10 nor FoxP3 expression was increased (Data not shown). In the draining lymph nodes, FoxP3 expression was significantly enhanced following low-dose therapy with Fel d 1⁽³⁹⁻⁵⁵⁾ (Figure S6). Therapy with Fel d 1 (23-38) and Fel d 1(C2:56-71) failed to upregulate FoxP3 in the DLN of allergen challenged mice, compared to sham treated mice. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA-4) is an inhibitor marker expressed on T-cells³⁸ that is critically linked to the functional capacity of regulatory, FoxP3+ T-cells⁴¹. While the total number of FoxP3 positive cells in the DLN was not changed following therapy, we investigated whether peptide administration enhanced the suppressive capacity of existing Tregs, through quantification of CD4+FoxP3+CTLA-4+ cells.

FoxP3 expression in the lung draining lymph nodes was also assessed. CTLA-4 was expression was low in sham treated mice. Peptide therapy with Fel d $1^{(23-38)}$ at any dose, and lowdose therapy with Fel d $1^{(39-55)}$ significantly and robustly enhanced the number of CTLA-4 positive FoxP3+ T-cells (Figure 5C). Therapy with the moderate affinity peptide Fel d $1^{(1-17)}$ at doses $\geq 1\mu g$ similarly increased the frequency of CTLA-4 expressing FoxP3+ Tregs in the DLN (Figure S7). Intriguingly, therapy with the high affinity peptide Fel d $1^{(C2:56-71)}$ significantly downregulated CTLA-4 expression at all tested doses.

Taken together, peptides of a similar affinity tend to possess a unique activity profile. Peptide affinity, nor dose, is an accurate predictor of which suppressive mechanism will be engaged by therapy, however, affinity and dose are predictors of the efficacy of therapy.

Peptide immunotherapy with a high affinity peptide can suppress the accumulation of ILC2s

Since the identification of type 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s) in 2010⁴², they have been implicated as important cells contributing to the elaboration, and potentiation of allergic lung responses⁴³⁻⁴⁵. ILC2s were identified as cells devoid of lineage markers (CD3, CD19, CD11c, Gr1, MAR-1, Ter-119, Dx5 and CD11b) that express T1ST2 and the lymphocyte marker, CD45. Sham sensitized mice, challenged with saline had few ILC2s in the lung (less than 1,000). ILC2s significantly accumulated in the lungs of sensitized, sham treated animals following CDE challenge. Treatment with the high-affinity peptide Fel d 1⁽²³⁻³⁸⁾, significantly attenuated ILC2 accumulation in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 6). The suppressive effects of Fel d 1⁽²³⁻³⁸⁾ waned at high doses, as mice treated with 100µg were not protected from ILC2 accumulation whatsoever. Surprisingly, no other peptide at any tested dose impacted the accumulation of ILC2s. Thus, peptide therapy appears to be capable of ILC2 suppression; however, this may be a feature unique to some peptides.

6.5. Discussion

Peptide immunotherapy has a long history of ameliorating immune responses through the induction of T-cell hyporesponsiveness. Here, we demonstrate that several peptides derived from Fel d 1 can each independently attenuate markers of allergic lung disease. Perhaps more importantly, these peptides, despite possessing vastly different MHC Class II binding properties, were all found to be equally capable of suppressing allergic inflammation. Finally, high-affinity peptides were demonstrated to effectively treat allergic inflammation and reduce airway dysfunction when administered at very low doses (0.01µg).

Peptide immunotherapy was originally discovered through the observation that peptides given to neonatal mice rendered them unresponsive to that peptide during adulthood⁴⁶. This phenomenon was transitioned to a therapeutic by administering MBP derived peptides to regulate EAE^{47, 48}. Peptide immunotherapy for the treatment of autoimmune diseases is intuitive, as autoimmune diseases commonly evolve from altered antigen presentation that fosters the development of autoreactive T-cells that avoided thymus regulation. Thus, the core progression of disease instructs peptide immunotherapy strategies.

Identifying therapeutic target epitopes for allergen derived peptide immunotherapy has proven more difficult, as allergy is not confined to specific HLA alleles, translating to a large, diverse population of putative T-cell epitopes responsible for allergic disease. To address this concern, early work with cat-derived peptides utilized long peptides (27 amino acids) that spanned several potentially dominant T-cell epitopes. Treatment with these peptides did possess some clinical efficacy, but was met with a high rate of adverse events⁴⁹⁻⁵¹. To circumvent safety issues associated with longer peptides, we've successfully, and safely¹⁶, employed several shortened CD4 T-cell epitopes to ameliorate allergen-specific responses in cat-allergic patients

Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

and generate lasting protection from symptoms^{17, 18}. The peptides utilized in these clinical studies were selected due to highly promiscuous MHC Class II binding, emphasizing population coverage, not the affinity of each peptide to MHC molecules. Studies of peptide immunotherapy for the amelioration of EAE and autoimmune diabetes have demonstrated that the tolerogenic capacity of a peptide is directly linked to that peptide's affinity to the MHC class II molecule^{19, 20, 22}. Thus, the concern arises that emphasizing population coverage may sacrifice tolerogenic capacity. In contrast to previous studies of peptide affinity, our data demonstrate that, for the amelioration of eosinophilic airway inflammation, peptide affinity to the MHC Class II molecule is not the dominant factor. Rather, we demonstrate that peptides of 'high, moderate and low' affinity can equally suppress the accumulation of eosinophils, albeit with different dose-response characteristics. High-affinity peptides tend to function maximally when administered at low-doses, while peptides of lower-affinity exerted robust, consistent suppression at higher-doses.

To our surprise, the titration of peptides revealed an unorthodox dose-response, highlighted by a waxing and waning of peptide efficacy with dose, best characterized by a sigmoidal curve. Perhaps, the loss and return of tolerance with increasing doses may demarcate a conversion point wherein the dominant mechanism of immune tolerance engaged by peptide administration switches. Extensive evidence has demonstrated that the dose of peptide administered can control the suppressive mechanism elicited. For instance, low-dose peptide administration has been linked to the expansion of IL-10 producing regulatory T-cells⁵². Highdose peptide immunotherapy effectively deletes epitope specific T-cells⁵³, making this an effective strategy for eliminating well defined, pathogenic T-cells. Finally, peptides can also be utilized to induce hyporesponsiveness, indicative of T-cell anergy⁴⁸. Thus, the sigmoidal doseresponse relationship may represent the progressive switching through these tolerogenic

mechanisms. Moreover, the ineffective doses may represent inefficient engagement of any one mechanism. The current study primarily examined mechanisms of active tolerance, and not anergy nor deletion; thus, the presented data do not comment upon this hypothesis. However, that individual peptides preferentially induced a single mechanism of tolerance (ie: PD-1 or CTLA-4) does provide some confounding evidence. A study examining the immune response immediately following peptide administration, rather than after the completion of a therapeutic regimen and antigen challenge is required to further define these dose-response effects. It is plausible that the allergen challenges may have obfuscated the dominant mechanism of tolerance.

The mechanism of tolerance engaged may be relevant to why peptides of lower affinity to the MHC molecule may effectively treat allergic inflammation. To date, effective treatment of autoimmune diseases has primarily depended upon the deletion of autoreactive T-cells^{22, 35}. In contrast to this, we and others, have demonstrated that effective peptide immunotherapy is associated with the establishment of IL-10 secreting Tr1 cells, and the spread of tolerance from T-cells specific for the treatment peptide, to T-cells specific to other epitopes^{13, 24, 25}. Thus, the relative importance of peptide affinity during treatment of autoimmune diseases versus allergic diseases may arise from the differential mechanisms associated with the therapeutic resolution of each disease.

The discussion of dose and affinity thus far has ignored the importance of intrinsic peptide properties. The concept that T-cell epitopes may contain intrinsic properties that preferentially drive polarized immune responses has been suggested in the past³³. Here, we demonstrate that peptides do not behave in a uniform fashion, rather they engage a unique tolerogenic mechanism, likely as the result of an undefined intrinsic factor. The suppressive

Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

mechanisms engaged by peptide administration were: upregulation of PD-1 in the lymph nodes, reduction of Th2 polarized T-cells in the lungs and an increased frequency of CTLA-4 expressing FoxP3+ Tregs in the DLN. Previously, we have observed the increased expression of FoxP3 within positive cells²⁵, but this marks the first observation of an increased number of regulatory FoxP3+ cells following peptide immunotherapy with Fel d 1 derived peptides. In our earlier studies, FoxP3 expression has primarily been examined in the lungs of mice or in the peripheral blood of treated patients. Thus, these studies not observing a role for FoxP3 may stem from anatomical difference as here, FoxP3 positive cells have been implicated in the lung draining lymph nodes. Intriguingly, previous studies have found peptide immunotherapy to be dependent upon IL-10²⁴. In the current study, we did not observe elevated levels of IL-10 producing cells in the lungs, nor draining lymph nodes following allergen challenge. It is plausible that mouse strain differences between this study (HLA DR4 transgenic mice on a C57BL/6 background) and previous work caused these divergent results.

The present work demonstrates that PD-1 may be increased following peptide immunotherapy with select peptides. PD-1 is a receptor that, upon binding the endogenous ligands, PD-L1 and PD-L2, suppresses T-cell activity through engagement of an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif (ITIM)⁵⁴. Indeed, PD-1 expression has been demonstrated to have a critical role in the maintenance of peripheral tolerance to allergens in healthy individuals⁵⁵, suppression of spontaneous autoimmune responses⁵⁶ and regulation of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)⁵⁷. We have not observed a role for PD-1 following peptide immunotherapy, although others have during whole-allergen immunotherapy⁵⁸. A regulatory role for PD-1 has been demonstrated during peptide immunotherapy for amelioration of EAE using peptides derived from major basic protein

(MBP). Therapy with a high-affinity MBP derived peptide is known to suppress the establishment and progression of EAE. In this model PD-1 is markedly upregulated on T-cells²⁰ and critical to the establishment of tolerance, as PD-1 deficient T-cells are refractory to peptide immunotherapy³⁶. However, PD-1 is dispensable for peptide immunotherapeutic regimens that rely on deletion of peptide-specific T-cells³⁵. Our data are in accordance with these studies and indicate that PD-1 may play a role in the maintenance of allergen-specific tolerance. Intriguingly, PD-1 appears to be one of many mechanisms that peptide therapy can engage to induce peripheral tolerance, as only three of seven tested peptides affected PD-1 expression. Engagement of the PD-1 pathway appeared to be primarily a peptide-specific feature and not one primarily determined by peptide affinity nor dose.

CTLA-4 is a potent regulator of immune tolerance. Indeed, CTLA-4 deficient animals die within 3-4 weeks of birth, following the development of multiorgan tissue destruction as a result of lymphocytic infiltration⁵⁹. Targeted deletion studies have demonstrated that CTLA-4 expression is an absolute requirement for Treg function, as FoxP3+ Tregs lacking CTLA-4 fail to sustain peripheral tolerance, despite the presence of fully-intact alternative suppressive mechanisms⁴¹. CTLA-4 has been identified as a critical mediator of normal responses to allergen, in healthy individuals, that acts distinctly from, but can synergize with, PD-1⁵⁵. A role for CTLA-4 during tolerogenesis following peptide administration has been previously demonstrated. T-cells from DO11.10 mice specifically recognize the ovalbumin (OVA) peptide OVA⁽³²³⁻³²⁹⁾. Treatment of BALB/c mice, following transfer of DO11.10 T-cells, with the OVA⁽³²³⁻³²⁹⁾ administration is completely reversed by antibody blockade of CTLA-4 during peptide treatment⁶⁰. CTLA-4 has also been implicated in development of venom tolerance

Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

within bee keepers. Upon repeated exposure to bee-stings, bee keepers mount a predominant IL-10 secreting Treg response (Tr1) towards subsequent exposures. Intriguingly, through *in vitro* suppression assays, the suppressive capacity of these cells has been demonstrated to depend upon the presence of IL-10, PD-1 and CTLA-4⁶¹. In the current study, we have, for the first time, demonstrated that therapeutic administration of allergen derived peptides can induce the expression of CTLA-4 upon FoxP3+ T-cells in the lung draining lymph nodes of mice.

In summary, we have demonstrated that the affinity of allergen-derived peptides to the MHC Class II molecule does not exclusively predict the maximal suppressive capacity of therapy. Rather, a complex interaction between dose and affinity has been resolved, wherein maximal suppression was achieved with low-doses of high-affinity peptides or higher doses of moderate affinity peptides. Finally, the head-to-head comparison of seven Fel d 1 derived peptides has revealed that each peptide possesses intrinsic characteristics that influences which mechanism of suppression is accessed. Thus, these findings support the practice of selecting peptides for clinical use based upon MHC binding promiscuity and alleviate concerns that low-affinity interactions may sabotage clinical efficacy. In addition, the enhanced suppressive capacity of high-affinity peptides administered at low-doses warrants further investigation of ultra-low dose strategies.

6.6. References

- 1. Robinson DS, Hamid Q, Ying S, Tsicopoulos A, Barkans J, Bentley AM, et al. Predominant TH2-like bronchoalveolar T-lymphocyte population in atopic asthma. N Engl J Med 1992; 326:298-304.
- Durham SR, Ying S, Varney VA, Jacobson MR, Sudderick RM, Mackay IS, et al. Cytokine messenger RNA expression for IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, and granulocyte/macrophage-colony-stimulating factor in the nasal mucosa after local allergen provocation: relationship to tissue eosinophilia. J Immunol 1992; 148:2390-4.
- 3. Vercelli D, Jabara HH, Arai K-I, Yokota T, Geha RS. Endogenous interleukin 6 plays an obligatory role in interleukin 4-dependent human IgE synthesis. European Journal of Immunology 1989; 19:1419-24.
- 4. Del Prete G, Maggi E, Parronchi P, Chrétien I, Tiri A, Macchia D, et al. IL-4 is an essential factor for the IgE synthesis induced in vitro by human T cell clones and their supernatants. The Journal of Immunology 1988; 140:4193-8.
- 5. Kung TT, Stelts DM, Zurcher JA, Adams GK, Egan RW, Kreutner W, et al. Involvement of IL-5 in a murine model of allergic pulmonary inflammation: prophylactic and therapeutic effect of an anti-IL-5 antibody. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology 1995; 13:360-5.
- 6. Hogan SP, Mould A, Kikutani H, Ramsay AJ, Foster PS. Aeroallergen-induced eosinophilic inflammation, lung damage, and airways hyperreactivity in mice can occur independently of IL-4 and allergen-specific immunoglobulins. Journal of Clinical Investigation 1997; 99:1329-39.
- 7. Foster PS, Hogan SP, Ramsay AJ, Matthaei KI, Young IG. Interleukin 5 deficiency abolishes eosinophilia, airways hyperreactivity, and lung damage in a mouse asthma model. J Exp Med 1996; 183:195-201.
- 8. Huang SK, Xiao HQ, Kleine-Tebbe J, Paciotti G, Marsh DG, Lichtenstein LM, et al. IL-13 expression at the sites of allergen challenge in patients with asthma. The Journal of Immunology 1995; 155:2688-94.
- 9. Wills-Karp M, Luyimbazi J, Xu X, Schofield B, Neben TY, Karp CL, et al. Interleukin-13: central mediator of allergic asthma. Science 1998; 282:2258-61.
- 10. Moldaver D, Larché M. Immunotherapy with peptides. Allergy 2011; 66:784-91.
- 11. Larche M, Akdis CA, Valenta R. Immunological mechanisms of allergen-specific immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol 2006; 6:761-71.
- 12. Tarzi M, Klunker S, Texier C, Verhoef A, Stapel SO, Akdis CA, et al. Induction of interleukin-10 and suppressor of cytokine signalling-3 gene expression following peptide immunotherapy. Clin Exp Allergy 2006; 36:465-74.
- 13. Verhoef A, Alexander C, Kay AB, Larche M. T cell epitope immunotherapy induces a CD4+ T cell population with regulatory activity. PLoS Med 2005; 2:e78.
- 14. Smith TR, Alexander C, Kay AB, Larche M, Robinson DS. Cat allergen peptide immunotherapy reduces CD4(+) T cell responses to cat allergen but does not alter suppression by CD4(+) CD25(+) T cells: a double-blind placebo-controlled study. Allergy 2004; 59:1097-101.
- 15. Alexander C, Ying S, A BK, Larche M. Fel d 1-derived T cell peptide therapy induces recruitment of CD4+ CD25+; CD4+ interferon-gamma+ T helper type 1 cells to sites of allergen-induced late-phase skin reactions in cat-allergic subjects. Clin Exp Allergy 2005; 35:52-8.
- 16. Worm M, Lee HH, Kleine-Tebbe J, Hafner RP, Laidler P, Healey D, et al. Development and preliminary clinical evaluation of a peptide immunotherapy vaccine for cat allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2011; 127:89-97, e1-14.
- 17. Couroux P, Patel D, Armstrong K, Larché M, Hafner RP. Fel d 1-derived synthetic peptide immunoregulatory epitopes show a long-term treatment effect in cat allergic subjects. Clinical & Experimental Allergy 2015:n/a-n/a.

- 18. Patel D, Couroux P, Hickey P, Salapatek AM, Laidler P, Larche M, et al. Fel d 1-derived peptide antigen desensitization shows a persistent treatment effect 1 year after the start of dosing: a randomized, placebo-controlled study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2013; 131:103-9 e1-7.
- 19. Metzler B, Wraith DC. Inhibition of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by inhalation but not oral administration of the encephalitogenic peptide: influence of MHC binding affinity. International immunology 1993; 5:1159-65.
- 20. Burton BR, Britton GJ, Fang H, Verhagen J, Smithers B, Sabatos-Peyton CA, et al. Sequential transcriptional changes dictate safe and effective antigen-specific immunotherapy. Nat Commun 2014; 5.
- 21. Karges W, Hammond-McKibben D, Gaedigk R, Shibuya N, Cheung R, Dosch H-M. Loss of Self-Tolerance to ICA69 in Nonobese Diabetic Mice. Diabetes 1997; 46:1548-56.
- 22. Winer S, Gunaratnam L, Astsatourov I, Cheung RK, Kubiak V, Karges W, et al. Peptide Dose, MHC Affinity, and Target Self-Antigen Expression Are Critical for Effective Immunotherapy of Nonobese Diabetic Mouse Prediabetes. The Journal of Immunology 2000; 165:4086-94.
- Counsell CM, Bond JF, Ohman Jr JL, Greenstein JL, Garman RD. Definition of the human T-cell epitopes of Fel d 1, the major allergen of the domestic cat. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1996; 98:884-94.
- 24. Campbell JD, Buckland KF, McMillan SJ, Kearley J, Oldfield WL, Stern LJ, et al. Peptide immunotherapy in allergic asthma generates IL-10-dependent immunological tolerance associated with linked epitope suppression. J Exp Med 2009; 206:1535-47.
- 25. Moldaver DM, Bharhani MS, Wattie JN, Ellis R, Neighbour H, Lloyd CM, et al. Amelioration of ovalbumin-induced allergic airway disease following Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy is not associated with induction of IL-35. Mucosal Immunol 2013; 7:379-90.
- 26. Ito K, Bian HJ, Molina M, Han J, Magram J, Saar E, et al. HLA-DR4-IE chimeric class II transgenic, murine class II-deficient mice are susceptible to experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 1996; 183:2635-44.
- 27. DiGiovanni FA, Ellis R, Wattie J, Hirota JA, Southam DS, Inman MD. Concurrent dual allergen exposure and its effects on airway hyperresponsiveness, inflammation and remodeling in mice. Dis Model Mech 2009; 2:275-82.
- 28. Hirota JA, Ellis R, Inman MD. Regional differences in the pattern of airway remodeling following chronic allergen exposure in mice. Respir Res 2006; 7:120.
- 29. Juniper EF, Frith PA, Dunnett C, Cockcroft DW, Hargreave FE. Reproducibility and comparison of responses to inhaled histamine and methacholine. Thorax 1978; 33:705-10.
- 30. Leigh R, Ellis R, Wattie J, Southam DS, De Hoogh M, Gauldie J, et al. Dysfunction and remodeling of the mouse airway persist after resolution of acute allergen-induced airway inflammation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2002; 27:526-35.
- 31. Bousquet J, Chanez P, Lacoste JY, Barneon G, Ghavanian N, Enander I, et al. Eosinophilic inflammation in asthma. N Engl J Med 1990; 323:1033-9.
- 32. Foster PS, Hogan SP, Ramsay AJ, Matthaei KI, Young IG. Interleukin 5 deficiency abolishes eosinophilia, airways hyperreactivity, and lung damage in a mouse asthma model. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 1996; 183:195-201.
- 33. Wambre E, DeLong JH, James EA, Torres-Chinn N, Pfützner W, Möbs C, et al. Specific immunotherapy modifies allergen-specific CD4+ T-cell responses in an epitope-dependent manner. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2014; 133:872-9.e7.
- Akdis CA, Akdis M, Blesken T, Wymann D, Alkan SS, Müller U, et al. Epitope-specific T cell tolerance to phospholipase A2 in bee venom immunotherapy and recovery by IL-2 and IL-15 in vitro. Journal of Clinical Investigation 1996; 98:1676-83.

- 35. Konkel JE, Frommer F, Leech MD, Yagita H, Waisman A, Anderton SM. PD-1 signalling in CD4+ T cells restrains their clonal expansion to an immunogenic stimulus, but is not critically required for peptide-induced tolerance. Immunology 2010; 130:92-102.
- 36. McPherson RC, Konkel JE, Prendergast CT, Thomson JP, Ottaviano R, Leech MD, et al. Epigenetic modification of the PD-1 (Pdcd1) promoter in effector CD4+ T cells tolerized by peptide immunotherapy. eLife 2014; 3:e03416.
- Löhning M, Stroehmann A, Coyle AJ, Grogan JL, Lin S, Gutierrez-Ramos J-C, et al. T1/ST2 is preferentially expressed on murine Th2 cells, independent of interleukin 4, interleukin 5, and interleukin 10, and important for Th2 effector function. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 1998; 95:6930-5.
- 38. Fife BT, Bluestone JA. Control of peripheral T-cell tolerance and autoimmunity via the CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathways. Immunological Reviews 2008; 224:166-82.
- 39. Fontenot JD, Rasmussen JP, Williams LM, Dooley JL, Farr AG, Rudensky AY. Regulatory T Cell Lineage Specification by the Forkhead Transcription Factor Foxp3. Immunity 2005; 22:329-41.
- 40. Groux H, O'Garra A, Bigler M, Rouleau M, Antonenko S, de Vries JE, et al. A CD4+T-cell subset inhibits antigen-specific T-cell responses and prevents colitis. Nature 1997; 389:737-42.
- 41. Wing K, Onishi Y, Prieto-Martin P, Yamaguchi T, Miyara M, Fehervari Z, et al. CTLA-4 Control over Foxp3+ Regulatory T Cell Function. Science 2008; 322:271-5.
- 42. Moro K, Yamada T, Tanabe M, Takeuchi T, Ikawa T, Kawamoto H, et al. Innate production of T(H)2 cytokines by adipose tissue-associated c-Kit(+)Sca-1(+) lymphoid cells. Nature 2010; 463:540-4.
- 43. Oliphant CJ, Hwang YY, Walker JA, Salimi M, Wong SH, Brewer JM, et al. MHCII-mediated dialog between group 2 innate lymphoid cells and CD4+ T cells potentiates type 2 immunity and promotes parasitic helminth expulsion. Immunity 2014; 41:283-95.
- 44. Halim TY, Krauss RH, Sun AC, Takei F. Lung natural helper cells are a critical source of Th2 cell-type cytokines in protease allergen-induced airway inflammation. Immunity 2012; 36:451-63.
- 45. Halim TY, Steer CA, Matha L, Gold MJ, Martinez-Gonzalez I, McNagny KM, et al. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells are critical for the initiation of adaptive T helper 2 cell-mediated allergic lung inflammation. Immunity 2014; 40:425-35.
- 46. Gammon G, Dunn K, Shastri N, Oki A, Wilbur S, Sercarz EE. Neonatal T-cell tolerance to minimal immunogenic peptides is caused by clonal inactivation. Nature 1986; 319:413-5.
- 47. Clayton JP, Gammon GM, Ando DG, Kono DH, Hood L, Sercarz EE. Peptide-specific prevention of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Neonatal tolerance induced to the dominant T cell determinant of myelin basic protein. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 1989; 169:1681-91.
- 48. Gaur A, Wiers B, Liu A, Rothbard J, Fathman C. Amelioration of autoimmune encephalomyelitis by myelin basic protein synthetic peptide-induced anergy. Science 1992; 258:1491-4.
- 49. Norman PS, Ohman JL, Long AA, Creticos PS, Gefter MA, Shaked Z, et al. Treatment of cat allergy with T-cell reactive peptides. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 1996; 154:1623-8.
- 50. Maguire P, Nicodemus C, Robinson D, Aaronson D, Umetsu DT. The Safety and Efficacy of ALLERVAX CAT in Cat Allergic Patients. Clinical Immunology 1999; 93:222-31.
- 51. Simons FER, Imada M, Li Y, Watson WTA, HayGlass KT. Fel d 1 peptides: effect on skin tests and cytokine synthesis in cat-allergic human subjects. International Immunology 1996; 8:1937-45.
- 52. Apostolou I, von Boehmer H. In Vivo Instruction of Suppressor Commitment in Naive T Cells. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 2004; 199:1401-8.
- 53. Liblau RS, Tisch R, Shokat K, Yang X, Dumont N, Goodnow CC, et al. Intravenous injection of soluble antigen induces thymic and peripheral T-cells apoptosis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 1996; 93:3031-6.

- 54. Parry RV, Chemnitz JM, Frauwirth KA, Lanfranco AR, Braunstein I, Kobayashi SV, et al. CTLA-4 and PD-1 Receptors Inhibit T-Cell Activation by Distinct Mechanisms. Molecular and Cellular Biology 2005; 25:9543-53.
- 55. Akdis M, Verhagen J, Taylor A, Karamloo F, Karagiannidis C, Crameri R, et al. Immune responses in healthy and allergic individuals are characterized by a fine balance between allergen-specific T regulatory 1 and T helper 2 cells. J Exp Med 2004; 199:1567-75.
- 56. Nishimura H, Nose M, Hiai H, Minato N, Honjo T. Development of lupus-like autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motif-carrying immunoreceptor. Immunity 1999; 11:141-51.
- 57. Salama AD, Chitnis T, Imitola J, Ansari MJI, Akiba H, Tushima F, et al. Critical Role of the Programmed Death-1 (PD-1) Pathway in Regulation of Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 2003; 198:71-8.
- 58. Swamy RS, Reshamwala N, Hunter T, Vissamsetti S, Santos CB, Baroody FM, et al. Epigenetic modifications and improved regulatory T-cell function in subjects undergoing dual sublingual immunotherapy. The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology 2012; 130:215-24.e7.
- 59. Tivol EA, Borriello F, Schweitzer AN, Lynch WP, Bluestone JA, Sharpe AH. Loss of CTLA-4 leads to massive lymphoproliferation and fatal multiorgan tissue destruction, revealing a critical negative regulatory role of CTLA-4. Immunity 1995; 3:541-7.
- 60. Perez VL, Van Parijs L, Biuckians A, Zheng XX, Strom TB, Abbas AK. Induction of Peripheral T Cell Tolerance In Vivo Requires CTLA-4 Engagement. Immunity 1997; 6:411-7.
- 61. Meiler F, Zumkehr J, Klunker S, Rückert B, Akdis CA, Akdis M. In vivo switch to IL-10–secreting T regulatory cells in high dose allergen exposure. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 2008; 205:2887-98.





Figure 1. Schematic depicting cat sensitization and treatment with peptides. HLA DR4 transgenic mice were sensitized to Fel d 1 via intraperitoneal (IP) injections of recombinant Fel d 1 (2µg) in alum, on day 0 and 14. Mice were challenged with CDE (10µg) on day 21-25, intranasally (IN). Sensitized mice were treated with three intradermal administrations of a single peptide (Fel d 1^{23-38} , Fel d 1^{39-55} , Fel d $1^{Chain 2:56-71}$, Fel d 1^{1-17} , Fel d 1^{29-45} , Fel d $1^{Chain 2:40-55}$, Fel d 1^{54-69} . Each peptide was titrated from 100µg to 0.01µg, by log doses, in parallel groups of mice. Sham treated mice received either peptide diluent (PBS) or an irrelevant peptide (hemagglutinin; HA³⁰⁶⁻³¹⁸). Following therapy, the immune response to CDE was recalled to the lung via a pair of CDE IN challenges (10µg). Mice were sacrificed 48 hours post challenge (day 54).



Figure 2. Low-doses of high affinity peptides ameliorate airway hyperresponsiveness. Mice were sensitized and challenged (denoted as '+'), following treatment with the indicated peptide/dose of peptide. Sham treated animals were sensitized and allergen challenged, but treated with PBS intradermally. Sham sensitized animals received saline throughout. Airway responsiveness was measured during a nebulized methacholine (MCh) challenge. From the total respiratory resistance, the provocative dose causing a 200% increase in baseline resistance was calculated (PC₂₀₀). PC₂₀₀ in animals treated with a high affinity peptide (A) and moderate/low affinity peptides (B). Data presented as mean \pm SEM (n=10-30; pooled from two-three independent experiments). The solid horizontal line demarcates the PC200 of sham treated mice. *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; ****, p<0.0001 between the indicated groups, as determined by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferronni corrected t-tests.



Figure 3. Affinity to the MHC molecule does not affect the suppressive capacity of Fel d 1 derived peptides. Peribronchial eosinophils, quantified histologically by haematoxylin and eosin staining, are shown. Saline mice were sham sensitized/challenged. Sham treated animals were sensitized and challenged with CDE, after treatment with PBS. The remaining groups are designated by the peptide that (C2:56-71, 39-55, 23-38, C2:40-55, 29-45, 1-17 and 54-69) the mice were treated with. The dose and affinity of the peptide are also indicated. Data presented as mean + SEM (n=10-30; pooled from two-three independent experiments). ****, p<0.0001 between the indicated groups, as determined by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferronni corrected t-tests.



Figure 4. High-affinity peptides suppress eosinophilia in the lungs of allergen-challenged mice in a dose-dependent manner. Sensitized mice were treated with a high-affinity peptides Fel d 1⁽²³⁻³⁸⁾, Fel d 1^(C2:56-71) or Fel d 1⁽³⁹⁻⁵⁵⁾ over a range of doses (0.01-100µg), challenged with CDE and resultant eosinophilia in the lung tissue (A, B and C) and bronchoalveolar lavage (D, E, F) are shown, respectively. Tissue eosinophilia was assessed by haematoxylin and eosin staining of histologically prepared lungs. Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) eosinophils were enumerated by trypan blue staining and quantified by morphometric characteristics after Wright-Giemsa staining. Sham treated animals were sensitized and challenged with CDE, after treatment with PBS or an irrelevant peptide (group: irrelevant, peptide HA⁽³⁰⁶⁻³¹⁸⁾. Saline mice were sham sensitized, treated and challenged. the mice were treated with. The dose and affinity of the peptide are also indicated. Data presented as mean + SEM (n=10-30; pooled from two-three independent experiments). *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; ***, p<0.001; ****, p<0.001 between the indicated groups, as determined by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferronni corrected t-tests.







Figure 6. Treatment with Fel d 1⁽²³⁻³⁸⁾ suppresses lung ILC2 accumulation following CDE challenge. Mice sensitized to cat were treated with the high-affinity peptide Fel d 1⁽²³⁻³⁸⁾ over a range of doses then challenged with CDE. Mouse lungs were assessed by flow cytometry for the presence of type 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s). ILC2s were characterized as cells lineage negative, and positive for T1/ST2 and CD45. Sham treated animals were sensitized to cat, treated with PBS and challenged with CDE. Sham sensitized animals received saline throughout. Data presented as mean+ SEM (n=10-20; pooled from two independent experiments). **, p < 0.01; ***, p<0.001; ****, p<0.001 between the indicated group and sham treated mice, as determined by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferronni corrected t-tests.



Supplementary Figure 1. Airway sensitivity of control animals. Mice were sensitized with Fel d 1 and challenged with CDE (denoted as '+') or sham sensitized with saline (Denoted as '-'). Sham treated animals were treated, as indicated, with PBS or an irrelevant peptide (group: irrel pep; $HA^{(306-318)}$). Airway responsiveness was measured during a nebulized methacholine (MCh) challenge. From the total respiratory resistance, the provocative dose causing a 200% increase in baseline resistance was calculated (PC₂₀₀). Data presented as individual points and mean \pm SEM (n=10-30; pooled from two-three independent experiments). *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; ***, p<0.001 between the indicated groups, as determined by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferronni corrected t-tests.


Supplementary Figure 2. Airway inflammation and hyperreactivity are resolved within seven days of intranasal challenge. HLA DR4 transgenic mice were sensitized to Fel d 1 via intraperitoneal (IP) injections of recombinant Fel d 1 (2μ g) in alum, on day 0 and 14. Mice were challenged with CDE (10μ g) on day 21-25. Parallel groups of mice were sacrificed 7, 14 and 21 days post CDE challenge (group: T7, T14 and T21, respectively). Control mice were sacrificed on day 54 after challenge with CDE (group: rechallenged) or saline (group: saline) on days 51 and 52. Airway responsiveness was measured during by a nebulized methacholine (MCh) challenge and resultant total respiratory system resistance (R_{RS}) was quantified (B). Eosinophils in the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) were enumerated by trypan blue staining and quantified by morphometric analysis following Wright-Giemsa staining. (C) Blood was obtained from sacrificed mice and IgE in the serum was quantified by ELISA. Data presented as mean \pm SEM or individual points plus mean \pm SEM (n=5-10 from a single experiment).



Supplementary Figure 3. Affinity to the MHC molecule does alter the ability of peptides to suppress eosinophil accumulation in the BAL of CDE challenged mice. Cat sensitized mice were treated with the designated peptide (C2:56-71, 39-55, 23-38, C2:40-55, 29-45, 1-17 and 54-69). The dose and affinity of the peptide are also indicated. 48-hours post CDE challenge, a bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) was performed; eosinophils were enumerated by trypan blue staining and identified by morphometric characteristics after Wright-Giemsa staining. Saline mice were sham sensitized/challenged. Sham treated animals were sensitized and challenged with CDE, after treatment with PBS (group: sham treated) or irrelevant peptide (group: irrelevant, peptide: HA⁽³⁰⁶⁻³¹⁸⁾). Data presented as mean + SEM (n=10-30; pooled from two-three independent experiments). **, p < 0.01; ***, p<0.001; ****, p<0.001 between the indicated groups, as determined by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferronni corrected t-tests.



Supplementary Figure 4. Treatment of cat sensitized mice with a moderate or low affinity peptide can suppress Th2 polarized T-cells in the lungs. Following treatment with a moderate-affinity peptide (Fel d 1^(C2:40-55)), or low affinity peptide (Fel d 1⁽⁵⁴⁻⁶⁹⁾) over a range of doses (0.01-100µg), sensitized mice were challenged with CDE. Mouse lungs were assessed for the presence of CD4+T1/ST2+ cells, by flow cytometry. Sham treated animals were sensitized to cat, treated with PBS and challenged with CDE. Data presented as mean + SEM (n=10-30; pooled from two-three independent experiments). *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; ****, p<0.0001 between the indicated group, as determined by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferronni corrected t-tests.



Supplementary Figure 5. A moderate affinity peptide can induce PD-1 expression in the draining lymph nodes of mice. Cat sensitized mice treated with a moderate-affinity peptide (Fel d 1⁽¹⁻¹⁷⁾ over a range of doses (0.01-100µg), were challenged with CDE. Lung draining lymph nodes were resected and assessed for CD4+PD-1+ cells, by flow cytometry. Sham treated animals were sensitized to cat, treated with PBS and challenged with CDE. Data presented as mean + SEM (n=10-30; pooled from two-three independent experiments). *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; ****, p<0.0001 between the indicated group, as determined by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferronni corrected t-tests.



Supplementary Figure 6. Low-dose therapy with a high-affinity can, but does not always, induce FoxP3 expression in the lymph nodes. Following treatment with a high-affinity peptide (Fel d 1⁽²³⁻³⁸⁾ (black circle), Fel d 1⁽³⁹⁻⁵⁵⁾ (blue square) or Fel d 1^(C2:56-71) (red triangle)) over a range of doses (0.01-100µg), sensitized mice were challenged with CDE. Lung draining lymph nodes (DLN) were collected and analysed by flow cytometry for the presence of FoxP3 expressing CD4 cells. Sham treated animals were sensitized to cat, treated with PBS and challenged with CDE. The horizontal line indicates the number of cells staining positive in sham treated animals. Data presented as mean \pm SEM (n=10-30; pooled from two-three independent experiments). ****, p<0.0001 between the indicated group and sham treated mice, as determined by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferronni corrected t-tests.



Moderate affinity (Fel d 1¹⁻¹⁷)

Supplementary Figure 7. Intrinsic peptide characteristics influence the mechanism of suppression engaged. Following treatment with a moderate-affinity peptide (Fel d $1^{(1-17)}$ over a range of doses (0.01-100µg), sensitized mice were challenged with CDE. Lung draining lymph nodes were assessed for the presence of CTLA-4 expressing CD4+FoxP3+ cells, by flow cytometry. Sham treated animals were sensitized to cat, treated with PBS and challenged with CDE. Data presented as mean + SEM (n=10-30; pooled from two-three independent experiments). ****, p<0.0001 between the indicated group, as determined by an ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferronni corrected t-tests.

Chapter 7: Discussion

7. Thesis rationale & synopsis Asthma afflicts an estimated 300-million people globally³¹⁶, and approximately 1-in-3 Canadians will develop asthma over their lifetime⁶. Allergic asthma is the most common clinical phenotype of asthma, with prevalence estimates ranging from 40-to-80%^{317, 318}. While many therapeutic options for the treatment of allergic asthma exist, the need for effective disease modifying therapies persists, as ~65% of Canadian asthmatics have poorly controlled disease⁵.

Allergen-specific immunotherapy (SIT) is a well-established treatment option for allergic asthma, possessing efficacy and disease-modifying effects that provide benefit to patients well after the cessation of treatment, limits the development of new sensitizations and halts the progression from allergies to asthma^{197, 319}. Peptide immunotherapy is a form of SIT that attempts to provide the same disease-modifying benefits while offering a better safety profile and an expedited treatment regimen. In this thesis, we sought to characterize mechanisms of peptide immunotherapy, thus the overarching hypothesis was, "Peptide immunotherapy is a disease modifying therapy that can protect mice from allergen induced inflammation". Early clinical research studies of peptide immunotherapy have demonstrated it to reduce allergic reactions, but the mechanism of action remains poorly defined. Here, we specifically sought to define important mechanistic aspects of peptide immunotherapy, as outlined within the extended hypothesis, "The induction of immunosuppression by peptide immunotherapy involves the infectious spread of tolerance beyond the treatment epitope, and is dependent upon treatment peptide dose and affinity to MHC". Through the definition of these mechanistic traits we hoped to expedite the design of future peptide based therapeutics, while also defining an untapped therapeutic avenue for future therapies to capitalize on, specifically, the induction of bystander tolerance. To address the hypothesis, we developed mouse models of dual-allergic sensitization

and allergic-sensitization in humanized, transgenic mice, that collectively enabled our investigation of infectious tolerance after peptide administration, and the role of peptide affinity for the MHC Class II complex.

Through two mouse models of dual-allergen sensitization, we demonstrated that peptide immunotherapy can evoke a bystander infectious tolerance effect, as we observed the amelioration of ovalbumin allergy following administration of either Der p 1 or Fel d 1 derived peptides. Through the treatment of HLA-DR4 transgenic mice with 7 peptides with known affinity to HLA-DR4, we demonstrated that the affinity of the peptide is irrelevant to the therapeutic potential, although, affinity did affect the dose-response relationship. Surprisingly, our development of the model of allergic sensitization in HLA-DR4 mice revealed a fascinating phenomenon, wherein we observed that application of high-doses of cat dander to a patch of disrupted skin failed to prime mice, while application of 'moderate' doses induced robust allergic disease. Through a series of investigations, we defined that epicutaneous sensitization is reliant upon TLR signaling, but were unable to define the mechanism of high-dose hyporesponsiveness.

In summary, mouse models of allergic airways disease were employed to examine the hypothesis; in this manner we demonstrated that the immunosuppressive effects of peptide immunotherapy are not limited to the treatment epitope, nor even the antigen from which peptides have been derived. Throughout this thesis, data presented have been discussed in the corresponding chapter. The remainder of this discussion will attempt to extend what has already been discussed by highlighting the relationship between the presented studies, discussing avenues for future studies and exploring concepts that augment the arguments made within the thesis.

7.1. Infectious bystander tolerance

Since the inception of peptide immunotherapy, attempts have been made to assess the ability of a single peptide to suppress responses to complex antigens. The first such study did not observe any spread of tolerance, as prophylactic treatment of mice with the 1-9 amino terminal peptide (1-9NAc) of major basic protein (MBP) could not prevent whole MBP induced EAE²⁵³. In contrast, subsequent studies demonstrated that tolerance could be spread beyond the treatment epitope. For instance, administration of the proteolipid protein (PLP) peptide 139-151 inhibited T-cell responses to both whole PLP and MBP in a model of EAE³⁰². Similarly, HDM allergic mice treated with Der p1⁽¹¹¹⁻¹³⁹⁾ became hyporesponsive to Der p 1⁽¹¹¹⁻¹³⁹⁾, Der p 1⁽⁷⁸⁻¹⁰⁰⁾ & Derp 1⁽²¹⁻²⁹⁾, although suppression could not be extended to a distinct antigen (OVA) in this model^{258.} ³⁰³. More recently, the ability of Fel d 1 derived peptides to induce linked-epitope suppression has been demonstrated, as treatment of cat allergic patients with a cocktail of 12 synthetic Fel d 1 derived peptides attenuated T-cell responsiveness to these 12, and four additional Fel d 1 epitopes²⁸⁷. Thus, current evidence suggests that peptide immunotherapy may be able to induce a bystander suppressive effect, but the requirements to elicit this immune response are unknown.

Through the treatment of mice allergic to two allergens, we demonstrated that peptide therapy with peptides derived from either Der p 1 or Fel d 1, followed by a period of allergen dual exposure (HDM + OVA or CDE+OVA), can suppress inflammation induced by challenge with ovalbumin, the bystander allergen³²⁰. Moreover, we demonstrated that the elicitation of bystander tolerance is not dependent upon the route of peptide administration. These findings provide mechanistic insights into peptide immunotherapy, suggesting that treatment with a select number of T-cell epitopes may suppress responses to whole allergen through an infectious spread of tolerance to bystander epitopes. These studies were the first to describe the ability of allergen-

derived peptides to induce bystander tolerance, beyond the treated allergen. It is unlikely that peptide immunotherapy is uniquely able to trigger this mechanism of tolerance; thus, if this is a clinically relevant phenomena, it is likely that past clinical studies of similar immunotherapies (i.e.: allergen-specific immunotherapy) have unintentionally induced bystander tolerance. Indeed, a literature review of allergen-specific immunotherapy identified several clinical studies that reported a bystander effect; although these results were often discussed as 'erroneous' or 'unexpected'. The first rigorously demonstrated clinical example of bystander tolerance was in 1988, when Løwenstein and colleagues treated patients allergic to the tree pollens birch, alder and hazel with either birch immunotherapy or a mixture of birch, alder and hazel immunotherapy for three years³²¹. In that study, subjects receiving mono-immunotherapy (birch alone) or the combination immunotherapy (birch, alder and hazel), were equally protected from skin-prick tests with each individual allergen and a nasal allergen challenge containing all three allergens³²¹. While this was not termed a 'bystander effect', a clear example of the phenomena was observed after birch immunotherapy. The development of a bystander effect without an explicit period of triple allergen exposure (ie: hazel and alder present in the context of birch) can be justified through the accumulation of environmental exposures over the 3-year treatment period. Retrospective analysis of the environmental pollen levels of hazel and alder during the treatment period (1980-83), if available, could shed light on the plausibility of this hypothesis and indicate possible tolerogenic threshold exposure levels.

Løwenstein and colleagues have observed several other instances of bystander effects, post immunotherapy. In 1986, a trial designed to investigate the efficacy of cat and dog immunotherapy demonstrated that individuals treated with cat dander tolerated bronchial provocation with either cat or dog dander³²². Finally, the most robust demonstration of bystander

tolerance comes from a double-blind, placebo controlled trial of immunotherapy in allergic children also performed by Løwenstein and colleagues. Twenty-nine children allergic to both a perennial allergen (cat or house dust mite) and a pollen (birch or timothy) were randomized to receive either immunotherapy for both the perennial and pollen allergy, or placebo and immunotherapy for the pollen allergy. Following 3-years of treatment, bronchial sensitivity to the perennial allergen (cat or house dust mite) was assessed by a nebulized allergen challenge. Children in the pollen immunotherapy plus placebo group demonstrated significantly decreased sensitivity to provocation with the perennial allergen³²³, thereby demonstrating a bystander effect of pollen immunotherapy in allergic asthmatic children.

Importantly, the Lowenstein lab is not the only research group to document a bystander effect after immunotherapy. In 2007, birch allergic subjects were given 52 week of birch pollen SLIT and T-cell responses were examined after 4 and 52 weeks of therapy. After 4 weeks of therapy, IL-10 and FoxP3 expression was enhanced in the peripheral blood, and *ex vivo* responses to the treated allergen (Bet v 1), a cross-reactive allergen (Mal d 1) and an unrelated antigen, tetanus toxoid, were all impaired²¹⁶. This effect was T-cell mediated, and dependent upon IL-10 and CD25+ T-cells. Later examination of these same patients revealed that, Mal d 1 and tetanus toxoid responses returned as IL-10 and FoxP3 expression in PBMCs declined. Thus, as evidence of active regulation waned, so did the bystander effect. This study establishes a mechanistic link between the activity of regulatory T-cells and the development of bystander tolerance, while also providing supporting external clinical validation.

Cumulatively, these trials support the hypothesis that bystander tolerance may evolve following immunotherapy, but they are not conclusive. For instance, the trial of pollen immunotherapy in dual allergic children³²³ represents the most direct assessment of a functional

bystander effect; however, this trial lacked a placebo group. Thus, whether the improved responsiveness to perennial allergen in children receiving pollen immunotherapy was due to a bystander effect or a natural resolution of the perennial allergy is unclear. To directly assess the ability of immunotherapy to induce bystander tolerance, a trial of immunotherapy in dual allergic-individuals that controlled exposure to one of the two allergens would be required. An ideal study of this nature could examine people with a dust and pollen sensitivity, in a climate largely devoid of dust (ie: Northern Sweden). A less costly, proof-of-concept study could consist of a retrospective analysis of human samples (blood and PBMCs) from a placebo controlled trial of immunotherapy (for example^{205, 269}), wherein specific-antibody titers and T-cell responsiveness to other environmentally relevant allergens could be in investigated.

As discussed in chapter 6, during design of peptide based therapeutics, peptides are chosen based upon their ability to bind many HLA molecules. Our demonstration of bystander tolerance further justifies this practice, as our observations define a mechanism wherein a limited number of peptides can induce the spread of tolerance to a complex allergen, emphasizing that optimization of population coverage may indeed be the most important characteristic during the development of peptide based therapeutics.

In both our demonstrations of bystander tolerance, we observed increased IL-10 expression. In models of transplantation tolerance, bystander tolerance has been show to be dependent upon the persistent presence of FoxP3+ T-cells²⁹⁹ that alter the phenotype of antigenpresenting cells in a manner that IL-10 producing T-cells cannot³⁰⁹. Thus, whether peptide immunotherapy of allergies is inducing a form of bystander tolerance with different mechanistic requirements (IL-10 vs. FoxP3), or whether both of these regulatory molecules are required, but at different time-points, remains to be investigated. The use of IL-10 neutralizing antibodies and

McMaster University - Medical Sciences

mice with FoxP3 linked expression of the diptheria toxin (DT) receptor could be utilized to transiently deplete IL-10 and FoxP3 activity, thereby enabling research into their relative roles during establishment of bystander tolerance in allergy without permanently compromising the ability of T-cell to regulate allergen challenge.

In Chapter 6, we observed increased CTLA-4 and PD-1 expression by T-cells after peptide immunotherapy, and that the expression of these molecules correlated with protection from subsequent antigen challenge. Intriguingly, exogenous CTLA-4 therapy has been demonstrated to induce infectious tolerance³²⁴. Thus, it is plausible that increased expression of CTLA-4, and perhaps PD-1, by peptide immunotherapy contributed to the development of bystander tolerance. To investigate this hypothesis, we could employ our models of bystander tolerance and administer neutralizing anti-CTLA-4 and PD-1 antibodies.

Taken together, we have demonstrated that Fel d 1 and Der p 1 derived peptides can evoke tolerance to both the allergen from which they were derived (cat and house dust mite) and also to an unrelated allergen. This phenomenon was demonstrated using peptides administered at very low doses, through a clinically relevant route. We believe that the employment of low-dose therapy was critical to our demonstration of bystander tolerance. Most clinical immunotherapy regimens stress the use of the highest dose possible, but high-dose peptide is known to delete specific T-cells. Thus, it is plausible that current clinical best practices may systematically prevent the development of bystander tolerance. It would be intriguing to assess the ability of high dose (100-400µg) peptide to induce bystander tolerance to potentially disprove this hypothesis. Further, performing such an experiment in HLA-DR4 transgenic mice would enable the accurate tracking of antigen-specific T-cell deletion through the use of commercially available PE-labelled DR4 tetramers.

7.2. Development of an adjuvant based model of cat allergic airways disease in HLA-DR4 transgenic mice

We set out to develop a model of cat allergy that replicated salient features of allergic asthma in humans, such as the development of Th2 inflammation and airway dysfunction in response to an allergen challenge. To enable investigation of mechanisms of peptide immunotherapy, humanized HLA DR4 transgenic mice were employed, as they enabled the tracking of antigen-specific T-cells (primarily performed in Chapter 5) and investigation of how peptide affinity for the presentation molecule affects the development of tolerance (Chapter 6).

We demonstrated that intraperitoneal injection of Fel d 1 in alum primes HLA DR4 mice to develop the cardinal features of asthma, such as AHR and eosinophilia, in response to subsequent intranasal CDE challenge. Development of this model revealed several potentially broadly relevant immunological trends, i) high-dose CDE IN challenge converted the induced disease phenotype from predominantly Th2 towards Th1, ii) high-dose CDE IN challenge induced airways disease refractory to therapeutic intervention and iii) eosinophilia in airway tissues but not the lumen, correlated with the development of airway dysfunction.

Our observation that the dose of allergen challenge controls the disease phenotype that manifests may be relevant to efforts attempting to 'endotype' asthmatic diseases. For instance, several recent studies have successfully utilized anti-Th2 therapeutics (anti-IL-5 and IL-13 antibodies) to attenuate symptoms of allergic asthma, in patients with a high-Th2 disease phenotype^{325, 326}. Our results suggest that the disease phenotype apparent at clinical trial enrolment may simply be a result of whether the subject had recently encountered a large or small dose of allergen. This may be of considerable importance to the recruitment of patients to clinical trials, as subjects likely amenable to a therapy may be excluded simply based on their

McMaster University - Medical Sciences

recent exposure history, and vice versa. We propose that a patient screening process involving an allergen challenge titration may better stratify patients and predict therapeutic responsiveness.

Not only did high-dose CDE challenge induce a deviated immune response, but this response was also treatment-refractory, as therapy with either peptides or high-dose, systemically administered budesonide failed to resolve AHR. Several models of treatment-refractory allergic airways disease have been developed; however, our model is the first to demonstrate that this can be achieved simply through titrating the challenge dose upwards. Some have suggested that treatment refractory asthma may be due to enhanced involvement of ILC2s, as ILC2s are insensitive to corticosteroids^{327, 328}. To test such a hypothesis, we could examine whether ILC2 depletion restored sensitivity to peptide therapy and corticosteroids, in our model of treatment refractory allergic airways disease. While ILC2 depletion is complex, we could employ a Thy disparate system to perform this experiment, wherein T and B lymphocytes from a Thy1.2 mouse are adoptively transferred into Thy1.1, RAG deficient mouse, thereby enabling the selective depletion of ILC2s through administration of a depleting Thy1.1 antibody.

Taken together, the adjuvant-based model of cat allergy in HLA-DR4 mice successfully generated a Th2-high model of disease, appropriate for study of peptide immunotherapy, while also incidentally creating a model of allergic disease consisting of airway neutrophilia and marked airway dysfunction that is reminiscent of severe, treatment-refractory asthma. The severe-asthma-like model warrants future study, as it may enable the evaluation and identification of biomarkers and therapeutics that could help patients with severe-asthma.

7.3. Epicutaneous CDE exposure

In parallel with our development of an adjuvant dependent model of cat allergy, we developed an adjuvant free model of cat allergy, that consisted of applying cat dander to patches

of disrupted skin. Inspiration to develop a model of epicutaneous sensitization to cat dander was drawn from the robust Th2 polarization elicited by epicutaneous exposure to peanut^{329, 330} and ovalbumin³³¹, by others. Furthermore, we believed that this model, as it lacked an adjuvant, may better replicate Th2 responses in humans, potentially making epicutaneously sensitized animals better able to evaluate and predict the efficacy of therapeutics. We demonstrated that epicutaneous exposure to cat dander induced Th2 polarization in both HLA-DR4 and C57BL/6 mice, as intranasal CDE challenge induced eosinophil recruitment to the lungs and Th2 cytokine expression by T-cells. Through the use of HLA-DR4 tetramers, we demonstrated that allergen challenge preferentially induced cat-specific T-cells to increase the production of Th2 cytokines, while polyclonal T-cell responses were inconsistent.

To develop the protocol for epicutaneous sensitization of mice to cat dander, the dose of CDE applied to the skin was titrated. To our surprise, cutaneous application of high-dose CDE failed to prime a robust Th2 response, as intranasal CDE challenge in these mice failed to induce airway eosinophilia or enhanced Th2 cytokine expression. Experiments were designed to determine the mechanism through which high-dose CDE impaired inflammatory responses; specifically, we investigated whether high-dose CDE induced regulatory T-cells and whether high-dose hyporesponsiveness was due to TLR ligands in the allergen preparation.

Similarities between the inability of high-dose CDE to induce allergic responses can be drawn to the modified Th2 response, wherein people exposed to high-doses of Fel d 1 tolerate challenge with cat dander³³². The modified Th2 response is characterized by the development of cat specific IgG, but not IgE, and in HLA-DR7 positive individuals, an increased production of IL-10 by T-cells stimulated with cat derived peptides³³³. A limitation of the HLA-DR4 mouse model is that we have consistently been unable to identify antibody responses. Indeed, we've

largely been unable to detect IgE in undiluted blood by ELISA. While IgG antibodies are detectable, they are several log-fold lower than in other mice, for instance, low µg levels rather than mg levels. In our model, an enhanced IgG response induced by high-dose cat dander would explain subsequent hyporesponsiveness, while also being congruent with the observed early peak in IL-4 production by T-cells in the skin draining lymph nodes 10 days after the commencement of cutaneous priming. Yet, quantification of IgE, IgG1, IgG2a and IgG2c revealed antibodies levels to be unchanged following cutaneous exposure to CDE at any dose, in both HLA-DR4 and wild type (C57BL/6) mice. These results indicate that a mechanism wherein high-dose CDE is impairing subsequent inflammation through the induction of IgG antibodies is unlikely; however, such a mechanism was not completely ruled out. A serum transfer, from animals receiving high-dose cutaneous CDE exposure into CDE-primed animals could conclusively ascertain whether blocking antibodies were responsible for the functional allergic hyporesponsiveness.

To generate clues that may reveal the mechanism of high-dose CDE induced allergen hyporesponsiveness, we performed a kinetic examination of animals before, during and after cutaneous exposure. Analysis of antigen-specific T-cells revealed that high-dose CDE induced more antigen-specific T-cells and production of IL-4 than did animals exposed to a sensitizing dose of CDE. We hypothesized that, perhaps like OVA tolerance, that a self-terminating immune response may be induced by high-dose CDE exposure, characterized by early immune activation that is rapidly quieted by immunosuppression^{138, 140}. Previously, this subversion of early immune activation has been accredited to IL-10 production by dendritic cells¹⁴⁰, but altered APC behaviour could also explain the observed effects. To investigate whether high-dose CDE is altering APC behaviour, we propose an experiment wherein FITC-conjugated CDE is applied to the skin, thereby labeling all skin-derived cat presenting APCs for phenotypic analysis.

It is possible that high-doses of CDE fail to prime allergic responses because of correspondingly greater levels of TLR-activating contamination, that could subvert the development of Th2 responses¹⁶². We investigated this hypothesis by removing the ability of mice to respond to TLR ligands. To our surprise, MyD88 deficient animals could not be sensitized to CDE applied cutaneously. This unexpected finding impaired our ability to determine if contaminants in the high-dose CDE preparation were disrupting allergic sensitization. Further investigations into the role of TLR ligands during epicutaneous sensitization are warranted. Specifically, a more refined strategy, such as the use of TLR-4 deficient mice (ie: C3H/HeJ¹⁶⁰), may allow for the development of allergic sensitization, thereby enabling determination of whether LPS concentrations are impairing the development of immune responsiveness. Results from this study would dictate whether examining the role of other TLR ligands was warranted.

The epicutaneous model of cat dander allergy was refractory to intradermal therapy with peptides, several potential mechanisms could account for this. For instance, disruption of the stratum corneum is known to induce APC activation³³⁰ and epicutaneous sensitization has been linked to thickening of the dermis³³⁴. Thus, we hypothesize that intradermal peptide injection may have failed to treat mice due to the peptides being trapped within the altered skin structure. To investigate this, radiolabeled peptides could be injected into the skin of epicutaneously sensitization would be revealed by impaired spread beyond the injection site. Alternatively, it is possible that epicutaneous allergen exposure leads to a inflammation in the skin and draining lymph nodes that persisted until the therapeutic intervention. The efficacy of immunotherapy is hypothesized to rely upon the presentation of peptides by immature/semi-mature DCs, and

induced activation of DCs (by agonistic CD40-antibody³³⁵, or LPS²⁸¹) has been shown to subvert the development of peptide induced tolerance. Studies proposed earlier to phenotype APCs during epicutaneous allergen exposure could also provide supportive evidence, by ascertaining whether the skin-draining lymph nodes were persistent inflamed.

To conclude, we demonstrated that epicutaneous exposure to cat dander extract primed mice to develop eosinophilic inflammation and airway dysfunction upon intranasal challenge with cat dander extract. Surprisingly, and out-of-keeping with current dogma, epicutaneous exposure to high-dose CDE failed to prime an allergic response. The mechanism by which highdose CDE exposure acted through was investigated using several techniques, but could not be defined. During these investigations, we investigated the role of TLR ligands through exposing MyD88 deficient mice to sensitizing and high-dose CDE. These studies revealed that epicutaneous sensitization is dependent upon MyD88 activity, as MyD88 deficient mice could not be sensitized. Taken together, these studies contribute to the understanding of epicutaneous sensitization while also highlighting a novel, potentially therapeutic allergen-exposure strategy. Further studies comparing and contrasting the development of a 'modified-type 2 response' in humans, with our studies of high-dose induced allergen-specific hyporesponsiveness will shed light upon potential clinical applications of these findings.

7.4. The role of peptide affinity and dose during the establishment of immune tolerance

In Chapter 6 we investigated whether peptide affinity for the MHC complex predicted the efficacy of peptide immunotherapy. Heterogeneous, unexpected, results were generated. In contrast to previous studies examining the interplay between peptide affinity and the efficacy of peptide immunotherapy, we observed that peptide affinity for the MHC complex was not the sole determinant of the tolerogenic capacity of a peptide. Instead, our data indicate that the affinity of

the peptide shifts the dose-response curve, as high-affinity peptides protected mice from allergic disease at low-doses, while moderate/low affinity peptides were optimally tolerogenic at higher doses. Indeed, we observed that high affinity peptides were maximally effective at ameliorating eosinophilic responses at very low doses (0.01-to-1 μ g).

To date, studies examining the role of peptide dose and affinity have exclusively been performed in models of autoimmunity. In 1993, prophylactic administration of a high-dose, highaffinity peptide (100 μ g, intranasally) to mice was found to block the progression of EAE³³⁶. Subsequent studies by the same group demonstrated that high-dose peptide administration was better able to modulate EAE clinical score than lower doses²⁹⁸; however, in this study, therapy with a low dose (0.8µg) delayed disease-on-set as well as high dose therapy and induced similar levels of IL-10 expression. In another model, peptide immunotherapy with a high-dose of highaffinity peptide ameliorated onset of diabetes in NOD mice, while high-dose administration of a low-affinity peptide exacerbated disease³³⁷. Intriguingly, low-dose therapy with a high-affinity peptide also exacerbated diabetes in NOD Mice³³⁷. Thus, to date, evidence from models of autoimmunity have predominantly supported the hypothesis that high-affinity, high-dose peptide administration is required to generate a therapeutic effect. We demonstrated that this dogma may not pertain to the treatment of cat allergy, as treatment with low/moderate affinity peptides or high-affinity peptides at low doses both inhibited subsequent immune responses. Lending further credence to the potential importance of low-dose therapy are our observations that bystander tolerance can be induced with low-doses of peptide (0.1 to 1µg). Taken together, our data indicate that peptide immunotherapy for the treatment of allergic disease likely does not require high-doses.

In an attempt to characterize the T-cell population during the induction of tolerance by peptide immunotherapy, Wraith and colleagues performed an elegant series of '-omics' analyses. Proteomic analysis of T-cells, following peptide immunotherapy, revealed the upregulation of co-inhibitory molecules, and the selective induction of FoxP3 following low-dose peptide strategies²⁹⁸. In some models, the elicitation of linked-epitope suppression is dependent upon FoxP3 expression²⁹⁹. As low-dose peptide immunotherapy of cat allergy induces linked-epitope suppression^{287, 299}, it is intriguing to consider whether high-dose therapy may subvert the ability of peptides to induce bystander tolerance.

In our studies of peptide immunotherapy, we have seen moderate changes in FoxP3 expression, commonly seeing enhanced amounts of FoxP3 expressed on a per cell basis, rather than an increased number of FoxP3 positive cells. Given the lack of clinical evidence supporting a role for FoxP3 expression during peptide immunotherapy for allergic disease, these results are difficult to interpret. To date, most trials of peptide immunotherapy have simply assessed FoxP3expression pre- and post- therapy. It is possible that FoxP3 is predominantly associated with early tolerance induction events, in which case these time points may be biased against identifying a role for FoxP3 in peptide induced tolerance induction. A kinetic examination of the T-cell compartment during peptide immunotherapy for treatment of allergic disease may reveal a role for FoxP3, and outline a process wherein early FoxP3 induction predisposes T-cells to up-regulate co-inhibitory molecules. In support of this potential sequence of events, we have observed increased co-inhibitory molecules (PD-1, CTLA-4) expressed on the surface of T-cells following peptide immunotherapy.

We observed that peptide immunotherapy can elicit tolerance by spreading regulation beyond the treatment epitope^{320 & Chapter 3}; the ability of peptide administration to elicit bystander

suppression is likely to be dependent upon the mechanisms engaged by peptide administration. For instance, T-cell deletion or induction of anergy by high-dose immunotherapy may preclude the generation of bystander suppression, as these studies remove the cell populations that could exert active tolerance required for bystander suppression. Evidence from a murine model of OVA allergy supports this hypothesis. In a study of high-dose OVA peptide immunotherapy, no evidence of linked-suppression was observed³³⁸, and likely as a result of this, these mice were not protected from subsequent challenge with OVA. In this study, a dose of peptide known to delete T-cells was utilized, suggesting that regulatory T-cells that could facilitate infectious tolerance and linked-epitope regulation were never established. A follow-up experiment, testing lower-doses of the same OVA peptide would reveal whether low-dose peptide administration could attenuate OVA specific responses. Our examination of peptide dose and affinity did not quantify T-cell deletion or anergy. For future studies, it would be intriguing to correlate the depletion of epitope specific T-cells and efficacy of therapy, as T-cell depletion may compromise the induction of tolerance to complex allergens.

Peptide affinity for the MHC Complex and the density of pMHC complexes are not the only variables determining the efficacy of a peptide. Several characteristics of the pMHC:TCR interaction are known to impact the elicitation of a response, for instance: stable TCR:pMHC interactions are believed to increase T-cell reactivity³³⁹, with weaker interactions being associated with TCR antagonism³⁴⁰. Beyond this, weak TCR engagement has been linked to FoxP3 induction³⁴¹, while strong TCR engagement has been associated with IL-10 expression³⁴². Alternative theories also exist, with some evidence indicating that pMHC potency, not avidity, governs the development of a response³⁴³ or that beyond a minimum threshold number of pMHC copies, that the resultant response is primarily dependent upon co-stimulatory molecule

expression on the APC³⁴⁴. Taken together, these somewhat contradictory results render it difficult to predict the effect that a particular pMHC:TCR interaction will have upon T-cell activity, while also highlighting that peptide efficacy is likely dependent upon several features, and not just affinity for the MHC Class II molecule. Extrapolating from these studies, we should expect to observe differential efficacy between peptides of similar affinity for the MHC complex. In keeping with this prediction, in chapter 6 we demonstrated that peptides of low, moderate and high affinity for the DR4 MHC Class II molecule could equally suppress eosinophilia, thereby providing evidence that peptide affinity is not the sole predictive factor of efficacy. Lending further credence to the thesis that each peptide may possess a unique activity profile, our examination of T-cell phenotypes following immunotherapy revealed different peptides to stimulate differential regulatory pathways (FoxP3/CTLA4 induction, reduced number of Th2 cells, PD-1 induction). If these findings are to be transferred to the clinic, we must elucidate whether the unique activity profile of a peptide is consistent during presentation by distinct MHC Class II molecules. To assess the role of MHC presentation, we could repeat the studies performed in chapter 6 in HLA DR1 transgenic mice (commercially available from Jackson Laboratory), that possess a human-mouse chimeric HLA DR1 MHC Class II molecule and are deficient for endogenous MHC Class II. The affinity of the treatment peptides for the DR1 molecule is known³⁴⁵, therefore, results could easily be compared to determine whether the intrinsic efficacy of a peptide is consistent across presentation molecules.

The concept of using peptides with a defined activity profile has been attempted in the clinic, but was met with mixed results. Altered peptide ligands (APLs) are peptide ligands with one (or more) amino acids changed that alter T-cell recognition. This strategy, in mice, successfully ameliorated diabetes, EAE and allergic disease ³⁴⁶⁻³⁴⁸³⁴⁹, but transition to clinical

settings has been fraught with safety concerns. Two trials of APLs for the treatment of MS have been halted due to the identification of unacceptably high rates of treatment-related disease exacerbation^{350, 351}. The elicitation of tolerance by APL therapy is encouraging but the risk of exacerbating disease supersedes the observed benefits. Collectively, these data support the concept that treatment with peptides that possess defined efficacy profiles can be successful, while also highlighting potential safety issues. It is important to consider the root cause of the safety issues associated with APL therapy. The trials of APLs for the treatment of MS utilized doses of peptide ranging from 5-50mg per dose. We have demonstrated that ultra-low dose strategies, comprising therapy with sub µg quantities of peptide, can potently ameliorate allergic disease in mice³⁵². Furthermore, we have provided evidence that therapy at low-doses induces bystander tolerance, a feature likely critical to the establishment of tolerance to complex antigens and, and that many peptides lose therapeutic efficacy at high doses (Chapter 6). Thus, the induction of adverse events by APL therapy may have been reflective of the dose used, rather than an inherent problem with the strategy. A small trial, wherein the previously tested APLs are administered at low-doses to subjects with relapsing-remitting MS, would be particularly intriguing, as I would hypothesize that this strategy may maintain the immunomodulatory effects of APL therapy, while averting safety concerns.

Our observations support two distinct strategies for future peptide based therapeutics. Firstly, the success of high affinity peptides at low-doses suggests that low doses of peptides may be efficacious in clinical research settings too, although this strategy would be predicated upon utilizing peptides with a known, high-affinity for human MHC molecules, a strategy that is difficult to employ in an outbred (i.e. human, not mouse) population. Secondly, our demonstration that moderate/low affinity peptides can inhibit allergic responses supports

selecting promiscuous peptides, that bind many MHC Class II molecules regardless of affinity, during development of peptide based therapies; although, this strategy may rely on higher doses of peptides to suppress allergic responses, a potentially dangerous proposition. Ultimately, both strategies may be employed, with current strategies employing option two, and advances in personalized medicine eventually enabling consistent, targeting with peptides of high affinity. 7.5. Limitations

Much of our current understanding of the pathogenesis of allergic immune responses has been derived from mouse models. The studies described in this thesis employed several murine models to examine both pathogenic allergic immune responses and immune modulating therapeutic strategies. This strategy offers two major benefits over the use of readily accessible clinical samples, 1) the ability to directly study the target organ (lung & draining lymph node) and 2) the ability to control allergen exposures & treatments. To interpret these data though, the limitations of mouse models must be acknowledged. Allergic responses are frequently described as an aberrant, exaggerated type 2 inflammatory response to a protein that non-allergic individuals view as innocuous. Similarly, allergen-specific immunotherapy has been hypothesized, by some, to function through modulation of immune responses away from type 2, towards type 1. This paradigm of T-cell responses being either Th1 or Th2 was originally determined using cloned murine CD4+ T-cells. Indeed, it was Mossman and colleagues demonstration that CD4+ T-cells, identical in surface antigen expression, could be influenced to produce unique, non-overlapping sets of cytokines^{314, 353}, that initiated this line-of-thought. While strong antigens can provoke similar behaviour in human T-cells³⁵⁴, the division between Th1 and Th2 is not as clear in humans, as polarized human T-cells often retain the ability to simultaneously produce both Th1 and Th2 cytokines³⁵⁵. T-cell plasticity, in human asthma, is a

growing concern and may be driving severe disease. In allergic asthmatics, Th2 T-cells that also produce IL-17 have been identified^{356, 357}. Similarly, some have hypothesized that the progression to severe asthma results from a superimposition of Th1 responses onto pre-existing, allergen-specific Th2 responses³⁵⁸. Taken together, the heterogeneity seen in human disease, and within human immune responses to allergens, may not be accurately replicated by mice. Thus, therapies developed in mice to deviate responses away from Th2 may be less efficacious when transferred to the clinic. In Chapter 3, we demonstrated that mice treated with Fel d 1 derived peptides were protected from challenge with OVA, and that this bystander effect was associated with the down regulation of OVA-induced Th2 responses. As human airways disease tends to be more heterogenous than the diseases induced in mice, whether an immune deviation of this sort would be clinically efficacious requires further testing

In mice and humans, activation of T-cells requires successful ligation of the TCR and ligation of co-stimulatory molecules, such as CD28. CD28, on the surface of T-cells, binds stimulatory B7 family proteins in addition to the inhibitory CTLA-4 glycoprotein³⁵⁹. CD28 is nearly ubiquitously expressed by murine T-cells, but is only present on approximately 80% of human CD4+ T-cells, and 50% of human CD8 T-cells³⁶⁰. The increased expression of CD28 in mice may indicate an increased reliance upon this pathway for both stimulatory and inhibitory stimuli, compared to humans. If mice and humans are differentially reliant upon the CD28-B7/CTLA-4 pathway, it becomes difficult to interpret the importance and relevance of our observation that mouse Tregs up-regulated CTLA-4+ after peptide immunotherapy. The success of CTLA-4-Ig therapy (abatacept) in rheumatoid arthritis³⁶¹ and type 1 diabetes³⁶² suggests that CTLA-4 does remain a dominant suppressive mechanism in humans, despite reduced expression of CD28. Thus, interspecies differences in CD28 expression may be unimportant.

We observed that low-doses of high-affinity Fel d 1 derived peptides significantly attenuated allergic disease in HLA DR4 mice. Moreover, we observed that low-doses of Fel d 1 and Der p 1 derived peptides suppressed allergic responses to HDM, OVA and CDE, in BALB/c mice. The term 'low-dose' to describe our strategies, while accurate compared to other studies of peptide immunotherapy, may be a misnomer. Indeed, our definition of 'low-dose immunotherapy' is likely not 'low-dose' to the immune system, nor in comparison to clinical strategies. At the level of the T-cell, live-imaging assays examining single APC-T-cell interactions via fluorescently labeled pMHC Class II complexes, have revealed that T-cells flux calcium in response to interaction with a *single* pMHC molecule³⁶³, and that 25 pMHC molecules was a 'high' ligand density for T-cells, that rendered CD4 engagement superfluous³⁶³. Others have used markedly lower doses of peptide to induce tolerance in mice, for instance, diffusion of 65 picomoles of HA⁽¹⁰⁷⁻¹¹⁹⁾ peptide into mice each day for 14 days established regulatory T-cells that could suppress responses to the entire HA protein, ex vivo³⁰⁰. Thus, it becomes difficult to interpret whether our strategies tested a true 'low' dose. While the nomenclature between 'low' versus 'high' dose may seem somewhat arbitrary, rigorously defining the therapeutic window of peptide therapy may enable lower-doses in clinical studies.

In several of our studies, we initiated tolerogenic and inflammatory responses in the skin of mice. The reliance of these studies upon the immunological milieu of mouse skin poses a potential limitation, as several notable differences between mouse and human skin exist. For instance, the dominant T-cell subset in the skin of mice is $\gamma\delta$ T-cells, whereas $\alpha\beta$ T-cells dominate human skin³⁶⁴. Other critical immunological differences exist between mouse and humans, like the lack of IgG4 in mice. These are limitations of all mouse research but they are

particularly relevant to studies of allergen tolerance, where tolerance induction may rely upon modulating T-cell responses and/or inducing blocking IgG4 antibodies.

7.6. Reflection

The presented work has focused upon mechanisms of tolerance induction in mice. The general methods employed were to model human disease and administer clinically relevant treatments, that would provide immunological insights that cannot be achieved in clinical studies. This design allowed us to investigate mechanistic determinants of peptide immunotherapy, such as the role of peptide dose, dosing strategies and peptide affinity, and correlate them to functional outcomes of therapy. The consequence of this approach is that the majority of our mechanistic insights consist of observations and correlations. Thus, our data tend to highlight the plausibility of a mechanism rather than disprove alternative. As such, the work presented here primarily expands our foundation of knowledge and helps to form a frame-work that subsequent investigations can build upon. In contrast, this thesis does not provide a rigorous defined mechanism by which peptide immunotherapy functions in mice. While perhaps this represents an abnormal approach, we felt that this work was required for several reasons, 1) the ability of peptide immunotherapy to induce bystander tolerance had not been widely considered by the field and 2) the role of peptide affinity to the MHC complex had not been investigated, in allergic disease. Thus, we sought to highlight the relevance of these topics, as we felt that the value of this approach was greater than defining a tolerogenic cascade in mice, that may or may not be present in humans. Importantly, through this approach, we identified important immunological trends and biomarkers associated with efficacious peptide immunotherapy that will focus future mechanistic studies.

In contrast to the studies of peptide immunotherapy, our investigations into the role of allergen dose upon epicutaneous sensitization attempted to define precise molecular mechanisms. In this work, we took a methodical approach, iteratively performing a series of studies (kinetic studies, adoptive transfer, addition of LPS, knockout of MyD88) that each could have defined a molecular mechanism of action. To our surprise, these studies failed to define the mechanism and rather disproved our numerous hypotheses. Importantly, there is value to this approach as it elucidated pertinent immune mechanisms in the skin, such as the importance of MyD88 to sensitization. For this work to become clinically relevant, further efforts to define the mechanism of action of high-dose allergen induced allergen hyporesponsiveness will be required. On a personal level, it was exciting to research in a focused, mechanism and data driven manner.

7.7. Conclusion

The burden of asthma continues to rise in Canada, and other nations, throughout the world. While numerous therapeutic options exist, immunotherapy represents a disease modifying approach that can alter the progression of disease, prevent subsequent sensitizations and effectively treat symptoms well after the cessation of therapy^{197, 319}. Despite a long history of peptide immunotherapy in clinical research, how treatment with a small number of T-cell epitopes can induce tolerance to complex allergens, in genetically diverse populations, is unknown. We hypothesized that peptide immunotherapy could induce tolerance to a complex allergen through the inducting the infectious spread of tolerance beyond the treatment epitope and that the efficacy of peptide therapy was dependent upon the peptide dose and affinity.

Through characterization of the effects of peptide immunotherapy in models of dualallergen sensitization, we provide data indicating that peptide immunotherapy can induce

bystander tolerance, suppressing immune responses to distinct allergens. These findings support the current paradigm employed during rational peptide vaccine development, namely, that enhancing population coverage is the primary concern. Whether these data can further inform clinical practice, for example, through guiding the induction of bystander tolerance postimmunotherapy, remains to be determined. Beyond the ability of tolerance to spread beyond treatment epitopes, we characterized the importance of treatment epitope dose and affinity through examining seven peptides with defined binding affinity for the HLA DR4 MHC molecule. We observed that the maximum therapeutic potential of a peptide was not solely dependent upon affinity for the MHC complex, but rather that the affinity shifted the doseresponse relationship. These data could be valuable for the design of future peptide based therapeutics, as they support emphasizing population coverage (i.e.: ability to bind many MHC molecules) over affinity to any single MHC complex.

Finally, during our development of mouse models, we found that high-dose allergen applied to the skin of mice failed to induce allergic responses. While the clinical relevance of these findings is currently unknown, our demonstration that MyD88 is required for epicutaneous sensitization could be relevant to the atopic march, a currently popular theory describing the progression of allergic disease.

In summary, the studies described in this thesis highlight immunological mechanisms that are relevant to the induction of tolerance in mice and humans. We provided evidence that expands the current understanding of peptide immunotherapy and may expedite and enhance the design of future peptide based immunotherapeutics.

8. References

- 1. Global Asthma Network. The Global Asthma Report 2014. Auckland, New Zealand, 2014.
- 2. Masoli M, Fabian D, Holt S, Beasley R, Global Initiative for Asthma P. The global burden of asthma: executive summary of the GINA Dissemination Committee Report. Allergy 2004; 59:469-78.
- Holgate ST, Canonica GW, Baena-Cagnani CE, Casle TB, Zitt M, Nelson H, et al. Section 2.2. Asthma. In: Pawankar R, Canonica GW, Holgate ST, Lockey RF, Blaiss MS, editors. WAO White Book on Allergy: Update 2013. Milwaukee, Wisconsin: WAO; 2013. p. 34-9.
- 4. To T, Stanojevic S, Moores G, Gershon AS, Bateman ED, Cruz AA, et al. Global asthma prevalence in adults: findings from the cross-sectional world health survey. BMC Public Health 2012; 12:1-8.
- 5. Public Health Agency of Canada. Fast Facts About Asthma: Data compiled from the 2011 survey on living with chronic diseases in Canada. Ottawa, Canada, 2015.
- 6. To T, Wang C, Guan J, McLimont S, Gershon AS. What is the lifetime risk of physiciandiagnosed asthma in Ontario, Canada? Am J RespirCrit Care Med 2010; 181.
- 7. Dougherty RH, Fahy JV. Acute exacerbations of asthma: epidemiology, biology and the exacerbation-prone phenotype. Clinical & Experimental Allergy 2009; 39:193-202.
- 8. van Nooten F, Stern S, Braunstahl G-J, Thompson C, Groot M, Brown RE. Costeffectiveness of omalizumab for uncontrolled allergic asthma in the Netherlands. Journal of Medical Economics 2013; 16:342-8.
- 9. Dewilde S, Turk F, Tambour M, Sandstrom T. The economic value of anti-IgE in severe persistent, IgE-mediated (allergic) asthma patients: adaptation of INNOVATE to Sweden. Curr Med Res Opin 2006; 22:1765-76.
- 10. Ubel PA, Hirth RA, Chernew ME, Fendrick A. What is the price of life and why doesn't it increase at the rate of inflation? Archives of Internal Medicine 2003; 163:1637-41.
- 11. Ruggeri M, Oradei M, Frati F, Puccinelli P, Romao C, Dell'Albani I, et al. Economic Evaluation of 5-Grass Pollen Tablets Versus Placebo in the Treatment of Allergic Rhinitis in Adults. Clinical Drug Investigation 2013; 33:343-9.
- 12. Meadows A, Kaambwa B, Novielli N, Huissoon A, Fry-Smith A, Meads C, et al. A systematic review and economic evaluation of subcutaneous and sublingual allergen immunotherapy in adults and children with seasonal allergic rhinitis. NIHR Health Technology Assessment 2013; 17.
- 13. Asthma GIf. Global Strategy For Asthma Management and Prevention, Chapter 1: Definition and Overview. 2006.
- 14. Lötvall J, Akdis CA, Bacharier LB, Bjermer L, Casale TB, Custovic A, et al. Asthma endotypes: A new approach to classification of disease entities within the asthma syndrome. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2011; 127:355-60.

- 15. Wenzel SE. Asthma phenotypes: the evolution from clinical to molecular approaches. Nat Med 2012; 18:716-25.
- 16. Leigh R, Ellis R, Wattie J, Southam DS, De Hoogh M, Gauldie J, et al. Dysfunction and remodeling of the mouse airway persist after resolution of acute allergen-induced airway inflammation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2002; 27:526-35.
- 17. Cockcroft D, Murdock K, Mink J. Determination of histamine PC20. Comparison of linear and logarithmic interpolation. CHEST Journal 1983; 84:505-6.
- 18. Kay AB. Allergy and Allergic Diseases. New England Journal of Medicine 2001; 344:30-7.
- 19. Kay AB. 100 years of 'Allergy': can von Pirquet's word be rescued? Clinical & Experimental Allergy 2006; 36:555-9.
- 20. Coca AF, Cooke RA. On the Classification of the Phenomena of Hypersensitiveness. The Journal of Immunology 1923; 8:163-82.
- 21. Hippocrates, Jones(Translator) W. Hippocrates Vol. II. Cambridge, Massachusetts Harvard University Press; 1967.
- 22. Blackley CH. Experimental Researches on the Causes and Nature of Catarrhus aestivus (Hay-fever or Hay-asthma). London, United Kingdoms: Bailliere, Tindall & Cox; 1873.
- 23. Dunbar WP. The Present State of our Knowledge of Hay-Fever. Epidemiology & Infection 1913; 13:105-48.
- 24. Holgate ST. A Brief History of Asthma and Its Mechanisms to Modern Concepts of Disease Pathogenesis. Allergy Asthma Immunol Res 2010; 2:165-71.
- 25. Prausnitz C, Küstner H. Studien über die Überempfindlichkeit. Zentralbl Bakteriol 1921; 86:160-9. English Translation reprinted within Gel and Coombs, *Clinical Aspects of Immunology*, **Blackwell Scientific**, Oxford (1968).
- 26. Huber HL, Koessler KK. THe antigenic property of pollens. Archives of Internal Medicine 1925; 36:751-61.
- 27. Cooke RA, Veer AV. Human Sensitization. The Journal of Immunology 1916; 1:201-305.
- 28. Ishizaka K, Ishizaka T, Hornbrook MM. Physico-Chemical Properties of Human Reaginic Antibody: IV. Presence of a Unique Immunoglobulin as a Carrier of Reaginic Activity. The Journal of Immunology 1966; 97:75-85.
- 29. Ishizaka K, Ishizaka T, Hornbrook MM. Allergen-binding activity of gamma-E, gamma-G and gamma-A antibodies in sera from atopic patients. In vitro measurements of reaginic antibody. J Immunol 1967; 98:490-501.
- 30. Pepys J. 'Clinical immunology' and the 'practise of allergy'. Clinical & Experimental Allergy 1971; 1:1-7.
- 31. Pepys J. Types of allergic reaction. Clinical & Experimental Allergy 1973; 3:491-506.

- 32. Levine BB, Vaz NM. Effect of Combinations of Inbred Strain, Antigen, and Antigen Dose on Immune Responsiveness and Reagin Production in the Mouse. International Archives of Allergy and Immunology 1970; 39:156-71.
- 33. Cookson WO, Sharp PA, Faux JA, Hopkin JM. Linkage between immunoglobulin E responses underlying asthma and rhinitis and chromosome 11q. Lancet 1989; 1:1292-5.
- 34. Lilja G, Wickman M. Allergy atopy hypersensitivity a matter of definition. Allergy 1998; 53:1011-2.
- 35. Huber HL, Koessler KK. THe pathology of bronchial asthma. Archives of Internal Medicine 1922; 30:689-760.
- 36. Morrow Brown H. Treatment of Chronic Asthma with Prednisolone Significance of Eosinophils in the Sputum. The Lancet 1958; 272:1245-7.
- 37. Kay AB, Austen KF. The IgE-Mediated Release of an Eosinophil Leukocyte Chemotactic Factor from Human Lung. The Journal of Immunology 1971; 107:899-902.
- 38. Horn BR, Robin ED, Theodore J, Van Kessel A. Total Eosinophil Counts in the Management of Bronchial Asthma. New England Journal of Medicine 1975; 292:1152-5.
- 39. Vieira VG, Prolla JC. Clinical evaluation of eosinophils in the sputum. Journal of Clinical Pathology 1979; 32:1054-7.
- 40. Metzger WJ, Zavala D, Richerson HB, Moseley P, Iwamota P, Monick M, et al. Local Allergen Challenge and Bronchoalveolar Lavage of Allergic Asthmatic Lungs. American Review of Respiratory Disease 1987; 135:433-40.
- 41. de Monchy JGR, Kauffman HF, Venge P, Koëter GH, Jansen HM, Sluiter HJ, et al. Bronchoalveolar Eosinophilia during Allergen-induced Late Asthmatic Reactions. American Review of Respiratory Disease 1985; 131:373-6.
- 42. Bousquet J, Chanez P, Lacoste JY, Barneon G, Ghavanian N, Enander I, et al. Eosinophilic inflammation in asthma. N Engl J Med 1990; 323:1033-9.
- 43. Wardlaw AJ, Dunnette S, Gleich GJ, Collins JV, Kay AB. Eosinophils and Mast Cells in Bronchoalveolar Lavage in Subjects with Mild Asthma: Relationship to Bronchial Hyperreactivity. American Review of Respiratory Disease 1988; 137:62-9.
- 44. Pizzichini MM, Pizzichini E, Clelland L, Efthimiadis A, Mahony J, Dolovich J, et al. Sputum in severe exacerbations of asthma: kinetics of inflammatory indices after prednisone treatment. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 1997; 155:1501-8.
- 45. Piacentini GL, Martinati L, Mingoni S, Boner AL. Influence of allergen avoidance on the eosinophil phase of airway inflammation in children with allergic asthma. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1996; 97:1079-84.
- 46. Humbles AA, Lloyd CM, McMillan SJ, Friend DS, Xanthou G, McKenna EE, et al. A critical role for eosinophils in allergic airways remodeling. Science 2004; 305:1776-9.
- 47. Lee JJ, Dimina D, Macias MP, Ochkur SI, McGarry MP, O'Neill KR, et al. Defining a link with asthma in mice congenitally deficient in eosinophils. Science 2004; 305:1773-6.

- 48. Fattouh R, Al-Garawi A, Fattouh M, Arias K, Walker TD, Goncharova S, et al. Eosinophils Are Dispensable for Allergic Remodeling and Immunity in a Model of House Dust Mite–induced Airway Disease. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 2011; 183:179-88.
- 49. Zimmerman B, Lanner A, Enander I, Zimmerman RS, Peterson CGB, Ahlstedt S. Total blood eosinophils, serum eosinophil cationic protein and eosinophil protein X in childhood asthma: relation to disease status and therapy. Clinical & Experimental Allergy 1993; 23:564-70.
- 50. Godard P, Chaintreuil J, Damon M, Coupe M, Flandre O, de Paulet A, et al. Functional assessment of alveolar macrophages: comparison of cells from asthmatics and normal subjects. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1982; 70:88-93.
- 51. Lozewicz S, Gomez E, Ferguson H, Davies RJ. Inflammatory cells in the airways in mild asthma. BMJ : British Medical Journal 1988; 297:1515-6.
- 52. Gleich GJ, Motojima S, Frigas E, Kephart GM, Fujisawa T, Kravis LP. The eosinophilic leukocyte and the pathology of fatal bronchial asthma: evidence for pathologic heterogeneity. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1987; 80:412-5.
- 53. Howard M, Farrar J, Hilfiker M, Johnson B, Takatsu K, Hamaoka T, et al. Identification of a T cell-derived b cell growth factor distinct from interleukin 2. J Exp Med 1982; 155:914-23.
- 54. O'Garra A, Warren DJ, Holman M, Popham AM, Sanderson CJ, Klaus GG. Interleukin 4 (B-cell growth factor II/eosinophil differentiation factor) is a mitogen and differentiation factor for preactivated murine B lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1986; 83:5228-32.
- 55. Del Prete G, Maggi E, Parronchi P, Chrétien I, Tiri A, Macchia D, et al. IL-4 is an essential factor for the IgE synthesis induced in vitro by human T cell clones and their supernatants. The Journal of Immunology 1988; 140:4193-8.
- 56. Vercelli D, Jabara HH, Arai K-I, Yokota T, Geha RS. Endogenous interleukin 6 plays an obligatory role in interleukin 4-dependent human IgE synthesis. European Journal of Immunology 1989; 19:1419-24.
- 57. Warren DJ, Sanderson CJ. Production of a T-cell hybrid producing a lymphokine stimulating eosinophil differentiation. Immunology 1985; 54:615-23.
- 58. Kinashi T, Harada N, Severinson E, Tanabe T, Sideras P, Konishi M, et al. Cloning of complementary DNA encoding T-cell replacing factor and identity with B-cell growth factor II. Nature 1986; 324:70-3.
- 59. Takatsu K, Tominaga A, Harada N, Mita S, Matsumoto M, Takahashi T, et al. T Cell-Replacing Factor (TRF)/Interleukin 5 (IL-5): Molecular and Functional Properties. Immunological Reviews 1988; 102:107-35.
- 60. Schimpl A, Wecker E. Replacement of T-cell function by a T-cell product. Nat New Biol 1972; 237:15-7.

- 61. Wierenga EA, Snoek M, de Groot C, Chrétien I, Bos JD, Jansen HM, et al. Evidence for compartmentalization of functional subsets of CD2+ T lymphocytes in atopic patients. The Journal of Immunology 1990; 144:4651-6.
- 62. Robinson DS, Hamid Q, Ying S, Tsicopoulos A, Barkans J, Bentley AM, et al. Predominant TH2-like bronchoalveolar T-lymphocyte population in atopic asthma. N Engl J Med 1992; 326:298-304.
- 63. Kay AB, Ying S, Varney V, Gaga M, Durham SR, Moqbel R, et al. Messenger RNA expression of the cytokine gene cluster, interleukin 3 (IL-3), IL-4, IL-5, and granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor, in allergen-induced late-phase cutaneous reactions in atopic subjects. J Exp Med 1991; 173:775-8.
- 64. Bentley AM, Meng Q, Robinson DS, Hamid Q, Kay AB, Durham SR. Increases in Activated T Lymphocytes, Eosinophils, and Cytokine mRNA Expression for Interleukin-5 and Granulocyte/Macrophage Colony-stimulating Factor in Bronchial Biopsies after Allergen Inhalation Challenge in Atopic Asthmatics. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology 1993; 8:35-42.
- 65. Robinson D, Hamid Q, Bentley A, Ying S, Kay AB, Durham SR. Activation of CD4+ T cells, increased TH2-type cytokine mRNA expression, and eosinophil recruitment in bronchoalveolar lavage after allergen inhalation challenge in patients with atopic asthma. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1993; 92:313-24.
- 66. Basten A, Boyer MH, Beeson PB. Mechanism of eosinophilia. I. Factors affecting the eosinophil response of rats to Trichinella spiralis. J Exp Med 1970; 131:1271-87.
- 67. Minty A, Chalon P, Derocq JM, Dumont X, Guillemot JC, Kaghad M, et al. Interleukin-13 is a new human lymphokine regulating inflammatory and immune responses. Nature 1993; 362:248-50.
- 68. Huang SK, Xiao HQ, Kleine-Tebbe J, Paciotti G, Marsh DG, Lichtenstein LM, et al. IL-13 expression at the sites of allergen challenge in patients with asthma. The Journal of Immunology 1995; 155:2688-94.
- 69. Wills-Karp M, Luyimbazi J, Xu X, Schofield B, Neben TY, Karp CL, et al. Interleukin-13: central mediator of allergic asthma. Science 1998; 282:2258-61.
- Grunig G, Warnock M, Wakil AE, Venkayya R, Brombacher F, Rennick DM, et al. Requirement for IL-13 independently of IL-4 in experimental asthma. Science 1998; 282:2261-3.
- 71. Foster PS, Hogan SP, Ramsay AJ, Matthaei KI, Young IG. Interleukin 5 deficiency abolishes eosinophilia, airways hyperreactivity, and lung damage in a mouse asthma model. J Exp Med 1996; 183:195-201.
- 72. Coffman RL, Seymour BWP, Hudak S, Jackson J, Rennick D. Antibody to interleukin-5 inhibits helminth-induced eosinophilia in mice. Science 1989; 245:308+.
- 73. Kung TT, Stelts DM, Zurcher JA, Adams GK, Egan RW, Kreutner W, et al. Involvement of IL-5 in a murine model of allergic pulmonary inflammation: prophylactic and therapeutic effect of an anti-IL-5 antibody. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology 1995; 13:360-5.
- 74. Hogan SP, Mould A, Kikutani H, Ramsay AJ, Foster PS. Aeroallergen-induced eosinophilic inflammation, lung damage, and airways hyperreactivity in mice can occur independently of IL-4 and allergen-specific immunoglobulins. Journal of Clinical Investigation 1997; 99:1329-39.
- 75. Van Oosterhout AJM, Ladenius ARC, Savelkoul HFJ, Van Ark I, Delsman KC, Nijkamp FP. Effect of Anti-IL-5 and IL-5 on Airway Hyperreactivity and Eosinophils in Guinea Pigs. American Review of Respiratory Disease 1993; 147:548-52.
- 76. Chand N, Harrison JE, Rooney S, Pillar J, Jakubicki R, Nolan K, et al. Anti-IL-5 monoclonal antibody inhibits allergic late phase bronchial eosinophilia in guinea pigs: a therapeutic approach. European Journal of Pharmacology 1992; 211:121-3.
- 77. Leckie MJ, ten Brinke A, Khan J, Diamant Z, O'Connor BJ, Walls CM, et al. Effects of an interleukin-5 blocking monoclonal antibody on eosinophils, airway hyper-responsiveness, and the late asthmatic response. Lancet 2000; 356:2144-8.
- 78. Rudulier CD, Larché M, Moldaver D. Treatment with anti-cytokine monoclonal antibodies can potentiate the target cytokine rather than neutralize its activity. Allergy 2016; 71:283-5.
- 79. Cohn L, Tepper JS, Bottomly K. IL-4-independent induction of airway hyperresponsiveness by Th2, but not Th1, cells. J Immunol 1998; 161:3813-6.
- 80. Leigh R, Ellis R, Wattie JN, Hirota JA, Matthaei KI, Foster PS, et al. Type 2 cytokines in the pathogenesis of sustained airway dysfunction and airway remodeling in mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2004; 169:860-7.
- 81. McKenzie GJ, Fallon PG, Emson CL, Grencis RK, McKenzie ANJ. Simultaneous Disruption of Interleukin (IL)-4 and IL-13 Defines Individual Roles in T Helper Cell Type 2–mediated Responses. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 1999; 189:1565-72.
- 82. McKenzie GJ, Emson CL, Bell SE, Anderson S, Fallon P, Zurawski G, et al. Impaired Development of Th2 Cells in IL-13-Deficient Mice. Immunity 1998; 9:423-32.
- 83. Espinassous Q, Garcia-de-Paco E, Garcia-Verdugo I, Synguelakis M, von Aulock S, Sallenave J-M, et al. IL-33 Enhances Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Inflammatory Cytokine Production from Mouse Macrophages by Regulating Lipopolysaccharide Receptor Complex. The Journal of Immunology 2009; 183:1446-55.
- 84. Soumelis V, Reche PA, Kanzler H, Yuan W, Edward G, Homey B, et al. Human epithelial cells trigger dendritic cell-mediated allergic inflammation by producing TSLP. Nat Immunol 2002; 3:673-80.
- 85. Saenz SA, Taylor BC, Artis D. Welcome to the neighborhood: epithelial cell-derived cytokines license innate and adaptive immune responses at mucosal sites. Immunol Rev 2008; 226:172-90.
- 86. Tominaga S. A putative protein of a growth specific cDNA from BALB/c-3T3 cells is highly similar to the extracellular portion of mouse interleukin 1 receptor. FEBS Lett 1989; 258:301-4.
- 87. Löhning M, Stroehmann A, Coyle AJ, Grogan JL, Lin S, Gutierrez-Ramos J-C, et al. T1/ST2 is preferentially expressed on murine Th2 cells, independent of interleukin 4,

interleukin 5, and interleukin 10, and important for Th2 effector function. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 1998; 95:6930-5.

- 88. Schmitz J, Owyang A, Oldham E, Song Y, Murphy E, McClanahan TK, et al. IL-33, an interleukin-1-like cytokine that signals via the IL-1 receptor-related protein ST2 and induces T helper type 2-associated cytokines. Immunity 2005; 23:479-90.
- 89. Kondo Y, Yoshimoto T, Yasuda K, Futatsugi-Yumikura S, Morimoto M, Hayashi N, et al. Administration of IL-33 induces airway hyperresponsiveness and goblet cell hyperplasia in the lungs in the absence of adaptive immune system. Int Immunol 2008; 20:791-800.
- 90. Kurowska-Stolarska M, Kewin P, Murphy G, Russo RC, Stolarski B, Garcia CC, et al. IL-33 Induces Antigen-Specific IL-5+ T Cells and Promotes Allergic-Induced Airway Inflammation Independent of IL-4. The Journal of Immunology 2008; 181:4780-90.
- 91. Fort MM, Cheung J, Yen D, Li J, Zurawski SM, Lo S, et al. IL-25 induces IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 and Th2-associated pathologies in vivo. Immunity 2001; 15:985-95.
- 92. Fallon PG, Ballantyne SJ, Mangan NE, Barlow JL, Dasvarma A, Hewett DR, et al. Identification of an interleukin (IL)-25-dependent cell population that provides IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 at the onset of helminth expulsion. J Exp Med 2006; 203:1105-16.
- 93. Ito T, Wang Y-H, Duramad O, Hori T, Delespesse GJ, Watanabe N, et al. TSLPactivated dendritic cells induce an inflammatory T helper type 2 cell response through OX40 ligand. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 2005; 202:1213-23.
- 94. Gilliet M, Soumelis V, Watanabe N, Hanabuchi S, Antonenko S, de Waal-Malefyt R, et al. Human Dendritic Cells Activated by TSLP and CD40L Induce Proallergic Cytotoxic T Cells. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 2003; 197:1059-63.
- 95. Zhou B, Comeau MR, De Smedt T, Liggitt HD, Dahl ME, Lewis DB, et al. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin as a key initiator of allergic airway inflammation in mice. Nat Immunol 2005; 6:1047-53.
- 96. Kim BS, Siracusa MC, Saenz SA, Noti M, Monticelli LA, Sonnenberg GF, et al. TSLP elicits IL-33-independent innate lymphoid cell responses to promote skin inflammation. Sci Transl Med 2013; 5:170ra16.
- 97. Neill DR, Wong SH, Bellosi A, Flynn RJ, Daly M, Langford TK, et al. Nuocytes represent a new innate effector leukocyte that mediates type-2 immunity. Nature 2010; 464:1367-70.
- 98. Moro K, Yamada T, Tanabe M, Takeuchi T, Ikawa T, Kawamoto H, et al. Innate production of T(H)2 cytokines by adipose tissue-associated c-Kit(+)Sca-1(+) lymphoid cells. Nature 2010; 463:540-4.
- 99. Price AE, Liang H-E, Sullivan BM, Reinhardt RL, Eisley CJ, Erle DJ, et al. Systemically dispersed innate IL-13–expressing cells in type 2 immunity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2010; 107:11489-94.
- 100. Licona-Limon P, Kim LK, Palm NW, Flavell RA. TH2, allergy and group 2 innate lymphoid cells. Nat Immunol 2013; 14:536-42.

- 101. Barlow JL, Bellosi A, Hardman CS, Drynan LF, Wong SH, Cruickshank JP, et al. Innate IL-13–producing nuocytes arise during allergic lung inflammation and contribute to airways hyperreactivity. The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology 2012; 129:191-8.e4.
- 102. Mjosberg J, Bernink J, Golebski K, Karrich JJ, Peters CP, Blom B, et al. The transcription factor GATA3 is essential for the function of human type 2 innate lymphoid cells. Immunity 2012; 37:649-59.
- 103. Halim TY, MacLaren A, Romanish MT, Gold MJ, McNagny KM, Takei F. Retinoicacid-receptor-related orphan nuclear receptor alpha is required for natural helper cell development and allergic inflammation. Immunity 2012; 37:463-74.
- 104. Voehringer D, Reese TA, Huang X, Shinkai K, Locksley RM. Type 2 immunity is controlled by IL-4/IL-13 expression in hematopoietic non-eosinophil cells of the innate immune system. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 2006; 203:1435-46.
- 105. Barlow JL, Peel S, Fox J, Panova V, Hardman CS, Camelo A, et al. IL-33 is more potent than IL-25 in provoking IL-13–producing nuocytes (type 2 innate lymphoid cells) and airway contraction. The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology 2013; 132:933-41.
- 106. Halim TY, Krauss RH, Sun AC, Takei F. Lung natural helper cells are a critical source of Th2 cell-type cytokines in protease allergen-induced airway inflammation. Immunity 2012; 36:451-63.
- 107. Chang YJ, Kim HY, Albacker LA, Baumgarth N, McKenzie AN, Smith DE, et al. Innate lymphoid cells mediate influenza-induced airway hyper-reactivity independently of adaptive immunity. Nat Immunol 2011; 12:631-8.
- 108. Klein Wolterink RG, Kleinjan A, van Nimwegen M, Bergen I, de Bruijn M, Levani Y, et al. Pulmonary innate lymphoid cells are major producers of IL-5 and IL-13 in murine models of allergic asthma. Eur J Immunol 2012; 42:1106-16.
- 109. Halim TY, Steer CA, Matha L, Gold MJ, Martinez-Gonzalez I, McNagny KM, et al. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells are critical for the initiation of adaptive T helper 2 cellmediated allergic lung inflammation. Immunity 2014; 40:425-35.
- Mirchandani AS, Besnard A-G, Yip E, Scott C, Bain CC, Cerovic V, et al. Type 2 innate lymphoid cells drive CD4+ Th2 cell responses. The Journal of Immunology 2014; 192:2442-8.
- 111. Oliphant CJ, Hwang YY, Walker JA, Salimi M, Wong SH, Brewer JM, et al. MHCIImediated dialog between group 2 innate lymphoid cells and CD4+ T cells potentiates type 2 immunity and promotes parasitic helminth expulsion. Immunity 2014; 41:283-95.
- 112. Halim TYF, Hwang YY, Scanlon ST, Zaghouani H, Garbi N, Fallon PG, et al. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells license dendritic cells to potentiate memory TH2 cell responses. Nat Immunol 2016; 17:57-64.
- 113. Bartemes KR, Kephart GM, Fox SJ, Kita H. Enhanced innate type 2 immune response in peripheral blood from patients with asthma. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2014; 134:671-8.e4.

- 114. Mjosberg JM, Trifari S, Crellin NK, Peters CP, van Drunen CM, Piet B, et al. Human IL-25- and IL-33-responsive type 2 innate lymphoid cells are defined by expression of CRTH2 and CD161. Nat Immunol 2011; 12:1055-62.
- 115. Smith SG, Chen R, Kjarsgaard M, Huang C, Oliveria J-P, O'Byrne PM, et al. Increased numbers of activated group 2 innate lymphoid cells in the airways of patients with severe asthma and persistent airway eosinophilia. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2016; 137:75-86.e8.
- 116. Hargreave FE, Dolovich J, Robertson DG, Kerigan AT. II. The late asthmatic responses. Canadian Medical Association Journal 1974; 110:415-24.
- 117. McCarthy DS, Pepys J. Allergic broncho-pulmonary aspergillosis Clinical immunology:
 (2) Skin, nasal and bronchial tests. Clinical & Experimental Allergy 1971; 1:415-32.
- 118. Robertson DG, Kerigan AT, Hargreave FE, Chalmers R, Dolovich J. Late asthmatic responses induced by ragweed pollen allergen. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1974; 54:244-54.
- 119. Coombs R, Gell P. Classification of allergic reactions responsible for clinical hypersensitivity and disease. Clinical aspects of immunology 1975; 3:761-81.
- 120. Kay AB. Allergy and allergic diseases. First of two parts. N Engl J Med 2001; 344:30-7.
- 121. Hart PH. Regulation of the inflammatory response in asthma by mast cell products. Immunology and Cell Biology 2001; 79:149-53.
- 122. Montefort S, Gratziou C, Goulding D, Polosa R, Haskard D, Howarth P, et al. Bronchial biopsy evidence for leukocyte infiltration and upregulation of leukocyte-endothelial cell adhesion molecules 6 hours after local allergen challenge of sensitized asthmatic airways. Journal of Clinical Investigation 1994; 93:1411.
- 123. Durham SR, Lee TH, Cromwell O, Shaw RJ, Merrett TG, Merrett J, et al. Immunologic studies in allergen-induced late-phase asthmatic reactions. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1984; 74:49-60.
- 124. Frew AJ, Kay AB. Eosinophils and T-lymphocytes in late-phase allergic reactions. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1990; 85:533-9.
- 125. Pearlman DS. Pathophysiology of the inflammatory response. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1999; 104:s132-s7.
- 126. Mudde G, Van Reijsen F, Boland G, De Gast G, Bruijnzeel P, Bruijnzeel-Koomen C. Allergen presentation by epidermal Langerhans' cells from patients with atopic dermatitis is mediated by IgE. Immunology 1990; 69:335.
- 127. Haselden BM, Barry Kay A, Larché M. Immunoglobulin E–independent Major Histocompatibility Complex–restricted T Cell Peptide Epitope–induced Late Asthmatic Reactions. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 1999; 189:1885-94.
- 128. Hutson PA, Church MK, Clay TP, Miller P, Holgate ST. Early and Late-Phase Bronchoconstriction After Allergen Challenge of Nonanesthetized Guinea Pigs: I. The Association of Disordered Airway Physiology to Leukocyte Infiltration. American Review of Respiratory Disease 1988; 137:548-57.

- 129. Cieslewicz G, Tomkinson A, Adler A, Duez C, Schwarze J, Takeda K, et al. The late, but not early, asthmatic response is dependent on IL-5 and correlates with eosinophil infiltration. The Journal of Clinical Investigation 1999; 104:301-8.
- 130. Bryan SA, O'Connor BJ, Matti S, Leckie MJ, Kanabar V, Khan J, et al. Effects of recombinant human interleukin-12 on eosinophils, airway hyper-responsiveness, and the late asthmatic response. The Lancet 2000; 356:2149-53.
- 131. Cockcroft DW, Murdock KY. Comparative effects of inhaled salbutamol, sodium cromoglycate, and beclomethasone dipropionate on allergen-induced early asthmatic responses, late asthmatic responses, and increased bronchial responsiveness to histamine. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1987; 79:734-40.
- 132. Sihra BS, Kon OM, Durham SR, Walker S, Barnes NC, Kay AB. Effect of cyclosporin A on the allergen-induced late asthmatic reaction. Thorax 1997; 52:447-52.
- 133. Ali FR, Oldfield WLG, Higashi N, Larché M, Kay AB. Late Asthmatic Reactions Induced by Inhalation of Allergen-derived T Cell Peptides. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 2004; 169:20-6.
- 134. Oldfield WLG, Kay AB, Larché M. Allergen-Derived T Cell Peptide-Induced Late Asthmatic Reactions Precede the Induction of Antigen-Specific Hyporesponsiveness in Atopic Allergic Asthmatic Subjects. The Journal of Immunology 2001; 167:1734-9.
- 135. Kemeny DM, Urbanek R, Ewan P, McHugh S, Richards D, Patel S, et al. The subclass of IgG antibody in allergic disease: II. The IgG subclass of antibodies produced following natural exposure to dust mite and grass pollen in atopic and non-atopic individuals. Clinical & Experimental Allergy 1989; 19:545-9.
- 136. Ebner C, Schenk S, Najafian N, Siemann U, Steiner R, Fischer GW, et al. Nonallergic individuals recognize the same T cell epitopes of Bet v 1, the major birch pollen allergen, as atopic patients. The Journal of Immunology 1995; 154:1932-40.
- 137. Till S, Durham S, Dickason R, Huston D, Bungre J, Walker S, et al. IL-13 production by allergen-stimulated T cells is increased in allergic disease and associated with IL-5 but not IFN-γ expression. Immunology 1997; 91:53-7.
- 138. McMenamin C, Holt PG. The natural immune response to inhaled soluble protein antigens involves major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I-restricted CD8+ T cell-mediated but MHC class II-restricted CD4+ T cell-dependent immune deviation resulting in selective suppression of immunoglobulin E production. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 1993; 178:889-99.
- Tsitoura DC, DeKruyff RH, Lamb JR, Umetsu DT. Intranasal exposure to protein antigen induces immunological tolerance mediated by functionally disabled CD4+ T cells. J Immunol 1999; 163:2592-600.
- 140. Akbari O, DeKruyff RH, Umetsu DT. Pulmonary dendritic cells producing IL-10 mediate tolerance induced by respiratory exposure to antigen. Nat Immunol 2001; 2:725-31.
- 141. Jutel M, Akdis M, Budak F, Aebischer-Casaulta C, Wrzyszcz M, Blaser K, et al. IL-10 and TGF-beta cooperate in the regulatory T cell response to mucosal allergens in normal immunity and specific immunotherapy. Eur J Immunol 2003; 33:1205-14.

- 142. Akdis M, Verhagen J, Taylor A, Karamloo F, Karagiannidis C, Crameri R, et al. Immune responses in healthy and allergic individuals are characterized by a fine balance between allergen-specific T regulatory 1 and T helper 2 cells. J Exp Med 2004; 199:1567-75.
- 143. Strachan DP. Hay fever, hygiene, and household size. BMJ 1989; 299:1259-60.
- 144. Stene LC, Nafstad P. Relation between occurrence of type 1 diabetes and asthma. The Lancet 2001; 357:607-8.
- 145. Scrivener S, Yemaneberhan H, Zebenigus M, Tilahun D, Girma S, Ali S, et al. Independent effects of intestinal parasite infection and domestic allergen exposure on risk of wheeze in Ethiopia: a nested case-control study. The Lancet 2001; 358:1493-9.
- 146. Yazdanbakhsh M, Kremsner PG, Van Ree R. Allergy, parasites, and the hygiene hypothesis. Science 2002; 296:490-4.
- 147. Lemanske Jr RF, Jackson DJ, Gangnon RE, Evans MD, Li Z, Shult PA, et al. Rhinovirus illnesses during infancy predict subsequent childhood wheezing. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2005; 116:571-7.
- 148. Jackson DJ, Gangnon RE, Evans MD, Roberg KA, Anderson EL, Pappas TE, et al. Wheezing Rhinovirus Illnesses in Early Life Predict Asthma Development in High-Risk Children. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 2008; 178:667-72.
- 149. Kabesch M, Schedel M, Carr D, Woitsch B, Fritzsch C, Weiland SK, et al. IL-4/IL-13 pathway genetics strongly influence serum IgE levels and childhood asthma. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2006; 117:269-74.
- 150. Soto-Mera MT, López-Rico MR, Filgueira JF, Villamil E, Cidrás R. Occupational allergy to papain. Allergy 2000; 55:983-4.
- 151. Zentner A, Jeep S, Wahl R, Kunkel G, Kleine-Tebbe J. Multiple IgE-mediated sensitizations to enzymes after occupational exposure: evaluation by skin prick test, RAST, and immunoblot. Allergy 1997; 52:928-34.
- 152. Trompette A, Divanovic S, Visintin A, Blanchard C, Hegde RS, Madan R, et al. Allergenicity resulting from functional mimicry of a Toll-like receptor complex protein. Nature 2009; 457:585-8.
- 153. Vermaelen KY, Carro-Muino I, Lambrecht BN, Pauwels RA. Specific Migratory Dendritic Cells Rapidly Transport Antigen from the Airways to the Thoracic Lymph Nodes. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 2001; 193:51-60.
- 154. Guermonprez P, Valladeau J, Zitvogel L, Théry C, Amigorena S. ANTIGEN PRESENTATION AND T CELL STIMULATION BY DENDRITIC CELLS. Annual Review of Immunology 2002; 20:621-67.
- 155. Medzhitov R, Preston-Hurlburt P, Janeway CA, Jr. A human homologue of the Drosophila Toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity. Nature 1997; 388:394-7.
- 156. Kawai T, Akira S. TLR signaling. Cell Death Differ 2006; 13:816-25.
- 157. Takeuchi O, Akira S. MDA5/RIG-I and virus recognition. Current opinion in immunology 2008; 20:17-22.

- 158. Kanneganti T-D, Lamkanfi M, Núñez G. Intracellular NOD-like receptors in host defense and disease. Immunity 2007; 27:549-59.
- 159. Franchi L, Eigenbrod T, Muñoz-Planillo R, Nuñez G. The inflammasome: a caspase-1activation platform that regulates immune responses and disease pathogenesis. Nature immunology 2009; 10:241-7.
- 160. Poltorak A, He X, Smirnova I, Liu MY, Van Huffel C, Du X, et al. Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: mutations in Tlr4 gene. Science 1998; 282:2085-8.
- 161. Hammad H, Chieppa M, Perros F, Willart MA, Germain RN, Lambrecht BN. House dust mite allergen induces asthma via Toll-like receptor 4 triggering of airway structural cells. Nat Med 2009; 15:410-6.
- 162. Eisenbarth SC, Piggott DA, Huleatt JW, Visintin I, Herrick CA, Bottomly K. Lipopolysaccharide-enhanced, Toll-like Receptor 4–dependent T Helper Cell Type 2 Responses to Inhaled Antigen. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 2002; 196:1645-51.
- 163. Li D-Q, Zhang L, Pflugfelder SC, De Paiva CS, Zhang X, Zhao G, et al. Short ragweed pollen triggers allergic inflammation through Toll-like receptor 4–dependent thymic stromal lymphopoietin/OX40 ligand/OX40 signaling pathways. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2011; 128:1318-25.e2.
- 164. Aalberse RC. Structural biology of allergens. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology; 106:228-38.
- 165. Kaiser L, Gr, ouml, nlund H, Sandalova T, Ljunggren H-G, et al. Three-Dimensional Structure of Fel d 1, the Major Allergen in Cat. International Archives of Allergy and Immunology 2003; 132:25-6.
- Ismail N, Bretscher PA. The Th1/Th2 Nature of Concurrent Immune Responses to Unrelated Antigens Can Be Independent. The Journal of Immunology 1999; 163:4842-50.
- 167. Kool M, Willart Monique AM, van Nimwegen M, Bergen I, Pouliot P, Virchow JC, et al. An Unexpected Role for Uric Acid as an Inducer of T Helper 2 Cell Immunity to Inhaled Antigens and Inflammatory Mediator of Allergic Asthma. Immunity 2011; 34:527-40.
- 168. Kool M, Soullie T, van Nimwegen M, Willart MA, Muskens F, Jung S, et al. Alum adjuvant boosts adaptive immunity by inducing uric acid and activating inflammatory dendritic cells. J Exp Med 2008; 205:869-82.
- 169. Rogers PR, Croft M. Peptide Dose, Affinity, and Time of Differentiation Can Contribute to the Th1/Th2 Cytokine Balance. The Journal of Immunology 1999; 163:1205-13.
- 170. Guery JC, Galbiati F, Smiroldo S, Adorini L. Selective development of T helper (Th)2 cells induced by continuous administration of low dose soluble proteins to normal and beta(2)-microglobulin-deficient BALB/c mice. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 1996; 183:485-97.

- 171. Ismail N, Basten A, Briscoe H, Bretscher PA. Increasing the foreignness of an antigen, by coupling a second and foreign antigen to it, increases the T helper type 2 component of the immune response to the first antigen. Immunology 2005; 115:34-41.
- 172. Bretscher P, Cohn M. A Theory of Self-Nonself Discrimination. Paralysis and induction involve the recognition of one and two determinants on an antigen, respectively 1970; 169:1042-9.
- 173. Bakdash G, Sittig SP, van Dijk T, Figdor CG, de Vries IJM. The nature of activatory and tolerogenic dendritic cell-derived signal II. Frontiers in Immunology 2013; 4.
- 174. Rogers PR, Croft M. CD28, Ox-40, LFA-1, and CD4 Modulation of Th1/Th2 Differentiation Is Directly Dependent on the Dose of Antigen. The Journal of Immunology 2000; 164:2955-63.
- 175. Bousquet J, Lockey R, Malling H-J. Allergen immunotherapy: therapeutic vaccines for allergic diseases A WHO position paper. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1998; 102:558-62.
- 176. Noon L. PROPHYLACTIC INOCULATION AGAINST HAY FEVER. The Lancet 1911; 177:1572-3.
- 177. Ring J, Gutermuth J. 100 years of hyposensitization: history of allergen-specific immunotherapy (ASIT). Allergy 2011; 66:713-24.
- 178. Curtis H. THe etiology and recent treatment of hay fever. Journal of the American Medical Association 1907; XLIX:144-7.
- 179. Freeman J. Further observations on the treatment of hay fever by hypodermic inoculations of pollen vaccine. The Lancet 1911; 178:814-7.
- 180. Wide L, Bennich H, Johansson SGO. DIAGNOSIS OF ALLERGY BY AN IN-VITRO TEST FOR ALLERGEN ANTIBODIES. The Lancet 1967; 290:1105-7.
- 181. Johansson SG. Radioimmunoassay of IgE and IgE antibody and its clinical application. Journal of Clinical Pathology. Supplement (Ass. Clin. Path.) 1975; 6:33-7.
- Lichtenstein LM, Norman PS, Winkenwerder WL. Clinical and in vitro studies on the role of immunotherapy in ragweed hay fever. The American Journal of Medicine 1968; 44:514-24.
- 183. Lichtenstein LM, Ishizaka K, Norman PS, Sobotka AK, Hill BM. IgE Antibody Measurements in Ragweed Hay Fever RELATIONSHIP TO CLINICAL SEVERITY AND THE RESULTS OF IMMUNOTHERAPY. Journal of Clinical Investigation 1973; 52:472-82.
- Hunt KJ, Valentine MD, Sobotka AK, Benton AW, Amodio FJ, Lichtenstein LM. A Controlled Trial of Immunotherapy in Insect Hypersensitivity. New England Journal of Medicine 1978; 299:157-61.
- Durham SR, Walker SM, Varga E-M, Jacobson MR, O'Brien F, Noble W, et al. Long-Term Clinical Efficacy of Grass-Pollen Immunotherapy. New England Journal of Medicine 1999; 341:468-75.

- 186. Di Rienzo V, Marcucci F, Puccinelli P, Parmiani S, Frati F, Sensi L, et al. Long-lasting effect of sublingual immunotherapy in children with asthma due to house dust mite: a 10-year prospective study. Clinical & Experimental Allergy 2003; 33:206-10.
- 187. Jacobsen L, Nüchel Petersen B, Wihl JÅ, Løwenstein H, Ipsen H. Immunotherapy with partially purified and standardized tree pollen extracts. IV. Results from long-term (6-year) follow-up. Allergy 1997; 52:914-20.
- 188. Moller C, Dreborg S, Ferdousi HA, Halken S, Host A, Jacobsen L, et al. Pollen immunotherapy reduces the development of asthma in children with seasonal rhinoconjunctivitis (the PAT-study). J Allergy Clin Immunol 2002; 109:251-6.
- 189. Marogna M, Bruno M, Massolo A, Falagiani P. Long-lasting effects of sublingual immunotherapy for house dust mites in allergic rhinitis with bronchial hyperreactivity: a long-term (13-year) retrospective study in real life. International archives of allergy and immunology 2007; 142:70-8.
- 190. Niggemann B, Jacobsen L, Dreborg S, Ferdousi HA, Halken S, Høst A, et al. Five-year follow-up on the PAT study: specific immunotherapy and long-term prevention of asthma in children. Allergy 2006; 61:855-9.
- 191. Jacobsen L, Niggemann B, Dreborg S, Ferdousi HA, Halken S, Høst A, et al. Specific immunotherapy has long-term preventive effect of seasonal and perennial asthma: 10-year follow-up on the PAT study. Allergy 2007; 62:943-8.
- 192. Des Roches A, Paradis L, Menardo JL, Bouges S, Daures JP, Bousquet J. Immunotherapy with a standardized Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus extract. VI. Specific immunotherapy prevents the onset of new sensitizations in children. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 99:450-3.
- 193. Pajno GB, Barberio G, De Luca F, Morabito L, Parmiani S. Prevention of new sensitizations in asthmatic children monosensitized to house dust mite by specific immunotherapy. A six-year follow-up study. Clin Exp Allergy 2001; 31:1392-7.
- 194. Johnstone DE, Crump L. VALUE OF HYPOSENSITIZATION THERAPY FOR PERENNIAL BRONCHIAL ASTHMA IN CHILDREN. Pediatrics 1961; 27:39-44.
- 195. Eng PA, Reinhold M, Gnehm HE. Long-term efficacy of preseasonal grass pollen immunotherapy in children. Allergy 2002; 57:306-12.
- 196. Eng PA, Borer-Reinhold M, Heijnen IAFM, Gnehm HPE. Twelve-year follow-up after discontinuation of preseasonal grass pollen immunotherapy in childhood. Allergy 2006; 61:198-201.
- 197. Calderón MA, Casale TB, Togias A, Bousquet J, Durham SR, Demoly P. Allergenspecific immunotherapy for respiratory allergies: From meta-analysis to registration and beyond. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2011; 127:30-8.
- 198. Adkinson NFJ, Eggleston PA, Eney D, Goldstein EO, Schuberth KC, Bacon JR, et al. A Controlled Trial of Immunotherapy for Asthma in Allergic Children. New England Journal of Medicine 1997; 336:324-32.
- 199. Rak S, Heinrich C, Jacobsen L, Scheynius A, Venge P. A double-blinded, comparative study of the effects of short preseason specific immunotherapy and topical steroids in

patients with allergic rhinoconjunctivitis and asthma. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2001; 108:921-8.

- 200. Shaikh WA. Immunotherapy vs inhaled budesonide in bronchial asthma: an open, parallel, comparative trial. Clinical & Experimental Allergy 1997; 27:1279-84.
- 201. Marogna M, Spadolini I, Massolo A, Berra D, Zanon P, Chiodini E, et al. Long-term comparison of sublingual immunotherapy vs inhaled budesonide in patients with mild persistent asthma due tograss pollen. Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology 2009; 102:69-75.
- 202. Francis JN, Till SJ, Durham SR. Induction of IL-10+CD4+CD25+ T cells by grass pollen immunotherapy. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2003; 111:1255-61.
- 203. Akdis CA, Akdis M, Blesken T, Wymann D, Alkan SS, Müller U, et al. Epitope-specific T cell tolerance to phospholipase A2 in bee venom immunotherapy and recovery by IL-2 and IL-15 in vitro. Journal of Clinical Investigation 1996; 98:1676-83.
- 204. Radulovic S, Jacobson MR, Durham SR, Nouri-Aria KT. Grass pollen immunotherapy induces Foxp3-expressing CD4+CD25+ cells in the nasal mucosa. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2008; 121:1467-72.e1.
- 205. Scadding GW, Shamji MH, Jacobson MR, Lee DI, Wilson D, Lima MT, et al. Sublingual grass pollen immunotherapy is associated with increases in sublingual Foxp3-expressing cells and elevated allergen-specific immunoglobulin G4, immunoglobulin A and serum inhibitory activity for immunoglobulin E-facilitated allergen binding to B cells. Clinical & Experimental Allergy 2010; 40:598-606.
- 206. Nouri-Aria KT, Wachholz PA, Francis JN, Jacobson MR, Walker SM, Wilcock LK, et al. Grass Pollen Immunotherapy Induces Mucosal and Peripheral IL-10 Responses and Blocking IgG Activity. Journal of Immunology 2004; 172:3252-9.
- 207. Francis JN, James LK, Paraskevopoulos G, Wong C, Calderon MA, Durham SR, et al. Grass pollen immunotherapy: IL-10 induction and suppression of late responses precedes IgG4 inhibitory antibody activity. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2008; 121:1120-5.e2.
- 208. Meiler F, Klunker S, Zimmermann M, Akdis CA, Akdis M. Distinct regulation of IgE, IgG4 and IgA by T regulatory cells and toll-like receptors. Allergy 2008; 63:1455-63.
- 209. Satoguina JS, Weyand E, Larbi J, Hoerauf A. T Regulatory-1 Cells Induce IgG4 Production by B Cells: Role of IL-10. The Journal of Immunology 2005; 174:4718-26.
- 210. Grindebacke H, Larsson P, Wing K, Rak S, Rudin A. Specific Immunotherapy to Birch Allergen Does not Enhance Suppression of Th2 Cells by CD4+CD25+ Regulatory T Cells During Pollen Season. Journal of Clinical Immunology 2009; 29:752-60.
- 211. Wambre E, DeLong JH, James EA, LaFond RE, Robinson D, Kwok WW. Differentiation stage determines pathologic and protective allergen-specific CD4+ T-cell outcomes during specific immunotherapy. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2012; 129:544-51.e7.

- 212. Wambre E, DeLong JH, James EA, Torres-Chinn N, Pfützner W, Möbs C, et al. Specific immunotherapy modifies allergen-specific CD4+ T-cell responses in an epitope-dependent manner. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2014; 133:872-9.e7.
- 213. Wachholz PA, Nouri-Aria KT, Wilson DR, Walker SM, Verhoef A, Till SJ, et al. Grass pollen immunotherapy for hayfever is associated with increases in local nasal but not peripheral Th1:Th2 cytokine ratios. Immunology 2002; 105:56-62.
- 214. Suárez-Fueyo A, Ramos T, Galán A, Jimeno L, Wurtzen PA, Marin A, et al. Grass tablet sublingual immunotherapy downregulates the TH2 cytokine response followed by regulatory T-cell generation. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2014; 133:130-8.e2.
- 215. Aslam A, Chan H, Warrell DA, Misbah S, Ogg GS. Tracking Antigen-Specific T-Cells during Clinical Tolerance Induction in Humans. PLoS ONE 2010; 5:e11028.
- 216. Bohle B, Kinaciyan T, Gerstmayr M, Radakovics A, Jahn-Schmid B, Ebner C. Sublingual immunotherapy induces IL-10–producing T regulatory cells, allergen-specific T-cell tolerance, and immune deviation. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2007; 120:707-13.
- 217. Bellinghausen I, Metz G, Enk AH, Christmann S, Knop J, Saloga J. Insect venom immunotherapy induces interleukin-10 production and a Th2-to-Th1 shift, and changes surface marker expression in venom-allergic subjects. European Journal of Immunology 1997; 27:1131-9.
- 218. Zimmer A, Bouley J, Le Mignon M, Pliquet E, Horiot S, Turfkruyer M, et al. A regulatory dendritic cell signature correlates with the clinical efficacy of allergen-specific sublingual immunotherapy. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2012; 129:1020-30.
- 219. Frew AJ. Allergen immunotherapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010; 125:S306-13.
- 220. Bernstein DI, Wanner M, Borish L, Liss GM, the Immunotherapy Committee of the American Academy of Allergy A, Immunology. Twelve-year survey of fatal reactions to allergen injections and skin testing: 1990-2001. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2004; 113:1129-36.
- 221. Frew AJ, Powell RJ, Corrigan CJ, Durham SR. Efficacy and safety of specific immunotherapy with SQ allergen extract in treatment-resistant seasonal allergic rhinoconjunctivitis. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2006; 117:319-25.
- 222. Tahamiler R, Saritzali G, Canakcioglu S. Long-Term Efficacy of Sublingual Immunotherapy in Patients With Perennial Rhinitis. The Laryngoscope 2007; 117:965-9.
- 223. Pajno GB, Morabito L, Barberio G, Parmiani S. Clinical and immunologic effects of long-term sublingual immunotherapy in asthmatic children sensitized to mites:a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Allergy 2000; 55:842-9.
- 224. Kiel MA, Röder E, Gerth van Wijk R, Al MJ, Hop WCJ, Rutten-van Mölken MPMH. Real-life compliance and persistence among users of subcutaneous and sublingual allergen immunotherapy. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2013; 132:353-60.e2.

- 225. Billingham RE, Brent L, Medawar PB. Actively acquired tolerance'of foreign cells. Nature 1953; 172:603-6.
- 226. Gershon RK, Kondo K. Infectious immunological tolerance. Immunology 1971; 21:903-14.
- Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Asano M, Itoh M, Toda M. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25).
 Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. The Journal of Immunology 1995; 155:1151-64.
- 228. Bennett CL, Christie J, Ramsdell F, Brunkow ME, Ferguson PJ, Whitesell L, et al. The immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX) is caused by mutations of FOXP3. Nature genetics 2001; 27.
- 229. Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol 2003; 4:330-6.
- 230. Hori S, Nomura T, Sakaguchi S. Control of Regulatory T Cell Development by the Transcription Factor Foxp3. Science 2003; 299:1057-61.
- 231. Walker M, Kasprowicz DJ, Gersuk VH, xE, nard A, xE, et al. Induction of FoxP3 and acquisition of T regulatory activity by stimulated human CD4+CD25– T cells. The Journal of Clinical Investigation 2003; 112:1437-43.
- 232. Bopp T, Becker C, Klein M, Klein-Hessling S, Palmetshofer A, Serfling E, et al. Cyclic adenosine monophosphate is a key component of regulatory T cell-mediated suppression. J Exp Med 2007; 204:1303-10.
- 233. Jonuleit H, Schmitt E, Kakirman H, Stassen M, Knop J, Enk AH. Infectious Tolerance: Human CD25+ Regulatory T Cells Convey Suppressor Activity to Conventional CD4+ T Helper Cells. Journal of Experimental Medicine 2002; 196:255-60.
- 234. Fassbender M, Gerlitzki B, Ullrich N, Lupp C, Klein M, Radsak MP, et al. Cyclic adenosine monophosphate and IL-10 coordinately contribute to nTreg cell-mediated suppression of dendritic cell activation. Cellular Immunology 2010; 265:91-6.
- 235. Venet F, Pachot A, Debard A-L, Bohe J, Bienvenu J, Lepape A, et al. Human CD4+CD25+ Regulatory T Lymphocytes Inhibit Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Monocyte Survival through a Fas/Fas Ligand-Dependent Mechanism. The Journal of Immunology 2006; 177:6540-7.
- 236. Gri G, Piconese S, Frossi B, Manfroi V, Merluzzi S, Tripodo C, et al. CD4+CD25+ Regulatory T Cells Suppress Mast Cell Degranulation and Allergic Responses through OX40-OX40L Interaction. Immunity 2008; 29:771-81.
- 237. Wing K, Onishi Y, Prieto-Martin P, Yamaguchi T, Miyara M, Fehervari Z, et al. CTLA-4 Control over Foxp3+ Regulatory T Cell Function. Science 2008; 322:271-5.
- 238. Francisco LM, Sage PT, Sharpe AH. The PD-1 pathway in tolerance and autoimmunity. Immunological Reviews 2010; 236:219-42.

- 239. Kearley J, Barker JE, Robinson DS, Lloyd CM. Resolution of airway inflammation and hyperreactivity after in vivo transfer of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells is interleukin 10 dependent. J Exp Med 2005; 202:1539-47.
- 240. Anderson MS, Venanzi ES, Klein L, Chen Z, Berzins SP, Turley SJ, et al. Projection of an Immunological Self Shadow Within the Thymus by the Aire Protein. Science 2002; 298:1395-401.
- 241. Aichele P, Brduscha-Riem K, Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H, Pircher H. T cell priming versus T cell tolerance induced by synthetic peptides. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 1995; 182:261-6.
- 242. Groux H, O'Garra A, Bigler M, Rouleau M, Antonenko S, de Vries JE, et al. A CD4+Tcell subset inhibits antigen-specific T-cell responses and prevents colitis. Nature 1997; 389:737-42.
- 243. Jonuleit H, Schmitt E, Schuler G, Knop J, Enk AH. Induction of Interleukin 10– Producing, Nonproliferating Cd4+ T Cells with Regulatory Properties by Repetitive Stimulation with Allogeneic Immature Human Dendritic Cells. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 2000; 192:1213-22.
- 244. Kretschmer K, Apostolou I, Hawiger D, Khazaie K, Nussenzweig MC, von Boehmer H. Inducing and expanding regulatory T cell populations by foreign antigen. Nat Immunol 2005; 6:1219-27.
- 245. Lutz MB, Schuler G. Immature, semi-mature and fully mature dendritic cells: which signals induce tolerance or immunity? Trends in Immunology 2002; 23:445-9.
- 246. Barrat FJ, Cua DJ, Boonstra A, Richards DF, Crain C, Savelkoul HF, et al. In Vitro Generation of Interleukin 10–producing Regulatory CD4+ T Cells Is Induced by Immunosuppressive Drugs and Inhibited by T Helper Type 1 (Th1)– and Th2-inducing Cytokines. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 2002; 195:603-16.
- 247. Misra N, Bayry J, Lacroix-Desmazes S, Kazatchkine MD, Kaveri SV. Cutting Edge: Human CD4+CD25+ T Cells Restrain the Maturation and Antigen-Presenting Function of Dendritic Cells. The Journal of Immunology 2004; 172:4676-80.
- 248. Thornton AM, Shevach EM. CD4+CD25+ Immunoregulatory T Cells Suppress Polyclonal T Cell Activation In Vitro by Inhibiting Interleukin 2 Production. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 1998; 188:287-96.
- 249. Borsellino G, Kleinewietfeld M, Di Mitri D, Sternjak A, Diamantini A, Giometto R, et al. Expression of ectonucleotidase CD39 by Foxp3+ Treg cells: hydrolysis of extracellular ATP and immune suppression. Blood 2007; 110:1225-32.
- 250. Bayry J, Triebel F, Kaveri SV, Tough DF. Human Dendritic Cells Acquire a Semimature Phenotype and Lymph Node Homing Potential through Interaction with CD4+CD25+ Regulatory T Cells. The Journal of Immunology 2007; 178:4184-93.
- 251. Moldaver D, Larché M. Immunotherapy with peptides. Allergy 2011; 66:784-91.
- 252. Gammon G, Dunn K, Shastri N, Oki A, Wilbur S, Sercarz EE. Neonatal T-cell tolerance to minimal immunogenic peptides is caused by clonal inactivation. Nature 1986; 319:413-5.

- 253. Clayton JP, Gammon GM, Ando DG, Kono DH, Hood L, Sercarz EE. Peptide-specific prevention of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Neonatal tolerance induced to the dominant T cell determinant of myelin basic protein. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 1989; 169:1681-91.
- 254. Gaur A, Wiers B, Liu A, Rothbard J, Fathman C. Amelioration of autoimmune encephalomyelitis by myelin basic protein synthetic peptide-induced anergy. Science 1992; 258:1491-4.
- 255. Staines NA, Harper N, Ward FJ, MalmstrÖM V, Holmdahl R, Bansal S. Mucosal tolerance and suppression of collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) induced by nasal inhalation of synthetic peptide 184-198 of bovine type II collagen (CII) expressing a dominant T cell epitope. Clinical & Experimental Immunology 1996; 103:368-75.
- 256. Daniel D, Wegmann DR. Protection of nonobese diabetic mice from diabetes by intranasal or subcutaneous administration of insulin peptide B-(9-23). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 1996; 93:956-60.
- 257. Karachunski PI, Ostlie NS, Okita DK, Conti-Fine BM. Prevention of experimental myasthenia gravis by nasal administration of synthetic acetylcholine receptor T epitope sequences. The Journal of Clinical Investigation 1997; 100:3027-35.
- 258. Hoyne GF, O'Hehir RE, Wraith DC, Thomas WR, Lamb JR. Inhibition of T cell and antibody responses to house dust mite allergen by inhalation of the dominant T cell epitope in naive and sensitized mice. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 1993; 178:1783-8.
- 259. Briner TJ, Kuo M-C, Keating KM, Rogers BL, Greenstein JL. Peripheral T-cell tolerance induced in naive and primed mice by subcutaneous injection of peptides from the major cat allergen Fel d I. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 1993; 90:7608-12.
- 260. Bauer L, Bohle B, Jahn-Schmid B, Wiedermann U, Daser A, Renz H, et al. Modulation of the allergic immune response in BALB/c mice by subcutaneous injection of high doses of the dominant T cell epitope from the major birch pollen allergen Bet v 1. Clinical & Experimental Immunology 1997; 107:536-41.
- 261. Bohle B, Radakovics A, Jahn-Schmid B, Hoffmann-Sommergruber K, Fischer G, Ebner C. Bet v 1, the major birch pollen allergen, initiates sensitization to Api g 1, the major allergen in celery: evidence at the T cell level. European Journal of Immunology 2003; 33:3303 10.
- 262. Norman PS, Ohman JL, Long AA, Creticos PS, Gefter MA, Shaked Z, et al. Treatment of cat allergy with T-cell reactive peptides. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 1996; 154:1623-8.
- 263. Simons FER, Imada M, Li Y, Watson WTA, HayGlass KT. Fel d 1 peptides: effect on skin tests and cytokine synthesis in cat-allergic human subjects. International Immunology 1996; 8:1937-45.
- 264. Marcotte GV, Braun CM, Norman PS, Nicodemus CF, Kagey-Sobotka A, Lichtenstein LM, et al. Effects of peptide therapy on ex vivo T-cell responses. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1998; 101:506-13.

- 265. Pène J, Desroches A, Paradis L, Lebel B, Farce M, Nicodemus CF, et al. Immunotherapy with Fel d 1 peptides decreases IL-4 release by peripheral blood T cells of patients allergic to cats. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1998; 102:571-8.
- 266. Maguire P, Nicodemus C, Robinson D, Aaronson D, Umetsu DT. The Safety and Efficacy of ALLERVAX CAT in Cat Allergic Patients. Clinical Immunology 1999; 93:222-31.
- 267. Oldfield WL, Larche M, Kay AB. Effect of T-cell peptides derived from Fel d 1 on allergic reactions and cytokine production in patients sensitive to cats: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2002; 360:47-53.
- 268. Worm M, Lee H-H, Kleine-Tebbe J, Hafner RP, Laidler P, Healey D, et al. Development and preliminary clinical evaluation of a peptide immunotherapy vaccine for cat allergy. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2011; 127:89-97.e14.
- 269. Patel D, Couroux P, Hickey P, Salapatek AM, Laidler P, Larche M, et al. Fel d 1-derived peptide antigen desensitization shows a persistent treatment effect 1 year after the start of dosing: a randomized, placebo-controlled study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2013; 131:103-9 e1-7.
- 270. Couroux P, Patel D, Armstrong K, Larché M, Hafner RP. Fel d 1-derived synthetic peptide immuno-regulatory epitopes show a long-term treatment effect in cat allergic subjects. Clinical & Experimental Allergy 2015:n/a-n/a.
- 271. Scadding GW, Calderon MA, Shamji MH, et al. Effect of 2 years of treatment with sublingual grass pollen immunotherapy on nasal response to allergen challenge at 3 years among patients with moderate to severe seasonal allergic rhinitis: The grass randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2017; 317:615-25.
- 272. Spertini F, DellaCorte G, Kettner A, de Blay F, Jacobsen L, Jutel M, et al. Efficacy of two months of allergen specific immunotherapy with Bet v 1-derived contiguous overlapping peptides in patients with allergic rhinoconjunctivitis: results of a phase IIb study. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2016.
- 273. Müller U, Akdis CA, Fricker M, Akdis M, Blesken T, Bettens F, et al. Successful immunotherapy with T-cell epitope peptides of bee venom phospholipase A2 induces specific T-cell anergy in patients allergic to bee venom. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1998; 101:747-54.
- 274. Tarzi M, Klunker S, Texier C, Verhoef A, Stapel SO, Akdis CA, et al. Induction of interleukin-10 and suppressor of cytokine signalling-3 gene expression following peptide immunotherapy. Clin Exp Allergy 2006; 36:465-74.
- 275. Fellrath J-M, Kettner A, Dufour N, Frigerio C, Schneeberger D, Leimgruber A, et al. Allergen-specific T-cell tolerance induction with allergen-derived long synthetic peptides: Results of a phase I trial. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2003; 111:854-61.
- 276. Streeter HB, Rigden R, Martin KF, Scolding NJ, Wraith DC. Preclinical development and first-in-human study of ATX-MS-1467 for immunotherapy of MS. Neurology Neuroimmunology Neuroinflammation 2015; 2.

- 277. Warren KG, Catz I, W. Wucherpfennig K. Tolerance induction to myelin basic protein by intravenous synthetic peptides containing epitope P₈₅VVHFFKNIVTP₉₆ in chronic progressive multiple sclerosis. Journal of the Neurological Sciences 1997; 152:31-8.
- 278. Vandenbark AA, Chou YK, Whitham R, Mass M, Buenafe A, Liefeld D, et al. Treatment of multiple sclerosis with T-cell receptor peptides: results of a double-blind pilot trial. Nat Med 1996; 2:1109-15.
- 279. Thrower SL, James L, Hall W, Green KM, Arif S, Allen JS, et al. Proinsulin peptide immunotherapy in type 1 diabetes: report of a first-in-man Phase I safety study. Clinical & Experimental Immunology 2009; 155:156-65.
- 280. McPherson RC, Konkel JE, Prendergast CT, Thomson JP, Ottaviano R, Leech MD, et al. Epigenetic modification of the PD-1 (Pdcd1) promoter in effector CD4+ T cells tolerized by peptide immunotherapy. eLife 2014; 3:e03416.
- 281. Hochweller K, Anderton SM. Kinetics of costimulatory molecule expression by T cells and dendritic cells during the induction of tolerance versus immunity in vivo. European Journal of Immunology 2005; 35:1086-96.
- 282. Hoyne GF, Askonas BA, Hetzel C, Thomas WR, Lamb JR. Regulation of house dust mite responses by intranasally administered peptide: transient activation of CD4+ T cells precedes the development of tolerance in vivo. International Immunology 1996; 8:335-42.
- 283. Oldfield WL, Kay AB, Larche M. Allergen-derived T cell peptide-induced late asthmatic reactions precede the induction of antigen-specific hyporesponsiveness in atopic allergic asthmatic subjects. J Immunol 2001; 167:1734-9.
- 284. Smith TR, Alexander C, Kay AB, Larche M, Robinson DS. Cat allergen peptide immunotherapy reduces CD4(+) T cell responses to cat allergen but does not alter suppression by CD4(+) CD25(+) T cells: a double-blind placebo-controlled study. Allergy 2004; 59:1097-101.
- 285. Alexander C, Ying S, A BK, Larche M. Fel d 1-derived T cell peptide therapy induces recruitment of CD4+ CD25+; CD4+ interferon-gamma+ T helper type 1 cells to sites of allergen-induced late-phase skin reactions in cat-allergic subjects. Clin Exp Allergy 2005; 35:52-8.
- 286. Verhoef A, Alexander C, Kay AB, Larche M. T cell epitope immunotherapy induces a CD4+ T cell population with regulatory activity. PLoS Med 2005; 2:e78.
- 287. Campbell JD, Buckland KF, McMillan SJ, Kearley J, Oldfield WL, Stern LJ, et al. Peptide immunotherapy in allergic asthma generates IL-10-dependent immunological tolerance associated with linked epitope suppression. J Exp Med 2009; 206:1535-47.
- 288. Burkhart C, Liu GY, Anderton SM, Metzler B, Wraith DC. Peptide-induced T cell regulation of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: a role for IL-10. International immunology 1999; 11:1625-34.

- 289. Sundstedt A, O'Neill EJ, Nicolson KS, Wraith DC. Role for IL-10 in Suppression Mediated by Peptide-Induced Regulatory T Cells In Vivo. The Journal of Immunology 2003; 170:1240-8.
- 290. Kleijmeer MJ, Ossevoort MA, van Veen CJ, van Hellemond JJ, Neefjes JJ, Kast WM, et al. MHC class II compartments and the kinetics of antigen presentation in activated mouse spleen dendritic cells. The Journal of Immunology 1995; 154:5715-24.
- 291. Germain RN, Jenkins MK. In vivo antigen presentation. Current opinion in immunology 2004; 16:120-5.
- 292. Santambrogio L, Sato AK, Fischer FR, Dorf ME, Stern LJ. Abundant empty class II MHC molecules on the surface of immature dendritic cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 1999; 96:15050-5.
- 293. Santambrogio L, Sato AK, Carven GJ, Belyanskaya SL, Strominger JL, Stern LJ. Extracellular antigen processing and presentation by immature dendritic cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 1999; 96:15056-61.
- 294. Maynard J, Petersson K, Wilson DH, Adams EJ, Blondelle SE, Boulanger MJ, et al. Structure of an Autoimmune T Cell Receptor Complexed with Class II Peptide-MHC: Insights into MHC Bias and Antigen Specificity. Immunity 2005; 22:81-92.
- 295. Metzler B, Anderton SM, Manickasingham SP, Wraith DC. Kinetics of Peptide Uptake and Tissue Distribution Following a Single Intranasal Dose of Peptide. Immunological Investigations 2000; 29:61-70.
- 296. Metzler B, Wraith DC. Inhibition of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by inhalation but not oral administration of the encephalitogenic peptide: influence of MHC binding affinity. International immunology 1993; 5:1159-65.
- 297. Gabryšová L, Wraith DC. Antigenic strength controls the generation of antigen-specific IL-10-secreting T regulatory cells. European Journal of Immunology 2010; 40:1386-95.
- 298. Burton BR, Britton GJ, Fang H, Verhagen J, Smithers B, Sabatos-Peyton CA, et al. Sequential transcriptional changes dictate safe and effective antigen-specific immunotherapy. Nat Commun 2014; 5.
- 299. Kendal AR, Chen Y, Regateiro FS, Ma J, Adams E, Cobbold SP, et al. Sustained suppression by Foxp3+ regulatory T cells is vital for infectious transplantation tolerance. J Exp Med 2011; 208:2043-53.
- 300. Apostolou I, von Boehmer H. In Vivo Instruction of Suppressor Commitment in Naive T Cells. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 2004; 199:1401-8.
- 301. Wu HY, Ward FJ, Staines NA. Histone Peptide-Induced Nasal Tolerance: Suppression of Murine Lupus. The Journal of Immunology 2002; 169:1126-34.
- 302. Anderton SM, Wraith DC. Hierarchy in the ability of T cell epitopes to induce peripheral tolerance to antigens from myelin. European journal of immunology 1998; 28:1251-61.
- 303. Hoyne GF, Jarnicki AG, Thomas WR, Lamb JR. Characterization of the specificity and duration of T cell tolerance to intranasally administered peptides in mice: a role for intramolecular epitope suppression. International Immunology 1997; 9:1165-73.

- 304. Miller A, Lider O, Weiner HL. Antigen-driven bystander suppression after oral administration of antigens. J Exp Med 1991; 174:791-8.
- 305. Chien C-H, Yu H-H, Chiang B-L. Single allergen-induced oral tolerance inhibits airway inflammation in conjugated allergen immunized mice. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2015; 136:1110.
- 306. Graca L, Thompson S, Lin C-Y, Adams E, Cobbold SP, Waldmann H. Both CD4+CD25+ and CD4+CD25- Regulatory Cells Mediate Dominant Transplantation Tolerance. The Journal of Immunology 2002; 168:5558-65.
- 307. Graca L, Honey K, Adams E, Cobbold SP, Waldmann H. Cutting Edge: Anti-CD154 Therapeutic Antibodies Induce Infectious Transplantation Tolerance. The Journal of Immunology 2000; 165:4783-6.
- 308. Qin S, Cobbold SP, Pope H, Elliott J, Kioussis D, Davies J, et al. "Infectious" transplantation tolerance. Science 1993; 259:974-7.
- 309. Cobbold SP, Adams E, Farquhar CA, Nolan KF, Howie D, Lui KO, et al. Infectious tolerance via the consumption of essential amino acids and mTOR signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009; 106:12055-60.
- 310. Cobbold S, Waldmann H. Infectious tolerance. Current Opinion in Immunology 1998; 10:518-24.
- Davies JD, Leong LY, Mellor A, Cobbold SP, Waldmann H. T cell suppression in transplantation tolerance through linked recognition. The Journal of Immunology 1996; 156:3602-7.
- 312. Alexander C, Tarzi M, Larche M, Kay AB. The effect of Fel d 1-derived T-cell peptides on upper and lower airway outcome measurements in cat-allergic subjects. Allergy 2005; 60:1269-74.
- 313. Ito K, Bian HJ, Molina M, Han J, Magram J, Saar E, et al. HLA-DR4-IE chimeric class II transgenic, murine class II-deficient mice are susceptible to experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 1996; 183:2635-44.
- 314. T R Mosmann a, Coffman RL. TH1 and TH2 Cells: Different Patterns of Lymphokine Secretion Lead to Different Functional Properties. Annual Review of Immunology 1989; 7:145-73.
- 315. Corry DB, Folkesson HG, Warnock ML, Erle DJ, Matthay MA, Wiener-Kronish JP, et al. Interleukin 4, but not interleukin 5 or eosinophils, is required in a murine model of acute airway hyperreactivity. J Exp Med 1996; 183:109-17.
- 316. Masoli M, Fabian D, Holt S, Beasley R. The global burden of asthma: executive summary of the GINA Dissemination Committee report. Allergy 2004; 59.
- 317. Wenzel S. Severe Asthma in Adults. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 2005; 172:149-60.
- 318. Schatz M, Hsu J-WY, Zeiger RS, Chen W, Dorenbaum A, Chipps BE, et al. Phenotypes determined by cluster analysis in severe or difficult-to-treat asthma. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology; 133:1549-56.

- 319. Eifan AO, Shamji MH, Durham SR. Long-term clinical and immunological effects of allergen immunotherapy. Current opinion in allergy and clinical immunology 2011; 11:586-93.
- 320. Moldaver DM, Bharhani MS, Wattie JN, Ellis R, Neighbour H, Lloyd CM, et al. Amelioration of ovalbumin-induced allergic airway disease following Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy is not associated with induction of IL-35. Mucosal Immunol 2013; 7:379-90.
- 321. Wihl JÅ, Ipsen H, Petersen BN, Munch EP, Janniche H, Løswenstein H. Immunotherapy with partially purified and standardized tree pollen extracts. Allergy 1988; 43:363-9.
- 322. Sundin B, Lilja G, Graff-Lonnevig V, Hedlin G, Heilborn H, Norrlind K, et al. Immunotherapy with partially purified and standardized animal dander extracts: I. Clinical results from a double-blind study on patients with animal dander asthma. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1986; 77:478-87.
- 323. Hedlin G, Wille S, Browaldh L, Hildebrand H, Holmgren D, Lindfors A, et al. Immunotherapy in children with allergic asthma: Effect on bronchial hyperreactivity and pharmacotherapy. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 1999; 103:609-14.
- 324. Tran HM, Nickerson PW, Restifo AC, Ivis-Woodward MA, Patel A, Allen RD, et al. Distinct mechanisms for the induction and maintenance of allograft tolerance with CTLA4-Fc treatment. The Journal of Immunology 1997; 159:2232-9.
- 325. Nair P, Pizzichini MMM, Kjarsgaard M, Inman MD, Efthimiadis A, Pizzichini E, et al. Mepolizumab for Prednisone-Dependent Asthma with Sputum Eosinophilia. New England Journal of Medicine 2009; 360:985-93.
- 326. Corren J, Lemanske RF, Hanania NA, Korenblat PE, Parsey MV, Arron JR, et al. Lebrikizumab treatment in adults with asthma. N Engl J Med 2011; 365.
- 327. Castanhinha S, Sherburn R, Walker S, Gupta A, Bossley CJ, Buckley J, et al. Pediatric severe asthma with fungal sensitization is mediated by steroid-resistant IL-33. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2015; 136:312-22.e7.
- 328. Saglani S, Lui S, Ullmann N, Campbell GA, Sherburn RT, Mathie SA, et al. IL-33 promotes airway remodeling in pediatric patients with severe steroid-resistant asthma. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2013; 132:676-85.e13.
- 329. Strid J, Hourihane J, Kimber I, Callard R, Strobel S. Epicutaneous exposure to peanut protein prevents oral tolerance and enhances allergic sensitization. Clinical & Experimental Allergy 2005; 35:757-66.
- 330. Strid J, Hourihane J, Kimber I, Callard R, Strobel S. Disruption of the stratum corneum allows potent epicutaneous immunization with protein antigens resulting in a dominant systemic Th2 response. European Journal of Immunology 2004; 34:2100-9.
- 331. Spergel JM, Mizoguchi E, Brewer JP, Martin TR, Bhan AK, Geha RS. Epicutaneous sensitization with protein antigen induces localized allergic dermatitis and hyperresponsiveness to methacholine after single exposure to aerosolized antigen in mice. J Clin Invest 1998; 101:1614-22.

- 332. Lau S, Illi S, Platts-Mills TA, Riposo D, Nickel R, Gruber C, et al. Longitudinal study on the relationship between cat allergen and endotoxin exposure, sensitization, cat-specific IgG and development of asthma in childhood--report of the German Multicentre Allergy Study (MAS 90). Allergy 2005; 60:766-73.
- 333. Reefer AJ, Carneiro RM, Custis NJ, Platts-Mills TAE, Sung S-SJ, Hammer J, et al. A Role for IL-10-Mediated HLA-DR7-Restricted T Cell-Dependent Events in Development of the Modified Th2 Response to Cat Allergen. The Journal of Immunology 2004; 172:2763-72.
- 334. Laouini D, Kawamoto S, Yalcindag A, Bryce P, Mizoguchi E, Oettgen H, et al. Epicutaneous sensitization with superantigen induces allergic skin inflammation. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2003; 112:981-7.
- 335. Grohmann U, Fallarino F, Silla S, Bianchi R, Belladonna ML, Vacca C, et al. CD40 Ligation Ablates the Tolerogenic Potential of Lymphoid Dendritic Cells. The Journal of Immunology 2001; 166:277-83.
- 336. Metzler B, Wraith DC. Inhibition of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by inhalation but not oral administration of the encephalitogenic peptide: influence of MHC binding affinity. Int Immunol 1993; 5:1159-65.
- 337. Winer S, Gunaratnam L, Astsatourov I, Cheung RK, Kubiak V, Karges W, et al. Peptide dose, MHC affinity, and target self-antigen expression are critical for effective immunotherapy of nonobese diabetic mouse prediabetes. J Immunol 2000; 165:4086-94.
- 338. Mackenzie KJ, Fitch PM, Leech MD, Ilchmann A, Wilson C, McFarlane AJ, et al. Combination peptide immunotherapy based on T-cell epitope mapping reduces allergenspecific IgE and eosinophilia in allergic airway inflammation. Immunology 2013; 138:258-68.
- 339. Davis MM, Boniface JJ, Reich Z, Lyons D, Hampl J, Arden B, et al. Ligand recognition by alpha beta T cell receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 1998; 16:523-44.
- 340. Lyons DS, Lieberman SA, Hampl J, Boniface JJ, Chien Y-h, Berg LJ, et al. A TCR Binds to Antagonist Ligands with Lower Affinities and Faster Dissociation Rates Than to Agonists. Immunity 1996; 5:53-61.
- 341. Sauer S, Bruno L, Hertweck A, Finlay D, Leleu M, Spivakov M, et al. T cell receptor signaling controls Foxp3 expression via PI3K, Akt, and mTOR. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2008; 105:7797-802.
- 342. Saraiva M, Christensen JR, Veldhoen M, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, O'Garra A. Interleukin-10 production by Th1 cells requires interleukin-12-induced STAT4 transcription factor and ERK MAP kinase activation by high antigen dose. Immunity 2009; 31:209-19.
- 343. Gottschalk RA, Corse E, Allison JP. TCR ligand density and affinity determine peripheral induction of Foxp3 in vivo. Journal of Experimental Medicine 2010; 207:1701-11.

- 344. Jenkins M, Burrell E, Ashwell J. Antigen presentation by resting B cells. Effectiveness at inducing T cell proliferation is determined by costimulatory signals, not T cell receptor occupancy. The Journal of Immunology 1990; 144:1585-90.
- 345. Worm M, Lee HH, Kleine-Tebbe J, Hafner RP, Laidler P, Healey D, et al. Development and preliminary clinical evaluation of a peptide immunotherapy vaccine for cat allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2011; 127:89-97, e1-14.
- 346. Nicholson LB, Greer JM, Sobel RA, Lees MB, Kuchroo VK. An altered peptide ligand mediates immune deviation and prevents autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Immunity 1995; 3:397-405.
- 347. Nicholson LB, Murtaza A, Hafler BP, Sette A, Kuchroo VK. A T cell receptor antagonist peptide induces T cells that mediate bystander suppression and prevent autoimmune encephalomyelitis induced with multiple myelin antigens. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 1997; 94:9279-84.
- 348. Janssen EM, van Oosterhout AJM, van Rensen AJML, van Eden W, Nijkamp FP, Wauben MHM. Modulation of Th2 Responses by Peptide Analogues in a Murine Model of Allergic Asthma: Amelioration or Deterioration of the Disease Process Depends on the Th1 or Th2 Skewing Characteristics of the Therapeutic Peptide. The Journal of Immunology 2000; 164:580-8.
- 349. Alleva DG, Gaur A, Jin L, Wegmann D, Gottlieb PA, Pahuja A, et al. Immunological Characterization and Therapeutic Activity of an Altered-Peptide Ligand, NBI-6024, Based on the Immunodominant Type 1 Diabetes Autoantigen Insulin B-Chain (9–23) Peptide. Diabetes 2002; 51:2126-34.
- 350. Kappos L, Comi G, Panitch H, Oger J, Antel J, Conlon P, et al. Induction of a nonencephalitogenic type 2 T helper-cell autoimmune response in multiple sclerosis after administration of an altered peptide ligand in a placebo-controlled, randomized phase II trial. Nat Med 2000; 6:1176-82.
- 351. Bielekova B, Goodwin B, Richert N, Cortese I, Kondo T, Afshar G, et al. Encephalitogenic potential of the myelin basic protein peptide (amino acids 83-99) in multiple sclerosis: Results of a phase II clinical trial with an altered peptide ligand. Nat Med 2000; 6:1167-75.
- 352. Moldaver D, Bharhani M, Wattie J, Ellis R, Neighbour H, Lloyd C, et al. Amelioration of ovalbumin-induced allergic airway disease following Der p 1 peptide immunotherapy is not associated with induction of IL-35. Mucosal immunology 2013.
- 353. Mosmann TR, Cherwinski H, Bond MW, Giedlin MA, Coffman RL. Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. Journal of Immunology 1986; 136:2348-57.
- 354. Del Prete GF, De Carli M, Mastromauro C, Biagiotti R, Macchia D, Falagiani P, et al. Purified protein derivative of Mycobacterium tuberculosis and excretory-secretory antigen(s) of Toxocara canis expand in vitro human T cells with stable and opposite (type 1 T helper or type 2 T helper) profile of cytokine production. J Clin Invest 1991; 88:346-50.

- 355. Paliard X, de Waal Malefijt R, Yssel H, Blanchard D, Chrétien I, Abrams J, et al. Simultaneous production of IL-2, IL-4, and IFN-gamma by activated human CD4+ and CD8+ T cell clones. Journal of Immunology 1988; 141:849-55.
- 356. Wang Y-H, Voo KS, Liu B, Chen C-Y, Uygungil B, Spoede W, et al. A novel subset of CD4+ TH2 memory/effector cells that produce inflammatory IL-17 cytokine and promote the exacerbation of chronic allergic asthma. Journal of Experimental Medicine 2010; 207:2479-91.
- 357. Irvin C, Zafar I, Good J, Rollins D, Christianson C, Gorska MM, et al. Increased frequency of dual-positive TH2/TH17 cells in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid characterizes a population of patients with severe asthma. Journal of allergy and clinical immunology 2014; 134:1175-86.e7.
- 358. Krug N, Madden J, Redington AE, Lackie P, Djukanovic R, Schauer U, et al. T-cell cytokine profile evaluated at the single cell level in BAL and blood in allergic asthma. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology 1996; 14:319-26.
- 359. Lenschow DJ, Walunas TL, Bluestone JA. CD28/B7 system of T cell costimulation. Annual Review of Immunology 1996; 14:233-58.
- 360. Linsley PS, Ledbetter JA. The role of the CD28 receptor during T cell responses to antigen. Annual review of immunology 1993; 11:191-212.
- 361. Schiff M, Keiserman M, Codding C, Songcharoen S, Berman A, Nayiager S, et al. Efficacy and safety of abatacept or infliximab vs placebo in ATTEST: a phase III, multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and an inadequate response to methotrexate. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 2008; 67:1096-103.
- 362. Orban T, Bundy B, Becker DJ, DiMeglio LA, Gitelman SE, Goland R, et al. Costimulation modulation with abatacept in patients with recent-onset type 1 diabetes: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2011; 378:412-9.
- 363. Irvine DJ, Purbhoo MA, Krogsgaard M, Davis MM. Direct observation of ligand recognition by T cells. Nature 2002; 419:845-9.
- 364. Elbe A, Foster CA, Stingl G. T-Cell receptor $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells in rat and human skin are they equivalent? Seminars in Immunology 1996; 8:341-9.

Appendix 1: Treatment with anti-Cytokine Monoclonal Antibodies can Potentiate the Target

Cytokine Rather Than Neutralize its Activity

9. Declaration of Academic Achievement

Appendix 1: Treatment with anti-cytokine monoclonal antibodies can potentiate the target cytokine rather than neutralize its activity

C. Rudulier, M. Larché & D. Moldaver

- The following commentary was published by Allergy (2016) **71:** 283-285.
- Rights were retained (2017).

Daniel Moldaver's contributions

As the senior author, I was responsible for manuscript writing and development with C. Rudulier. C. Rudulier conceived the article. M. Larché provided guidance prior to submission.

Alleray



NEWS AND COMMENTARIES

Treatment with anti-cytokine monoclonal antibodies can potentiate the target cytokine rather than neutralize its activity

DOI:10.1111/all.12816

Airway diseases such as allergic rhinitis and allergic asthma are due to a Th2 response to innocuous environmental antigens. Animal models have shown that the antibody-mediated neutralization of Th2 cytokines can greatly diminish airway inflammation (1-3); these results lead to the development and clinical investigation of humanized anti-Th2 cytokine antibodies for the amelioration of asthma (4-8). Unfortunately, clinical trials of these biologics have not been a resounding success, with inabilities to significantly improve clinical symptoms being common and successful trials requiring strict patient stratification (9). These failures have spawned numerous plausible explanations, such as a requirement to neutralize more than one Th2 cytokine to achieve a diseasemodifying effect or that antibodies with a greater affinity for the target cytokine may be required. Alternatively, a welldocumented phenomenon may be hampering clinical efficacy, namely the potentiation of cytokines through the formation of cytokine/anti-cytokine immune complexes.

The formation of cytokine/anti-cytokine immune complexes does not guarantee cytokine neutralization, as these complexes can actually increase the potency of a cytokine. Due to their bivalent nature, antibodies form immune complexes when neither the antibody nor the antigen is in excess. Murine studies have shown that cytokine/anti-cytokine immune complexes can potentiate the activity of numerous cytokines. For instance, IL-4/anti-IL-4 complexes are much more efficient than IL-4 alone at stimulating B cells, increasing their production of IgE and inducing the proliferation of CD8 T cells (10-12). Similarly, IL-2/anti-IL-2 complexes are much more potent in their ability to expand memory CD8 T cells, NK cells or regulatory T cells (Tregs) than IL-2 alone (12-15). An increase in the potency and bioactivity of IL-3, IL-6 and IL-7, when complexed with their respective antibodies, has also been reported (11, 16-22). Furthermore, recent studies have demonstrated the ability of IL-2/anti-IL-2 complexes to cause type 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s) to expand, produce IL-5 and induce airway eosinophilia (23, 24). Together, these studies establish that the formation of immune complexes can potentiate the effects of the cytokine rather than neutralize its activity.

The ability of immune complexes to increase the potency of the cytokine has also been described in humans. Stein et al. reported the presence of IL-5/anti-IL-5 complexes in the circulation of subjects treated with mepolizumab and that these immune complexes facilitated increased production of IL-5 by CD4 T cells (25). Indirect evidence that immune complexes can worsen disease comes from a dose-finding study using lebrikizumab, an anti-IL-13 antibody, in subjects with moderate to severe asthma in which there was a direct correlation between the exacerbation rate and the dose of lebrikizumab in periostin-high subjects (26). Although the presence of IL-13/lebrikizumab complexes was not assessed, the seemingly paradoxical dose response of lebrikizumab is readily explained by the hypothesis that higher doses of lebrikizumab led to increased complex formation; this is also in line with the observations from the murine studies outlined above. The potentiation of cytokine activity is not restricted to antibodies but also extends to decoy receptors. For instance, when subjects with ankylosing spondylitis were treated with etanercept, which is a dimerized TNF receptor/Fc fusion protein designed to bind to and neutralize soluble TNF-a, a significant increase in the percentage of CD4 and CD8 T cells producing TNF-α and IFN-γ was reported (27). Collectively, these data extend the findings of murine studies to humans and emphasize that attempting to neutralize free cytokine with antibodies or decoy receptors may be an inefficient approach, as complexes can potentiate cytokine activity rather than neutralize it.

Treatment of subjects with neutralizing antibodies can not only increase the activity of the cytokine but may also increase its levels in the circulation. For example, subjects treated with mepolizumab displayed greater levels of IL-5 in the circulation with the majority of it bound in IL-5/anti-IL-5 complexes (17), while the treatment of asthmatic subjects with anti-IL-13 antibodies directly increased the levels of IL-13 in the serum (7). Similarly, the treatment of patients with metastatic breast cancer with etanercept increased TNF-a levels in the plasma, demonstrating that this effect is not restricted to Th2 cytokines and diseases (28). Studies in mice using antibodies to IL-2, 4, 6 and 7 have paralleled these clinical findings as greater bioactive levels of the targeted cytokine have been found following antibody treatment (12, 14, 16). Despite these observations, there appears to be little importance placed upon the formation of cytokine/anti-cytokine complexes in subjects treated with monoclonal antibodies as it is largely assumed that cytokines present in immune complexes are neutralized. However, as we have discussed, studies have demonstrated that the neutralization of a cytokine by its binding to antibody is not a foregone conclusion and further studies in humans are required.

The formation of immune complexes is prevented when the neutralizing antibody is present in excess. This concept is very clearly exhibited in early studies on the stimulatory potential of cytokine/anti-cytokine complexes where an News and Commentaries

approximate 2:1 ratio of antibody to antigen is required to form cytokine/anti-cytokine complexes. Typically, the addition of greater amounts of neutralizing antibody prevents the formation of immune complexes. In line with these original observations is the ability of IL-6/anti-IL-6 complexes to stimulate an IL-6-dependent cell line which is then inhibited when additional anti-IL-6 is added to the assay (13, 19). Further complicating matters is evidence demonstrating that for certain cytokines, the addition of more antibody simply induces greater cytokine potentiation. For instance, titrations of an anti-IL-2 antibody (clone S4B6) in the presence of a fixed concentration of IL-2 have demonstrated that increasing levels of S4B6 induce greater CD8 T cell stimulation (12). Therefore, efforts to use biologics to target free cytokine might be sabotaged by the development of complexes, again highlighting a possible inefficiency of this approach.

The mechanisms by which anti-cytokine antibodies increase the circulatory levels and potency of the target cytokine are incompletely defined. The most obvious explanation is that cytokine ligation by an anti-cytokine antibody prevents cytokine degradation, thereby greatly increasing the half-life of the cytokine from a few hours to a few days (11, 13, 21). Indeed, an increase in the half-life of some cytokines has been shown, in mice, to be dependent upon the neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn), which rescues antibody/antigen complexes from endosomes and recycles them to the cell surface (12, 22). The fusion of targets to Fc domains, an analogue of immune complexes, has been used by the pharmaceutical industry for several years as it utilizes normal physiological mechanisms (namely, the FcRn receptor) to facilitate drug trafficking across membranes and enhances half-life (29). Evidence has begun to accumulate that indicates that immune complexes may directly potentiate cytokines independently of FcRn-mediated half-life prolongation. In studies investigating the mechanism of cytokine potentiation by FcRn, IL-2/IgG Fc fusion proteins (IL-2-FP) were constructed. Interestingly, at equivalent doses, IL-2-FP was significantly less effective than IL-2/anti-IL-2 complexes in its ability to induce expansion of CD8 T cells, despite similar in vivo lifespans (13). The co-administration of an anti-CD25 antibody with the IL-2-FP rescued the ability to robustly stimulate T-cell proliferation. These data indicate that the antibody portion of the cytokine/anti-cytokine complex may enhance proliferation by preventing cytokine binding to scavenger receptors. Importantly, this mechanism of potentiation is not limited to the relatively unique IL-2 receptor as similar findings have been noted for IL-7. Murine studies investigating the use of anti-IL-7 antibody have indicated that the presence of an immune complex may protect the complexed cytokine from receptor-mediated consumption (22). Clearly, cytokine potentiation by anti-cytokine antibodies is a complex process that spans numerous disciplines from pharmacology to immunology. These mechanisms of potentiation highlight the potential risks of treating subjects with anti-cytokine antibody and may indicate that a modification to the approach is required.

Given the large amount of neutralizing antibody that is required to effectively neutralize a cytokine, we propose that it may be more effective to focus efforts on developing humanized antibodies that target cytokine receptors. In contrast to experimental asthma models in inbred strains of animals, effective dosing of individuals is complicated by the heterogeneity of human asthma. The level of Th2 cytokines produced by an individual is determined by both the severity of their asthma and whether the subject is exposed to the allergen. Thus, a dose of neutralizing anti-cytokine antibody that is high enough to avoid the formation of immune complexes in one individual may form cytokine/anti-cytokine complexes in other individuals. Moreover, in a given patient, the ratio of cytokine to antibody will increase during exacerbations, thereby increasing the risk of immune complex formation.

Targeting the receptor avoids the complication of forming cytokine/anti-cytokine complexes while still preventing the target cytokine from initiating a signal. The efficacy of targeting the cytokine receptor is evident from the impressive results observed in the clinical trials of dupilumab, which targets the alpha subunit of the IL-4 receptor, in subjects with severe asthma (30) and atopic dermatitis (31). Similarly encouraging clinical trial results were obtained with benralizumab, an anti-IL-5 receptor antibody, in subjects with severe asthma (32).

We have outlined a series of observations that may explain why targeting cytokines may be clinically inefficient in some cases and suggest that much larger quantities of anti-cytokine antibodies be used in clinical trials, with this dose being guided by the assessment of immune complexes in the subjects. We also suggest that targeting of cytokine receptors, rather than the cytokine itself, may be a more fruitful avenue of research as it avoids the complication of immune complex formation and may require lower levels of antibody since a blocked receptor is insensitive to increases in cytokine levels that occur following exposure to allergen.

Author contributions

The idea for this manuscript was conceived by C.D.R. and developed by C.D.R, M.L and D.M. The manuscript was written by C.D.R, M.L. and D.M.

Conflicts of interest

C.D.R and D.M. have no conflict of interest to declare. M.L. is a cofounder, stockholder and consultant of Circassia Ltd. and a founding scientist of Adiga Life Sciences Inc. and has received research support from both of these companies.

C. D. Rudulier¹, M. Larché² and D. Moldaver² ¹Division of Respirology, Critical Care and Sleep Medicine, Department of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, Canada

²Divisions of Respirology and Clinical Immunology and Allergy, Department of Medicine, McMaster Immunology Research Centre, Firestone Institute for Respiratory Health, St. Joseph's Healthcare, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

News and Commentaries

References

- Garlisi CG, Kung TT, Wang P, Minricozzi M, Umland SP, Chapman RW et al. Effects of chronic anti-interleukin-5 monoclonal antibody treatment in a murine model of pulmonary inflammation. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 1999;20:248–255.
- Coyle AJ, Le Gros G, Bertrand C, Tsuyuki S, Heusser CH, Kopf M et al. Interleukin-4 is required for the induction of lung Th2 mucosal immunity. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 1995;13:54–59.
- Yang G, Volk A, Petley T, Emmell E, Giles-Komar J, Shang X et al. Anti-IL-13 monoclonal antibody inhibits airway hyperresponsiveness, inflammation and airway remodeling. *Cytokine* 2004;28:224–232.
- Leckie MJ, ten Brinke A, Khan J, Diamant Z, O'Connor BJ, Walls CM et al. Effects of an interleukin-5 blocking monoclonal antibody on eosinophils, airway hyper-responsiveness, and the late asthmatic response. *Lancet* 2000;356:2144–2148.
- Flood-Page P, Swenson C, Faiferman I, Matthews J, Williams M, Brannick L et al. A study to evaluate safety and efficacy of mepolizumab in patients with moderate persistent asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2007;176:1062–1071.
- Pelaia G, Vatrella A, Maselli R. The potential of biologies for the treatment of asthma. Nat Rev Drug Discovery 2012;11:958–972.
- Gauvreau GM, Boulet LP, Cockcroft DW, Fitzgerald JM, Carlsten C, Davis BE et al. Effects of interleukin-13 blockade on allergen-induced airway responses in mild atopic asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2011:183:1007–1014.
- Piper E, Brightling C, Niven R, Oh C, Faggioni R, Poon K et al. A phase II placebocontrolled study of tralokinumab in moderate-to-severe asthma. *Eur Respir J* 2013;41:330–338.
- Nair P, Pizzichini MMM, Kjarsgaard M, Inman MD, Effhimiadis A, Pizzichini E et al. Mepolizumab for prednisone-dependent asthma with sputum eosinophilia. N Engl J Med 2009;360:985–993.
- Sato TA, Widmer MB, Finkelman FD, Madarii H, Jacobs CA, Grabstein KH et al. Recombinant soluble murine IL-4 receptor can inhibit or enhance IgE responses in vivo. *J Immunol* 1993;150:2717–2723.
- Finkelman FD, Madden KB, Morris SC, Holmes JM, Boiani N, Katona IM et al. Anti-cytokine antibodies as carrier proteins. Prolongation of in vivo effects of exogenous cytokines by injection of cytokine-anti-cytokine antibody complexes. J Immunol 1993;151:1235–1244.
- Boyman O, Kovar M, Rubinstein MP, Surh CD, Sprent J. Selective stimulation of T cell

subsets with antibody-cytokine immune complexes. Science 2006;311:1924-1927.

- Letourneau S, van Leeuwen EM, Krieg C, Martin C, Pantaleo G, Sprent J et al. IL-2/ anti-IL-2 antibody complexes show strong biological activity by a voiding interaction with IL-2 receptor alpha subunit CD25. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010;107:2171–2176.
- Webster KE, Walters S, Kohler RE, Mrkvan T, Boyman O, Surh CD et al. In vivo expansion of T reg œlls with IL-2-mAb complexes: induction of resistance to EAE and long-term acceptance of islet allografts without immunosuppression. J Exp Med 2009;206:751-760.
- Tomala J, Chmelova H, Mrkvan T, Rihova B, Kovar M. In vivo expansion of activated naive CD8+ T cells and NK cells driven by complexes of IL-2 and an6-IL-2 monoclonal antibody as novel approach of cancer immunotherapy. *J Immunol* 2009;183:4904–4912.
- Truyens C, Angelo-Barrios A, Torrico F, Van Damme J, Heremans H, Carlier Y. Interleukin-6 (IL-6) production in mice infected with Trypanosoma cruzi: effect of its paradoxical increase by anti-IL-6 monodonal antibody treatment on infection and acute-phase and humoral immune responses. *Infect Immun* 1994;62:692–696.
- Martens E, Dillen C, Put W, Heremans H, van Damme J, Billiau A. Increased circulating interleukin-6 (IL-6) activity in endotoxinchallenged mice pretreated with anti-IL-6 antibody is due to IL-6 accumulated in antigen-antibody complexes. *Eur J Immunol* 1993;28:2026-2029.
- Mihara M, Koishihara Y, Fukui H, Yasukawa K, Ohsugi Y. Murine anti-human IL-6 monoclonal antibody prolongs the half-life in circulating blood and thus prolongs the bioactivity of human IL-6 in mice. *Immunol*ogy 1991;74:55–59.
- Gijbels K, Brocke S, Abrams JS, Steinman L. Administration of neutralizing antibodies to interleukin-6 (IL-6) reduces experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and is associated with elevated levels of IL-6 bioactivity in central nervous system and circulation. *Mol Med* 1995;1:795–805.
- May LT, Neta R, Moldawer LL, Kenney JS, Patel K, Sehgal PB. Antibodies chaperone circulating IL-6. Paradoxical effects of anti-IL-6 "neutralizing" antibodies in vivo. J Immunol 1993;151:3225–3236.
- Boyman O, Ramsey C, Kim DM, Sprent J, Surh CD. IL-7/anti-IL-7 mAb complexes restore T cell development and induce homeostatic T Cell expansion without lymphoperia. J Immunol 2008;180:7265–7275.
- Martin CE, van Leeuwen EM, Im SJ, Roopenian DC, Sung YC, Surh CD. IL-7/

anti-IL-7 mAb complexes augment cytokine potency in mice through association with IgG-Fc and by competition with IL-7R. Blood 2013;121:4484-4492.

- Roediger B, Kyle R, Yip KH, Sumaria N, Guy TV, Kim BS et al. Cutaneous immunosurveillance and regulation of inflammation by group 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Nat Immunal* 2013;14:564–573.
- Van Gool F, Molofsky AB, Morar MM, Rosenzwajg M, Liang HE, Klatzmann D et al. Interleukin-5-producing group 2 innate lymphoid cells control eosinophilia induced by interleukin-2 therapy. *Blood* 2014;124:3572–3576.
- Stein ML, Collins MH, Villanueva JM, Kushner JP, Putnam PE, Buckmeier BK et al. Anti-IL-5 (mepolizumab) therapy for cosinophilic esophagitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2006;118:1312–1319.
- Hanania NA, Noonan M, Corren J, Korenblat P, Zheng Y, Fischer SK et al. Lebrikizumab in moderate-to-severe asthma: pooled data from two randomised placebo-controlled studies. *Thorax* 2015;70:748–756.
- Zou J, Rudwaleit M, Brandt J, Thiel A, Braun J, Sieper J. Up regulation of the production of tumour necrosis factor alpha and interferon gamma by T cells in ankylosing spondylitis during treatment with etanercept. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2003;62:561–564.
- Madhusudan S, Foster M, Muthuramalingam SR, Braybrooke JP, Wilner S, Kaur K et al. A phase II study of etanercept (Enbrel), a tumor necrosis factor alpha inhibitor in patients with metastatic breast cancer. *Clin Cancor Res* 2004;10: 6528–6534.
- Dumont JA, Low SC, Peters RT, Bitonti AJ. Monomeric Fc fusions: impact on pharmacokinetic and biological activity of protein therapeutics. *BioDrugs* 2006;20: 151–160.
- Wenzel S, Ford L, Pearlman D, Spector S, Sher I, Skobieranda F et al. Dupilumab in persistent asthma with elevated eosinophil levels. N Engl J Med 2013;368: 2455–2466.
- Beck LA, Thaci D, Hamilton JD, Graham NM, Bieber T, Rocklin R et al. Dupilumab treatment in adults with moderate-to-severe atopic derma tits. N Engl J Med 2014;371:130–139.
- Castro M, Wenzel SE, Bleecker ER, Pizzichini E, Kuna P, Busse WW et al. Benralizuma h, an anti-interleukin 5 receptor alpha monoclonal antibody, versus placebo for uncontrolled eosinophilic asthma: a phase 2b randomised dose-ranging study. *Lanet Respir Med* 2014;2:879–890.

Appendix 2: Immunotherapy with Peptides

10. Declaration of Academic Achievement

Appendix 2: Immunotherapy with Peptides

D. Moldaver and M. Larché.

- The following review article was published in Allergy (2011) **66:**784-791.
- Rights were retained (2016)

Daniel Moldaver's contributions

M. Larché and I were both responsible for manuscript conception and writing. M. Larché generated the figures.

Allergy

REVIEW ARTICLE

Immunotherapy with peptides

D. Moldaver & M. Larché

Department of Medicine, Firestone Institute for Respiratory Health, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

To cite this article: Moldaver D, Larché M. Immunotherapy with peptides. Allergy 2011; 66: 784-791.

Keywords

Abstract

epitope; immune tolerance; peptide; regulation; T cell.

Correspondence

Mark Larché, Department of Medicine, Firestone Institute for Respiratory Health, McMaster University, HSC 4H20, 1200 Main Street West, Hamilton, ON L8N 325, Canada. Tel.: +1 905 525 9140 ext. 21284 Fax: +1 905 525 2851 E-mail: Larche@mcmaster.ca

Accepted for publication 30 March 2011

DOI:10.1111/j.1398-9995.2011.02610.x

Edited by: Hans-Uwe Simon

Specific allergen immunotherapy is clinically effective and disease modifying. It has a duration of effect that exceeds the treatment period and prevents both the progression of allergic rhinitis to asthma and the acquisition of new allergic sensitizations. However, immunotherapy is associated with a high frequency of adverse events related to the allergenicity of vaccines. Allergenicity is conferred by the presence of intact B-cell epitopes that crosslink allergen-specific IgE on effector cells. The use of linear peptide sequences representing fragments of the native allergen is one approach to reduce allergenicity. Preclinical models of peptide immunotherapy have demonstrated efficacy in both autoimmunity and allergy. Translation of this technology into the clinic has gained momentum in recent years based on encouraging results from early clinical trials. To date, efforts have focused on two major allergens, but vaccines to a broader range of molecules are currently in clinical development. Mechanistically, peptide immunotherapy appears to work through the induction of adaptive, allergen-specific regulatory T cells that secrete the immunoregulatory cytokine IL-10. There is also evidence that peptide immunotherapy targeting allergen-specific T cells can indirectly modulate allergen-specific B-cell responses. Peptide immunotherapy may provide a safe and efficacious alternative to conventional subcutaneous and/or sublingual approaches using native allergen preparations.

Specific allergen immunotherapy is clinically effective and has benefit that extends beyond the treatment period (1). Unlike conventional pharmacotherapy, specific allergen immunotherapy is disease modifying and has been shown to prevent the development of asthma (2) and to reduce sensitizations to other allergens (3). Optimal treatment times vary based on allergen and therapeutic preparation, but in general terms, a course of 3 years therapy is regarded as optimal. Although there are no formal published data on the relationship between treatment time and duration of clinical response, it is widely held that clinical benefit will last for twice as long as the treatment period. Thus, treatment for 1 year results in additional benefit for the subsequent year, whereas treatment for 3 years will provide clinical benefit for a further 3 years. The lengthy duration of treatment, the frequent administration of allergen and the associated high frequency of allergic adverse events, which may be systemic and in some cases lifethreatening, have limited uptake of this form of therapy. These shortcomings are the result of the allergenicity of the preparations employed for therapy. These contain whole allergen molecules with intact B-cell epitopes that are readily able to crosslink specific IgE molecules on the surface of effector cells (Fig. 1). A number of strategies aimed at reducing the allergenicity of treatment preparations, whilst maintaining immunogenicity, have been described. Physical modification of allergen molecules may reduce or eliminate IgE reactivity and thus allergenicity (4). Such approaches have taken many forms including chemical modification, conjugation with synthetic bacterial DNA motifs, point mutations in native allergen gene sequences and the use of allergen multimers, fragments and peptides of various lengths. The use of soluble, short synthetic peptides for the treatment of allergic disease allows the delivery of T-cell epitopes of the allergen in an adjuvant-free, tolerogenic form, whilst avoiding IgE-mediated allergic reactions (5, 6). Synthetic peptides have been developed and evaluated in both experimental animal models and human clinical studies. Synthetic peptides are defined active pharmaceutical ingredients (API) and can be produced in a reproducible and standardized fashion that cannot be achieved with allergen extracts. Further advantages include low production costs, ease of purification and good stability in lyophilized form without the need for cold storage.

Presentation of T-cell epitopes to T cells by nonprofessional antigen-presenting cells (APC) results in the induction of 'anergy', a term describing antigen-specific nonresponsive-

Ph.D Thesis - D. M Moldaver



Figure 1 Encounter with native allergen activates effector cells, antigen-presenting cells and structural cells. Cells bearing Fc receptors for IgE and IgG bind allergen-specific antibodies. Crosslinking of cell-bound allergen-specific antibodies by different epitopes (conformational or linear) of the native allergen molecule results in cellu-

lar activation. Mast cells, basophils, B cells, dendritic cells, monocytes and airway smooth muscle cells all express IgE receptors, and macrophages express IgG receptors; all are thus capable of activation during allergen encounter.

ness. For example, when highly purified CD4⁺ T-cell clones were cultured with supraoptimal concentrations of specific epitope, they were refractory to subsequent stimulation with an optimal antigen challenge (7). Similarly, when T-cell clones were cultured with epithelial cells, keratinocytes or myoblasts, expressing MHC class II and specific peptide, anergy ensued (8–10). Indeed, presentation of antigenic peptide by epithelial cells resulted in the generation of T cells with regulatory/immunosuppressive function (10).

Experimental *in vivo* studies of peptide-induced tolerance have been reported in a number of disease areas including allergy, autoimmunity and transplantation. Initially, tolerance was induced in models of autoimmune disease using highdose, prophylactic administration of peptide in adult or neonatal mice (11–21). More recently, intranasal peptide delivery led to protection from disease, which required deletion of effector T cells and the presence of IL-10, in a murine model of multiple sclerosis (22, 23). Treatment of established disease has also been achieved in allergen sensitization models. Mice were immunized with the house dust mite allergen Der p 2 and tolerized with immunodominant peptides resulting in the down-regulation of both T-cell and antibody responses to Der p 2 (24). Similarly, mice sensitized to the birch allergen Bet v 1 were rendered tolerant by the administration of peptide-containing T-cell epitopes (25). Mice sensitized to insect venoms have also been treated both prophylactically and therapeutically with peptides to reduce allergic responses following allergen challenge (26, 27). Mice sensitized to cats through priming with the Fel d 1 allergen were treated with two polypeptides derived from the sequence of Fel d 1 chain 1. As a strong adjuvant was used during priming, only Th1 outcomes were assessed. Treatment resulted in the decreased production of IL-2 and allergen-specific IgG (28). More recently, mice lacking endogenous MHC class II but expressing a transgene encoding the human MHC molecule HLA-DRB1*0101 were sensitized with recombinant Fel d 1 and treated with a Fel d 1 peptide known to bind to HLA-DRB1*0101. A single, low-dose (1 µg) of peptide was able to modulate multiple parameters of allergic sensitization including significant reduction in nonspecific airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR), Th2 recruitment and cytokine/chemokine secretion, IgE production, mucus hypersecretion and airway eosinophilia. Tolerance induced by one T-cell epitope was found to confer tolerance to other T-cell epitopes of the same

Ph.D Thesis – D. M Moldaver

Immunotherapy with peptides





Figure 2 Native allergen, but not short-peptide epitopes, results in the activation of antigen-presenting cells (APC) and inflammatory T-cell responses. Crosslinking of allergen-specific antibodies bound to the surface of APC results in APC activation and upregulation of pro-inflammatory genes. The activated APC presents processed allergen epitopes in an inflammatory context to allergen-specific

molecule, providing evidence of the induction of linked epitope suppression. Blocking studies with a monoclonal antibody directed against the IL-10 receptor demonstrated that the treatment effect in this model was IL-10 dependent (29).

Translation of peptide immunotherapy into the clinical setting has been slow but the approach is gaining popularity in the treatment of both allergic diseases and autoimmune diseases. Clinical development programmes are currently underway in multiple sclerosis (http://www.apitope.com), type I diabetes (30), rheumatoid arthritis (31, 32) and coeliac disease (http://www.nexpep.com). However, these programmes are beyond the scope of the current review. Treatment of allergic disease with peptides has, until recently, been limited to cat allergy, ragweed allergy (although these studies have only been published in abstract form) and bee venom. Clinical development programmes are currently underway with other allergens (http://www.circassia.co.uk).

Peptides from Fel d 1

Following preclinical studies described earlier (28), a series of clinical trials were performed to evaluate the safety and efficacy of two polypeptides from the major cat allergen Fel d 1. In the first of these to be published, an equimolar mixture of the peptides identified as IPC-1/IPC-2 (AllervaxCat[©]; ImmuLogic Pharmaceutical Corporation, Waltham, MA; equimolar combination of two 27-amino acid synthetic peptides) was compared with placebo in a treatment regimen involving four subcutaneous injections over 2 weeks. Cat-

T cells. In contrast, short synthetic peptides are unable to crosslink allergen-specific antibodies, resulting in a quiescent encounter between peptide epitope and APC. Presentation of allergen epitopes to T cells in this context results in the induction of immune tolerance.

allergic subjects (with documented allergic rhinitis plus or minus asthma) were treated in 10-fold dose increments (7.5, 75 and 750 µg per injection) (33). Significant improvements in lung and nasal symptom scores were observed in the highdose group. A related mechanistic study demonstrated reduced IL-4 production in peptide-specific T-cell lines following treatment given by Marcotte et al. (34). A large placebo effect was observed in common with many allergen immunotherapy trials. Despite the observed clinical efficacy, the vaccine was poorly tolerated in many subjects with treatment-emergent adverse events occurring acutely and up to several hours after peptide injection. Most frequently, adverse events were reported in the respiratory system and in particular, subjects with a history of asthma reported symptoms of chest tightness and shortness of breath several hours after dosing. Subsequent investigation identified MHCrestricted activation of allergen-specific effector T cells in the airways as being responsible for these manifestations, highlighting IgE-independent mechanisms for airway narrowing (35). In an inhaled allergen challenge study, small groups of cat-allergic asthmatic individuals were treated with variable doses of IPC-1/IPC-2. The provocative dose of inhaled cat allergen resulting in a 20% reduction (PD20) in forced expiratory volume in one-second (FEV1) was compared before and after dosing. A significantly higher dose of allergen was required to achieve a 20% reduction in FEV1 after treatment in the higher dose groups. However, these differences were observed only when comparing pretreatment and posttreatment challenges in vaccine-treated individuals, but not when Moldaver and Larché

these changes were compared with those in the placebo group (36).

Modest clinical improvements were reported in a multicentre study in which cat-allergic subjects received eight subcutaneous injections of high-dose vaccine (750 µg). There was a significant improvement in pulmonary function 3 weeks after therapy, but only in individuals with reduced baseline FEV1 (37). In common with earlier studies, frequent, acute and delayed adverse events were reported during treatment. Delayed symptoms of asthma (isolated late asthmatic reactions) were reduced with successive doses of peptide suggesting the induction of immunological tolerance. A fourth study in which cat-allergic subjects received four weekly injections of an intermediate dose of vaccine (250 µg) failed to show any significant change in surrogate markers of efficacy or changes in mechanistic outcomes. In common with other studies, treatment was associated with delayed symptoms of rhinitis, asthma and pruritis (38).

More recently, a series of clinical studies have been performed using mixtures of shorter peptides from Fel d 1 (39-44). In a small pilot study, cat-allergic asthmatic subjects received a single intradermal injection of a mixture of 12 short synthetic peptides comprising the majority of the T-cell epitopes of Fel d 1 (45). Skin late-phase reactions (LPSR) to challenge with whole cat dander allergen extract were significantly reduced following peptide treatment. Modulation of skin responses was associated with reductions in allergen-specific proliferation and a reduction in both Th1 and Th2 cytokines (39). In a double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial, an identical mixture of Fel d 1 peptides was given in a multiple dose, incremental fashion (cumulative dose = 90 µg) to a small cohort (n = 24; 16 active, 8 placebo) of cat-allergic asthmatic subjects. In common with the earlier study, statistically significant reductions were observed in the LPSR to whole allergen challenge. Additionally, at later follow-up (3-9 months posttherapy), the magnitude of the early-phase skin response (EPSR) was also significantly reduced. Significant within-group changes in quality of life observed that these changes did not achieve statistical significance when compared with placebo. Changes in clinical surrogate markers were associated with reduced allergen-specific responses of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) in vitro, including reduced proliferation and reduced secretion of both Th1 and Th2 cytokines. A concomitant and significant increase was observed in PBMC secretion of the regulatory cytokine IL-10. No acute, treatment-related adverse events were reported in this study, but isolated late asthmatic reactions were expected (based on the dose of peptides employed) and observed in some subjects. Induction of isolated late asthmatic reactions did not appear to be related to the induction of allergen-specific tolerance (40). Related mechanistic studies using PBMC isolated from subjects treated in the trial demonstrated that proliferative and cytokine responses to sequences within Fel d 1 that did not form part of a peptide vaccine were also significantly reduced. These findings are indicative of intramolecular tolerance (also known as 'linked epitope suppression') and imply that peptide vaccines need Immunotherapy with peptides

not necessarily contain all T-cell epitopes from a target antigen to achieve broad antigen-specific tolerance (29).

Changes in nonspecific AHR were addressed in two studies, with differing outcomes. In a small, open-label study using a similar peptide preparation delivered at 2-week intervals and using a lower dosing regimen, a significant reduction in airway hyperreactivity (measured by PC₂₀) was observed (41). In contrast, no change in AHR was observed in a slightly larger, double-blind, placebo-controlled study (40). The complex nature of AHR and the marked variability of longitudinal measurements within patients make this outcome difficult to assess in small, underpowered clinical studies.

Most recently, a seven peptide vaccine (Toleromune Cat[®]; Circassia Ltd., Oxford, UK) has been evaluated in a phase Ha safety and tolerability study (46). Peptide components were evaluated in direct MHC binding assays (10 commonly expressed MHC alleles) to determine which sequences would provide the best population coverage. Peptides displaying promiscuous binding to MHC class II were assessed in proliferation, cytokine (IFNy, IL-10, IL-13) and histamine release assays, and vaccine components were selected. The resulting vaccine was administered, without adjuvant, to 88 cat-allergic individuals either intradermally or subcutaneously to evaluate safety and tolerability and, as a secondary outcome, the dose of peptide resulting in the greatest inhibition of the LPSR to whole allergen challenge as a surrogate of clinical efficacy. The vaccine was safe and well tolerated and, importantly, had an adverse events profile that was indistinguishable from placebo providing confidence that future clinical trials will be adequately blinded in contrast to current approaches. Cohorts of eight cat-allergic subjects received a single injection of vaccine (n = 6) or placebo (n = 2). Intradermal delivery gave a maximal (40%) reduction in the LPSR at a dose of 3 nmol of vaccine, similar to earlier findings with the prototype vaccine (39, 46). Phase IIb clinical studies are now underway to further evaluate the safety and tolerability of a vaccine and to begin to explore clinical efficacy.

Peptides from Api m 1

Only three studies of peptide immunotherapy in bee venomallergic individuals have been reported. None of these were fully blinded, placebo-controlled studies, and each study was performed in small numbers of individuals. However, the data that emerge strongly support the findings of earlier clinical interventions with peptides from Fel d 1. Immunodominant T-cell epitopes of the major bee venom allergen Api m 1 were identified (47) and subsequently used in a pilot clinical study to treat five bee venom-allergic subjects who had documented (moderately severe) systemic allergic reactions to bee venom. Subjects received incremental doses (cumulative dose 397.1 µg) of an equimolar mixture of peptides at weekly intervals (48). Ten subjects treated with standard bee venom immunotherapy acted as a control group. All five subjects tolerated a subcutaneous challenge with 10 µg of whole Api m 1 following the last treatment injection. Subsequently, a wild bee sting challenge was performed, which was tolerated

Moldaver and Larché

Immunotherapy with peptides

by three of five subjects, with the remaining two developing mild systemic allergic reactions.

Texier et al. (49) used direct peptide-MHC binding assays to quantify the binding affinities of overlapping synthetic peptides spanning the Api m 1 sequence. Four immunodominant peptides were identified, three of which were similar to those used previously for therapy by Müller and colleagues. Tarzi et al. (50) used these peptides (formulated in saline) to perform an open-label, single-blind study of peptide therapy in subjects with mild bee venom allergy (subjects had not experienced systemic reactions following bee sting). The peptides were well tolerated, and no treatment-emergent adverse events were observed. In common with studies performed using Fel d 1 peptides, treatment resulted in reduced proliferative and cytokine (Th1 and Th2) responses in PBMC cultured with allergen. In contrast, IL-10 secretion was significantly up-regulated. Furthermore, LPSR to both whole bee venom and Api m 1 were significantly reduced.

Fellrath et al. (51) treated bee venom-allergic subjects with a RUSH desensitization protocol using three long synthetic peptides (LSP) encompassing the entire Api m 1 sequence. Starting at 0.1 µg, subjects were administered approximately 250 µg in incremental doses at 30-minute intervals. Maintenance injections of 100 or 300 µg were administered on days 4, 7, 14, 42 and 70. A transient increase in T-cell proliferation to the treatment peptides was observed, together with increases in IFNy and IL-10 levels, but not Th2 cytokines. Allergen-specific IgG4, but not IgE, levels increased throughout the study period, likely due to the presence of some intact B-cell epitopes within the polypeptides. Peptide-specific IgE was induced during treatment in some subjects, reminiscent of seasonal increases in IgE to allergens during the pollen season. In contrast to a number of studies with Fel d 1 peptides, no significant change in skin sensitivity to intradermal whole allergen challenge was observed. Peptide therapy was generally well tolerated, although local and disseminated erythema with hand (palm) pruritis was observed in two subjects.

Evidence for the induction of regulatory T cells during peptide immunotherapy

Reductions in the LPSR to allergen challenge were a consistent feature of several studies employing mixtures of short, synthetic peptides. Immunohistochemical analysis of skin biopsy sections following skin allergen challenge demonstrated a significant increase in CD25⁺ cells and CD4⁺/IFN- γ^+ cells after peptide therapy, suggesting that the recruitment of Th1 cells (and perhaps regulatory T cells) to sites of allergen encounter may contribute to the mechanism of action of these vaccines. In contrast to PBMC responses following culture with whole allergen, no increases in IL-10⁺ cells were observed in allergen-challenged skin biopsies; however, the expression of TGF β mRNA was increased suggesting that different mechanisms of tolerance may dominate at different anatomical locations (41).

Evidence of a role for the immune regulatory cytokine IL-10 and modulation of the allergen-specific B-cell response following peptide immunotherapy has also come from studies employing peptides from Api m 1. Increased IL-10 production in cultures of PBMC incubated with allergen was observed in studies employing both short and LSP from Api m 1 (50, 51). Both studies were also associated with an increase in allergen-specific IgG4, although this was modest with the use of short peptides. Although no measurements of IL-10 were made in the earliest of these studies (48), changes in the isotype of allergen-specific antibodies indicative of an increase in IL-10 were observed. Initially, no change was observed in the levels of allergen-specific serum IgE or IgG4 during the course of treatment in this study. However, following subcutaneous challenge with Api m 1, a week after treatment, the concentration of both isotypes, particularly IgG4, increased. These data suggest that whilst therapy with short peptides may not directly stimulate allergen-specific B cells (because of the inability of the peptides to crosslink

B-cell surface antigen receptors), encounter of whole allergen molecules following the induction of IL-10-secreting, allergen-specific T cells results in the redirection of B-cell responses to IgG₄ through the action of IL-10, which has previously been shown to potentiate the production of this isotope (52).

The effect of peptide immunotherapy on regulatory T-cell function was evaluated using PBMC obtained at baseline and following the completion of treatment in a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial (43). Treatment was associated with significant reductions in allergen-specific proliferative responses and IL-13 production from PBMC in vitro. Measurement of the functional regulatory activity of CD4+CD25+ cells to suppress allergen-specific proliferative and cytokine responses was assessed by mixing these putative regulatory T cells with autologous CD4+CD25- cells. Peptide immunotherapy did not alter the suppressive activity of purified CD4+CD25+ cells suggesting that naturally occurring regulatory T cells may not play a significant role in the immunological changes associated with this form of immunotherapy. These experiments were performed prior to the identification of more specific markers of regulatory T cells such as the CD4+CD25hiCD127ho phenotype and it is thus likely that the putative regulatory population isolated in this study was a mixture of regulatory cells and recently activated T effector cells. However, recent data from murine studies of low-dose peptide immunotherapy support the conclusion that natural (thymus-derived) regulatory T cells may not play a significant role in peptide immunotherapy as no increase was observed in Foxp3⁺ T cells in the lungs of mice after treatment (29).

A role of antigen-specific inducible regulatory T cells in the efficacy of peptide immunotherapy was addressed through the isolation of CD4⁺ T cells (containing the putative regulatory cells) from PBMC samples obtained before and after peptide immunotherapy. CD4⁺ cells were cultured with CD4^{negative} cells that had been labelled with the cell division-tracking dye (44). CD4⁺ T cells from posttreatment samples suppressed the antigen-driven proliferation of CD4^{negative} cells from pretreatment samples, demonstrating that peptide immunotherapy induces a population of CD4⁺ T cells with suppressive/regulatory activity. Assembling Moldaver and Larché

the available data from a limited number of studies, it appears that low-dose peptide immunotherapy may induce IL-10-secreting adaptive regulatory T cells (akin to Tr1 cells) that are capable of down-regulating Th2 responses to allergen. However, in this form of treatment, there is little evidence of a major role for natural CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells.

Mechanisms of peptide-induced tolerance

The induction of T-cell anergy and T cells with immunosuppressive function following presentation of peptides by nonprofessional (such as myocytes and keratinocytes) or immature (dendritic cells) APC supports the notion that antigen recognized by T cells under noninflammatory conditions results in tolerance (53). Indeed, tolerance to both exogenous (54) and endogenous antigens (55) may be maintained, at least partly, by pools of regulatory T cells that secrete IL-10. Administration of highly soluble peptides in the absence of pro-inflammatory adjuvants may exploit this in intrinsic tolerance pathway (Fig. 2). Furthermore, administration of peptides lacking sufficient secondary structure to crosslink adjacent immunoglobulin molecules may further reduce the likelihood of creating an inflammatory milieu during T-cell recognition of peptide–MHC complexes.

Conclusions

Peptide immunotherapy represents one strategy to reduce the allergenicity of therapeutic preparations for the treatment of allergies. Short, synthetic peptides containing T-cell epitopes show markedly reduced ability to crosslink allergen-specific IgE. The resulting reduction in allergenicity has allowed more recent clinical trials to be performed in a truly blinded fashion in contrast to studies of subcutaneous and sublingual immunotherapy performed with intact allergen preparations. Peptide immunotherapy modifies numerous surrogate markers

Immunotherapy with peptides

of allergen exposure such as skin responses to allergen challenge, nonspecific AHR (some studies), symptom scores following inhaled allergen challenge, quality of life and the ability to tolerate natural allergen exposure. Peptide immunotherapy appears to induce a population of functional regulatory/suppressive cells with characteristics of Tr1 cells. Peptide immunotherapy, in human subjects, is associated with the induction of IL-10. In experimental murine models, where such experiments are possible, tolerance has been shown to be dependent upon IL-10. Peptide immunotherapy has a variable effect on the B-cell compartment with larger peptides (which presumably retain more B-cell epitopes) being better able to induce allergen-specific IgG4 responses than short peptides.

Acknowledgments

The author is funded by the Canada Research Chairs program, the Canadian Institutes for Health Research, AllerGen Network of Centres of Excellence, the Canadian Foundation for Innovation, the Ontario Thoracic Society, Adiga Life Sciences Inc. and the McMaster University/GSK endowed Chair in Lung Immunology at St Joseph's Healthcare.

Author contributions

DM and ML conceived and wrote this manuscript. ML produced the figures.

Conflict of interest

The author is a founder, shareholder and consultant of/to Circassia Ltd, a company developing peptide-based immunotherapy. The author is the scientific founder of Adiga Life Sciences Inc., a joint venture between Circassia Ltd and McMaster University.

References

- Durham SR, Walker SM, Varga EM, Jacobson MR, O'Brien F, Noble W et al. Longterm clinical efficacy of grass-pollen immunotherapy. N Engl J Med 1999;341:468–475.
- Jacobsen L, Niggemann B, Dreborg S, Ferdousi HA, Halken S, Host A et al. Specific immunotherapy has long-term preventive effect of seasonal and perennial asthma: 10year follow-up on the PAT study. *Allergy* 2007;62:943–948.
- Pajno GB, Barberio G, De Luca F, Morahito L, Parmiani S. Prevention of new sensitizations in asthmatic children monosensitized to house dust mite by specific immunotherapy. A six-year follow-up study. *Clin Exp Alleryv* 2001;31:1392–1397.
- Larche M, Akdis CA, Valenta R. Immunological mechanisms of allergen-specific immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol 2006;6:761–771.

- Larche M, Wraith DC. Peptide-based therapeutic vaccines for allergic and autoimmune diseases. Nat Med 2005;11(4 Suppl.):S69– S76.
- Larche M. Peptide immunotherapy for allergic diseases. Allergy 2007;62:325–331.
- Lamb JR, Skidmore BJ, Green N, Chiller JM, Feldmann M. Induction of tolerance in influenza virus-immune T lymphocyte clones with synthetic peptides of influenza hemagglutinin. J Exp Med 1983;157:1434–1447.
- Warrens AN, Zhang JY, Sidhu S, Watt DJ, Lomhardi G, Sewry CA et al. Myoblasts fail to stimulate T cells but induce tolerance. *Int Immunol* 1994;6:847–853.
- Bal V, McIndoe A, Denton G, Hudson D, Lomhardi G, Lamb J et al. Antigen presentation by keratinocytes induces tolerance in human T cells. *Eur J Immunol* 1990;20:1893– 1897.

- Lombardi G, Sidhu S, Batchelor R, Lechler R. Anergic T œlls as suppressor œlls in vitro. Science 1994;264:1587–1589.
- Gammon G, Dunn K, Shastri N, Oki A, Wilbur S, Sercarz EE. Neona tal T-cell tolerance to minimal immunogenic peptides is caused by clonal inactivation. *Nature* 1986;319:413–415.
- Clayton JP, Gammon GM, Ando DG, Kono DH, Hood L, Sercarz EE. Peptidespecific prevention of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Neonatal tolerance induced to the dominant T cell determinant of myelin basic protein. J Exp Med 1989;169:1681–1691.
- Critchfield JM, Racke MK, Zuniga-Pflucker JC, Cannella B, Raine CS, Goverman J et al. T cell deletion in high antigen dose therapy of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Science* 1994;263:1139–1143.

Immunotherapy with peptides

- Gaur A, Wiers B, Liu A, Rothbard J, Fathman CG. Amelioration of autoimmune encephalomyelitis by myelin basic protein synthetic peptido-induced anergy. *Science* 1992;258:1491–1494.
- Metzler B, Wraith DC. Inhibition of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by inhalation but not oral administration of the encephalitogenic peptide: influence of MHC binding affinity. Int Immunol 1993;5:1159– 1165.
- Ku G, Kronenberg M, Peacock DJ, Tempst P, Banquerigo ML, Braun BS et al. Prevention of experimental autoimmune arthritis with a peptide fragment of type II collagen. *Eur J Immunol* 1993;23:591–599.
- Staines NA, Harper N, Ward FJ, Malmstrom V, Holmdahl R, Bansal S. Mucosal tolerance and suppression of collageninduced arthritis (CIA) induced by nasal inhalation of synthetic peptide 184–198 of hovine type II collagen (CII) expressing a dominant T cell epitope. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1996;103:368–375.
- Prakken BJ, van Der ZR, Anderton SM, van Kooten PJ, Kuis W, van Eden W. Peptide-induced nasal tolerance for a mycobacterial heat shock protein 60 T cell epitope in rats suppresses both adjuvant arthritis and nonmicrobially induced experimental arthritis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997;94:3284-3289.
- Daniel D, Wegmann DR. Protection of nonobese diabetic mice from diabetes by intranasal or subcutaneous administration of insulin peptide B-(9-23). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996;93:956-960.
- Bockova J, Elias D, Cohen IR. Treatment of NOD diabetes with a novel peptide of the hsp60 molecule induces Th2-type antibodies. J Autoimmun 1997;10:323–329.
- Tian J, Atkinson MA, Clare-Salzler M, Herschenfeld A, Forsthuber T, Lehmann PV et al. Nasal administration of glutamate decarboxylase (GAD65) peptides induces Th2 responses and prevents murine insulindependent diabetes. J Exp Med 1996;183:1561–1567.
- Burkhart C, Liu GY, Anderton SM, Metzler B, Wraith DC. Peptide-induced T cell regulation of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: a role for IL-10. *Int Immunol* 1999;11:1625–1634.
- Anderton SM, Burkhart C, Liu GY, Metzler B, Wraith DC. Antigen-specific tolerance induction and the immunotherapy of experimental autoimmune disease. *Novartis Found Symp* 1998;215:120–131.
- Hoyne GF, O'Hehir RE, Wraith DC, Thomas WR, Lamb JR. Inhibition of T cell and antibody responses to house dust mite allergen by inhalation of the dominant T cell epi-

tope in naive and sensitized mice. J Exp Med 1993; 178:1783–1788.

- Bauer L, Bohle B, Jahn-Schmid B, Wiedermann U, Daser A, Renz H et al. Modulation of the allergic immune response in BALB/c mice by subcutaneous injection of high doses of the dominant T cell epitope from the major birch pollen allergen Bet v 1. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1997;107:536–541.
- King TP, Lu G, Agosto H. Antibody responses to bee melitin (Api m 4) and hornet antigen 5 (Dol m 5) in mice treated with the dominant T-cell epitope peptides. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;101:397–403.
- von Gamier C, Astori M, Kettner A, Dufour N, Heusser C, Corradin G et al. Allergen-derived long peptide immunotherapy down-regulates specific IgE response and protects from anaphylaxis. *Eur J Immunol* 2000;30:1638–1645.
- Briner TJ, Kuo MC, Keating KM, Rogers BL, Greenstein JL. Peripheral T-cell tolerance induced in naive and primed mice by subcutaneous injection of peptides from the major cat allergen Fel d L. Proc. Natl Acad Sci U S A 1993;90:7608–7612.
- Campbell JD, Buckland KF, McMillan SJ, Kearley J, Oldfield WL, Stern LJ et al. Peptide immunotherapy in allergic asthma generates IL-10-dependent immunological tolerance associated with linked epitope suppression. J Exp Med 2009;206:1535–1547.
- Thrower SL, James L, Hall W, Green KM, Arif S, Allen JS et al. Proinsulin peptide immunotherapy in type 1 diabetes: report of a first-in-man Phase I safety study. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2009;155:156–165.
- Prakken BJ, Samodal R, Le TD, Giannoni F, Yung GP, Scavulli J et al. Epitope-spocific immunotherapy induces immune deviation of proinflammatory T cells in rheumatoid arthritis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A 2004;101:4228–4233.
- 32. Koffeman EC, Genovese M, Amox D, Keogh E, Santana E, Matteson EL et al. Epitope-specific immunotherapy of rheumatoid arthritis: clinical responsiveness occurs with immune deviation and relies on the expression of a cluster of molecules associated with T cell tolerance in a double-blind, placebo-controlled, pilot phase II trial. Arthritis Rheum 2009;60:3207–3216.
- Norman PS, Ohman JL, Long AA, Creticos PS, Gefter MA, Shaked Z et al. Treatment of cat allergy with T-cell reactive peptides. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1996;154(6 Pt 1):1623–1628.
- Marcotte GV, Braun CM, Norman PS, Nicodemus CF, Kagey-Sobotka A, Lichtenstein LM et al. Effects of peptide therapy on ex vivo T-cell responses. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;101(4 Pt 1):506–513.

 Haselden BM, Kay AB, Larche M. Immunoglobulin E-independent major histocompatibility complex-restricted T œll peptide epitopo-induœd late asthmatic reactions. J Exp Mad 1999;189:1885–1894.

Moldaver and Larché

- Pene J, Desroches A, Paradis I, Lebel B, Farce M, Nicodemus CF et al. Immunotherapy with Fel d 1 peptides decreases IL-4 release by peripheral blood T cells of patients allergic to cats. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;102(4 Pt 1):571–578.
- Maguire P, Nicodemus C, Robinson D, Aaronson D, Umetsu DT. The safety and efficacy of ALLERVAX CAT in cat allergic patients. *Clin Immunol* 1999;93:222–231.
- Simons FE, Imada M, Li Y, Watson WT, HayGlass KT. Fel d l peptides: effect on skin tests and cytokine synthesis in cat-allergic human subjects. *Int Immunol* 1996;8:1937–1945.
- Oldfield WL, Kay AB, Larche M. Allergenderived T cell peptide-induced late asthmatic reactions precede the induction of antigenspecific hyporesponsiveness in atopic allergic asthmatic subjects. J Immunol 2001;167:1734–1739.
- Oldfield WL, Larche M, Kay AB. Effect of T-cell peptides derived from Fel d 1 on allergic reactions and cytokine production in patients sensitive to cats: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2002;360:47–53.
- Alexander C, Ying S, Kay B, Larche M. Fel d 1-derived T cell peptide therapy induces recruitment of CD4CD25; CD4 interferongamma T helper type 1 cells to sites of allergen-induced late-phase skin reactions in catallergic subjects. *Clin Exp Allergy* 2005;38:52-58.
- Alexander C, Tarzi M, Larche M, Kay AB. The effect of Fel d 1-derived T-cell peptides on upper and lower airway outcome measurements in cat-allergic subjects. *Allergy* 2005;60:1269–1274.
- Smith TR, Alexander C, Kay AB, Larche M, Robinson DS. Cat allergen peptide immunotherapy reduces CD4 T cell responses to gat allergen but does not alter suppression by CD4 CD25 T cells: a doubleblind placebo-controlled study. *Allergy* 2004;59:1097–1101.
- Verhoef A, Alexander C, Kay AB, Larche M. T cell epitope immunotherapy induces a CD4(+) T cell population with regulatory activity. *PLoS Med* 2005;2x78.
- 45. Haselden BM, Syrigou E, Jones M, Huston D, Ichikawa K, Chapman MD et al. Proliferation and release of IL-5 and IFN-gamma by peripheral blood mononuclear cells from cat-allergic asthmatics and rhinitics, non-cat-allergic asthmatics, and normal controls to peptides derived from Fel d 1 chain 1. J Allergy Clin Invunol 2001;108:349–356.
Ph.D Thesis - D. M Moldaver

Moldaver and Larché

- Worm M, Lee HH, Kleine-Tebbe J, Hafner RP, Laidler P, Healey D et al. Development and preliminary clinical evaluation of a peptide immunotherapy vaccine for cat allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2011;127:89–97.
- Carballido JM, Carballido-Perrig N, Kagi MK, Meloen RH, Wuthrich B, Heusser CH et al. T cell epitope specificity in human allergic and nonallergic subjects to bee venom phospholipase A2. J Immunol 1993;150(8 Pt 1):3582–3591.
- Muller U, Akdis CA, Fricker M, Akdis M, Blesken T, Bettens F et al. Successful immunotherapy with T-cell epitope peptides of bee venom phospholipase A2 induces specific T-cell anergy in patients allergic to bee venom. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;101(6 Pt 1):747-754.
- Texier C, Pouvelle S, Busson M, Herve M, Charron D, Menez A et al. HLA-DR restricted peptide candidates for bee venom immunotherapy. *J Immunol* 2000;164:3177– 3184.
- Tarzi M, Klunker S, Texier C, Verhoef A, Stapel SO, Akdis CA et al. Induction of interleukin-10 and suppressor of cytokine signalling-3 gene expression following peptide immunotherapy. *Clin Exp Allergy* 2006;36:465–474.
- Fellrath JM, Kettner A, Dufour N, Frigerio C, Schneeberger D, Leimgruber A et al. Aller gen-specific T-cell tolerance induction with allergen-derived long synthetic peptides: results of a phase I trial. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003;111:854–861.
- Jeannin P, Lecoanet S, Delneste Y, Gauchat JF, Bonnefoy JY. IgE versus IgG4 produc-

Immunotherapy with peptides

tion can be differentially regulated by IL-10. J Immunol 1998;160:3555-3561.

- Steinman RM, Hawiger D, Nussenzweig MC. Tolerogenic dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol 2003;21:685–711.
- 54. Akdis M, Verhagen J, Taylor A, Karamloo F, Karagiannidis C, Crameri R et al. Immune responses in healthy and allergic individuals are characterized by a fine balance between allergen-specific T regulatory 1 and T helper 2 cells. J Exp Med 2004;199:1567–1575.
- 55. Tree TI, Lawson J, Edwards H, Skowera A, Arif S, Roep BO et al. Naturally arising human CD4 T-cells that recognize islet autoantigens and secrete interleukin-10 regulate proinflammatory T-cell responses via linked suppression. *Diabetes* 2010;59:1451– 1460.